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Author’s Note

Why Yaar-Bal?

There are three elements that effect us human beings and are vital to our survival---AlIR,
it is there all round us but invisible, WATER, it is there only in the form of rivers,
streams and wells---without it we cannot survive and FOOD---that Mother Earth helps us
to grow and harvest, so that we get the nourishment to work.

Since times immemorial, most civilizations have developed and prospered on the banks
of rivers. Whether it was Mohenjodaro or Harappa in India or the Egyptian civilization
by the river Nile, or the Roman by the river Tiber, or the British by the river Thames, just
to name a few, water had to be close by. It was the elixir of life. Only after that would
prosperity follow. When wandering tribes searched for a place to set their roots, they
always looked for water.

Take the case of River Jhelum or Vyeth as we call it. On the river, banks were developed
for use. Thus came up the waterfront or the ghat as we in India call it. If you look at the
map you will see population spread not only in Srinagar city proper but other places too
like Anantnag, Baramula, Sopore and other places where people have their homes either
by the side of the water or near about.

How did this narrative get the name YAAR-BAL? Consulting an expert Colonal
Makhan Lal Sapru on Kashmir and Kashmiri, the following emerged:

“ Yaar-Bal is a compound of two words, yaar and Bal which means a place, occurs in
Kashmiri words like Ahra-bal, Gandher-bal, Hazrat-bal. The possible origin of yaar and
bal in the antique Kashmiri word yaar-bal are not Persian because bal does not occur in
Persian and because the Persian word yaar could not hve gained currency in Kashmiri
language before the 13th century AD.

Before the 13th century, there had to be an old Kashmiri word for the river bank which
was used as the pleasant place for strolling about. And the word used for the river bank
was VIHAAR-BAL.

VIHAAR is a Sanskrit word meaning to play or to roam about for amusement. With the
passage of time, VIHAAR changed to VYEHAAR just as VISTAAR chaned to
VYESTAAR. Later, it dropped ‘V’ sound to become YEHAAR which further rounded
off into the form YAAR.”

-Colonel M L Sapru
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Thus, we the KASHMIRI PANDITS, THE ORIGINAL INHABITANTS OF THE

KASHMIR VALLEY THAT KASHYP RISHI GAVE US, LIVED BY THE SIDE OF
THE WATER FRONTS OR BY THE YAAR-BAL...

KASHIR WITHOUT YAAR-BAL IS UNTHINKABLE, AND SO THE NARRATIVE

ON CASHMERE OR KASHMIR OR KASHIR CANNOT BE TAKEN UP WITHOUT
THE EVERPRESENT YAA-RBAL.

HENCE THE NAME

SOMNATH SAPRU
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1
Kashyap Rishi’s Bhoomi

The beautiful Valley of Kashmir, which is today witnessing blood-curdling events,
caught the imagination of writers and poets as early as the 11™ century, if not earlier.
Kalhana, who wrote the history of Kashmir in verse around about the year 1149, has this
to say:

“Such is Kashmir, the country which may be conquered by the force of spiritual merit but
not by armed force....where there are not baths in winter: comfortable landing places on
the river banks, where the rivers being free from aquatic animals are without peril; where
realizing that the land created by his father is unable to bear heat the hot-rayed sun
honours it by bearing himself with softness even in summer. Learning, high dwelling-
houses, saffron, iced water, grapes and the like—what is commonplace there, is difficult
to secure in paradise...”

Kashmir is a paradise on earth; this is how Kashmir has been described by renowned
writers, both Indian and those from outside. One version has it that the name Kashmir is
derived from Sanskrit meaning water and shimira meaning to drain. Geologists have
confirmed that the valley was once a lake and when it dried up it became habitable. It is
said that Buddhism came to Kashmir in the wake of Ashoka’s conquest in 250 B.C and it
is well known that Ladakh is still Buddhist by faith.

The Jammu and Kashmir state, to give it its full name, is the northern most part of India
and has an area of 84,471 sq. miles. Much of the sufferings of its people are due to its
extremely strategic location. The Kashmir valley is surrounded by hilly and mountainous
terrain. The areas of Jammu, Poonch, Muzaffarabad, Gilgit, Baltistan and Ladakh
constitute the ring of highlands that stand sentinel over the Valley and border on
Pakistan, Afghanistan and the Sinkiang and Tibet parts of China. Only a few miles
separate it from the territory of the USSR, the Central Asian Republics of Tajikistan,
Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan being the nearest.

*khhhhkhkhkkkkhkhkhkiihhhkhkhkhkkhiikx

From our folklore

“In the earliest available version, the sixth or seventh century Sanskrit work, the
Nilmatpurana, the floor of the Kashmir Valley, the original home of all Kashmiri
Pandits, was formerly a hollow filled with the waters of a lake called Satisaras. At some
remote period in pre-historic times, Jalodbhava (literally,”Water-born), a sea-monster
who lived in the lake, began to trouble the inhabitants of the surrounding area. When the
sage Rishi Kashyap heard of the monster, he decided to punish him, and implored
Brahma and the other Gods to help him. The Gods answered Rishi Kashyap’s prayer
and came down to the lake to deal with Jalodbhava. When he refused to emerge from
the lake, Lord Vishnu is said to have asked his brother, Balabhadra, to pierce the
surrounding mountains and drain the lake. When the lake dried up, Jalodbhava was
exposed and finally killed by Vishnu. Rishi Kashyap then peopled the land created by
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the draining of the lake, the Kashmir Valley, with people of his own choice—the
Kashmiris.

*hhkkkhkkhkkkhkkhkkkhkkhkkhkkikkhkkikkiikkikk

Modern interpretation

| suspect,” says Sir William Jones, “the whole fable of Kasyap and his progeny to be
astronomical, and cannot but imagine that the Greek name Cassiopeia has a relation to
it”. Mr. Maurice, in his “Indian Antiquities,” would identify Kasyapa with the Seth of
Moses, and thinks that he was doubtless a Brahmin who flourished in the earliest ages of
the world, invented the Indian system of astronomy, and formed its zodiac, himself being
immortalized, though in a female form, and in a different mythology, in the Cassiopeia of
our present sphere, one of the oldest of the constellations.

“He also thinks him to have been one of the divine sages who, according to the Hindu
fable, went with Manu (Noah) into the ark fabricated by the command of Vishnu; and
adds, moreover, his opinion, that whether antediluvian or postdiluvian, he was also
probably the genuine Atlas of antiquity. Referring, however, my readers for the reasons
of these surmises to the work itself, | would venture to give another and not improbable
origin of the name, if it came from the West at all. Kush was the son of Ham, and
grandson of Noah: Gen.x.8, “Cush begat Nimrod, he began to be mighty upon the earth.”
Nimrod is supposed to be identical with Belus, the beginning of whose kingdom was
Babel, i.e. Babylon, whence his name and power, and probably his descendants, must
have spread over different countries to the eastward. Kashmir is called Kha-che-Yul by
the Bultis, or Little Tibetians, and the natives are designed by them as Kha-chhe-pa by
the Gilgitis. The word Kashmir is used both for the people and the country.

*hhhhkkhkkkkhkhkhkhrhhhkhkhkkhhhiiiiix

Historical writing

The isolation of the Kashmir Valley from the rest of India also contributed towards
making Kashmir the only region of India where a tradition of historical writing is known
to have existed in pre-Muslim times. Professor Bashyam in his paper on the Rajatarangini
(or River of Kings), the oldest of the Sanskrit chronicles of Kashmir, calls it “the only
attempt at true history in the whole of surviving Sanskrit literature”. Commenting on the
uniqueness of Kashmir in having a tradition of historical writing, Professor Bashyam
writes: “No definite reason can be given to explain why the chronicle as a literary form
flourished in Kashmir while it did not exist elsewhere. It may be due in part to the fact
that Kashmir is a sharply demarcated region of India, whose people early developed
distinctive characteristics which gave them a stronger sense of nationalism than was
found in other parts of the subcontinent, as a result of which their poets felt the urge to
commit the history of Kashmir to writing.

The Kashmiri Pandit, Kusum Pant, 1987.

*khhhhkkkkkhkhkhkikiikikkx




Cashmere: Kashir That Was Yarbal

Rajatarangini, according To Vigne

“ The Rajatarangini, or History of the Rajahs of Kashmir; is (according to Mr.Prinsep)
the only Indian history of any antiquity, and commences with an account of the
desiccation of the valley by Kasyapa Muni, supposed to allude to the Deluge (Vide
Wilson’s “Essay”). The country was entirely covered with water; in the midst of which
resided the Demon Jala or Jewala Deo, the spirit god, who preyed upon mankind. It
happened that Kashef, the son of Marichi, and, according to some, the grand son of
Brahma, visited the country, lived in pious abstraction upon Mount Sumer, or Soma,
turned his attention to the desolate appearance of the earth, and inquired the cause.

“The people told him of the residence of Jala Deo in Sati Sar, and his predatory
incursions. Kashef lived a thousand years in austerity, upon the hill of Naubudan, near
Hirapur; in consequence of which, Mahadeo (the great God of Creator) sent his
servants,Vishnu and Brahma, to expel the demon. Vishnu was engaged in the conflict for
100 years; and at last opened the mountains at Baramula, by which the waters were
drained off, and the demon was exposed, taken, and slain; whence the country is called
Kashuf Sar, or the lake of Kashuf.

V.T.Vigne, Travells in Kashmir, Ladakh, Iskardo”, 1880.

*hhhhkhkkkkhkhkhkhihhikikhkkk

WHO ARE THE KASHMIRIS?

According to myth, Kashmiris are believed to be the lost tribe of Israel, and Kashmir the
Promised Land that Moses should have found but did not! This theory suggests that Jesus
Christ, after being taken off the cross, was brought here by his disciples to recover at
Aishmugam near Pahalgam.

Aish is the local name for Isa (Jesus), and mugam means “the place of stay”, but aish also
mean ‘enjoyment’, and is quite appropriate as a name for this pretty spot on the banks of
the Lidder stream. It is believed that Christ was finally buried at Rozabal Khanyar in
Srinagar. The name recorded on the shrine at Rozabal is Yuz Asaf, which according to
the believers of this theory means Jesus, son of Joseph. Though this theory is a matter of
some debate, there is no doubt that in spite of its mountainous terrain Kashmir has been
remarkably accessible to outsiders. There is evidence of intercourse with the ancient
Greek, Roman, and Persian civilizations, as well as those from other parts of India.

Some Kashmiris believe that the Pandavas of the great Hindu epic the Mahabharata lived
and ruled here. In fact, the gigantic ruins of old temples in Kashmir are known as Pandav-
Lari or the Houses of the Pandavas. In the third century BC, Kashmir came under
Buddhist influence when Ashoka, the great Mauryan king, made Srinagar his capital. The
zenith of Buddhist power in Kashmir was reached in the reign of king Kanishka,
convener of the fourth Great Buddhist Council, which was attended by a large number of
scholars, theoreticians and commentators.

Buddhism was followed by a revival of Hinduism and Kashmir was ruled by Hindu rulers
till AD 1320. One of the most remarkable Hindu kings was Lalitaditya Muktapida of the
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Karkota dynasty who ruled from AD 724 to 761. A great warrior, he is often compared to
Alexander in his ambitions and successful military campaigns. The sweep of his
conquests was such that his empire extended from Tibet in the north to the Deccan in the
south and from Gujarat in the west to Bengal in the east. He also annexed vast areas of
Central Asia.

Leji Batta

During the Muhammadan rule, some Brahmins were once given the option to either
submit to the sword or take food prepared by a Musalman. They naturally quivered at the
prospect of death and unwillingly accepted the latter alternative, but, in their anguish to
reduce pollution to its minimum, made the Musalman cook rice in a new lej or earthern
pot and when ready they took it out from the lej with their own hands and reluctantly ate
it. They afterwards expiated for the forcible pollution by performing Prayashchitta but
still, the Biradari, who were as punctilious as ever, ostracized them, condemning them
for not having preferred death to losing their caste by pollution as thousands others had
boldly done under such circumstances.

Their descendents are called Lejibate because of their ancestors having eaten food
cooked by a Muhammadan in a lej. A stigma also attaches to the members of the caste
known as Wurud or Purib who are the illegitimate offspring or are of a mixed union in
which one of the parents is a Brahmin and the other a Khatri. No Brahmin will take food
touched by a Lejibatte, Wurud or Purib.

In the time of Zain-ul-abdin, the Brahmins, who studied Persian and took to government
service, were called Karkuns. With the advent of Sikh rule in 1819 A.D., some Karkuns
began the study of Sanskrit literature again, and they were called Pandits. Karkuns do
not intermarry with Bachabats. Those who are versed in astrology and draw up
calendars, cast horoscopes and profess to prophecy further events are called Jotshis. The
priests, who preside over Shiva worship, are called Gurins. The Panyechh are those who
receive alms and other offerings connected with funeral obsequies. Their office is
regarded as derogatory by the Bachabats as well as the Karkuns who, for this reason,
look down on them and refuse to take food from their hands.

Why Kashmiri Pandits & not Kashmiri Brahmins

Actually, the appellation is a little over 200 years old. As per historical records, the
decadent Mughal emperor, Mohammad Shah (1719-1748), applied it for the first time
and that too at the behest of one of his most trusted and favourite courtiers, Shri Jai Ram
Bhan, who was at that time considered to be the main representative of all those Kashmiri
Pandits who had left the Valley to seek the patronage of the Mughal kings and got settled
in Delhi and in some other adjoining cities permanently along with their families.”

By their administrative capabilities and command over the Persian language, these
Pandits inveigled themselves into the good grace and favours of the Mughals and thereby
considered themselves to be superior to other Brahmins. To maintain their superior
position in society and to establish their higher claims and status to dominate other caste
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groups, Shri Bhan prevailed upon Mohammad Shah to issue a “Shahi Ferman” (royal
decree) identifying them as Kashmiri Pandits. This was just to maintain their distinct
ethnic individuality from the other categories of Brahmins. After all, a superior breed is
recognized all over the world.

Dr. B.N.Sharga, Koshur Samachar, Feb.2000.

*khkhhhkhkhkkkkhkhkhkhiihkiikhkkk

GEOGRAPHY OF KASHMIR

The state of Jammu and Kashmir is a composite entity made up of six distinct regions of
Jammu, the Kashmir valley, Ladakh, Baltistan, Gilgit and the Punjabi speaking Mirpur —
Muzaffarabad region along the river Jhelum.

Three of the regions namely Baltistan, Gilgit and the so-called Azad Kashmiri except
Kargil are under illegal Pakistan occupation since 1947-48. Of the remaining three
regions, the Kashmir valley, which is pre-dominantly Muslim, is separated from the rest
of the state by high Himalayan Mountains, which remain snow bound for three to six
months in a year. That is why it has a distinct geographical, linguistic and cultural
identity of its own. It has all through the history remained a separate kingdom or a
separate province of various empires of Hindustan.

Normally, there are four seasons in year, but in Kashmir they have been further divided
into six seasons given below:

Seasons’ Duration

Spring (Sonth) March15 to May 15

Summer (Grishm) May 15 to July 15

Rainy season (Wahrat) July 15 to Sept 15
Autumn (Harud) Sept. 15 to Nov.15

Winter (Wande) Nov. 15 to Jan. 15

Severe winter (Sheshur) Jan. 15 to March 15

Kashmir valley is separated from the Pakistan occupied territory of the state by Uri-
Titwal belt inhabited by Punjabi and Pahari speaking people who have little in common
with the people of the valley.

Ladakh, except Kargil, which has been tagged on to it, since 1949,, is predominantly
Buddhist. It is linked with the Kishwar area of Jammu in the south, Lahaul Spiti area of
Himachal Pradesh and Tibet in the East, Sinkiang province of China in the North and
Baltistan, now under Pakistani control.

Aksai Chin, now under Chinese occupation, was a part of Ladakh.
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Siachin Glacier lies between Baltistan and Ladakh and converges on Leh, the capital of
Ladakh to Dogra. General Wazir Zorawar Singh moved into Ladakh from Jammu via
Kishtwar and not via Kashmir valley, as is generally believed.

Jammu, the home of the Dogras, is predominantly Hindu. It stretches from Pathankot to
Banihal with a population of about 4 million. It is economically viable. It is the link
between Kashmir Valley and the rest of Hindustan.

Jammu And Kashmir State thus stands divided between Pakistan and Hindustan more or
less on communal lines. Kashmir valley is the only Muslim region on the Indian side of
the cease-fire line.

Crescent over Kashmir, Anil Maheshwari, 1993.

In America, the natives both in the north and the south are called the Red Indians, in
Southern Africa the original inhabitants are called Bantu, in New Zealand they are called
Maori and in Australia they are called Aborigines. In the case of Kashmir, Kashmiri
Pandits being the original inhabitants the label of natives would quite fit them.

*hkkkhhkkkhkhkkkhkkhkkkikkhkkhkikkikikkiiikkik

Cashmere, Kashmir, Kashmeer, Kushmir or Kushmere?

The Webster English Language Dictionary defines Cashmere as “Shawl, soft fabric of
goats’ hair”. Only after that does it give the name and spelling as “Kashmir”.

Because of the Kashmiri Shawl connection with France the soft wool was identified as
Cashmere and for some time the word was spelt so in writing, newspapers, journals,
books etc., as late as the early 20" century, newspapers like The Times of India,
Statesman & The Pioneer, and C&M Gazette spelt it so. However Kashmiris themselves
pronounce it as Kushmir, and in Kashmiri the word is Kashir.

Jia Lal Kilam says in his book “The Kashmiri Pandit”: Pandit Raj Kak was appointed as
Governor of Kamraj, but after a short time he was placed in charge of the Shawl
department. He raised the income of this department from four lacs to twelve lacs.

“The Kashmiri shawl was much prized in Europe. Even Queen Victoria had made a rule
to present a shawl as a wedding gift to any princess of royal blood, and thus its use came
into vogue in England. But its chief market was France and the French traders used to
depute their agents to Kashmir directly from France. The defeat of France in 1870 A.D in
the Franco-Prussian war spelt ruin to the industry in Kashmir.

“The deputation of the French agents to Kashmir brought the Kashmiri Pandits face to
face with European culture and literature. Hitherto their literary pursuits were limited to
knowledge of Persian and Sanskrit, but now with fresh opportunities they began to study
French and other European languages.”

11
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One has to recall that in the 19" century French influence in Europe was so great, so
much so that it became the language of diplomacy and communication between nations, a
lingua franca, because of which Kashmir was spelt as Cashmere for which one of the

catalysts was the shawl trade connection with the Valley. Hence, its use as the title of this
book.
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2
“YEMEN SATTAN KADALAN MUNZ”

Within these Seven Bridges

The lifestyle for generations of Kashmiri Pandits was frugal and in close harmony with
nature. Kashmir is perhaps the only place where houses were designed to meet the
changes in weather by using locally available material. Most traditional houses had
thatched roofs. There was no cement concrete. The first layer of the roof was covered
with birch bark, which provided not only cover, but also insulation during winter. Over
this layer, was a thick coating of earth, which was pasted together with mud, that after
drying would hold together and over a period of time one could see even grass and plants
growing on the roof. During winter and the rainy season, surplus water would drain off
and even a snowfall would not be able to penetrate the roof.

The design of the house was such that no matter how poor the owner and how small the
house, it had to have three separate distinct divisions. The ground floor usually had on
the right side the living room where the family gathered to eat, children played and
neighbours and visitors would drop in for a chat. This was called “wot”. Adjacent to it
was the kitchen. The first floor of the house contained the bedrooms for sleeping. The
second floor of the house was an exact replica of the ground floor with a living room and
a kitchen. This was called “kaeni”. Due to severe winters, the ground floor was used
during the cold season. As soon as summer came, the family would shift to the second
floor. This was an ideal arrangement. Unfortunately, cement concrete has totally pushed
this practical and useful arrangement out.

Between 1877 and 1927 is a time span of half a century. In 1877, there were no cars and
no telephones. All transportation was done by tongas, carriages and carts. The Valley was
cut off for more than six months in a year due to snow from the Jammu side, but
fortunately, the Muzaffarabad, Domel road across the Kohala Bridge on the Jhelum
Valley Road used to remain open during winter to facilitated supplies of essential articles.
The tunnel on top of the Pir Panjal was built in 1892...

In 1892, Maharaja Pratap Singh asked for a British engineer to help link up the two sides
of the Pir Panjal. What he built was not a tunnel in the real sense of the word, but an arch
with open spaces in its spans that gave a partial cover and kept the road open during mild
snowfall. Although this was called the Banihall Tunnel, it was not a regular tunnel. It was
only in 1953, that the Government of India called in a German-Swiss company M/s.Karl
Kunz, to survey the mountain and build the tunnel.

The original arch was built at a height of over 9,000 ft. and the German engineers bored a
tunnel at a height of 7,000 ft., which eventually saved about 30 miles in travel over
perilous hairpin bends. This tunnel was after completion inaugurated in 1956 with a two-
way road for incoming and outgoing traffic.

Life in the early part of the century was a curious mixture of the desire to remain secure,
and contented within limited means. As can be seen from census records, Pandits
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numbered roughly about 50,000 in the entire valley in 1901, this went up to over 54,000
in 1921, a span of one generation. The curious thing about the 1921 census was that more
Pandits were living in the rural areas than in Srinagar. This trend changed within a space
of 30 years with more and more people, especially the young ones who had gone to
school and college, migrating to Srinagar in search of employment.

There was very little contact with the outside world. When Dr. Gasha Lal and Dr. S.N.
Peshin, went to England for higher studies in medicine it created a stir within the
community. But when R.C. Kak, who later became the second Kashmiri Pandit (he was
from the Valley) to become the Prime Minister of Jammu and Kashmir in the 20
century, and L.N. Zutshi married Englishwomen, the community was scandalized, but
since both of them were affluent nothing much came out of it. The reason is very simple.
The Pandit is always conscious of rank and both of these gentlemen had the rank.

In 1877, and right through to the end of the 19" century and the beginning of the 20"
century till 1947, the turban was the normal headgear for every Kashmiri Pandit. There
are some old faded photographs of the earliest batches of students who passed out of the
Mission School at Fateh Kadal showing all Pandit students wearing turbans.

The dress for the male was a shirt and a pyjama with a sweater and a coat during cold
weather but the majority preferred, unless they had to go to office, wearing a pheran and,
if it was below zero temperature, a thick woolen blanket over it. Wearing leather was
originally taboo but as time went on they were allowed, outside the house, shoes, long
boots, belts, halters and whips during the glorious horse era. Of course, on reaching
home, everybody had to take the shoes off at the entrance or in the passage near the door
on the ground floor.

The footwear was the interesting part of the dress. Those living in the villages used a
modified kind of Paizar, a native shoe with a long nose, and in summer quite a few used
to wear khadaon (wooden logs) Patan Gapal. In town, that is Srinagar, most of the old
fashioned types used an open shoe without shoelaces, which was strangely enough called
“Panditji Boot”. Fashion, they say, goes round in circles. The same Panditji Boot has now
become so popular in India that most executives prefer it. Today it is called “Slipons”.

This was in the thirties and forties but in the two decades before that which ended in
1920 it was slightly different. At home, going to the bazaar and moving around in your
Mohalla, it was the “Khrave” — the wooden sandal with a small strap but one has to
remember that this was a symbol of progress. What it replaced was indeed a device that
had lasted the people in the Kashmir Valley for 5000 years.

What I am talking about?

It was the unique “Pulhoru” 1t was made of grass. It had pleats and it had a sole, which
provided the foot firm grip when walking especially on frozen chunks of ice. Most
Pandits living in villages used it as did most in Srinagar. But the march of time changed it
gradually from Pulhoru to Khrove to Leather chappal and Leather boot.

What was the daily routine like in those days? The majority of those living in Srinagar
were clerks and petty officials in the State Government, the Srinagar Municipality, and
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after 1911 the Shali Store, the Accountant General’s office. In the rural areas, those who
had some land, supervised farming operations in summer and just passed the days in
winter when the fields were covered with snow.

But even here the children were sent to school and very often one would find a Pandit
farmer who would also be a Village Primary School Teacher and his children would
aspire for a job in the city. That explains the seeming paradox of the 1921 census, which
revealed more Pandits in Villages than in Srinagar City.

The street scene would reflect the daily routine of most city Pandits. From early morning
on working days the traffic by foot would start by about 9.00A.M., with clean-shaven
Pandits wearing European clothes but wearing a turban walking briskly towards the
Secretariat. The procession of these employees would draw them from Chattabal, Ali
Kadal and Rainawari as also other areas such as Habba Kadal etc.

Two points remain to be explained: Right up to 1947, the headgear was an important part
of a man’s dress and the majority wore turbans. A few of the younger lot in the forties
went in for caps. My father and my uncle both sported turbans right up to 1947. My
father gave up the turban, but my uncle was more tradition bound and continued to wear
the turban till the day he died.

During the 1830s, G.T.Vigne, an employee of the East India Company, came to Kashmir
and his description is apt: “Independently of the forehead-mark, there is a difference in
the style of the turban. The Hindu smooths it over the right temple, the Musalman on the
left. There is also a distinction in wearing the tunic: the Musalmans tie it on the right side,
whilst that of the Hindu’s is folded over to the left breast.”

The second point relates to transport. In most princely states, in the capital city, there was
no organized Municipal Bus Service. Strangely enough the city of Bangalore was
similarly placed because most of the employees lived within walkable distance from the
Secretariat at Bangalore, which was then called Attara Kacheri. They would eat their
lunch in the morning and walk to the Secretariat. There was no city bus either in
Bangalore or in Srinagar.

In the Kashmir Valley, because of lack of railways, the bus services were the first to
reach Srinagar and other smaller towns, but the ordinary man had still to walk and the
slightly affluent ones could hire a tonga. There were no rickshaws, only horse drawn
vehicles. When finally the Municipal Bus Service was inaugurated in the seventies, the
initial minimum for a ticket was one Anna. The housewives looking at the novelty of the
bus going through the narrow lanes of the city promptly nicknamed the bus “Ponde Bus”.
The word Ponde means one Anna. In effect, it was the one-Anna bus. Subsequently autos
and taxis appeared although the latter was there earlier but mainly meant for tourists.

One of the greatest ambitions of the Pandit was to secure a Government job and in the
small marriage market a boy who had a Government job no matter how low became an
eligible to bachelor to be sought out by anxious parents with daughters of marriageable
age. There is a wrong impression that Pandits held a monopoly over jobs. True a large
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number of them were physically present in these jobs but most of them were at the
clerical level. There was hardly any technicians’ leave alone any engineers or officers.

The majority of them would start as clerks and after about twenty years be promoted to
head clerk, which was a great occasion for rejoicing, and finally retire in that post. A few
lucky ones would retire as Office Superintendent. Today this post is called Section
Officer.

The initial grade was 25 — 2 — 55. This was where the majority of Pandits began their
careers in Government Service. The next grade was 40 —4 — 80 and this was for the
favoured few. The few Pandits who took up unusual professions like Police (Uniformed)
and technicians at the Overseer (today this post is called Junior Engineer) level, the
higher grade of 80-8-200 was applicable.

A Handful Of Rice (Mochchaphol )

A drop of water is all alone, weak and ineffective. When other drops join it, it becomes
stronger and when many more join it becomes an ocean. So is it with public social
causes, which Kashyap Bandhu espoused. When he had no money for social work or for
his paper Martand, he asked the people to contribute a handful of rice.

“Kashyap Bandhu can claim credit for starting the custom and practice of Mochchaphol
but in reality the programme was Shyamlal Gurtu’s brain child. The meaning of
Mochchaphol is fistful of rice in the Kashmiri context. Shyamlal was very eager to raise a
fund for the welfare of poor families of the Biradari. He agreed with the saying that
charity begins at home. At the same time, he was conscious that it should also begin from
that home from which it is proclaimed. But he didn’t have enough money to open the
fund.

“He was not employed in any government or private institution that could have been a
source of his income. He was dependent on the income from his agricultural land, which
was in the form of farm produce rather than cash. It may be for this very reason that
Shyamlal Gurtu, instead of collecting money from the affluent class of the Biradari for its
needy members, launched a mass campaign for collection of handful of rice from very
household every month and himself contributed one or two treks (approx.5kgs.) of rice
every time. He was very generous in sharing the yield of paddy from his field with others
every autumn. In the times of scarcity of food grains in the valley, which was a common
phenomenon those days, he used to help his needy neighbours and relatives with bags of
rice free of cost and to not so needy persons on nominal price and that too on credit
which they seldom cleared.”

Harikrishna Kaul, Koshur Samachar, Septermber 2001.

The next grade was, 80 — 8 — 200. This was the grade that paved the way to the Gazetted
Officers’ rank. My own father was in a grade, which till today | have not been able to
fathom. The next in line was 150-10-250, which was a dream few could attain though
many might aspire for it.

16




Cashmere: Kashir That Was Yarbal

My father’s grade in force with the Kashmir Government was 200 — 20- 300 and it was in
operation till the late seventies. Simple arithmetic will tell you that within five years an
officer will go from the minimum to the maximum of the Grade and then what happens to
him. In Government Service, they happily vegetate and stagnate.

Life was hard, Life was simple, but it had its rewards. The entire cycle of twelve months
was divided into two parts summer and winter. The high point of it was the magic words
“Durbar Move.” This was an innovation created by political compulsions of the ruling
Dogra dynasty. While summer and winter are a part of the seasons, the exact six-month
division came after the Kashmir Valley was added to the Dogra state of Jammu and
formed the composite state of Jammu and Kashmir in 1846.

It was Maharaja Pratap Singh who introduced the Durbar move. Srinagar became the
summer capital and Jammu the winter capital of the state. On November 5", of every
year the office would move to Jammu and May 5™ the Office would reopen in Srinagar.
Since most of the Pandits were clerks in the State Government, their life was accordingly
regulated. Quite often in every family one or two brothers would be in those departments
which would move to Jammu and a third brother would be employed in Srinagar itself.
This would ensure that the family home was occupied and protected.

While those who went to Jammu enjoyed milder weather during winter, those who were
left behind had to face the combined rigours of Chille Kalan, Chille Khorad and Chille
Bache for ninety days. These were the divisions made to measure the intensity of cold in
winter. The first one, Kalan, was the most severe part of winter, which lasted forty
days followed by Khorad, which lasted thirty days and Bache, which lasted twenty
days.

Winter was a time of misery. Actually, one had to make preparations for winter in the
Kashmir Valley just as one makes preparations for a North Pole or an Everest expedition.
As soon as October came, the family head would start buying firewood.

This used to be one of the little excitements for children when the huge blocks of wood
were brought and dumped into the yard or aangan. The children would watch as the
lumberjacks chopped the logs with their massive axes. After that, the women of the house
had to carry the bits and pieces of Zuin (firewood) inside the house. This was a priority
job and once finished, the man could heave a sigh of relief. In some houses, an
underground room called “Gaan” was used to store firewood.

On the food front, many more preparations had to be made. Those kinds of edibles had to
be purchased and stored which would survive the severe winter. Apart from rice, the only
other item that was readily available for storage was Rajma and, damma and things like
dried fish (hogadde). Aside from this, potatoes and shalgam (vegetables) were purchased
in large quantities and put in for long-term preservation.

The preservation of some of the foodstuffs was done in the most innovative manner. At
the back of every house, there used to be a small piece of land covered by a projection or
ledge, which generally was a small addition to the main room on the first floor. This was
called a “Dub”. Here a small trench was dug. Into this trench, bags of potatoes and
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Shalgam were kept with a wooden plank for cover. As and when required the housewife
would go out and get her daily requirement from the trench which is called Khave in
Kashmiri.

It needs to be mentioned that before 1947 nobody in the Kashmir Valley would ever
touch a chapatti. We were hundred percent rice eaters. It was only in 1947 when supplies
were stopped by Pakistan that people gradually started eating wheat because of shortage
of rice.

One more thing, in the rest of India, when we talk of “Dal Roti” it means that dal is a
staple part of food and takes the place of sabzi (vegetable) in poorer households. In the
valley Dhal, was practically unknown and on rare occasions the doctor would prescribe it
for a patient who was recovering from an illness. What is Dhal Roti in the rest of India, is
“Haak Batha,” in Kashmir. Haak is sag, a green vegetable which is leafy, very rich in iron
and used to be cheap and available. This and rice was the staple diet of all the people in
the valley as meat and fish though available were expensive. For most people, because
the poor are always more in number, it was always a struggle between the menu and
the money - literally between haak and Rogan Josh.

VANGUJ (TENANT)

Till 1947, there was hardly any person in Kashmir valley who would rent out his home or
part of his home to a tenant. Only in rare cases, especially in the Civil line areas, would
outsiders be able to get accommodation on rent.

It is a measure of the distinction of Kashmir Valley that there was hardly anybody who
did not possess his own shelter over his head. Everybody had a home and the idea of
renting out a part of his home for money was totally repugnant and socially
unacceptable. This writer had for the first time come across this word, Vanguj when the
Pakistani invasion of Kashmir took place in 1947. At that time, a number of Pandit
families from the rural areas like Baramulla, Bandipur or Kupwara fled to Srinagar for
security.

Gone are the days when a tenant as a rare case would stick out like a sore
thumb as neighbours would ask each other as to who he was. The Answer would
come “yumin ha chu vanguj vore” (These people have a tenant).

Today there is a sea change. Renting houses is a source of income.

Give and take

Whenever the marriage of a son or a daughter was to be performed in a family, all the
kith and kin would attend the function and offer small sums of money to the head of the
family. This was called gulimyuth. Although this paltry amount did not pinch the purse of
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the person who paid it, put together, this would amount to a substantial sum that gave
financial succour to the yajmaan (head OF THE FAMILY) when he needed it most.

The other useful custom was the payment of wurehbal, which was yet, another
contribution made by the relatives and friends towards the expenditure incurred in the
running of the kitchen temporarily set up for cooking for various functions connected
with the marriage. For cooking for hundreds of relatives, friends and neighbours, a chulah
consisting of two parallel rows of bricks bound with clay was temporarily erected and
firewood was burnt in it. Called wureh in Kashmiri, the small contribution towards
expenses was thus named wurehbal. Gulimyuth and wurehbal gave much financial relief
to the family who had to marry their wards. However, the amount of such contributions
was limited. For instance, wurehbal was fixed at Rel for both the rich and the poor, who
were called safed posh as they wore white clothes. Gulimyuth could vary between a
relative and a friend or an acquaintance.

As every family had to perform a marriage or two in his life -time, it was a matter of give
and take for everyone. Each got this financial help when his turn came and none felt
humiliated while accepting this amount. On the other hand, such customs were ingenious
devices invented to firmly cement the bonds of kinship and close-knit Biradari. There is a
saying that a friend in need is a friend indeed. To this, | would like to add that friends and
relatives those days were real friends and relatives. That is why there is a saying in
Kashmiri: Zardar marih magar kachdar marih neh. Zardar means a rich man and
Kachda means one who has many kith and kin. The saying literally means that a
person having abundant money can die but one having kith and kin will not.

Partners In Adversity

It was not only on happy occasions like marriage and yagnopavit (thread) ceremonies that
the relatives and friends shared the burdens, but they were partners in adverse moments
as well. When a family lost one of its members, their relatives and friends participated in
the mourning not only physically but also mentally and financially. On the tenth day,
kriya was performed in the nearest river as is the practice even now. All the relatives,
friends and neighbours used to attend the function at the ghat. When the kriya was over,
the person who performed it would walk from the river ghat towards his home and all the
people assembled there followed him up to the gate. Here, they divided themselves in two
parallel rows creating a narrow passage in between. The bereaved person would enter his
house and come out wearing a pheran with his blanket and wearing a wooden sandal
(Khrave) on his feet. He would then walk from one end of the passage, formed by the
two human walls, to the other when moving in one direction, the pocket of his pheran
faced towards one row of his relatives and friends and while coming back it faced
towards the other row. Each person in the two rows would put his closed fist in his pocket
and drop some money in the pocket when the person passed by. Although like gulimyuth
and wurehbal, the amounts were small on this occasion also, yet, because of a large
network of kith and kin, especially due to joint families, such small sums of money were
like little drops of water making a veritable ocean. This money helped the family in the
smooth performance of the kriya on the 11" and 12" days, which used to be quite
elaborate.
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Sense of brotherhood

During those days, the members of our community did not possess sufficient sources of
income and a majority of them needed financial assistance to perform various social and
religious rituals. As such, these contributions came in handy to save the biradari from the
clutches of moneylenders. Moreover, this inculcated a sense of partnership in happiness
as well as in gloom, which is missing these days to a great extent. Some of us may have
improved our financial position substantially, but have no peace of mind, which our
ancestors had, in abundance even with limited sources of income.

N.N.MOZA

(The author, who was a Deputy Director in the Sericulture Department in the State
government in Kashmir, now lives in Karnal, Haryana)

*khhhhkhkhkkkkhkhkhkiihhikikkkk

The ugly face of persecution

e No Hindu should ride a horse, nor should a Hindu wear a shoe;
« That they should not wear Jama (an article of Mogul dress)

o That they should not bear arms;

e That they should not visit any garden;

« That they should not have Tilak mark on their foreheads;

e That their children should not receive any education.

Muhatta Khan

He was just a usurper who overthrew the Subedar and through rabble rousing,
persecuted, murdered, killed and plundered the lives and property of Kashmiri Pandits in
the first half of the 18™ century when Mughal rule over Kashmir had become shaky.
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3
OF THINGS NATIVE

Kangri

Kangri is a Sanskrit word meaning a fireplace first used by Upadeva. To a Kashmiri,
nothing is more indigenous and, therefore, typically Kashmiri than Kangri, the fire-pot. It
is the result of experience spread over a very long time that made this article of creative
genius possible. The kangri is a combination of baked-mud and wicker. Manan was the
ancestor of the kangri. The earthen pot around which hatab twigs are woven is called
Kundal in Kashmiri and the Kangri makers are known as Kanil. They live mostly on the
banks of the Wular Lake in the villages of Watlab and Botingo where women and
children help in Kangri making .

In Tsrar village, a special kind of Kangri is manufactured, which is known for its white
wicker and colour shine. The stout kangri is known as grees-i-kangri. It is almost double
the size of an ordinary kangri. It is kept under the pheran, the outer garment of a
Kashmiri The kangri gives warmth from the burning charcoal inside and the degree of
warmth varies. More than 500 families are engaged in Kangri — making. They use pohu,
lim, kachu and hatab in the form of twigs round the earthen pot.

The Kangri clings to a Kashmiri as an object of perfection in indigenous art.
Mysticism has shadowed the genius of Kashmir in the past and the five ribs of
Kangri represent five elements that make the universe. The pot suffering patiently
with fire is the goddess Shakti held fast by the masculine wicker frame-Shiva. It is
believed that women have contributed to the perfection of this fine piece of art.

G.T.Vigne “iTravels in Kashmir, Ladak, Iskardo”.

*hhhhkhkhkkkkhkhkhkiihhhkikkkk

Pheran

Thermal underwear, internal heating, electrical gadgets are all part of the modern
armoury to combat cold. In Kashmir Valley, European clothing is still used (2003)
during office hours, but at home the dressing gown is for show whereas the sweet pheran
is for warmth.

What is a pheran? A long loose fitting garment with wide arms and open collar. It can be
worn by bending and pulling it over your head. There are two types of pheran, one for the
winter which is made of wool with a cotton lining inside (called poch), the second one
made to the same specification but made of cotton. Form the head it goes down and
reaches just below your knees.

Since both men and women wear the pheran, it is necessary to differentiate between the
male and the female apparel. While the male pheran is plain, and comes down to the
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knee, the female one is longer and decorated around collar with broad sleeves. It is called
in Kashmiri Naware.

The happiest combination is the pheran and the Kangri, which under the cover of pheran
provides the heat. Let the Chille Kalan come, my pheran and my kangri will fight it.

*hkhkkkhkhkkkhkkhkkkhkkhkkikkikkikikkiikkikk

Ai kangri! Ai kangri! “Oh, kangri! Oh, kangri!

Kurban tu Houris wu Peri! You are the gift of Houris and Fairies
Chun dur bughul mi girimu When | take you under my arm

Durd az dil mi buree. You drive fear from my heart”.

Geography of Jammu and Kashmir, by A.N.Raina.

Tea Tales

The cup that cheers but does not inebriate is the ideal nightcap in the Kashmir Valley
when the air has a nip in the evenings. Flavoured with cinnamon, cardamom and almonds
(crushed), the Kashmiri chai has a flavour all its own.

The pahari chali, as it is popularly called, is boiled in the samavar, which with its aquiline
nose and hourglass figure has today become an item of decoration in the plains. Not so in
Kashmir, where the needed charcoal is available. Milk is, however, used by Kashmiris in
preparing what is called sheer chai. It attains a pinkish colour, thanks to the use of
bicarbonate of soda. Salt is added to taste. In the tele-serial Gul Gulshan Gulfam, a
boatwoman was seen serving this tea.

It is the sugared chai, sans milk, also called “Kahwa” which has its confirmed, traditional
devotees abroad. Travelling through Turkey, in the early 70s, we found chai restaurants
quite popular in the countryside. Thanks to our Urdu base, we spoke Turkish without an
accent — a fact appreciated by the Turks, who are as proud of their language as are the
French. Chai is served in cups called fincan (‘c’ pronounced as ‘j’), placed in saucers
containing sugar cubes and spliced lemon, to be consumed to taste.

Just as the Turks use the word chai, so do Russians. In Moscow, we came across sugared
chai served in glasses, neatly balanced in decorated containers. Since they too use the
word chai, it was easy to ask for it. A huge samovar was in use in the restaurant, flames
leaping from the burning charcoal inside it. | also came to know that Russians use the
word kulich for sweet cake as do the Kashmiris, the only difference being that theirs is
soft and more sugared. Mentally traversing to the British ‘cuppa’, part and parcel of the
British way of life, one ponders over the social etiquette that goes with the tea ceremony.
Even the milk pot has to have a cosy!

I am reminded of one Shri Ram, Scout Commissioner of J&K in the late 30s and early
40s, who had been directly appointed by Maharaja Hari Singh. His dominant passion,
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rather, mission, was to wean Kashmiris from the chai drinking habit. He lived in a
houseboat-cum-hotel, moored near Amira Kadal, then the first bridge of Srinagar. He
would demonstrate to us boy scouts, how to make tea by boiling dried pieces of skin of
oranges or rind of apples Avuncular.He was affectionate, wearing a small turban and a
close-cut moustache. Shri Ram was a popular figure in the Valley also in Jammu and
Ladakh — but he never realized that his was a mission foredoomed to failure.

Somnath Dhar, 19.12.92, Indian Express.

*hkhhkhkkkkhkhkhkhkiihhikhkhhhiikx

HUBBLE BUBBLE

The British rule in India produced in the English language many new words which
originated from Indian language words and got absorbed in the English language.

One of these deserves a mention because it also acts as a link with Kashmir. Try this for
size. Water pipe. Now we know that the British colonial culture had the cigar and the
pipe as part of the living routine. After dinner, cigar or pipe with brandy was a part of
the living culture. Tobacco as such has been part of mankind and it was only in the
twenties of the 20" century that the cigar got miniaturized to cigarette, and became very
popular worldwide. It also came to Kashmir. While the younger ones started smoking
cigarettes, the older ones also continued to consume tobacco but in the traditional way.

And that brings us to the hubble bubble. The Colonial Sahib had already seen this device
or contraption in countries like Turkey, Egypt and Afghanistan and also in the rest of
India. With his stiff upper lip, the sahib called it the water pipe, but the natives who knew
a bit of English noted the sounds emanating from the contraption and rightly named it
hubble bubble.

Of course, the traditional name for it in North India is Hookah but let us find out what
this hookah is and how it operates. A round metal pot is filled with water and it
is corked at the top with a pipe leading from it to end with a holder on which is
generally perched a small round earthen pot in which tobacco in a slightly wet state is
put over which glowing coals are put that starts processing the tobacco. At the bottom of
the round pot, another pipe comes out with a nozzle at the end, which a person puts in
his mouth and draws as one would draw, smoke from cigarette. This process produces a
sound similar to the words hubble bubble. And hence the name. The proper name is
Tamaek Jajir. The perch at the top in which tobacco is put is called a chillum which
today adorns the Oxford English dictionary.

Even today (2012) there are many faithful adherents to the hookah as there are to the
hubble bubble in the Kashmir Valley. In the rest of India too, it is very much there. If you
do not believe me, take a good look at Shriman Mahender Singh Tikait, the famous farm
leader from U.P sitting on his charpoy and dispending political wisdom in the company
of his Hookha.
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Samavar

The samavar of Kashmir is certainly an 18" century importation from Russian lands via
Central Asia. But it appears that Kashmiri metal workers made some changes in its size
and form. The type of samavar we have today is not to be found in Central Asia. But
certainly the cup called pyaleh in Central Asia and in Kashmir is identical in shape and
size. In Kashmir, it is called chinpyaleh_thereby indicating its Chinese origin. The fact of
the matter is that it must have been brought for the first time from Yarkand or Kashghar,
which lie in Eastern Turkestan, with which regions we had a brisk trade in medieval
times and which in turn were very close to Chinese mainland. They might have brought it
from China, named it Chinpyaleh and passed it on to Kashmir. Pandits have the khos
instead of Pyaleh but then Khos is the corrupted form of Persian kaseh pronounced as
khaseh.

Vitasta, Dr.K.N.Pandita. (1999-2000)

Note: The word samavar is the way it is spoken in Kashmiri. In Russian and English, it
is spelt as samovar.

*hkkkkikkkkikkkkikhkkikkikk

Dhoonga (House boat)

Noah’s ark may have been the first boat in history or legend according to Western
sources, but in Indian history and folklore, boats were present in the times of the
Ramayana and the Mahabharata.

In the Kashmir Valley with its many rivers, lakes and waterways, boats have been around
for a long time. Normal ordinary boats to carry people or light loads are called shikaras.
Shikaras are narrow at both ends and wide in the middle for balancing the weight.

The dhoonga is the bigger version built on the same lines, but with greatly increased
capacity for people not only to live, but also to carry passengers and loads. In Kashmir, a
small community called Hanjis, who are professionally and traditionally boatmen, also
live in dhoongas. Often even today, you can see dhoongas tied up on the Jhelum River
or the various canals where people sit, sleep, cook and make it their floating home.

Until the advent of the British, the dhoonga ruled the roost. However, when Tyndale
Biscoe arrived, he introduced British designs for rowing boats and bigger cutters. His
pioneering work (sadly not remembered or acknowledged by the Kashmir Government
even today) encouraged the modern houseboat design to come to Kashmir. The basic
difference between the dhoonga and the houseboat is that, the latter has more flat space
inside to accommodate European furniture like chairs, tables, and beds as also toilet and
bathing facilities.

Houseboats are for tourists. Dhoongas are for natives. Though the houseboat has now
been around for nearly 80 years, it has not been able to make a dent into the seniority and
position of the native boat. Long live the Dhoonga.

*hkhkkkhkhkkkhhkkkhhkkkhkihkkhkhhkkiiikiik
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Grandparent’s Attire

“It was my son-in-law ringing up from abroad to give us the good news that they had
been blessed with a baby girl and we had graduated to the ranks of grandparents.
Definitely an occasion to celebrate and we both agreed to dine out. Few hours still left,
the dresses we must wear for the occasion took our time; wife insisting that she must
wear a saree, possibly in tune with her newly acquired status—grandmother. | suspect we
welcomed being grandparents but refusing to accept that we had crossed the middle age.
Finally on the way, | realized | was dressed in jeans with Chinese cut shirt and dear wife
in salwar kameez with dupatta loosely hung over her shoulders. A smile appeared on my
lips as | remembered Atma Kaul and Bhawani Ded; my grandparents. A twitch and |
transcended to my childhood and how | watched them dress up with awe.

“It was hot June, Lala, my grandfather, was resting with white Pheran liner (putsch).
This was his dress when at home, during peak summer. In the evenings, he used to put on
Pheran of spun or cotton cloth, white or grey over the putsch and if he had to go to meet
someone, a white or grey shawl would grace his shoulders. Come summer or winter, his
headgear, a must, was a safa (turban)—white, cream, saffron or rose pink. Grandfather
used to tie his safa as it is tied even today, however, his father used to tie it differently-
mostly white Safa with broad band parallel to his forehead. | remember, as a five year
old, I used to run to Malayar to collect his freshly dyed, starched turbans with sparkle of
mica from Rangur [dyer].

“It was an operation of sorts in balancing while carrying neatly folded turbans flat, on
both arms while climbing to the second floor. Grandfather’s office dress was an Achkan
with churidar pyjama and pink or cream turban. | suspect this dress was a legacy from
Sikh or Dogra rule. I remember he had mentioned that his grandfather, Bhawani Kaul, a
noted philosopher and a historian in the service of the Maharaja used to go in a pheran,
safa with a dusa or shawl wrapped around his body. Come autumn Atta Kaul, as he was
called by his colleagues, would shift to grey Kashmiri pheran with a shawl or dusa.
During winter his attire at home would be a pheran and pyjama of puttoo [Tweed] with
chaddar [Loi or blanket]. As a child I had my puttoo pheran and pyjama. The pheran had
a putsch with longer arms, folded over the pheran and called kumb; essentially clothe
cover to protect it from getting dirty. | blatantly refused puttoo pyjama till an inner liner
was made available. | finally gave it up and settled for flannel pyjama.

“I believe grooms during grandfather’s time did dress differently. I burst out into
laughter when he gave me an account of his dress on his wedding day. A Kashmiri
pheran with white pyjama, pink safa with garlands of Button flower and Cardamum. The
barat moved a short distance from Badiyar to Kharyar [place names less than a km
away] in a shikar, a while baratis followed in a dunga [bigger boat]. As far as the
footwear is concerned, Gurgabi for office, wooden Kharaun for mandir, big kharaun for
snow and for pilgrimage to Hari Parbat, a pulhoru [slippers made from paddy stalk].
Slowly I saw transformation in his dresses; more so on special occasions; coat and pant
with a cap instead of a safa. His colleagues even dabbled with karakuli topi or Khadi. In
this euphoria, | had crossed the selected place for our dinner till my wife nudged me to
stop.
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“I watched my wife walk, ahead of me, on high heels putting years behind her. |
remembered Bhawani Ded walk majestically in a pheran with a tiny tot in my dress not
seen much these days. Kalpush [skull cap] of woolen cloth with red Kashmir or pashmina
band with Zari embroidery called tala chuk. A Zooj of muslin cloth with silk border laced
with Zari embroidery covered the kalpush. Four inches width white cloth putti called
taranga lath with its last portion polished with starch tied around the kalpush and over
the zooj. | recall taranga dhobis were a separate lot and mostly next to Fateh Kadal
bridge, who used to do this polishing of taranga lath. Over this a long muslin cloth with a
hood and two tails called pooche was a must. It was bad manners to move out of house in
a zooj only. Ladies used to starch pooche at home and tails were spun till both were of
same length. | believe both tails had to be at the same level as pheran and just touching
the ankle. A taranga was incomplete without ornate head needles to keep talc sheet
(sheesh lath) in place.

“Usually, pheran for summer was of silk or spun cotton with white potsch neither with
distinct broad cuffs called nor with another white cloth cover called kumb to keep it
clean. A Zari band called Narivar was sewn with the pheran. Absence of narivar
indicated widowhood. The pheran collar and sides lit pockets, above ankle, were
decorated with one inch wide silk-embroidered putti called doore. A loonge (literally a
cummerband) of silk with trusses [dash] tied around the waist — not knotted yet astutely
tied for winter dresses, the loonge would be of Kashmir a or pashmina. A starched
Muslim dupatta with a prominent beak and secured below the chin with a safety pin. Her
dress would change with the seasons-supun cloth pheran at home in summer, a kashmira
pheran during late autumn or winter or pashmina pheran for special occasions like
marriage. The muslin dupatta would be replaced by a woolen or pashmina shawl called
Wodpallav. Her footwear was slightly different — a leather chappal she would never
touch with her own hands (I did this errand for her many times and she would wash her
feet on return), a big wooden khraw to go to mandir or phlhoru for her puja room (even
this was ornately decorated).

“Grandmother’s pocket was occasionally plundered by me —she had Candy, Cardamum
tied in a hanky, casket filled with Nasvar. In this state of dream, | involuntarily extended
my hand to repeat the plunder when my wife caught hold of my hand reminding me that 1
was gesticulating unnecessarily — like a ghost.

“Ah! Atma Kaul and Bhawani Ded had disappeared and here 50-plus couple walked
hand in hand, till I bent to pick up my wife’s dupatta literally sweeping the floor. I
couldn’t ................due to tight jeans.”

Brig. Rattan Kaul, Koshur Samachar, September 2000.
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4
The Way We Were

Orthodoxy versus Modernism

Today, most middle class Indians wear European clothing during working hours and
traditional dresses at home. Over a period of time, it was discovered that European
clothing was economical and smart; it also made a man feel active. During the 90 years
of British rule, most English educated Indians blindly aped the Englishman even to the
extent of wearing a dressing gown, when it was sweltering hot.

After Independence, gradually European clothing was adjusted to the needs of weather
and climate. It was unthinkable in those days to see a man going to office wearing open
sandals but today the entire accent is on practicality and utility. If one looks carefully
around, one will see that there is a resurgence of pride in Indian clothing and on
appropriate occasions Indians take pride in wearing Kurtha Churidhar and other
traditional forms of dress such as the Waistcoat (Jawahar Jacket) made popular during the
forties by Jawaharlal Nehru. Added to that is now the close collar coat.

Flexibility and adjustability has been a hallmark of the passage of the Kashmiri Pandit
through turbulent times, peaceful times, war, pestilence and religious persecution. During
the Mughal rule, the dress code conformed to that of the conquerors. Subsequently, this
form continued with the headgear (turban) worn in different ways. While the Purana
Kashur who had migrated to the plains during Aurangzeb’s rule had already started their
march towards English education in the late 19™ century, the Tazu Kashur lagged behind
by about two generations. English education on a fairly noticeable scale began to make
an impact from about 1910.

Thus it was that among most of the office going clerks, assistants and others such as
teachers” who wore the pant and the coat, the only acknowledgement to tradition was the
continuation of the turban. By and large most Kashmiri Pandits were in the clerical scale
and hence could not be called gazetted officers. One of the unwritten codes seems to have
been that one wore a necktie if one was a gazetted officer.

Some of the other items of European apparel made their appearance in isolation and those
who used them were at first gaped at. But once it caught on, it was imitated. The case of
the night suit and the dressing gown is interesting. For a while during weddings, the son
in law was presented night suits and some families did start using it. But today it has
come in full circle and most people wear kurtha and Pyjama.

What was the impact of such practices on the small Kashmiri Pandit community in the
valley? It is best that we hear about the reaction to foreign ideas and practices from
Pandit 1.K. Wali and M.K. Wali who were perhaps the first in the community to write a
brochure entitled “The Social Survey of the Kashmiri Pandits”:
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“A father asked his son, who had just returned from England, to wash and come to the
chauki to have his food and can you imagine what his reply was? ‘No, thank you, father,’
he said, ‘I can as easily sit at the dining table.’ The father was, no doubt, stunned with
the reply, but this was not the only reply; another came to him later. ‘Come here, my son,
put on your dhoti and go to bed,’ said the fond parent. ‘Excuse me, my father; | have got
my night-suit with me, ‘was the reply.

“Once, the same father was taking a walk along the bazaar when a clean-shaven
Kashmiri youth, whom he knew to be a fast friend of his son, and as one who was
distinguished in his educational career by having been thrice plucked in the
matriculation Examination, cut him on the way. His accomplishments seemed to bear a
marvellous contrast with his outward show of vanity, and this fact made a deep
impression on the old man.

“Next, as the old man moved on, he was amusingly surprised to read a sign-board which
struck him as making a proud display of a Kashmiri name — nay caste only preceded by
its initial letters and that too so cruelly murdered by a distortion of spelling that a person
who has a head on his shoulders would wonder who Mr. B.C. Cole was, an Englishman
in name or in reality. Further, as he approached the Circular Road, he espied a pair of
young girls, possessed of Kashmiri features; pass on bicycles talking to each other in a
manner that made it difficult for him to believe his eyes.

“The venerable gentleman reached home at sunset and went in with a significant look.
Putting off his shoes, he squatted down on the wooden platform where the other members
of his family were sitting and talking to one another. He began to review the spectacle he
had witnessed and at once an excited conversation ensued. The housewife, touched with
what she heard, began to talk of the good old times and even went so far back as the days
of Sri Ram Chandra. She vehemently argued how in ancient times a brother loved
brother, how a son respected his father and felt it his pious duty to follow in his footsteps;
how young girls, embellished with the ornament of modesty, cultivated a sense of
propriety and obedience and how men lived a free simple life, with fewer chances to
excite their evil tendencies. ‘Our boys discuss heterodoxy in our very teeth,’ rejoined the
husband, ‘and sacrifice noble sentiments to crude innovations.” They openly denounce
their ancestors as ignorant and narrow-minded and boast of an ideal to form the
Brotherhood of Man on Earth. They know not the end of life and the ultimate good of
man. Alas! Such things cannot but go on and on.

“The holy scriptures has predicted that the Kaliyuga shall be the age of re-action when
religion shall be renounced, luxuries shall grow, sins increase and things change. Oh!
Where to see the early freshness of the dawn. Alas! Our purest nationality is waning with
time and signs of early greatness are fast disappearing. Our best principles of life are
now at the mercy of a heterogeneous accumulation of knowledge. New theories, new lines
of action, are operating on our raw youth. Alack! We are undone. Is there no servant of
God and Mankind who would deliver us from imminent peril?”

*khkhhhkhkkkkkhkhkikiiikikx

28



Cashmere: Kashir That Was Yarbal

The Kashmiri Pandit and his Panditani

“Both the husband and the wife joined in holy matrimony presented the composite
culture of thousands of years that Kashyap Rishi set into motion. Beginning with the
19™ century when proper records began to be kept one gets a pen picture of how they
looked, how they dressed and what kind of image they generated.

There were two distinct symbols of the traditional pandit. For his office work he would
wear, as a concession to Western culture a coat and a white pyjama with traditional
boots made by the cobblers in the valley. But for ensuring that his identity was
recognized he wore his turban at a jaunty angle. Back at home he wore his pheran, the
loose gown without the opening in front as in a Western dressing gown and pulhoru, the
sandal made of grass and much later wooden clogs (called Khrave).

While the above was the male attire the better half generally wore a loose pheran
specially tailored tothe women’s needs and size and accompanied by a headgear
(tarange) decorated appropriately to cover the head and a loose scraf tied around the
waist to give her a smart look and also keep the loose dress under control while she was
busy doing her domestic chores.

The march of time and the ravages of events have of course, played havoc with this visual
treat of the Kashmiri pandit couple. Gone is the turban, gone is the tarange, replaced by
the bare head and the hair style for the man and the pheran replaced by the saree and
salwar kameez.”

To the above, this writer can add: Perhaps B.C. Cole was B.C. Koul who tried to
anglicise his name. A subsequent instance can be cited. Another Kashmiri Pandit
gentleman who returned from England was named Razdan. He lived on the bank of the
Maer in Rainawari. He changed his name to Rozidon and named his house “Maer view .
For a while, no one took notice, after a while, people laughed it away and still later
people ignored it.

Members of the older generation of our community would remember the name of Pandit
Lambudar Nath Zutshi, the famous mining engineer who also went to England married an
Englishwoman, but never forgot his roots. My father has told me of how he would come
on vacation to Kashmir and on the following day after his arrival, he would come down
to the river side and greet all the Hanjis wearing a pheran and speaking chaste Kashmiri.

One has to refer from sheer necessity to the past and one would like to mention the name
of Raja Narendar Nath Kaul, who was in the twenties the Revenue Minister of Jammu
and Kashmir State. He belonged to the family of the Kauls of Lahore of whom one has
heard a lot. There were two brothers Raja Sir Daya Kishen Kaul and Raja Hari Kishen
Kaul. The latter, as most of us know, was the Prime Minister of Kashmir who put down
the 1931 riots.
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The story of the Raja Narendar Nath Kaul needs to be told. He was a brilliant student and
had already prepared himself for the ICS for which he had to go to England. Apparently
the family priests wanted him to go through some rituals. He refused. He went to England
did brilliantly in the examination but failed in the horse riding Test which was
compulsory. He failed because he was suffering from piles. Since he didn’t qualify, he
returned to India and soon after was appointed first as Governor (Deputy Commissioner)
by Maharaja Hari Singh. He later became Revenue Minister.

In the following year, he chose to stay in Srinagar during winter.

Those days the valley was totally cut off from the rest of the country due to snowfall. He
fell ill and had an attack of piles. Bleeding started and would not stop. The Doctors tried
everything but failed and the brilliant Minister Raja Narendar Nath Koul died.

The orthodox among the Pandits ascribed his death to his lack of faith in rituals, as he did
not do any after his return from England.

Orthodoxy Inc Defied

Ordhodoxy has been the bane of the Pandit community from times immemorial. Our
rigidity made Renchin, a Ladhaki prince who later ruled Kashmir, convert to Islam when
he wanted to become a Hindu. There were similar countless taboos. One of them was that
the Pandit should not travel across the sea. What is puzzling is how this prohibition came
about since many Kashmiri Pandits, Buddhist Missionaries travelled to far off places like
Sri Lanka, Indonesia, China, Taiwan by sea and land.

This taboo was still in force in the 19" century when Pandit Mohan Lal Zutshi embarked
on his adventures through many countries and became a famous explorer and helper to
many British military and civil officers. He was honoured and rewarded by the British
and admired by everybody in India except his own Kashmiri Pandit community. They
harassed him, ex-communicated him, ostrascised him. Nobody would eat with him,
nobody would invite him to his house or go to his house. In short, he was told in no
uncertain terms that he was not wanted. In total frustration he converted to Islam.

In 1884, in the Kashmiri Mohalla of Lucknow, a young man named Bishan Narain Dar
who lived there, broke caste restrictions against sea voyages, the news of his clandestine
departure to England spread like wild fire within families living in the Mohalla, and
aroused a storm of indignation, particularly among the women folk. Within a short time,
a meeting of the biradari had been summoned in the shadi khana of the Kashmiri
Mohalla, and an order of excommunication passed against him and his chief supporter,
Pran Nath Bazaz, then a teacher in the Canning College of Lucknow .
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Transition From Turban

A turban was always regarded as symbol of identity and prestige and respect. All
references in our epics mention the headgear worn by Gods, Goddesses and warriors and
common people. It was a part of man’s standing as a male. In fact there were different
kinds of turban, which identified the caste, ethnic group, profession and was a kind of 1D
card of an earlier era.

You may have heard of the story that emanated from the Afghan rule in Kashmir. At that
time, they had passed an order that no Kashmiri Hindu could ride a horse and even those
walking on the road had to keep their heads down. There was this very poor Pandit who
had only one turban, which was in tatters. His resourceful wife got some colourful rags,
which she stitched, together into a turban. By skillfully tying the turban he was able to
hide the stitches and from the outside, it appeared to be a colourful turban.

Next day the Pandit was walking on the road to go to work when an Afghan riding a
horse overtook him, liked the turban and promptly snatched the turban. But what he got
in his hand was pieces of rags. He cursed and went away.

What the story highlights is that Pandits were poor as a community but they did not lack
in ingenuity, innovation, and patience. That is how they survived.

Reverting to turbans, in the early part of the 20™ century, even young boys studying in
class 3 or 4 were required to wear turbans. There is an old photograph showing a group of
students in the Mission School in the 1890s. In which all Biscoe’s students of practically
all the classes wore turbans.

When a person took up a job, he had to wear a turban. Even policemen wore khaki
turbans. Thus it was that my father and my uncle wore turbans. While my father was
modern in his tastes, my uncle was always traditional, orthodox with a minimum of
modern accompaniments. Till the day he passed away, he wore his traditional turban. But
my father deserted the tradition in 1948 during his first posting outside the state and
remained turban less till they day he died.

The above is a glimpse of headgear but for the rest most of the Pandits switched to
European clothing and it was till very recently that the unspoken convention of wearing a
necktie was confined only to gazetted officers. Even now, one can find in Kashmir non-
gazetted officers not wearing a tie and moving around in just a coat and a pant.

3k 3k 3k 3k 3k 3k 3k %k %k 3k 3k %k %k %k k ok k sk k k kk

31



Cashmere: Kashir That Was Yarbal

Faith and Belief

The Father was worried. The son was going on a long journey. He briefed him, advised
him, and gave suggestions for safety. He helped him to pack and finally asked him.

“Any questions?”

“Yes, what do I do if my holy thread breaks or gets lost?”

“Well, It’s written in our shastras that in an emergency you can take any piece of string,

say a prayer over it and it gets consecrated. After that, you can put it on and it becomes
your holy thread. “

“What if I cannot get a piece of string? Then what do I do?”’

“It is provided in our shastras that in that case you can dip your fingers into water and
draw a line along the same line on which the real thread would hang .

“What do I do if there is no water? *

“Then, my son”, sighed the father, “ONLY GOD CAN HELP YOU”.
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5
The Way Things Were

Even today, there is no sewage in Srinagar City especially the old city of Seven bridges
and areas surrounding it and linking it to Rainawari. Of course, in the past fifty years
since Independence new extensions like Bal Garden, Magarmal Bagh and other areas do
have sewage but the old areas still live in primitive conditions. Most of them have now
pits since the profession of picking up night soil has practically disappeared not only in
Kashmir valley but also in the rest of India.

The first experience that Srinagar city had of modern housing was the development of
Karan Nagar (named after Yuvaraj Karan Singh). This is located beyond Kani Kadal
across the main road and was popularly known as Dewan Bagh. Quite a few progressive
well to do Pandits built their houses there. This was perhaps the first middle class locality
and it was half way towards the rich and the super rich living near Dal Gate and on
Gupkar road.

The strange thing, looking at it at this distance of time, is that even houses did not have
Municipal numbers. They were identified largely by the owners’ names. When electric
meters were installed after the arrival of electricity, the billing was only by the name of
the owner and the localities name, either the Mohalla or the Kocha (Lane).

As recently as the eighties | have addressed letters where only the name of the person and
the locality and its proximity to the relevant number of the bridge is written. For instance:

Prof. N.L. Darbari,
Narpirastan,
2" Bridge,
Srinagar,
Kashmir.
As you can see from the above, this is not an accurate address. Mind you, Narpirastan is
closer to the Third Bridge than to the Second Bridge. But the reason why the letters
reached their destination is because the Postman from the second bridge (Haba Kadal)

served our Mohalla.

The location of people and houses was also a beautifully romantic, vague system, which
surprisingly enough worked. The following conversation will illustrate it:

“Can you tell me the way to Prof. Wazir’s House?”
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“Go straight towards Habba Kadal beyond Chinkral Mohalla. You will find Dr.Sham
Bhat’s House. It is just practically opposite. In fact it is on the main road”

So the key identification mark is Sham Bhat. Who was he? The late Pandit Sham Bhat
was a respected doctor who was well known to all Pandits in Srinagar and beyond. Thus,
the man looking for a particular address in that locality would be told the approximate
distance and direction that house was in relation to the good Doctor’s house. The main
method of identification was first and foremost with regard to addresses the proximity of
the bridge on the river Jhelum. It had to be either between second and third bridge or
fourth and sixth bridge.

Earlier, we mentioned Prof. Darbari. Suppose | were to give instructions to someone to
go to his house. I would say “From Maalik Aangan walk a little further and you will
come on the main road to the shrine of Narishwari where there is a lamp lit and beyond it
is a Mazar. Next to it is a Lane. On the other side of it is a”’Kandar Waan “(Pandit Baker).
Go through the lane until you reach the Kachroo House and then watch out for another
Lane going to Razdan Kocha, but keep going. On the left side you will find the Darbari
House.

*hhkkkhkhkkkhkhkkkikhkkhkikkikkikkik

What Is This X-Ray?

Modern Medicine came to Kashmir valley through the good offices of the medical
missionaries of the CMS of London. The Neve brothers were both doctors and the
mission hospital that they set up can still be seen there today as we go through the 21°
century. One of the greatest diagnostic tools of modern medicine was the x-ray and what
Srinagar city, the main urban hub of the Kashmir valley, lacked was the newly developed
x-ray machine, which had been commercialized in Europe in the early 30s and had come
to commercial centers in India. The nearest big centre for the Kashmir valley was Lahore
(now in Pakistan)

It was at this juncture that a Kashmiri Pandit doctor decided to set up his x-ray clinic in
the valley. Until then, there was no facility for the general public to have an x-ray taken.
This was Dr. Shivji Dhar who started a clinic for x-rays and today much more than half a
century later, it is still there despite wars, terrorism, militancy and natural calamities.

This was a pioneering effort by a member of the community, which is basically a service-

oriented community. Dr. Shivji Dhar’s grandson Dr. Hiralal Dhar, a medical graduate of
the Madras University, is today running it very efficiently.

*hkhkkkhkhkkkhkhkkkhhkkkhhkkkhhhkkhkhkhkkhiikkiik
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Spring time, Picnic time

It was a period of transition. Electric light had made its appearance but it was not
universal. Cars were few; there was no public transport. Most people depended on their
legs and for longer distances it was the horse drawn carriage known as the Tonga. Radio
was rare and movies had just come but were taboo as going to the movies was considered
to be something bad.

Under these circumstances, how did the people amuse themselves? What we call fun
today was also there but in a different form. Enjoyment was also dictated by, strange as it
may sound now, the seasons. After the hellish winter was over and spring had come, it
was time to picnic. The most famous picnic of the season was “Badamwari”. A word of
explanation:

Almond trees initially have flowers, which bloom in spring, and groves and groves of it
with fresh grass growing on the ground provided the ideal local for a picnic. Most
families would pack up their samavars and sweets and other eatables and carry them to
these badamwaris where they would sit on the ground and enjoy the scenery.

The children, practically imprisoned during the six months of winter, suddenly
discovered the joy of freedom and one could hear shouting, screaming and playing all
over the picnic grounds. The adults would sit and quite often meet some others whom
they would not have seen during the winter.

It was the beginning of the New Year and a change from the day-to-day drudgery of
work both for the men as well as the women.

As the spring advanced into summer and the Mughal gardens adjoining the Dal Lake
were opened up for visitors, the locals mixed with the tourists who were also coming
to Nishat, Shalimar and Harwan to name just a few.

How did the locals go for such a picnic?

Whereas they walked to badamwari, Nishatwas a bit far away. The journey was
conducted by riding the native boat called a dhoonga. It has to be borne in mind that
when such an outing was planned terrific, excitement prevailed especially among the
children. Women would plan the menu and select their best pots and pans including the
inseparable samavar. They would board the dhoonga at the nearest point on the Jhelum
River and it would either be an overnight trip or, as was the case mostly, a one day trip
beginning with the departure early in the morning and arrival late at night.

For the Pandits, there were places where they went on pilgrimage such as Amarnath,
Ishibar, Mattan, Verinag and Khirbhavani. While Amarnath was a tough three-week trip,
Khirbavani (Tulla mula) was the most popular. Here too, the journey was made by
dhoonga and in most cases it was an overnight trip. Khirbhavani was a perennial
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destination as one could go there at any time. However, the festival associated with the
shrine is Jyesth Ashtami.

*khkhkhkhkkkkhkhkhkiihhikhkhkkhiikx

Exodus

By the mid fifties it was quite clear that employment opportunities within the state would
keep on shrinking because there would be more Muslim candidates for any Government
job. In order to satisfy the aspirations of Kashmiri Muslims, the Government of J & K
declared education from Class | to M.A level free, although it was not the post 1947
Government which did it, but the Government of Maharaja Hari Singh which made
education practically free. Even today it is the only state in India, which has free
education all through.

During the thirties and forties, a few Pandits had ventured into the field of Engineering
and Medicine. And after Independence, when a tremendous expansion of developmental
activities was planned for the whole country, Kashmir also got its share.

The first crop of youngsters all wanted to become civil engineers but most of them could
not get admission into the degree (B.E) course. So they went in for the next best thing,
the diploma course which qualified them for an overseer’s job. With fresh projects
coming in a steady stream, overseers had no problem finding jobs and brides.

This was a period when the Overseer was highly prized as a potential or future son-in-law
in the marriage market. The conversation between illiterate women of the older
generation and middle-aged women with some education was revealing to the extent that
one could gauge a change in the value system in the community.

“What is the boy doing™?
“He has just joined the PWD as an Overseer”
“What is his salary”?

“Salary is only one fifty”, but over that he gets “Phetwain”, meaning thereby extra
money from other sources or as they say in Hindi “Ghoos “

The sixties and seventies saw a gradual movement of young men who could not get a seat
in the newly opened Engineering colleges and the Medical Colleges in the State. Most of
them studied outside, qualified and took up a job wherever they could get it. Of course,
their parents stayed back and they would visit the valley in summer and spend the leave
there.

Gradually, avenues of employment in the state dried up and practically every young boy
knew that he would have to leave the state for acquiring a technical or professional
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qualification. This went on right during the eighties until there were thrown out by
murder and torture in 1989-90.

Gradually the preference for civil engineering died out and many opted for other
branches and today (2002) quite a large number have opted for computer related subjects
like software and electronics etc.,

Earlier recruits in Jammu & Kashmir Government retired and were replaced by Muslims.
Apart from this, more and more exposure to Punjab, Delhi, Bombay, Calcutta,
Hyderabad, Bangalore, Pune and Chennai broadened the outlook but also physically
scattered the community. Though a number of associations were founded and are
working quite well, the exodus from Kashmir has had its effect in further splintering the
community.

*khkhkkkkkkhkhkikiikikx

Building a House — a lifetime achievement

Under any circumstances, building a house in India is most of the time a once in a
lifetime activity. What you build in this generation is generally bequeathed to the next
generation as an inheritance.

There was this Pandit whose wife was pestering him to build a house. After marshalling
his resources, he finally agreed and already owning the land, he felt it would not be such
a costly undertaking. In those days, No architect was employed and the plan was simple
and straightforward — ground floor kitchen and living room, first floor bedroom and
second floor summer living room.

Generally speaking, in Srinagar in every Mohalla one could find a mid wife, a
compounder, a carpenter, a mason, a baker, a grocer, a milkman, a vegetable seller etc.,
Once the decision was made, the local mason was contacted and, to cut a long story short,
construction began.

The first payment had to be made before construction and the second payment after the
foundation was laid. Every day, after the construction began, the owner used to come
directly from the office and watch the final stages of the day’s work.

It was a sight to see, the pride in his eyes, the gestures for the neighbours and the pose
that would put a Raj Kapoor to shame. And in filmi style, he would take out his packet of
Gold Flake and light up a cigarette, blowing rings of smoke into the air.

Very soon, the walls for the first floor began to be built and more money was needed for
which he tried to take a Provident Fund loan. Naturally, paper work, especially in a
Government Office, takes time and even if it is meant for a Government Employee it still
takes time. Hence, our hero was worried. The mason, the carpenter, the labourers, the
cement, the woodwork had all to be paid for and they had not yet reached the first floor.
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The money came, the pressing bills were paid, but money seemed to be in short supply
and he had to come down from Gold Flake to Cavendar. Anyway the wife was happy the
house was coming up and she was looked upon with envy by the rest of the ladies in the
locality.

But the master of the house was worried, terribly worried. He began to wear a pinched
look on his face. It seemed to him the second phase of the construction was going
painfully slow and his money was running out faster than the house was coming up.
Eventually, the first floor was also completed and by the time they reached the second
floor our hero’s money ran out but he was one of those who never say die.

(The expression is, “he never says die”that is, he never gives up)

The head mason was laying the bricks for the wall and his assistant was helping him. He
took a break to have a smoke and was talking softly to his assistant.

“Have you noticed that he has changed to Cavendar and | guarantee you that next month
he will change to Red Lamp .

“I do not think so “, said the younger man and added, “He is not that poor”
“We will see”

And sure enough, in two weeks time, our hero came down to Red Lamp, which was of
course, to cheapest brand of cigarette in that Golden Era of the 20" century.

But our Pandit hero finally built the house and lived happily ever after in it, that is, until
Pakistan’s export of terrorism hit the Valley in 1989.

*hkhkkkhkhkkkhkkhkkkikhkkhkikkhkkikkik

Byon Nerun ( Family Partition)

It was only in the twenties and thirties that the population increased and with education,
old social taboos began to crack. Family fights resulting from differences between father
and son, mother-in-law and daughter-in-law resulted in expected acrimony and in a few
cases the partitions of the family took place.

As years went by and the economic condition of the community improved, partition
became less painful but what we are talking about here is division of an old house and
separation of generally the kitchen and the bed rooms.

Very often, the acrimony would begin in two areas after the partition - one is sharing of
the water tap and the other that of the toilet. In our neighbourhood also, such a partition
took place and where one kitchen would feed a family of ten, two kitchens would feed
four on one side and six on the other. Thus, the beginning of the modern age started,
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where individual comfort started becoming more and more
important and convenience for the younger generations became more important,
came. However, the blame for partition has been, | feel, wrongly placed at the door
of the young daughter-in-law who is branded as the villain who turns her husband
against his parents.

This is however a glance at the past. Happily enough today family partitions are no
longer acrimonious.

Batta* Tongawalla

He was a young man full of hope, energy and enthusiasm. But his parents were poor. He
passed his High School and started looking for a job. He looked and looked and looked
but there was no job.

He was desperate. One day a neighbour in the Mohalla asked him to help bring his horse
from the barn and harness it to the tonga, which he was driving. After thanking our boy,
he asked whether he would like to drive a tonga and earn some money. Our boy was
desperate and he said yes.

And so began his journey into the unknown world of Batta (Pandit) Prejudice. Even as he
tried the new job, he found he liked it. It was difficult, it was hard work but it had its
rewards. At the end of the day, he had money. He was afraid to tell his parents at home
about his new job. But one day they found out and told him to stop.

“What will the neighbours say? They have given us a new name. They call us
Tongawalla”.

He argued himself hoarse pointing out that if he had another job, he would not certainly
drive a tonga. Suddenly, he decided to become obstinate. He refused to give it up. He did
the job, earned the money and saved some. By this time, everybody called him a
Tongawalla especially those from the KP community. But he did not care. He left the
Valley, learned to drive a car and lived happily ever after. This is one story. There is
another one (and many more) about our prejudice with regard to professions, which are
not socially acceptable.

There were two Young men — Somnath and Janakinath. Both were interested in
hairdressing. They were promptly nicknamed Barbers (Navid) but again they were
determined, left the valley and went to Bombay where they made good and lived happily
ever after.

* Batta, Kashmiri word for Kashmiri Pandits.

Social attitudes have changed but a lot more needs changing.

*khkhkkkhkhkkkhkkhkkkhkikkikkikikk
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The Three Rs and Eve

As late as the 1920s, very few girls were sent to school or college. A few used to be sent
to primary or to middle school level and then brought home and prepared for their
marriage. In our own joint family, the first two girls, one born in the twenties and other in
the thirties, were educated only upto the primary level, whereas the third daughter born in
the forties was lucky to get a good education.

One of the main reasons for this was first physical safety and second lack of avenues of
employment after education. Also the overriding factor was that the qualitative
requirement for a bride in the twenties, thirties and forties was ability in house work
rather than education. Among the more orthodox a girl who went to school was
considered to be a risk so far as character was concerned.

After Independence, as avenues of employment within the valley decreased and mobility
gradually took hold, the Pandit boys were educated at the school level and up to the
intermediate level in the valley after which most of them went to other parts of India for
puruing technical courses. Medicine or Post-graduate studies in universities.
Simultaneously, with this, the number of schools and colleges for women increased
within the Valley and this gave an opportunity for the Pandit girls to study beyond high
school and even in professional courses. This trend started in the fifties and continued up
to the seventies by which time practically every Pandit family had a relative outside the
Valley, which made it easy for either a boy or a girl to go and persue higher studies
outside Kashmir.

By the time the eighties came round, all children whether boys or girls had to have an
education even in those families which were located in villages or some towns like
Khanabal, Anantnag, Baramulla, Sopore, Kupwara, Verinag, Mattan etc., Today, no one
even asks whether the girl is educated or not because everyone takes it for granted that
she will be educated at least up to the degree level.

It is for this reason one can safely say that the half a million Kashmiri Pandit community
scattered all round India and around the world is a hundred percent literate community.

In most Hindu communities in India, there has always been dowry present in some form
or the other Kashmir is no exception. In Kashmir according to their status, dowry would
be paid but it was never called dowry since, we had an ancient code of conduct and even
a graded slab system of payment of money or giving of presents on various occasions in
terms of cash or kind. This has been graphically described by Pandit Anand Kaul in his
pioneering work, “The Kashmiri Pandit” published in 1924.

*khkkkkhkkkkikkkikkik
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Marconi Comes To Kashmir

Radio had come to Kashmir but was mainly used for military purposes, by the Maharaja
and other important people of the state. Its actually sale in a shop began in 1946 after the
war.

In the words of Mr.J.L.Ganjoo (Koshur Samachar, August 2001), his father Pandit
Niranjan Nath Ganjoo bought a radio set on July 5™, 1946. A limited quantity had come
to Kashmir for sale and this was perhaps the first indroduction of Kashmiris to radio as a
medium of news and entertainment.

“This unique set with a distinct look had keys/switches to control its various functions,
which included fine tuning, band spread, voice-controlling device, off and on switches for
light, etc. it had also the mechanism to indicate whether or not a radio station existed on
particular wavelength. Marketed under the trade name of “Sky Champion”, this set made
in Chicago, USA, was actually a product meant to serve the communication needs of
World War 11.

Besides an inbuilt step-up transformer backed by powerful valve operating system, it had
the advantage of sending and receiving signals independently, exactly on the pattern of a
wireless transmitting set, through a specially designed instrument, which was, however,
detached,consequent to public sale after the victory of the Allied forces in August, 1945.
Its quality of reception and other mechanical devices enthralled and captivated the hearts
of many a listener. Alas, like every other thing, this too we left at Srinagar in 1990.

My father, had told me that as a result of short supply and cost factor, only 21-22 sets of
this magnificent radio were marketed in Srinagar through Messrs. Lyra & Co., Lal
Chowk. One Pt.Ved Lal of Habbakadal, who probably worked with the concern, helped
us to get the set at Rs.1, 100.

One such set purchased by Dr.S.K.Shangloo, the then state physician who had
accompanied Maharaja Hari Singh from Srinagar to Jammu at the time of the Kabaili
raid. He did possess this set for long. Among others, the names of Maharaja Hari Singh
and the Amar Singh Club also figure in the list of its buyers. To my faded memory, even
Srinagar Radio Station and the post office possessed these sets for communication
purposes.

Economic changes apart, other political developments, taking shpae in the Indian
subcontinent, had already created a sense of awareness amongst the general masses.
Electronic media was still at an upcoming stage and every individual could not afford the
luxury of possessing a radio set. The majority of the people, therefore, largely depended
on the print media. Milap, Ranbir, Pratap, Navyug, Martand, Hamdard, Tribune, etc.
kept the public generally informed about the political developments. Most of these papers
came to Srinagar through mail, which caused at least a day’s delay.Still the mail and
paper carriers got precedence over other vehicles, on the road. This helped them to reach
within the shortest possible time, surely an example of good administration, rarely seen
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nowadays.

Here | am reminded of a news item over the radio which in its earlier broadcast referred
to the Prime Minister of Jammu & Kashmir as Rai Bahadur Ram Chand Kak, then as
Pandit R.C.Kak and ultimately as R.C.Kak—all in a day.

Character

It is difficult to identify a people’s characteristics. If we delve down deep into human
character, no one would stand the test. An English statesman of the last generation said
that he did not know how to frame an indictment against a whole nation. The character of
a people must, however, be studied from the historical and psychological standpoints and
nor merely from the logical one. We should be satisfied if the main essential traits of it
are right without throwing out insinuations, which are all the more damning because they
cannot be adequately proven.

The Kashmiri Pandit is famous for hospitality. Pay a visit to him and he will treat you to
the point of worship. It is not uncommon that he will offer food prepared for himself to a
guest who chances to come unexpectedly to his house and will himself remain hungry
until fresh food is prepared for him. If a guest comes to his house and he has got no cash
at hand with which to buy tea to be served to him, he will secretly go and pawn one of his
personal effects and bring the tea. Well, someone has said:

“Zara zara hai mere Kashmir ka mihman-nawaz

Rah men pathar ke tukrun se mila pani mujhe.”
“Everywhere greets me the hospitable host of my Kashmir
I got water from even the pebbles on the way.”

The Pandit is truly of ‘simple breed” — simple in food and simple in dress. Patience and
resignation are writ large in his behavior. Give him a slap on the right cheek and he will
turn the left but will never provoke you to a quarrel. So law-abiding he is that he regards
a State official as a ‘fiat of destiny.” He is kind to his family and respectful to ladies and
is loathe remaining away from home, often embracing idleness as an alternative. He is
free from crime against the person and from burglary and thievery. Being naturally sober-
minded, he has no passion. . Wine and other drinks he spurns. Contentment dominates his
character. ‘So long as rice and millet grow and salt is not dear, his life is much the same
and gods may be propitiated.

(These are, of course, characteristics of the older generations. Times have changed
and people have moved with times, although the main traits remain the same).

42



Cashmere: Kashir That Was Yarbal

The Panditani is, indeed, a picture of self-denial. She abhors fashion from her very core.
She is noted for modesty, punctiliousness and chastity and also for industry and thrift.
She is brought up to be a mother, never a wife, having been given the epithet of bacha-
pasand (fond of children). She is a picture of self-abnegation. She has not become a wife
by self-assertion or by the survival of the fittest. She stands resplendent as the mother
worshipful, not a beautiful wife to be wooed. She towers above low humanity because of
her moral grandeur and not physical charms. Her high spiritual status is reflected in the
mythology; indeed the Pandits nay, all Hindus, think habitually of God as She.

The Pandit is intelligent. Even at a distance in the Durbar he can tell by observing the
movements of the Secretary’s pen what orders are being dictated by the Maharaja.
Aurangzeb once paid a compliment to his intelligence at Agra as is recorded in the
Ruqat-1-Alamgiri:

“Kashmiri darin mulk nistand ki ma muqurar kunem” —

(The Kashmiris are not to be found here, that we might appoint them in public offices).
He is shrewd, alive to the comic touch, and has a natural gift of repartee. During the
Pathan rule a Pandit was asked by a Sirdar why there were 108 beads in the rosary round
his neck. “Because the beads are used to keep count in the recitation of the name of Haw
(God)”, was the ready reply, “the two letters of H and Q standing as they are for 108 in
reckoning by abjad.” Diwan Dila Ram Quili Khan was once sarcastically asked by Timur
Shah Durani at Kabul why the tika mark was made by him on his forehead. He replied
that it indicated that God was one. Timur Shah enquired why the ears were also
marked. He explained that it was to show that they were two witnesses to this fact.
Timur Shah, in order to baffle him, further asked why the throat was also besmeared. He
replied that it meant that whoever entertained any doubt about it was fit to be beheaded.
The King was pleased with the plausibility of the answers to his questions and then Dila
Ram Quli Khan bore the bell by adding the following two couplets in Persian:

Bar chahra am nazar kum peshaniam bibin

Dagha ghulamia Shahi-Maulasi bar jebin”

“Gar Musalman Kafir o Kafir Musalman shud chi shud
Ancha bayad shud no shud gar in u gar an shud chi shud.”
“Look at my face and see my forehead

The mark of slavery of the Master King is on my forehead”
“If Musalman became a Kafir or Kafir a Musalman

If he did not become what he ought to (i.e., pious, God fearing, etc)
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What matters it if he became this (Kafir) or that (Musalman).”

*hkhkkkhkkhkkkhkkhkkkhkkhkkikkikkhkkikkikikkik

Low Profile

Because of continuous persecution by Muslim Rulers for almost 500 years, the Pandits
who survived the onslaught of forcible conversions made it a policy to maintain a low
profile, which over the generations became a part of the Pandit psyche.

This would be reflected in the behaviour of the majority of the Pandits most of whom
were clerks. They were very few senior officers who were Pandits and the number of rich
men, landlords, and businessman could be counted on one’s fingers.

The watchword was “Don’t come to the notice of the rulers or don’t become prominent
or don’t do anything that makes you stand out in a crowd”. This perhaps is responsible
for two proverbs, which are typical of the community. One is “He was born under this
quilt and he died under the same quilt”.

It is the second, one, which needs elaboration; It is “Nav Zanehemne Kahn”. Literally
translated it means it “Nobody knew my name”. This would explain the need for
anonymity among the Pandits. To stay unseen and be part of the crowd.

As a twelve-year-old schoolboy, in Madras where Prohibition was in force, | did not
know what the word “Beer” meant. Somebody in my father’s office asked me to find out
whether this commodity would be available from the parents of any of my classmates in
the English School that | was studying in. | faithfully carried out the task and the next day
somebody came and met my father asking him whether he wanted beer.

After cross questioning the gentleman who was the father of one of my classmates, my
father found out that the entire conspiracy had started with one of his own subordinates in
the office. So when | came during the lunch hour, he closed the office door and gave me
the thrashing of my life.

It is not the thrashing that | remember, but what he said. | had by associating myself with
beer defamed him and brought down his prestige. The famous last words that still keep
ringing in my ears were and are:

“Nav Zanehemne Kahn” (None knew my name. By implication my bad deed would
give him a bad name. Stems from the Pandits psyche to keep a low profile all the time
and not come to the notice of other people)

*khkkkkhkhkkkikhkkkikhkkikkikikk
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“OUR LONE INDUSTRIALIST”

By the early forties, English had completely seeped into the community as an essential
basic ingredient to advancement in life. And the word industrialist meant very little as
most of us, especially the adults, who had rarely been outside the State, but familiarity
with the English language gave a vague idea that an industrialist was a big business man
no matter what his business was.

So it came about that by then the name of Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru and his link with the
Kashmiri Pandits and his leadership of the Congress party came as a surprise initially
since he had been an exile whose family had left the Valley as a result of religious
persecution.

He came to visit the Valley, and the local Pandits gave him a reception and invited him to
visit the interior part of Srinagar. As he was being given a guided tour, one of his hosts
proudly pointed to a small building on the road in Bana Mohalla and said, “Sir, that is his
factory” And pointing to a smiling stout gentleman he added with great pride, “Sir, and
he is our only industrialist”.

Nehru smiled nodded and shook the hand of the industrialist and passed on down the
street.

The factory that was shown to him was a rice mill and the industrialist who was
introduced to him was Pandit Jia Lal Khod, the nice kindly man, who for no fault of his,
was pushed forward by eager do-gooders.

Today we have quite a few top business experts and leaders who started out as
executives and made a name for themselves in the world of business. For instance
AN.Haksar, J.N.Sapru, Rajive Kaul, Dr.R.N.Kar, A.N.Dhar, V.K.Dhar,
M.L.Zutshi, Mohan Lal Shishoo, Hira Lal Zutshi and many others. But even in this
area, Pandits shine more as consultants, business executives and employees.

*hhkkkkkkhkhkhkiiikikkx
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Sixty minutes that changed destiny.

A LITERARY event at Etawah, (U.P.) was hardly an occasion to be remembered for long,
but for ‘Khatkhata’ Baba whose name is on every body’s lips in the town. And thereby
hangs a tale.

Many years ago one Mr. Sapru* came to Etawah as its deputy collector. One evening, he
was reclining on his bed and Manohar the barber was massaging his feet. Suddenly
Sapru asked Manohar to tell a story. Manohar began rather hesitatingly. “There was a
king in Arabia. It was a summer night and the maid had spread a soft-silken bed for the
king on the terrace. Perfume had been sprinkled all round with beautiful flowers and
cushy cushions befitting a royal fantasy. So enchanting was the setting that th maid was
overwhelmed by a mad temptation; how does it feel to lie on this luxurious bed?

“The charm was too strong for her and she lay down on the bed. Exhausted after the
day’s work as she was, the soft breeze and fluffy cusions did the rest and in a couple of
minutes she was fast asleep, When the king saw her, he was furious. He sent for the queen
and asked her to decide the punishment. She said since the maid lay on the bed for 60
minutes, she would be given 60 lashes. The king shuddered at the severity of the penalty,
but there was consolation that the queen would deliver the punishment herself.”

“The king started counting the lashes and the maid kept wailing. After the figure of 30
was reached, she started laughing. When the painful ordeal was over, the king asked her
for the cause of her laughter. She said: “I first cried because of the pain but then |
wondered if an hour’s sleep on this bed begets 60 lashes, how many will be awarded to
Your Majesty- and the Begum Sahiba too! I laughed at the thought that my judges had no
idea of what was in store for them. You are angry at my sleeping at this bed, but what if
God similarly chastises you.

These words transformed the king, who was a kind soul. He discarded his crown and
robes, donned the apparel of a ‘faquir’ and left his palace in the dead of night itself”’!

“Wow! shouted Sapru, “What a beautiful story. But ...Now I also should relinquish this
bed.’ And, spreading a blanket on the floor, he lay down. Next day, the report spread like
wild fire that Sapru, deputy collector and magistrate first class, had resigned his job of
Rs 550, become a sadhu and was sitting on an old blanket under a tree near his
bungalow.

The English Collector along with the SP and three other deputy collectors tried to
dissuade Sapru from his resolve, telling him he had been selected for promotion, and
pleading with him to heed the tears of his beautiful young wife and little child. “Bring up
the boy and then become a faquir,” they urged him. But Sapru would not budge,; “I have
to suffer for all the luxury enjoyed at the cost of poor, suffering public.”
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The Yamuna flows a mile to the south of Etawah. On a ‘pucca ghat’ there Sapru could be
seen sitting on a blanket with a thick wooden club with which he kept knocking at the
ground and calling ‘Khatke Ka Khatka — Khatpat Karta Reh” so much so that he got the
name Khatkhata Baba. Every morning at 10, it was his practice to go with a satchel to
town for alms, to sink the loaves of bread received in the river and then to hang the
satchel from a branch of the tree till afternoon. Then he would eat some of it and feed the
rest to the monkeys above. Such was the life of penance he lived for 12 years — loved and
respected by every local family, such that he was eagerly awaited for alms.

Kings and collectors have been replaced by characters known differently — and aplenty,
too. But how many Saprus* do we have — whose lives take such a dramatic turn by the
mere knock of a tale. The Khatkhata Baba’s knock has obviously gone silent. Tales there
are, but listeners rare.

*1t now transpires that it was not Sapru who gave up cilvil service to become a sadhu
but another Kashmiri Pandit named Choudhury.There is an ashram even today(2002) in
the name of Khatkhata Baba in Etawah.

Dr. Bhai Mahavir

May 27, 2000, 1.Express

“Your Balance from Purujanama”

Swamiji sat very serene and calm. His eyes generated a radiant cosmic energy that
brought about an aura of tranquility that pervaded the entire hall filled with devotees. The
Swamiji was talking to an elderly lady who had an incurable disease.

One of Swamiji‘s devoted disciples was constantly in attendance helping out in every
possible way. In fact, there was hardly a day in his life when he did not come to the
ashram and have a darshan of the Swamiji.

Batta Saheb was the name of the devotee. He was a clerk in one of the government
departments and struggling to make ends meet. On this particular day, a very rich
businessman from Amritsar arrived with his family to have a darshan of Swamiji. He
brought along with him a huge basket of fruits for the Swamiji. Being Swamiji’s
helper, Batta Sahib received the basket and put it aside.

The businessman from Amritsar explained to Swamiji some of his personal problems and
difficulties. Swamiji listened and calmly told him in a clear voice, “You are passing
through a bad time and a trying time. You will soon overcome all your difficulties and
God will smile on you”. The devotee folded his hands and took his leave.
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Days passed, weeks passed, months passed. Batta Saheb continued to come daily and
watch a stream of people coming and going and getting their personal problems perhaps
solved. Three months later on a Sunday as he was sitting in his usual place, he saw
suddenly the same businessman from Amritsar coming through the door. He looked in
better health, his face was bright and both he and his wife were smiling.

They greeted the Swamiji with folded hands, who bestowed a benign smile on them. On
the Swamiji enquiring about their welfare both the husband and the wife explained that as
the Swamiji had predicted everything turned out right. All their problems had been
solved.

After a while they left. Batta Saheb was watching from the sidelines. After all the
devotees had left, he was left alone with the Swamiji. And the following dialogue ensued:

“Swamiji, you helped them so much and they have become crorepatis”
‘GYeS7’.

“But I can’t understand why you are doing it for them, but in my case nothing is
happening. I have not even been prompted head clerk”.

“Yes, they have become rich but when they came into this world, they brought a plus
balance with them in their karma account. The extent of prosperity depends on the extent

of punja done during the previous life.

“And “the Swamiji continued, “In your case, you have got what you inherited from your
Karma account. That nobody can change”

Batta Saheb had to be content with that pronouncement.
Utna Milega, Jitna Bhagya Me Likha Hai

(You will get as much as is written in your fate.)

3k 3k 3k 3 3k 3k 3k %k %k 3k 3k %k %k %k k% %k %k k
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The greatest Social Reformer produced by the Kashmiri Pandit community, Pandit
Kashyap Bandhu, persuaded gently the womenfolk to give up the old, cumbersome,
dress called Pheran. Although it was pretty to look at, it restricted movement. He
resorted to folk poetry and following is the poem in Kashmiri with English translation
that gave a clarion call to Pandits to modernize or be left behind:

Travee Pheran lo lo
Z00j, Pooch tye nariwar
Yim chhi Shikasik Sardar
Mala barhaiy gardun
Travee Pheran lo lo
Pooch Pathkun Pakan
Walna Yiwan Zangan,

Chanda Sadkan doova

Travee Pheran lo lo
Tarang Chhuee akh Khara
Kalas Peth bodh barah
Vank Panuk Soodh Kyah?
Zethem Ziuth lotach,

Asan Janvaran

Travi Pheran lo lo

Give up Pheran, O dear
Zo0oj, Pooch and nariwa
These are agents of degradation
These have filled your neck with dirt
Give up Pheran, O dear
Pooch drags you backwards
It envelops your legs
The hanging pocket (attached to your Pheran)
is cleaning roads
Give up Pheran, O dear
Your headwear tarang is as heavy as a ton
It is a heavy load on your head
What is the use of long hair tail
hanging through your back?
Which is attached to animals.

Give up Pheran, O dear
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6

Lifelines

The first proper metalled road connecting Kashmir with Punjab in British India was the
Jhelum Valley Road. By the time the automobile arrived on the scene, and trucks were
used for commerce and passenger buses for transporting people, the Jhelum Valley Road
as it came to be known, became the lifeline Of the state. The B.C.Road was actually built
for link up with the traditional earlier kingdom of the Dogra rulers and later when the
Durbar began its six monthly annual trips to Jammu.

The Jhelum Valley Road

The Jhelum Valley Road is regarded as an engineering feat. This road follows the river
Jhelum from Srinagar, the capital of Kashmir, to Baramulla where the river narrows
down into a mountain gorge before it leaves the Valley of Kashmir. It is not navigable
beyond this point. The road rises on to the winding spurs of the mountains through the
Uri gorge, now a vital point of strategic importance on the Line of Control. This road
leads through Garhi till it reaches Domel near Muzaffarbad where the clear blue waters of
the river Krishenganga join the river Jhelum.

At Domel, the road takes a bend to the west till its reaches Kohala where the bridge on
the river marks the boundary of the state with Pakistan. The Jhelum Valley Road was
maintained in a good condition and 211 kms distance from Srinagar to Kohala was the
responsibility of the Kashmir Government. Annually on an average 8,000 motorcars and
3,000 motor lorries passed over this road from Srinagar to Rawalpindi across the Jhelum-
Krishenganga at Kohala and over the Murreehills.

After the invasion by Pakistan in 1947, this important road suffered and it became a
military road beyond Uri. This road to Uri is an internal highway for the development of
the Kashmir Valley and also the main means of communication and transport for the
defence of India on this side of the border. This artery of travel and trade in the Valley of
Kashmir with an efficient network of auxiliary roads to the east, west and south is of
immense geographical importance.

Rawalpindi to Srinagar

Tret
Sunnybank (6000 feet)(for Murree,
2 miles distant)

Kohala (2000 feet)
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Dulai (2180 feet)
Domel (2320 feet)
Garhi (2750 feet)
Chakoti (3780 feet)
Rampur (4825 feet)
Baramula (5150 feet)
Patan (5200 feet)
Srinagar (5250 feet)

The road is usually open all the year round except in January, February and part of
March, when it is liable to be blocked by snow over the Murree hills and between
Rampur and Baramula. In such emergencies the alternative route by Abbotabad may be
used, and the traveller must make up his mind to walk the few miles of bad road near
Rampur.

All this was before 1947. Now it ends just before Kohala and is no longer a lifeline for
the Valley.

*khkkkkikkhkkkhkhkkhhikkikkikikk

The Banihal Cart Road

The Banihal Cart Road connects Srinagar with Jammu across the Pir Panjal Range
through Banihal, Ramsu, Ramban and Batote, Kud and Udhampur.

The drainage of the Chenab in its upper course lies in these mountains, where Doda and
Bhadrwah are situated to the east. The first tunnel at a height of 2743 m feet above sea
level is no more in use now.The Banihal pass commences from Verinag, and its summit
is about 3000 feet above Shahbad. The descent on this, the northern side, is, as
Mr.Forster, a British traveller, who crossed it in 1783, says, is about a mile and a half
shorter than the descent on the southern side. On the summit, is an open space, where a
glorious view of the plains of Kashmir bursts suddenly upon those who are entering the
Valley by this route. | did not find any particular difficulty in crossing the pass on foot;
but on account of the general difficulties of the path from Banihal to Rihursi, there was
no instance on record, from the time of the Moghuls downwards, of horses having ever
been conducted to the plains of the Punjab by the Banihal pass. But, having taken the
advice of Samud Shah and others, | determined to make the attempt, and my Tibetan
ponies reached the plains in safety by this route; the larger horses having been previously
sent forward either by the Pir Panjal or Baramulla”, he added.
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“Panjal is a Persian word, signifying a range of mountains. The Kashmirians call it
Pansal, which more properly signifies a station where water is provided for passengers;
and the pass called Pir Panjal is so named only because the Pir (for so the fakir is called),
that is, the old and holy man, the father confessor, resides upon the summit. The Serai of
Allahabad is on the left of the path, and about four or five miles from the tower. Opposite
to it is a gully, through which the stream descends from Nandan Sir; and at the same spot
the pathway of the same name joins the high Shupeyon road.

“Pir Panjal, or highway of the Mogul Emperors from Bhimbur; part of it is also, I believe,
called Sona Gulu (the golden defileg in Kashmir. This is shut for about three months and
a half; open for foot about the 20" of April, and if the weather be fine, for horses by
about the 20™ of May. There is also a way called Duru Hal, on the westward of this
road”.

“Banihal, always open. I was the first person whose horses had ever been over this
pass, which they crossed in safety.”

G.T.Vigne form “Travels In Kashmir, Ladak, Iskardo” 1880.

*hkkkhkhkkkikkhkkkhkkhkkikkikkikikkiiikkik

The boring of the Jawahar Tunnel at 2200 m height and Pir Panjal has discarded the
snow-bound loops of the Banihal Cart Road above the 2200 m contour. It keeps the road
open mostly throughout winter. The Banihal Cart Road with all other connected roads
was maintained in a fair state of repair till the year 1947. In the summer months, the
Banihal Pass at 2830 m above sea level was kept open till November when snowfall
would block the way for about five months. A light traffic consisting of 867 motorcars,
11,452 motor lorries and 30,000 other conveyances used the road from Srinagar to
Jammu and vice versa till 1947.

Jammu To Srinagar — 182 Miles

0.0 0.0 Jammu, Height 1,000 ft.
8 Ya 8 Ya Nagrota, Height 1,165 ft.
15 % 7Y% Nandni.

20 4% Jhajjar, Height 1,630 ft.

52



Cashmere: Kashir That Was Yarbal

26 Y4
38 5/12
48

62 171

67 Y2 Y

74 7112
83 5/8
92 1/21
100 1/12
106 1/12

116 1/12

123
128 %
130
131%
132 %
138

150

162

6 Ya
12

9%
2%
11 58

5.0

7 1/4

QY4
9Y,
8.0
6.0

10.0

6.0

SY

1%

1%

12

18

Tikri — Height 2,355 ft
Udhampur, Height 2,248 ft.
Samroli.
Dharamthal, Ht. 3,500 ft.
Kud, PO: DBK: RH: H: Ht. 4,900 ft,
Patni Top — Height 6,447 ft. Road falls to Batote (Sansar Patni
—12 miles, fair weather road)
Batote — Height 5,200 ft.
Peerah
Ramban, Height 2,250 ft.
Digdole, Height 3,410 ft.
Ramsu, Height 3,799 ft.
Banihal — Height 5,620 ft. The road rises steadily towards the
tunnel.
Nawgam.
Jawahar Tunnel South Portal Ht. 7250 ft.
North Portal
Roakd Junction for Verinag 3 miles
Lower Munda
Qazi Gund. Height 5,673 ft.
Khanabal to Pahalgam, Achhabal and Anantnag, 28, 7, and 2
miles, respectively.

Awantipur
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173 10 Pampur
182 9 Srinagar Height 5,214 ft. Tourist Reception Centre.

G.R.SARUP, “TRAVEL GUIDE TO KASHMIR”.

*khkhhhkhkkkkhkhkhkikirhhikhkhkhhiikx

The Gilgit Road

Beyond Tragbal at a height of 2743 m above sea-level starts the much talked of Gilgit
Road. It is another engineering feat.. Originally, a military road of considerable
importance, it covered a distance of 385 km in this strategic region. This highway made
history in the early years of the 20" century. The road was completed in 1893 when it
was only 3 m wide with a maximum incline of one in ten.

Beyond Gilgit through Hunza, Nagar and Misgarh, man continued to be the beast of
burden assisted by the yak to carry heavy loads. In these lofty mountains, movement is
difficult when it is very cold. Craggy paths lead to the slopes of the Pamir Plateau
through the Kilik Pass. The former Soviet union of Central Asia lies beyond the Pamir
and Kizil Rebat, its last air base across the frontier. To the north-west of Gilgit, the
mountain paths connect Yasin, Ishkuman, Gupis, Sher Qila and Dib.

The district of Ladakh to the East is surrounded by the lofty Karakoram mountains with
the province of Sinkiang to the east of Tibet and the Leh Road from Sonamarg , Baltal
across the Zoja La (3505 m above sea level) through Machai, Dras, Kargil to Leh. Leh is
the centre of commercial activity where formerly caravans from Sinkiang across the
Yarkand River came with their merchandise to be bartered with goods from India. The
tourist, the traveller and the trader thus kept this road alive with activity till the year 1947,
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-
The Healing Touch

Faith heals the mind and soul, medicine — modern and ancient heals the body. As
Gandhiji once said there is no point in talking about cleansing the soul if the stomach of
the person is empty and he is dying because of hunger.

It was towards the end of the 19" century that Britain got very seriously interested in
Kashmir from the defence and commercial point of view. As the physical features
geography and climate of the Kashmir Valley and surroundings resembled that of
England, many Englishmen in India were opposed to the Treaty of Amritsar signed in
1846, giving complete control of Kashmir Valley and the surrounding areas like Gilgit
and Ladakh to Gulab Singh. This is testified by the writings of Englishmen in India and
by the establishment in England.

In India, the Anglo Indian Press was even in favour of abrogating the Treaty and
directly by force, if necessary, annexing Kashmir into the British India. What
actually spurred them in this direction was the dreams that were painted by some of the
earliest Missionaries who had come to Kashmir. On the surface, the Aryan looks of the
Kashmiris attracted them. The population was in their view totally backward, steeped in
superstitions and totally right and ready for the gospel of Christ.

It was felt that modern medicine was the only route through which they could begin as
physical suffering and illness treated and cured by British missionary doctors would open
the way for further steps.Thus, a group of British Officers who were considered to be
“India hands”, decided that the Church Missionary Society should first sent medical
missionaries (qualified doctors and nurses) to Kashmir and only then open just a little bit
later schools and offer English education.

So it was that Sir.Robet Montgomery, Governor of Punjab, Sir.Herbert Edwards,
Col.Martand, Col.Urmston (with who rests the honour of having put a stop to the burning
of Hindu widows in Kashmir) met together to considered how best they could help
Kashmir.

They all agreed that Kashmir needed spiritual as well as bodily health. So they
subscribed Rs.14, 000 and sent it to the Church Missionary School Society, London,
to send to Kashmir a medical Missionary, for he would gain the confidence of the
people and they hoped and trusted that the Maharaja and his officials would
welcome a doctor to their country.

A preliminary journey to reconnoitre the field was made in 1854 by the Rev.R.Clark, a
Cambridge Wrangler and Colonel Martin, of the 9" Native Infantry. He had lately given
anonymously ten thousand rupees to found the Punjab Mission, and in 1855 became an
honorary C.M.S missionary at Peshawar. Gulab Singh was quite willing that they should
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preach in his dominions, saying that the Kashmiris were so bad already that the padres
could do them no harm, and he was curious to see if they could do them any good.

Rev.R.Clark made two more visits to Srinagar in 1862-63 and in 1864 his wife, a fully
qualified Medical woman, opened a dispensary, which immediately attracted a hundred
patients a daily. Subsequently, Dr.William Elmslie, the first Medical Missionary came to
Kashmir and in May 1865 opened a dispensary on the verandah of his bungalow.

Thus, started the march towards a full-fledged hospital in Kashmir.

*hkhhkhkkkhkhkhkhkirhikhkhkkhiikx

First Hospital

In 1866, two wooden buildings were erected close to Srinagar, one to serve as a
dispensary and the other as a hospital. This was the first hospital seen in Kashmir. The
first medical work especially for women was commenced in 1888 by the late Dr. Fanny
Butler, a medical missionary of the Church of England Zenana Missionary society.

In 1891, the Kashmir State Leprosy Hospital was founded. The building was designed
and erected and the work organized and carried on by Drs. Arthur and Ernest Neve as
honorary superintendents; the cost of maintenance was borne by the Durbar.

The story of the growth of the Medical Mission under Dr.Elmslie and Maxwell and
Downs and Arthur Neve has been told in Fifty years; a review, published in 1934.

“The development of medical work in the State during the last quarter of the 19™ century
was seen as dramatic. The trail was blazed by the Medical Mission. The Government
Medical Department was likewise improved and is now perhaps the best organized of all
the State Health Departments.

The mission also organized in 1871 a tour of Baltistan which is a remote and secluded
province of Jammu and Kashmir State. They travelled over 400 miles, saw just over
2,000 patients and did 190 operations, major and minor in the villages of Baltistan. The
Kashmir State gives an annual grant to the hospital.”

*khkkkkhkkhkkkhkkhkkkhkhkkkhhikkikiikk

Selfless Service

Seventy years after the medical mission was established in the Kashmir Valley in 18686, it
had become an institution on which people had come to depend. It provided succour to
the sick and acted as an example to be emulated, as also a catalyst for further expansion
of medical services in Kashmir.
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By thirties of the 20" century, the media in British India began to take notice of the good
work, which the medical missionaries were doing in Kashmir. The Pioneer dated April
16, 1936 reported:

“The Christian Missionary Society which was the first to introduce medical relief in the
Kashmir state and still maintains two mission hospitals there has released its annual
report on the Society’s working in 1935.

“It controls two hospitals, one in Srinagar and the other in Rainawari besides co-
operating with the State authorities in sending relief missions in the interior of the State.

“The Srinagar hospital is under the charge of Dr. Ernest F. Neve. Its staff consisting of
about 70 members, ministered to the needs of some 2000 in-patients and also to travellers
coming from far beyond its borders, caring for all irrespective of creed or caste or
colour.

“During summer, one of the periodic epidemics of cholera broke out in the main valley
of Kashmir and would in all probability have become one of appalling magnitude but
for the energetic and extraordinarily efficient preventive measures taken by the State
Medical Department”.

Mr.Tyndale Biscoe, the pioneer of modern education in Kashmir valley says in his book
“Kashmir in Sunlight and Shade” published in 1922:

“The people of Kashmir are fortunate in having much medical assistance for besides the
two well equipped State hospitals in Srinagar, one for general public and another for
women, there are dispensaries in all centres.”

*khhhhkhkkkkkhkhkhihhikhkikkk

Neve, The Healer

After the first Mission hospital was set up in 1865, in Srinagar, it had to wait for another
15 years before another doctor (in fact two doctors who were brothers) would come and
become messiahs, healing the sick and the wounded.

Doctor Arthur Neve came to Srinagar in 1880. And was later joined by his brother
Dr.Ernest Neve (and in 1893 by his niece Miss. Neve). Dr.Arthur Neve was the epitome
of selfless service and endeared himself so much to the people that they would talk about
their problems to him in Kashmiri, which the good doctor had already picked up.

When Dr.Arthur Neve died in September 1919, there was such a long procession
following his body to the grave as had never been witnessed before, numbering two or
three thousand. Not only did they weep, but showed their sorrow practically by meeting
together next day to consider what suitable memorial to raise to their friend of nearly
forty years.
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His Hospital

“Conspicuous above the European quarter used to stand the group of buildings known
all over Kashmir as Dr.Neve’s Hospital, a mission hospital which, with Mr.Biscoe’s
School, was the most sincerely appreciated of all the efforts which Europeans have made
for the welfare of the Kashmiri people. Last year (1921) no less than 22,735 new
outpatients were treated, and the total number of visits amounted to 56,280., 1764 in
patients, of whom 476 were females, were also treated; and 5038 surgical operations
were performed.

“Sometimes over 200 outpatients, and on a few days over 300 outpatients, were treated
in a single day. These figures speak for themselves. They show the confidence the people
now have in the wonderful institution and the steady practical good it is doing. The heads
of the hospital are the brothers Drs.Arthur and Ernest Neve; and they are assisted by
Dr.Rawlence, Miss Neve, Miss Robinson, Mr.S.Wilson, and 54 native assistants and
servants.

The hospital was founded in 1865 by Dr.EImslie, who for many years had uphill work in
starting the institution, but at length gained the confidence of the people and of the late
Maharaja. Dr.Downes succeeded Dr.Elmslie, and carried the work forward. In 1881,
Dr.Neve took it up. In that year 10,800 new patients were treated; there were 23,393
visits, and 1418 operations were performed.

“Year by year since then the good work has progressed. The original mud buildings have
gradually been replaced by the present solid masonry structures. And the steady growth
of the number of in-patients, and the readiness with which even upper-class women
remain in the hospital, testify to the confidence with which the institution is now
regarded. It is now renowned through all the north of India, and is a splendid testimony to
the steady, thorough, and persevering work of two self-sacrificing men.

“The Society selected Dr.Elmslie, a Scot, who came to India as the first medical
missionary. Dr.EImslie arrived at Srinagar in the spring of 1864. His life was hard and
difficult, for he had no hospital, his operations being performed under the trees; also
orders were issued that people were not to visit the doctor, and sepoys were stationed
around to keep them away, as the sick persisted in coming for relief. Several patients
suffered imprisonment for disobeying the order of the authorities.

“Dr.Elmslie worked for eight years, and died in 1872, on his way out of Kashmir. The
Rev.T.R.Wade worked with him, and did excellent work in the early days of the Medical
Mission. The society then sent out Dr.Theodore Maxwell, to whom, because he happened
to be the nephew of General John Nicholson, the hero of Delhi, the Maharajah granted a
site for the Mission Hospital, on a hill called Rustum Gari, which lies below and is a
continuation of the Takht-i-Suliaman. It is overlooking the Dal or City Lake.

“Dr. Maxwell remained until 1876, when ill health compelled him to retire, owing to
continual worries. Meanwhile, there was a young artillery officer, named Edmund
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Downes, who had resigned his commission in India in order that he might become a
medical missionary, preparing for the work in Kashmir, so once again a soldier came to
the relief of the down-trodden people of Kashmir.”

C.E.Tyndale Biscoe, Kashmir in Sunlight & Shade, 1922,
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8
THE BISCOE AGE

“In all things be men”

Rev.Tyndale Biscoe wrote three books relating to his 57 years life in the Kashmir Valley
from 1890 to 1947. The first one was “Kashmir In Sunlight and Shade”, published in
1922. The second one was “Men in the making”, while the third one, his autobiography
entitled “Biscoe of Kashmir — an autobiography”. This was published soon after his death
on August 1, 1948 at Salisbury (Harare) in Rhodesia (now Zimbabwe).

The following pages contain excerpts from both these books about Bisoce Sahib’s
lifelong crusade in Kashmir.

Remembering Biscoe

The only reminder of teacher, educationist, guide, friend, philosopher and man — Tyndale
Biscoe in Kashmir, apart from the six Mission Schools, today is the fluency with which
Kashmiris speak, read, write and even teach English that has now graduated from being
the mother tongue of the Englishman to that of being an international language.

He not only brought English to the Valley, which opened the window to the world for the
Kashmiris, but also discipline and qualities which he imparted to his thousands of
students, which is aptly enshrined in the school motto “in all things be men”.

In every state in India, there have been selfless Englishmen who have served India by
teaching, learning and giving. Grateful people have not forgotten them. In almost every
case, State Governments honoured the educationists, scholars and professionals in
practically every walk of life, who were Englishmen, part of the Raj, but selfless and
devoted in their integrity and sevice.

But Kashmir has not done any such thing. There is no fellowship, scholarship, no state
honour for the man who brought Kashmir into the 20" century, made Kashmir aware of
the world around them and gave them modern knowledge, taught them compassion,
dignity of labour and blending the body physical with the the soul and producing a
wholesome likeable man or women.

The only sign of respect and regard for him was put up by his grateful students in the
form of a small statue of his which was installed at the east side of the newly built Fateh
Kadal near DiwanTemple. Even this was defaced and mutilated.

Today, a considerable portion of the State Revenue comes from tourism. It was Biscoe
who developed the awareness among Kashmiris, the rest of Indians and Europeans and
foreigners of the beauty of Kashmir and the ability to appreciate it. In fact, he was in a
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way, the father of modern tourism in Kashmir.

Whatever tourist spots are being encashed by the Tourism Department of Jammu and
Kashmir are all discoveries of Biscoe, namely, Neel Naag, Kaunsernaag, Ahrabal Falls,
Dacchegam, Kolahai, Mahadev, Zabarwan and many more.

Kashmir has forgotten Biscoe, but Biscoe’s disciples have not forgotten him. It is sad that
for a man who gave so much to Kashmir, Kashmir has given nothing in return. He spent
57 years of his life in selfless service for Kashmir. Even his name has been forgotten.
Sad and pathetic. A case of extreme ingratitude.

Biscoe Boys

Major General L.C. Dunsterville who has written the introduction to Tyndale Biscoe’s
Book on Kashmir, “Kashmir in Sunlight & Shade”, 1922 relates an anecdote which
illustrates amply the effect of English liberal education on the Kashmiri Pandit
community.

“I was walking with a rather corpulent companion in Kashmir some years ago, when we
came to a small stream about ten yards across and about two feet deep. | had on rough
shooting boots and putties, and | do not mind getting my feet wet, so | crossed without
further ado. My friend, however, disliked wet boots and looked about for some way out
in a dilemma.

A rather frail- looking Kashmiri arrived at this juncture, and my heavy friend suggested
in rather rough language that he should act as a beast of burden and convey his bulky
form over the water. Without hesitation, the Kashmiri obeyed the request, crouching
before the heavy gentleman to enable the latter to place himself comfortably on his
shoulders. With legs rather bending beneath his burden, the docile carrier crossed the
stream and placed my companion dry shod on the opposite bank.

Translating his gratitude into pecuniary form, the Englishman offered a silver coin to the
late beast of burden and was surprised to receive the following answer in very good
English: — “No, thank you sir. I am one of Mr. Tyndale Bisoce masters and I am glad to
have helped you”.

| have never seen anyone so dumbfounded as my friend, and as we continued our walk,
he appeared to me to be thinking rather deeply.”

*khkhkkkhkhkkkhkhkkkhhkhkiikikik
Teacher comes to town
Canon Cecil Tyndale Biscoe was born in 1863 in a family with one daughter and seven

sons. He graduated in 1886 from Cambridge University and was ordained as priest and
appointed in the Bradfield Parish.
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In 1890, he was selected by the Church Missionary Society (CMS), London, to go to
Kashmir and help Rev.H.J.Knowels at his school in Fateh Kadal ,Srinagar, Kashmir. In
November 1890, he arrived in Srinagar and initially stayed with the two famous Medical
Missionary brothers Dr.Arthur and Ernest Neve who set up the Mission Hospital in
Srinagar.

First Impressions

“The Munshi Bagh is situated up the river above the city. The distance to the C.M.S.
School in the city by river is from two to three miles and by land about two miles. There
were no roads as there was no wheeled traffic. When I mentioned the word “wheel” to
the boys they asked what a wheel was, so | called for a blackboard. When | drew the
spokes, they pointed to these and asked what use they were.

“We usually went to school by boat until I brought the first bicycle to Kashmir, which
caused even more astonishment than did the first motor car many years later. My first
cycle ride was at night. As | passed a coolie carrying a load, | hear a shriek and on
looking back saw him on his back, shouting in terror: “I am dead! I am dead!” Poor
fellow, he had heard much of djinis and had at last seen one with own eyes. What a grand
tale he must have had to tell when he reached his home!

“I had now been at work in the school for more than a year, and had learnt more and
more that what the Kashmir youth really needed was not books and talk, but action.

“I at once sent for the owner of a cow, which was starving and lying in two feet of snow,
dying slowly. The owner , a Brahman, turned up first, “Is this your cow?” I asked. “Yes,”
said he, “It is no use to me.” “But” said I, “look how it is being tortured.” “Ah,” said he,
“it will die quicker”

Biscoe Sahib arranged for the Mission school boys to mount guard on the cow, ensure
that it was not tortured by other animals and was allowed to die in peace, which it did
couple of hours later. That was the Brahman boys and teachers’ first lesson, namely, to
have mercy on their God-like animal. Since that day hundreds of animals have been
rescued from pain by the boys of the C.M.S schools.

One day, | was teaching my class, when | heard a bugle call and looking up saw a figure
on the roof of a house about half a mile away. | asked the boys what that meant. They
answered that he must be a policeman blowing a bugle to warn the people that a house
was on fire. The boys not being interested went on with their writing. Within a few
minutes, |1 saw a flame and smoke rising from the place where the policeman was
standing. | ordered the boys to stop writing and come with me to help at the fire, but they
said it had nothing to do with them. They were not coolies, but “safed posh”. In other
words, high bred gentlemen.

62



Cashmere: Kashir That Was Yarbal

| drove them out of the classroom into the street, and herded them to the fire.

Arrived there, we found that scores of citizens had already taken their seats at every
available place in order to enjoy themselves at an entertainment for which they would
have nothing to pay. A woman came out of one of the burning houses, calling upon the
spectators to come to her help. She told us that her husband was away, and she had no
man to help her. Just in front of where | was standing was a long deodar beam. On it
there sat five “gentlemen”. They were taking snuff and took no notice of the woman in
distress.

The woman tried several times getting them to help her bring out her belongings and help
to put out the fire. She then said: “I will pay you for every pot of water you bring.”
(There were no buckets in the city of Srinagar in those days.) Some men asked how much
she would give for every pot of water. When the price was mentioned, they all lost
interest. She then doubled the price and at that sum the “gentlemen” moved off to search
for pots.

| had, of course, ordered my boys to fetch as many pots as possible. Within a minute or
so one of the boys came to tell me that there was a cargo boat coming up the river, laden
with earthen pots, so | told my boys to purchase as many as they could carry. Well, the
boys came back saying that the boatmen were not selling their pots today, so | went down
to the river bank and called to the men in midstream and ordered them to bring the
board ashore, but they told me they did not wish to sell the pots.

Boat Club

“On arrival in Kashmir in 1891, I found that the European community had a boat club.
Colonel Sartorius, V.C., who was secretary, was leaving Kashmir, so | was asked to take
his place and build some more rowing boats. Although I knew very little about building
boats, | thought | might at any rate to learn. So, with the help of some friends who did
know how to build boats, I superintended the work of carpenters who built them.”

Tyndale Biscoe, Kashmir In Sunlight & Shade, 1922.

So | called one of my big boys who could swim and told him to swim out to the boat and
bring the boat ashore. When he climbed on board the boat, he seized a paddle and before
long the boat was at our feet. I then said to the boys: “Help yourselves.” The boatmen
were very angry saying that they would report me to the Governor and His Highness the
Maharajah. As we heaped up the earthen pots on the shore., I held out to the man in
charge twice as much as the pots were worth, but in his anger he refused to accept it. So |
put it on the ground at his feet and we left with our loot.

We had not been long on our job of passing pots filled water with the burning houses
when a boy came to me saying that the police were stealing all valuable property out of
the burning houses. The police had pressed coolies to do this job and were collecting the
stolen property into a barge lying in the river near the burning houses. So I sent off a fast
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runner to the school to bring an armful of single sticks. When these arrived | handed them
over to my teachers and strong boys, whom | placed round the salvaged property to keep
away the police and anyone else who wished to steal. This was my first experience of a
conflagration in Srinagar, hence it has been indelibly written on my memory.

After the fire was put out, tired and hungry, | was returning up the river to my home,
when the boat dwellers were shouting out praise, such as “Bravo! Your smell has reached
to Kabul and nearly to London.”

Disease & Holy men (1892)

In 1892, when | arrived at school, | heard that one of our Brahman students had been
stricken, so went at once to his house, which | found deserted, everyone had run away
except the stricken boy and his mother, whom | found lying on the floor, left by their
relations to die.

As | was speaking to the boy, | heard an unearthly row outside. Men were shouting, a
motor horn blaring, and the din was terrific. On looking out of the window, | saw 15 holy
Sadhus, their faces and bodies covered with ashes and long daubs of red paint on their
foreheads and noses. They were marching in single file, holding iron tridents in their
hands, also wooden bowls which they held out, and shouting in unison as they stamped
their feet: “If you do not give, you will die” as they went from house to house frightening
the terrified women, thus forcing food from them.

I went down and asked the ringleader what he was doing. He answered: “collecting
food”. So I naturally said: “Can’t you see what trouble the people are in, come and help
them.” He answered: “That is not my job.” Who are you?” I asked. “A holy man,” said
he. “You look it, “said I. I had a stick in my hand, so I waved this and said” quick
march.” As they did not like the look of me and my raised stick, they thought it best to
obey. | then went to a State Dispensary close by for help but the Indian doctor refused to
come and sent the medicine with me by a servant to the patients I had just left.

Swimming is also education (1893)

This happened in 1893. Here are two instances where persuasion was needed. One of the
principal Ministers of Kashmir requested me to prepare his son for Oxford University. He
had already passed matriculation of the Punjab University.

| said that |1 would accept this responsibility on three conditions; one, he would pay the
tuition fee in advance, two, he would permit me to teach him manners and three that |
might teach him to swim. To these three conditions, he agreed. So I said: “Send him
along.”

Most Respected Sir, — I most humbly and respectfully beg to bring to your kind notice
that my son, Siri Bhan, student of the Lower School, is strictly prohibited by astrologers,
who have examined his horoscope, from joining any playing party, etc. I would request
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you to kindly keep him exempt from joining the playing teams and boating, etc. | beg to
remain, etc.,

COMMENT: If swimming was dangerous, God would not have created rivers.

Tyndale Biscoe, Kashmir In Sunlight & Shande, 1922

At 7.30 a.m. he arrived at my house in good spirits, saying that he was ready for work.
“That is good,” I said, “but where is the tuition fee?” “My father will send it. He is a rich
man.” “That I know very well,” said I, hence my desire to see the money in advance. “No
money, no tuition, so off you run for the money.” I had previously had money
transactions with his father.

Within half an hour, he was back with a bag of rupees, which | counted to see that all was
square — no counterfeit coins. Fortunately for him, all was correct. Manners, also
satisfactory as payment had been prompt. Now for the third condition; lesson in
swimming. “We will start at once for the lake.” To that, he took strong exception, saying:
“Sir, I cannot learn to swim. I am not a coolie, I am a gentleman.” “That is interesting”
said 1. “Suppose you and your mother were walking by the side of the river and she fell
in, what would you do?”

“Oh! I would call a coolie and send him in after her.” “But suppose there was no coolie,
what would you do?” To this question he had no reply ready.

So | said: “Mount your bicycle. We must start for the lake at once.” We had gone only
half a mile when he called out: Sahib, please stop, my bicycle is punctured.” This was a
fact, as he had been riding behind me, and jumped off, and certainly had punctured his
tyre. “No matter,” I replied, “just shove your cycle against the fence and we will walk the
mile and a half to the lake.” We did this, the son of this very rich Minister, although a
“gentleman” received his first lessons.

Mission School boys saved 400 people from drowning. This is a record in the valley and
the Mission School was the first to make swimming compulsory and life saving a part of
the curriculum. The saddest part of that is that out of 400 boys whose lives were saved,
only the parents of two boys came to thank the school, or the principal or the headmaster
or the boys who actually saved their children from drowning.

Later on, | saw the boy at Cambridge. He was then cox of one of the Trinity boats and
most thankful that he could swim like all the members of his college “coolie” crew.

Years passed, the son now an M.A., of Cambridge, and L.L.B. of Dublin as well, was
back in his own country in an important position with His Highness the Maharajah of
Jammu and Kashmir. In many ways, he helped the schools when in difficulty. He had
become a gentleman, indeed!
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The other instance was of a boy who came into my study asking for a discharge
certificate. On my asking why he wished to leave the school, he said: “My father is
unable to pay the school fees”.” But,” said I, “your father is not a poor man, what fees do
you pay?” When he told me the amount, which was about four times the ordinary
monthly fee, | said: “Then you must be a non swimmer,” (our school rule is that every
boy must have passed the swimming test before thirteen years of age, unless under
doctor’s orders, and failing this, the school fees are increased by a quarter every twelve
months to which he answered in the affirmative. So I said: “I gladly give you a leaving
certificate, as I have no use for fools in this school, “As he was leaving my study, I said
as a farewell: “I hope you will die from drowning.” Before he had shut the door, | called
him back, saying: “Will you please give your father this message from me that | hope he
too will die from drowning”.

| laid stress on my wish for his father as | guessed that it was his father who had
prevented him from learning to swim, he being a Brahman Babu. Before an hour had
passed, a card was brought to me, the messenger saying a gentleman wished to see me. It
was the boy’s father, who very humbly asked me to take back his son’s leaving
certificate, as he wished his son to learn to swim, so the boy returned and in a very short
time passed the swimming test.

Birdwood (1919)

“Our annual swim this year across the Dal Lake was a red letter day for us. At the place
on the lake side from where our boys were starting on their swim was a small
encampment. Out of one of the tents came a British Officer who asked me what | was
doing, and when 1 told him that the boys were going to swim across the lake, he became
very interested and asked if he might join them. | told him that of course we should be
honoured if he would take part.

“He went into the tent and was soon out again in bathing kit and swam off with the boys.
I asked another officer who he was. He replied: “General Sir William Birdwood, the
Commander — in — Chief.” I had not recognized him, as it was over thirty years since |
had met this delightful soldier. I am glad to say that it was not the last.The general did
not realize what valuable help he was giving us for he was not aware of the attitude of the
Kashmiris towards swimming and sport.

“At this particular time, there were over a hundred boys attempting the long swim and
not one of their parents had bothered to come to see them, whereas here was the C.in-C.
of India joining the Kashmir boys in this swimming contest.

(General Birdwood was responsible for setting up the Indian Military Academy (IMA)
which opened in 1932. The first batch which passed out from the 1.M.A included Field
Marshal Sam Manekshaw.)

Tyndale Biscoe of Kashmir, An autobiography, 1949.
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Carpentry and Pandits(1898)

In 1898, our school staff now looked like a family affair, with Augustus Tyndale plus my
brother George. L’Estrange was a wrangler and was a great help in instructing our staff
in higher mathematics, and Augustus an M.A. keen on history, and a proficient carpenter.
We soon had a carpentry shop to help conquer the prejudice against carpentry as we had
conquered opposition against football, boxing, swimming and much else. Also the
carpentry in Kashmir as regards furniture was bad, glue and nails being used instead of
mortices. In fact, furniture was just knocked together.

Dignity of Labour (1901)

One of the first carpenter Brahmans to face the anger of the Orthodox Brahman’s is still
living (1947) and is one of the best furniture makers in Kashmir; not only has he learnt to
be a master carpenter, but he has learnt to laugh. When we took him on, we could not
persuade him even to smile; he had a perpetual scowl. Augustus cured him and later he
became carpenter instructor to British schoolboys.

Geography and Beliefs (1901)

When teaching physical geography, one often came across strong objections. The boys
told me that my teaching was contrary to their holy books. For instance, they said that
their priests taught them that the world was as flat as a plate, whereas | tried to make
them believe that it was round like a football. And again, the priests had told them that
the sea was made of melted butter and sugar. So | thought that the best way for them to
discover who the liar was was for them to go down to the sea and drink the water.

| promised to pay the expenses of any three of the staff who would make the journey of
discovery, but no one was willing to accept my offer until 1901, i.e, my eleventh year at
the school. The three brave men who were willing to taste the seawater were Mr. Shanker
Koul, Mr. Mohammed Razdan and Mr. Din Mohammed. | arranged for them to go to
Karachi and from there by sea to Bombay.

Shortly after their return, | asked them if they had visited any Brahman priests since their
return. “Yes,” said they, “We told them that the sea water was salt, but the priests replied
that we could not have been to the sea, for the sea is made of melted butter and sugar.”

Although we had not converted the priests to the truth, whenever we met with opposition
in the school to our teaching on this and similar subjects, we could call up the three
Kashmiri teachers to give their evidence. | believe that if one of our boys were asked
today questions about such matters, his replies would be much the same as those of an
English boy.
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Educating Pandits was a mistake (1903)

On one of my visits outside the Valley, | first went to Delhi and from there to the
delightful home of Colonel George Strahan at Dehra Dun. The Colonel was a great
landscape painter. When I went into his studio he said: “ Please take any paintings you
like.” I chose one of Pahalgam, because his tent was in the foreground where I had visited
him about 10 years previously when recovering from typhoid. He was the first Britisher
who showed any interest in our schools or wished me God speed. The Sahibs in those
days thought that by educating the Kashmiris we were making a mistake; that an
educated thief is more dangerous than an uneducated one. They could, or would not,
believe that we were character building and not interested in turning out just B.A., and
failed B.A.s.

Pandits’ attitude to drinking (1906)

| had been invited by a Kashmiri Pandit gentleman to attend a temperance meeting in
Srinagar. There was a large audience to listen to the speakers who talked at great length.

A Hindu friend, who afterwards accompanied me part of my way home, and told me how
interested he was in the temperance movement. | told him that | thought there was no
need for a temperance society in Srinagar as yet, there were no public houses and | had
hardly ever seen anyone drunk. Indeed, if we talked about drunkenness, it might draw the
attention of the Kashmiris to drinking intoxicating liquors and might do more harm than
good.

However, he did not agree with me and started his temperance society. He collected from
his friend’s money for tables, chairs, and carpets in order that the meetings could be held
in comfort. At the second temperance meeting, a speaker said: “What is the use of our
talking about temperance if we do not know what drunkenness is? Would it not be better
at our next meeting to bring bottles of brandy and drink until we are drunk, then we shall
know how drunkards suffer”. So at their next meeting brandy was brought, and they
drank themselves silly. When they became sober, they agreed that drunkenness was more
exciting, and pleasanter than temperance, so these temperance meetings were not a
success.

Head Master Shanker Koul (1907)

“What Shanker does not know is not worth knowing”

My Punjabi Christian Head Master asked for a year’s leave, which I granted. As I needed
a man in his place, | put an advertisement in the Civil and Military Gazette, Lahore as
follows: “Wanted a headmaster for the C.M.S. schools in Kashmir; no one with proud

look or high stomach need apply to the Rev.C.E.Tyndale —Biscoe.”

By return of post, | received a postcard from the Head of the Cambridge Mission in
Delhi, saying: “We have all been very sorry to see your advertisement in the Civil and
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Military Gazette, for you have upset the whole of Delhi.” That was a bad business! But
nevertheless, | received seventy applications for the post. But | could accept not one, for |
could see by their letters that they had high stomachs and | guessed that proud looks were
above these stomachs. So failing to find a suitable man from the colleges in India, I
appointed one of our staff, Mr. Shanker Koul, who remained our headmaster for forty
years, a record.

No school could have had a more capable leader of boys and a more loyal worker. A very
successful teacher in the classroom, but as a leader in all social services for the welfare of
his country, he was superb. From being a leader in preventing cruelty to animals, he
tackled a far greater evil, cruelty to women. Out of the hundreds of instances of tackling
cruelties to animals I will mention an amusing one.

| was standing in the school compound and happened to look at the entrance gate, which
was under an arch, when lo and behold a pair of donkey’s ears appeared, so high up that
they could hardly pass under the arch. Then gradually, as this apparition came into fuller
view, I perceived that a donkey was riding on man’s back, its forelegs sticking out over
the man’s chest. Shanker Koul then explained that as he came to school, he saw a little
donkey doing its best to carry a man nearly as big as itself, so he thought it better that the
man should carry the donkey. He made the two change places, in fairness to the donkey.

Leather, Ball & Play (1910)

| felt sure that the introduction of games would give the boys a sense of fairplay and
sportsmanship, which they so much needed. The first obstacle to be overcome was the
objection of the Brahman youth to touching leather. As the cricket ball has a leather
cover, it had to be handled in such a manner that their hands did not come in contact with
the unholy leather.

Fortunately, the boys in those days wore “pherans”, a long garment like a nightgown,
with sleeves five feet in length, so that by keeping their hands up their sleeves they had
the cloth of their garment between their hand and the untouchable cricket ball. When they
had to stop or catch a ball they spread out their knees, or between their | legs and thus
stooped or caught the ball. So a game of cricket as played by the C.M.S schoolboys was a
well-conducted comic opera from start to finish. It took almost two years to persuade
these Brahman teachers and boys that the gods would not be angry if they permitted the
leather ball to touch their skins.

The next sport to which we tried to introduce them was sliding on the ice. My first winter
happened to be a severe one. The canal near our school was frozen, so | suggested that
they should come with me and learn the art of sliding. They all wore wooden clogs, as
even leather boots were anathema to them in those days. They objected to my proposal,
saying that their fathers told them that ice was very slippery and that they would probably
fall and hurt themselves.
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However, | at last persuaded them to come with me to watch me slide, and see how
quickly one became warm by this exercise in cold weather. But | advised them to leave
their fire pots on the ground, and not carry them under their nightgowns, as was then the
practice of every teacher and boy when the weather was cold. Most of them followed my
advice, but one or two refused to take it and they soon learnt that my advice was well
founded. Before the day was over, the boys had discovered that a fall on the ice was not
very dangerous, though at times a little painful.

It was not long before they became keen and agreed that it was good fun. So that fight
was soon won. But two boys had yet to learn that ice and firepots were not brothers. They
were squatting comfortably on the ice with their fire pots well covered by their
nightgowns and enjoying the warmth rising up their bodies and out at their necks, when
suddenly they and their firepots had a very cold involuntary bath.

What is a football?

When | brought my bride to Kashmir in November 1891, | brought also a leather football.
When | held it up before the assembled school they asked, what is that?

T-B  Itis afootball.

Boys what is the use of it?

T-B. For playing a game.

Boys Shall we receive any money if we play that game?
T-B No!

Boys Then we will not play that game.

Boys What is it made of?

T-B  Leather.

Boys Take it away! Take it away!

T-B Why should I take it away?

Boys Because it is jutha (unholy) we may not touch it, it is leather.

T-B I do not wish you to handle it. I want you to kick it (it was a soccer ball) and
today you are going to learn how to kick it, boys.

Boys  We will not play that jutha game.
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So instead of the usual English lesson with the top class, where many of the boys had
whiskers and beards and some were married and had children, | then described the game
and, with the help of the blackboard, drew a map of a football ground, showing the
position of the players, etc.,

| then called the teachers, who were all Brahmans, and ordered them to go ahead to picket
certain streets to prevent the boys running away before they reached the public common.
When all was ready, | gave the orders to proceed to this common and shooed them on
like sheep or cattle to market. It was a great sight never to be forgotten. All these so-
called boys shuffling along the street wearing their wooden clogs, carrying their firepots
under their flowing pherons on their way to play football. Some were wearing huge gold
earrings, some had nose rings and all of them wore their caste marks.

| soon had the goal posts up and the teams in their proper places as | had shown on the
blackboard.

There was a crowd of townsfolk, which was growing every minute, all eager to see what
new mischief this foolish young sahib was up to now. When everyone was in his proper
place, | put the football in the centre of the ground and ordered the centre forward, a boy
with a nice black beard, to kick off.

The black-bearded Brahman looked at me, then at the crowd of his fellow co-religions
standing around, and then hung his head, remaining motionless. | again gave the order,
“Kick1” but still nothing happened. So I said: “I will give you five minutes to think, and
then something will happen which you will not like.” What was going to happen I had
not the slightest idea, but fortunately | had armed my teachers with single sticks, in order
to drive the boys to the common. So | lined up the teachers at the goals and told them that
when they heard me shout out “kick” should the order not be obeyed immediately, they
were at once to rush from the goals at the teams waving their single sticks, and shouting
blue murder for all they were worth.

As the five minutes was reduced to the last ten seconds, I called out: “10 seconds left,
9,8,7,6,5,4,3,2.1. Kick!! And down came the teachers shouting and waving their single
sticks. Off went that ball and in five seconds all was confusion, for the boys forgot their
places on the field, or that they were holy Brahmans, and a rough and tumble began. As
they tried to kick the ball, but generally missed it, their clogs flew into the air and their
pugaris were knocked off while their nightgowns flapped in one another’s faces; a real
grand mix-up of clothes and humanity.

Then all of a sudden there were sounds of agony and horror and the game stopped. A boy
was brought to me sobbing, with his horror-stricken friends around him, for this Brahman
boy had the unholy leather kicked bang into his face. What was he, or they, to do?

A truly terrible predicament, what could the gods be thinking about it all? | told them to
take him to the canal close by and wash him. Away went the crowd with the defiled boy
and for the moment there was peace. Back came the washed boy and the rest of the
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players, all of whom to my surprise at once resumed the game and continued until |
called time. Then all the sightseers and teams went off to their houses to give their
various accounts of this first game of football played by Brahmans in Kashmir.

But, and a big but, when the black-bearded boy reached his home, the news of his
wickedness had reached his parents before his arrival. He was not allowed to enter his
home and so defile their house. For three months, he was not permitted to enter his own
home, but some relation, less bigoted, took pity on him and gave him a home.

Sycophancy (1910)

Some years ago, it was no uncommon sight to see one of the staff standing before
me with hands clasped in the attitude of prayer, with his head on one side, and possibly
the toes of one foot scratching the other bare leg, asking for a favour. The sight was a
sickening one! A so-called man, standing like a slave before a slave-driver. Those days
are gone!

The slave chains were not struck off with one blow. It took years. Various happenings
brought this about, constant intercourse out of school; going trips together on the
mountains or on the lakes, where we shared fatigue, and more than once, passed nights
without sleep; many upsets in river and lakes; and once and again in danger in fires; and
squalls on the lakes when sailing, for it has been a tradition with us —a very foolish one,
no doubt—not to take in a reef, but to trust to the shifting ballast of a dozen or so of the
crew to the windward gunwale. These are the times when we get to understand one
another.

Head Master Sridhar Bhat, Anantnag (1914)

A boy called Shridar Bhat came to the school and, in course of time, became
headmaster. He possessed an outstanding character for courage, kindness and
determination and his great joy in life was that of uplifting the Kashmiris.

Whilst he was a master in the school, a lady missionary, Miss Annie Coverdale, started
a school for girls. She and Shridhar Bhat did everything they could for each other’s
schools. If anyone congratulated Shrider Buth on his success with his school and in social
service, he always said it is all due to Miss Coverdale’s example and help.

Millie Coverdale lived with Dr.Minny Gomery and Miss Katie Newnham at the C.M.S
mission hospital at Anantnag. They had devoted their lives to the women of this town and
district for years. It was most strenuous work and we all marvelled at their strength and
courage. Miss Coverdale eventually retired to England but was unfortunately one of the
many victims in an air raid. She and her sister’s cottage at Bexhill received a direct hit
from a bomb. In the hereafter, many will call her blessed.
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Election of Shankar Koul to the Municipal Council (1916)

At this time, the city of Srinagar was excited over its Municipal election. Our
headmaster, Mr.Shanker Koul, was asked to stand and was naturally backed up by all
who wished to have an honest municipal officer. When our masters and old boys
presented themselves at the election booths, they found it impossible to vote as the
municipal secretary was there with hooligans to prevent them voting, so we had to send
some lusty fellows to see fair play, and Mr.Shanker Koul was duly elected.

Now | would like you to know something of the life and character of Mr.Shanker Koul
our Headmaster, who was now an honourable member of the municipality of Srinagar.

He came to the mission school in 1892 together with two boys from the state school.
Their first half-morning’s work was finished when the bell rang for them to go into the
playground for the twenty minutes’ exercise, drill, boxing and gymnastics.

When | ordered my class to shut their books and to go the playground, these three new
boys said that they had come to school to learn and not to play. So | told them that this
school was not a lunatic asylum and that, if they did not wish to have their bodies trained,
they had better return at once to the state school. I then forced them downstairs to the
playground and put them in line with the squad fronting the parallel bars and, when their
turn came to perform, they refused to mount the parallel bars. So I took out my watch and
told them that |1 would give them five minutes to think the matter over and then
something would happen. Something did happen. Shanker Koul was on the parallel bars
but his arms were too weak to hold himself there, so two boys were called to support him
on each side.

When this first exercise was finished, we dealt with the other two newcomers in the
same way. All three boys accepted this treatment with good grace, and, later on, all three
became gymnastic instructors and thankful that they had come to the school.

To speak of Shanker Koul’s life at the C.M.S schools and the enormous amount of
useful work and brave deeds that he has performed would fill volumes. He was the leader
of the boys at fires in the city, at epidemics of cholera, and when the Jhelum river
overflowed its banks, causing destruction and distress all around. He was in the vanguard
too in preventing cruelty to animals, and in rescuing women and girls from impure devils.
He also did useful work in standing up to the state officials when they tried to harm our
schools and was always ready to join battle with anyone who decried the school.

By July 1899, The Mission School had 44 Kashmiri teachers (in those days they were
called masters). Three of them were Christians, five were Muslims 36 were Kashmiri
Pandits. Nearly all of them were old boys of the Mission Schools where they had studied
under the supervision of Tyndale Biscoe. They all worked loyally for much less pay than
they would have got in Government service.
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Sati & Widow marriage (1928)

To give an idea of what views the elder boys held regarding Sati, | relate the following
incident. The boys were about twenty years old, and married. | was reminding them of
what the British had done for India, such as founding hospitals, fighting famines, cholera,
and buebonic plague, &c., and also how they had put a stop to the cruel practice of Satti.
When | mentioned the last item, a black bearded fellow jumped to his feet and the
following revealing conversation ensued:

The black-bearded boy asked: “Why did the British interfere with our religion?”
T-B | was not talking about religion, but cruelty,
B,-B.B But Sati is our religion.
T.B. Do you wish your Brahman widows to be burnt alive?
B.-B.B Of course we do, it is our religion, it is God’s order.
T.B Have you a mother and father?
B.-B.B Yes.
T.B When your father dies do you wish to see your mother?

burnt alive?

B.-B.B Of course I do

And then all the youths in the class jumped up and shouted out “Of course we do, it is
our religion”. I then turned to one of the youths who was especially vociferous, and asked
if he had a sister, and was she married? He answered in the affirmative. | said to him:
“When your brother-in-law dies do you wish to see your sister burnt alive?” He
answered: “Of course I do, it is my religion.”

| then asked them: “Suppose it was the other way round and God’s order that the
Brahman husbands should be burnt alive when their wives died. How would you like
that?” At this suggestion, the whole class roared out: “That is not religion.”

Although I was somewhat flabbergasted at this outburst, 1 was glad to discover where |
stood. It made it quite clear how | should have to tackle the inhuman and unmanly views
they held towards women. It also made me more than ever determined, with the help of
God, turn these youths from religious fanatics into MEN. All cruel customs in the city of
Srinagar practiced against the weak, whether on men, women or animals, must be fought
and done away with, as my grandfather had succeeded in putting a stop to the cruel sport
of bull baiting in England, one hundred years before.
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Sacred Bull

“One familiar sight in the bazaars is the Brahmani sacred bull, swaggering down town
with his rakish black india-rubber sort of hump swaying from side to side as he walks. He
seems to have the run of all the greengrocer shops by the way; he shoves his nose on the
counters and marches off munching the vegetables he has pinched in passing. Everybody
makes way for him. That he expects respect from all can be seen by the look in his
insolent eye.”

Tyndale Biscoe, Kashmir In Sunlight & Shade, 1922.

We were unable to alter the satanic Brahman laws regarding widows but we could save
our own widows in future from being forced to live impure lives. So there and then we
started a pension fund for the widows of the school staff. Every master had to pay a
portion of his monthly wage into this fund and | promised that a like sum would be paid
monthly from the school treasury. With this pension the widow would be able to be free
of her late husband’s family and could live the life she chose.

The Dixon Fund, called after Mr.John Dixon of Pitlochry, who started it with a gift of Rs
50, grew year by year by year until it totaled Rs.125, 000. To-day, it is helping thirty
widows. But this effort of the mission school was only a drop in the ocean. What was
needed was to get the law altered, but that seemed to us at that time impossibility, yet we
never lost hope.

We were destined to go on pegging away for another twenty years before the first re-
marriage of a Brahman widow took place in Kashmir. It was performed at Mattan, a
place holy to the Brahmans, through the courageous action of Sridhar Bhat, the
Headmaster and his staff of the C.M.S. School at Anantnag. But it was not accomplished
without opposition, physical force, and a little blood spilling.

On a May morning in 1928 at six-thirty, Shanker Koul, Headmaster of the C.M.S. school,
Srinagar, led his school staff and 100 old students, all Brahmans, to a house where two
Brahman bidegrooms, who were brave enough to face the music, were ready to march to
a house a mile distant, where two young Brahman widows were also prepared to face the
ordeal. Shanker Koul had arranged with three Brahman priests to perform the marriage
ceremonies. But their courage had failed and they bolted. So one of our school staff, a
Brahman priest, married them. This marriage caused a great uproar in the city. But like
all storms, this one blew itself out in time.

Shortly afterwards Shanker Koul led a deputation of old school students to His Highness
the Maharajah to ask him to enact a State Law, permitting the re-marriage Hindu widows.
But their request was refused. Undismayed, two years later, he tried his luck again with
the help of Mr.Wakefield who was Secretary to His Highness, and this time his request
was granted.
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Widows can remarry
H.H.Maharaja Hari Singh of Kashmir, issued a proclamation as follows:

“Whereas bearing in mind the advance in ideas recently made in Hindu Society, the
recognition by the majority of Hindus that the incapacity of Hindu widows to contract a
second valid marriage is harmful to Hindu society and the progress made all over the
world as also in other parts of India towards the enfrachisement of women, we consider
that the removal of bostaclejs to remarriage of Hindu widows in the State of Jammu and
Kashmir will lead to promotion of good morals and to the public welfare.

The Maharaja went on to announce the promulgation of new legislation providing
inter alia that :

No marriage contracted between Hindus shall be invalid and the issue of no such
marriage shall be illegitimate by reason of the woman having been previously married or
betrothed to another person who subsequently died any custom and any interpretation of
Hindu law to the contrary, notwithstanding.

A Hindu widow shall not by reason of her remarriage forfeit any property or any
right to which she would otherwise be entitled; and every widow who remarries shall
have the same rights of intheirtance as she would have had, had such marriage been her
first marriage.

In the case of a widow not under 16 years of age, or whose marriage has been
consummated, her own consent shall be sufficient to constitute her remarriage as lawful
and valid. But in the case of a minor widow she shall not be remarried without the
consent of her male relatives.

The Hindu, 1,05.1933.

The re-marriage of Hindu widows became law in Kashmir, but the Brahman Sabha
refused to accept it. The President, however, of the Yauk Sabha (grandson of a late much-
feared President of the Brahman Sabha who was a great enemy of the C.M.S schools)
persuaded his party to put an end to the persecution and cruelties perpetrated on Hindu
widows, and so at long last brought victory. | never expected in my lifetime to witness
this miracle.

| have for fifty years witnessed the results of the cruelties perpetrated on Hindu widows
and also the wonderful acts of chivalry performed by our school staff and old students,
which, if put on paper, would fill a book and would, | expect, receive the same torrent of
abuse as did Miss Mayo’s book, Mother India. No reformers can escape, curses. But what
matter! Think of those who fought the slave trade. They were even threatened with death.
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Woular Lake Challenge (1929)

| now come to an important event, the first swimming of the dreaded Wular Lake,
which at its narrowest point was five miles wide. About ten years previously, | had taken
the twelve-oared cutter with a crew of twelve Brahman, teachers and a few passengers to
introduce them to the joys of boating.

The Kashmiris are terribly frightened of the Wular Lake on account of storms that now
and again blow up. As all the boats are flat-bottomed, not built to face storms, they often
capsize and the crews and passengers, being non-swimmers, are drowned. These deaths
are supposed to be caused by djinns, or the god of the lake.

We had not left the shore many minutes when a breeze sprang up and the boat began to
heel over and toss a little. This put the “wind up” those on board and they started to call
out to their gods, Ram and Shiva. Some quite lost their heads and began to weep,
thinking of their loved ones at home safe on terra firma whom they would never see
again. They threw out handfuls of rice and sugar as baksheesh to their gods. | am afraid,
I was unsympathetic and, like Elijah of old, told them to cry aloud to their gods, for
perchance they slept. In a short while, the god of the lake had pity on them, the wind
dropped and our boat was soon on an even keel. We took to our oars and were shortly at
our destination across the lake.

Arrived there, we found much stir among the people, who told us that the day before
there had been a heavy storm and eighteen fishermen had been drowned. On my asking
why they had not swum ashore, they said that no one around the lake could save their
lives by swimming for the djinns always pulled them under the water, so what was the
use of learning to swim.

Our school teachers seemed much upset at this tragedy, so I said to them: “Don’t you
think that it is up to us to do something about this? Surely the Mission School should
teach these Wular Lake folk how to avoid such happenings in future. You fellows must
swim across this lake, and show them that it is possible to save their lives by swimming.”
The teacher said this was impossible. So I said we should have to make the impossible
possible.

With this determination in our minds, we set to work when we returned to Srinagar to
tackle the impossible. We made it a rule that every boy in the schools should have passed
the swimming test of 70 yards by the age of thirteen, otherwise his father would have to
pay extra fees. Many parents objected to this rule. My answer was: “Take your son away
and put him in a school where they like non-swimming gentlemen.” We won through and
some hundreds of boys passed the swimming test every year.

At last, the day arrived when | though the attempt to swim across the dreaded Wular Lake
might be made. So, on a beautiful September morning in r 1906, we arrived at the lake,
having travelled the thirty miles down the river from Srinagar in our dhoonga. At 7 a.m,
the swimmers dived into the lake for the five-mile swim to the farther shore, three
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Brahman teachers, one Mohammedan and myself, Dr.Sam Barton accompanied us in a
boat in case any of the swimmers should need medical attendance.

The first half-mile of the swim was a trifle dangerous owing to the weeds. After that, the
water was deep and clear until we reached the shingle beach at a village nestling under a
pretty twin-peaked hill. On the top of one of the peaks is a tomb sacred to a
Mohammedan saint named Baba Shukr-U-Din, to whom the boatmen are accustomed to
give money to secure a safe passage across the dreaded lake. It was a very pleasant swim
except for the sun, which gave me a sore back for a day or two. Three of the swimmers
found the swim too much for them, and climbed into the boat following us; but Darim
Chand and | reached the village beach. The dreaded Wular Lake had been swum. The
impossible had been made possible.

Honour Boards

In the school hall, are the honours boards, not as in our public schools in England,
proclaiming only scholars and athletes, but for body, mind and soul.

No. | Board. For pluck, skill and endurance. Those who have swum five miles across the
Woular Lake or the eight miles across the Dal Lake and down the river to the school: or
have leaped from the roof of the school, fifty feet up, into the river.

No.2 Board, the top boy in the school with the most marks for body, mind and soul.

No.3 Board. Those who have risked their lives for others. The pluckiest deed each year,
chosen from the various instances of life saving in the year. In one year thirty lives were
saved by members of the C.M.S schools.

No.4 Board. The kindest deed to an animal.

No.5 Board. Those who have given their lives for others and on that board hangs the
beautiful picture of Jesus Christ, “The Light of the World”, who has shown us the way.

Babu ethics (1938)

A certain Inspector of Schools, after he had inspected the C.M.S school at Islamabad,
wrote out two reports, one for me to see, and the other for the Minister of Education, who
he knew would not like to see a good report of our school.

By mistake, his clerk had sent me both reports. In the report intended for me, he wrote:
“This is a good school” and then described our activities, but there was one drawback and
that was that the school building was hired, not ours. (We were not allowed in those days
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to build our own schoolhouse). In the report intended for the Minister of Education, he
wrote: “The C.M.S. school at Islamabad is a bad school and the reason for boys attending
that school is that many scholarships were given (which was quite untrue) and the only
redeeming point about this school is that the house in which it is situated is satisfactory.”

These two reports | placed in the school museum as objects of interest. | also sent a
message to the Inspector saying that when | next met him, I would pull his ears; in
consequence the Inspector never wished to inspect our schools again and always
succeeding in avoiding me. Some years afterwards, he sent his two sons to our school,
and on being asked by the headmaster the reason, he replied that his sons would be
disciplined there.

Pandit Christians (1939)

We were at our holiday hut at Nil Nag, in the month of August 1939, when two of our
teachers, Govind Razdan, a widower, Sham Lal and his wife, and an old boy, Kashi Nath
and his wife, asked me to baptize them. They had for years been very keen on all kinds of
social service, so | knew by their lives, as well as by their words, that they were truly
persons to be received into the Christian Church. On Sunday morning, | took them to the
lake and baptized them.

We, and they, of course were well aware that when they returned to Srinagar, they would
have to suffer persecution from the Brahmans, and they did.

About a month later we were at school again, when the old boys of the school arranged
for a dinner in honour of our revered friend Bishop Barnet of Lahore. On that occasion
150 old boys sat down to a meal. They were of various religious castes and classes. It was
a great joy to all of us who had been striving for so many years to break down caste
prejudices, to see this great number of old boys entertaining our Bishop. My thoughts
naturally went back to the days when the Brahman members of my school staff had to
throw away all their food because my shadow had fallen upon it.

Not many days passed, before we heard that the teachers whom | had baptized, were in
danger from their fellow Brahmin. Govind Razdan was the first to be attacked by
hooligans while crossing one of the city bridges. Fortunately for him, one of the
policemen near by was an old boy of our school and he rescued him from the angry
crowd. A few days later Sham Lal was going from my house to his home in the city, after
dark, when he was attacked and so badly hurt that he had to be taken to hospital. The man
who was the cause of this attack was a Brahman policeman. Then came Kashi Nath’s
turn. He was employed by a motor omnibus company and was taking a bus full of
Brahmans to one of the most
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holy places in Kashmir named Tula Mula, where a goddess is supposed to live in a tank.
After landing his party at the holy spot, he was attacked by the worshippers, but
fortunately there were Mohammedans at hand who came to

his rescue and saved him. In 1940, according to Biscoe Sahib’s autobiography ten more
Pandits were baptized as Christians.

Tyndale Biscoe of Kashmir, an Autobiography

*khkkkkikkkkikkkikkikkikk

Old boys recall

Young boys when they join school are shy, hesitant, not yet fully developed physically
but as years roll, they develop the muscles, improve their mental powers and generally
race towards manhood. It is interesting that the motto of the school “In all things be men”
— lays stress on the word man.

Young boys turn into grown-up boys and subsequently they become old boys. In his 57
years career of service, Tyndale Biscoe trained, taught and made men out of boys.

One of them, M.N.Koul recalls the days when he was being moulded into a young man at
Mission School, Fateh Kadal.

“I was a student of the school for 10 years, leaving the premier institution in 1937 after
matriculation.

“He has mentioned the names of some teachers of the school and has also bracketed their
pet-cum nicknames without giving their connotation. In fact, there is meaning behind
each nickname. Here | will deal with one such name, that of Master Nank Chand
nicknamed Batuk. Batuk, as you know, means duck in Kashmiri.

“In those days, boat race, called Regatta, was held on Tuesdays in Gagribal Lake. Boats
were manned by the students of the branch schools, about six of them. Besides, a couple
of six-oared and one 12-oared boats, all manned by teachers, participated in the gala
event. The main items of the competition were: Relay race, cosmopolitan race,duck race
and finally the sinking of paddle — rowed boats. In the duck race, the main role was
played by Nank Chand. He covered his head with the lake weed which camouflaged him
fromt the surroundings of the lake. It was a hide-and —seek game. The manoeuvres of this
“master”, ducking under water and even under boats, gave a tough time to the hunters.
Finally, the team which caught hold of the “duck” won the game. Thus the teacher
assumed the name — Nana Batuk.

“Shri Safaya has written that Nanak Chand, by his duck-like actions, saved his colleagues
during a sailing storm in Wular Lake. This is factually incorrect and | give the facts of the
Wular tragedy.”
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“The teaching staff of the C.M.S. Schools used to have an annual outing. This time to
Woular Lake. It was on the fateful day of April 11, 1934, when Nanak Chand and six other
adventurous young teachers took a fancy to have a joy ride in the lake. They erected an
improvised sail on the six — oared boat. Nanak Chand was at the steering (rudder). In the
beginning, the wind was unidirectional and of low intensity. The boat kept on sailing
smoothly. But as the boat reached towards the deeper side of the lake (Watlab), the wind
turned into a furious storm creating a deep whirlpool. The boat capsized and all the seven
teachers with their woollens on were drowned. The toppled boat and sail ropes turned
into a death — trap for them. Nanak Chand, the duck and an expert swimmer, was no
more. He could not save himself, not to speak of saving his six colleagues.

“This tragedy gave a grievous shock to our family because one of the seven
victims was my maternal ucncle, Pt.Dina Nath Warikoo of Rainawari, an all rounder and
a brilliant young man of 28 years. | was a student of Class VII that time. | vividly recall
that moment when we received the news of his demise on the third day of the tragedy.
The untimely and tragic death of the seven young teachers, who lived in different
localities of Srinagar, engulfed the whole city in a pall of gloom and deep mourning. As
many as 66 years have gone by and it is a part of history now.

M.N.Koul, Koshur Samachar, June 2000.

*kkhkhkhkkhhhkhkhkkkkkhiik

Down Memory Lane

Another old boy, D.N.Koul goes down memory lane to resurrect for us the family
connection that he had with the Mission School.

Shri Nana Koul (not Nankjoo) was my father. He was very adept in swimming and
would swim and dive like a duck and so was given the sobriquet of ‘The Duck’ by Shri
Biscoe himself.

It was the annual feature of the C.M.S school staff to go for “Wular Cross”

In April. On the fateful day of April 11, 1934, my father sent the other boats to cross the
lake before 4 p.m. Sh.Shambbo Nath Khosa, my mamaji who was in the other boat, got
himself exchanged for a teacher from this boat. My father with six other colleagues,
including Shri Khosa, left Bandipora after 4p.m. It is usually said that it is not safe to
cross the lake after 4 p.m

Unfortunately, while crossing the lake, they were caught in a raging hailstorm
accompanied by strong gale in which all the seven members of the crew, bracing the
onslaught, lost their lives. A lot of sand was found in my father’s nails presuming that he
might have tried to find the other five drowned colleagues.
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There have been many an eventful incident in Shri Nana Kaul’s short span of life and I
quote a few here:

He would collect the children of the Mohalla (both Hindu and Muslim) and would take
them to the Tsunt Koal for coaching. Their mothers would not dare to say “no” but their
breath would stop till their sons would return safe. He as the first person in Kashmir to
make a boat, which could be rowed with cycle paddles. A boat stood tugged at our ghat at
Sathu. We sold it to a boatman at Chinar Bagh after his death. He was the best
scoutmaster as per the certificate | found later in his boss. He was also a good carpenter.
Shri Biscoe had sent him for carpentry training to Bareilly. We had four boxes full of
tools, which we often lent to neighbours. Once a carpenter who worked in our house did
not accept the wages saying that he was the taught of Nana “The Loin”.

Shri Nana Kaul had also got a projector from Bareilly after completing his training there.
It could be operated both with power and dynamo. It had 250 reels of 8 mmllimeter like
Quid Pro Quo (3 reels), Bullfight, swimming and diving, Ali Baba and Forty Thieves,
etc. It must have been 1930 or 1931 when there were no cinema houses in Srinagar. It
was a great amusement and fun for the family and for the mohallawallas. He would show
these films in the Vout (lower story) of a neighbour — big enough to accommodate some
50 to 60 members. Sometimes he would take the projector to his in-laws at Banamohalla
and lots of people would gather there. He would also show these films at his school in
Fateh Kadal. Alas the old projector along with other belongings could not be retrieved
when we fled the place. To sum up, he was an all — rounder as the school motto reads: “In
All Things Be Men”.

While concluding, 1 would like to pay my respects to the Biscoe family for showing
compassion and benevolence to our family. Only last year, Shri Hugh, Shri Eric Biscoe’s
son, had visited India with his family and also paid a visit to us at Shalimar Garden. We
had lunch together and he spent the day with us talking about the good old days in the
school.

Dwarkanath Koul Koshur Samachar, Jan.2001

*khhhhkhkkkkkhkhkhkhhhhikhkkkhiikx
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Roll of Honour

A roll of honour normally gives details of the achievements of students both in the
field of scholarship and in the field of sports. But in this case, we are recording for
posterity, names of some of those sacrificing individuals who as teachers dedicated their
lives to produce, train and educate boys who would be MEN. We wish we had the names
of all those wonderful teachers who served.

Following are the names of some of Biscoe soldiers but, we are sorry we do not have
names of many more stalwarts who served in the Mission Schools.

Shanker Koul Sham Lal

Sridhar Bhat Dina Nath Matto
Nand Lal Bakaya Prithvi Nath Razdan
Samsar Chand Kaul Shambu Nath Matoo
Ishar Kaul (Dhabu, Ishi Kakh) Govind Kaw
Chander Pandit Tikka Lal

Shambu Nath Kachru Kanth Kaul

Niranjan Nath Fotehdar Govind Razdan
Shyam Lal Bala Koul

Janki Nath Dwarki Nath
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9
The English Era

Language Is the Key

In the past seven centuries, Kashmir has seen Mughal, Afghan and Dogra rule. Whenever
there was a change of rule the language of administration also changed. By nature and
inclination, the Kashmiri Pandits are very much for education, wheather they are well to
do or poor and it was but natural that they were indicuted into the administration by
whoever was the ruler of the day in the valley.

After 1338 AD, Kashmir came under Muslim rule and by the time the Mughal Empire
was at its peak the language used for administration was Persian and Urdu especially for
communication within the military hierarchy. For Kashmir, which has been a part of the
Mughal Empire, the same rules apply and those who were educated in the formal sense
had to know Persian and Urdu to run the administration.

Says the celebrated Tyndale Biscoe in his book “Kashmir in Sunlight and Shade”
published in London in 1922 about the history of Kashmir in relation to the question of
language.

“Kashmir, being one of the most lovely countries of the world, very naturally became the
desire of all who visited it, and the poor Kashmiri has been the servant and slave to
various dynasties.

“In 1750, it came under the most cruel and worst of all, the rule of Afghans. Those who
would not give up their Hinduism for Mohammed were done to death and thousands were
tied up in sacks and drowned in the rivers and lakes. In 1819, the Kashmiris called in the
aid of Sikhs who drove out the Afghans and ruled with at most as cruel a hand as did the
Afghans.

“Again in 1846, the country came under the rule of the Rajputs, for when the British arms
conquered the Sikhs, we made over this lively country of Maharajah Gulab Singh, who
owned the neighbouring country of Jummu, for the paltry sum of three quarters of a
million pounds, to be his and his heirs, as an independent possession. In consideration
for this transfer, Gulab Singh was to hand over annually to the British Government one
horse, twelve perfect shawl goats and three pairs of shawls, and further was to bring all
his troops to join ours when necessary for maintaining order in the territories adjoining
his border.

“When Maharajah Gulab Singh died his son, Ranbir Singh, became Maharajah and on his
decease his eldest son, Pratab Singh, now Sir Pratab Singh, G.C.S.1., took his seat on the
gaddi (throne) in the year 1885. He governs his country with the help of State Council
composed of native officials not from Kashmir but from India. Most of them are men
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lent by the Indian Government and hold various appointments, such as Public Works,
Revenue etc.”

The modern history of Kashmir begins on March 16™ 1846 when the Treaty of
Amritsar was signed between Rajah Gulab Singh of Jammu and the
British Government’s representative, the Viceroy of India. In the history of Kashmir,
the Dogra rule was the most peaceful and a great deal of progress was achieved in the
exactly 101 years of its rule from 1846 to 1947.

While the founder Maharaja Gulab Singh spent his initial years of rule in consolidating
territory, it was his son Ranbir Singh who started reforms to bring Kashmir on par
with British India in terms of progress. The Ranbir Polytechnic in Srinagar and the
Ranbir Penal code are just two of the instances of the work initiated by him. He was also
quite liberal in ordering improvement of transport And communication within the state,
which increased mobility and trade.

It was during the rule of his son Maharaja Pratap Singh that Kashmir stepped from
the19™ century into the 20™ century. Gradually, the modern methods of administration
started following British guidelines because the majority of the key officials including the
Mabharaja’s, Council of Advisors comprised people who were Indians but not natives of
Jammu and Kashmir. All of them were nominated by the Government of India on a
request from the Maharaja of Kashmir.

The reforms continued by Maharaj Pratap Singh were taken further ahead by his
successor Maharaja Hari Singh who ascended the Gaddi in 1925 and ruled the state
till October 1947 when he acceded to the Union of India.

With the influx of English officers who comprised initially officers from the Political
Department, military experts and others from various other fields, the language used
gradually veered round to being English. Most Englishmen did not understand the local
language and most Kashmiris did not understand English.

Fortunately, the progressive ruler had already made arrangements to encourage modern
education and schools and colleges had been started. However in this field, it was the
Christian Missionaries of the Christian Missionary Society (CMS) which was the very
first to introduce medical service and relief on an organized scale in the Kashmir
valley barely 8 years after the Indian Mutiny. Majority of them were doctors and it was
perhaps felt that medical relief would also help in spreading the Christian gospel.

*khkkkkhkhkkkhkkhkkkhkhkhkkhkikikkikk

With the influx of English Officers who comprised initially officers from the Political
Department, military experts and others from various other fields, the language used
gradually veered round to English. Most Englishmen did not understand the local
language and most Kashmiris did not understand English.
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Fortunately, the progressive ruler had already made arrangements to encourage
modern education and schools and colleges had been started. However in this field, it was
the Christian Missionaries of the Christian Missionary Society (CMS) which was the very
first to introuduce medical service and relief on an organized scale in the Kashmir valley
barely 8 years after the Indian Mutiny. Majority of them were doctors and it was perhaps
felt that medical relief would also help in spreading the Christian gospel.

*khkhhhhkhkkkkhkhkhkiirikiikkk

The First to learn?

The respected teacher known as Shiva Middle was a senior teacher in the Government
Run state High School at Bage Dilawar Khan. His real name was Pandit Shivji and his
surname was Ghasi. He had passed the 8" standard and as such the word middle was
attached to his name. As you must be knowing, in the academic Ladder from 1% to 5"
standard was called Primary, from 6" to 8" it was called Middle and 9™ to 10" as the
High. So any person clearing the 8™ standard examination was called Middle pass, which
Mr. Shivji Kaul Ghasi had done. It is said that he had also appeared in the 10" standard
(Matriculation) examination being held by the university of undivided Panjab but failed
to clear it having failed in one of the compulsory subjects viz English.

It is said that he was fond of using big and complicated words, phrases and idioms while
answering the question paper. As he did not have complete knowledge of proper usage,
he would make wrong usage, which let him down. An example of this often quoted by
people was that once while teaching in a class he asked the students to write the meaning
of the word “Slow” in English when none of the students could do so. He dictated the
meaning to them as “Tardiness of locomotion”. The story goes that Mr.Shiv Kaul Ghasi
used to memorise the meaning of simple words of English language by consulting
dictionaries and then use the same. Anyway, when | (says N.N.Moza) was in High
School during 30s of the last century Mr.Ghasi used to teach History to the High School
classes as he remembered all the important events of Indian and English history by heart
along with dates.

Contemporary Speaks

Who was the first Kashmiri Pandit to learn English? In the absence of any records, one
has to ferret out details as best as one can. English, in an organized form came to the
Kashmir valley through the good offices of Rev. Cannon Biscoe who may be called the
father of Modern Education in the Kashmir valley. Practically all the leaders of the
Kashmiri political movement have studied either under his guidance or in one of the
schools started by him.

But coming back to our primary question. | have it on the authority of Col. M.L.Sapru
that when he was a primary school student a teacher who was really not a teacher was
famous within the community as the first Pandit to learn English.
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At the time when Col. Sapru was a young student, he was already in his fifties, which
would make him a product of the nineteenth century or the latest early twentieth century.

Anyway, let us give him the benefit of being the pioneer and the torch bearer and the
beacon of light that is knowledge which opened the window for Kashmir to the wide
world beyond the borders of Pir Panjal.

Mr.N.N.Moza, a learned scholar and former officer of the Jammu and Kashmir
Government, has tried to explain the approximate date when Pandit Shiv Kaul Ghasi
would have learnt English at school.

“I passed my matriculation examination in 1936 at the age of 16 years and Mr.Ghasi must
have been around 46 years of age then. Thus he must have been born about 30 years.
According to this my guess for his year of birth must have been round about 1890.

“As for records Mr.Ghasi being the first Pandit to have learnt English, this can’t be
confirmed. | know of a few persons who were better qualified and probably elder to him.
A few examples are given below.

“When I joined the Sericulture Department in 1940 in Srinagar, Tara Chand Wazir was
the Director of Sericulture, Jammu Province. He was a postgraduate.

When | was studying in S.P.College from 1936-40, Mr.Ram Chand Pandita was the
senior most Professor of English followed by. M.S.Qazi, J.L.Kaul and S.N.Thusu. Even
Shankar Pandit Koul, the Head Master of Mission School was a teacher of English and
Mr.Tyndale Biscoe is said to have remarked about his ability: “What Shankar does not
know is not worth knowing “

In view of this, | am constrained to agree that most likely Shiv Kaul Ghasi was perhaps
the first Pandit to have learnt Eng lish “

As a post script it may be mentioned that the first batch of graduates passed out of the
now renamed college which started out under the name of Sri Pratap Hindu College now
named just S.P.College, in 1911. While the exact date can’t be pinpointed, it is safe to
assume that the college must have started in 1907. In those days, the degree course was of
four years duration. Thus the date of the graduation of the first batch in 1911 tallies with
the above.

Perhaps the second principal of Sri Pratap College, it can be deduced from above, was
Dr.lgbal Narain Sharga who worked as Principal, Sri Pratap College, Srinagar, for 11
years from 1911 to 1922, after Prof.M.U.Moore, the first Principal left.

The background to the setting up of a private college begins with certain progressive
reforms introduced during the rule of Maharaja Pratap Singh who succeeded his father
Maharaja Ranbir Singh in 1885. Municipalities were constituted and a college was
established at Jammu. Pandit Daya Kishen Kaul — a Kashmiri Pandit from Lahore—who

87



Cashmere: Kashir That Was Yarbal

was the Maharaja’s private Secretary, took a keen interest in starting a college at Srinagar
with private effort. Till then, very few Kashmiri Pandits had received modern education
with the result that with the introduction of English in the Government offices, they
found themselves unfit for any positions in the central Administration. With the
formation of the State Council, which was wholly manned by people from the
neighbouring province of the Punjab, waves of office-hunters from outside moved
towards Kashmir.

They got employment in almost every central office. All the important positions came to
be occupied by them and even in subordinate offices they found place in large numbers.
These outsiders opposed giving higher education to the people of the State. One of the
members of the Council made a proposal that no college should ever be opened in
Kashmir, as it would be unwise to impart higher education to the people of a
frontier province.

But one of the members of the Council Raja Suraj Kaul was a Kashmiri. His father had
moved down to Lahore in the closing years of Maharaja Ranjit Singh’s reign. He and his
relations among Kashnmiri Pandits, received some encouragement. A good number of
outside Kashmiri Pandits were also encouraged to come back. His son, Pandit Daya
Kishen Kaul, opened correspondence with Mrs.Annie Besant and persuaded her to open a
college here. Soon after a college under the name of Sri Pratap Hindu College was
opened at Srinagar. The local Kashmiri Pandit boys joined the college in large numbers.

During all these years, the Muslims were not much in the picture. The policy of the
British Government of India was to keep the Muslim peasantry more or less contented
but under control. As already stated, a regular land settlement was effected. Their
holdings were guaranteed, to them, but little encouragement was given to them in the
field of education for fear that they might become conscious of their political rights. Due
to the Franco-German war of 1870, the Muslim commercial class was ruined beyond
hope. The result was that the leadership of the Muslims went into the hands of
obscurantist and reactionary priests who also discouraged their taking to Western
education.

Things went on in this manner when a local Maulvi by name Maulana Rasul Shah who
was imbued with some progressive ideas, realized that without modern education the
Muslims will always remain backward. He founded an association and under its auspices
a Muslim secondary school was started. In this, he was greatly helped by some outside
Muslims who were in state service.

The teachers’ appointed in the beginning were mostly Pandits. But the school soon
became a High School, and Muslims began to attend the school in large numbers, but the
Pandit boys had gone much ahead of them.

N.N.Moza

*hkkkhkkhkhkkkhkhkkkhhkkkhhkhkihkiiiikx

88



Cashmere: Kashir That Was Yarbal

Academic Standards

“On the day of the examination, all students of the 5™ class from all the primary schools
affiliated to the State High School were led to the premises by one of the teachers of
every school. At the venue of the examination, the students of all these schools were made
to sit in a lawn in rows school-wise. At the stroke of 10, a sedate-looking lean figure with
snow-white turban on his head, an immaculately stitched achkan, flawless white
chooridar Pyjamas and wearing a deep red shoe (jooti) approached us with measured
steps flowing with grace. Our teachers ordered us to stand up as a mark of respect to
this sober-looking respectable teacher who was the Superintendent of Examinations. He
was one of the senior most teachers of the high school and his name was Shri Ram Chand
Dhar. He was famous for his knowledge of mathematics.

First Academic Test

“After directing us to sit down, Shri Dhar asked us to write 10 sentences in English and
whoever among us finished the composition should stand up so that he could personally
collect the answer — sheets. After all the candidates handed over their answer-sheets to
him, there was a break till noon. After this hour, he sat in a chair under a chinar and kept
the English textbook on a table near him. We were called one by one school-wise and
asked to read from the textbook a para or two here and there and explain the meaning
thereof. Thus passed off the first day of our primary examination, the first test of our
academic career.

“On the second day, we had to sit on the same lawn as on the first. The superintendent
dictated a few questions from the prescribed mathematics textbook. After solving the
problems, the answer-sheets were handed over as on the previous day. In the afternoon,
the Urdu, Hindi and other teachers of the school tested our knowledge of the respective
subjects. The marks awarded in these subjects by them were handed over to him. It took a
few days to compile the results, which were communicated to the concerned primary
schools for announcement. Thus | was lucky in having passed the first academic test of
my life, which would enable me to join a middle school for further studies. Later these
three classes viz: 1% Middle (6" standard), 2" Middle (7" ) and 3™ Middle (8" ) also
existed in the State High School. So | was admitted to this school to avoid frequent
changes of schools, | continued to study in this school till I passed the matriculation
examination held by the University of Punjab to which all the educational institutions of
our state were affiliated. This university of undivided Punjab was situated at Lahore
before the independence of India and the year was 1936.

“The State High School, situated in a mini-island called Bagh Dilawar Khan, had quite a
vast area to house the school buildings, parks, huge chinars and a playground, all
surrounded by the back-waters of the Dal Lake. The whole area was divided into two
parts, one comprising the inner and the other outer premises. There was gate in between
through which only the members of the staff were allowed to pass to the inner premises
before the opening time of the school indicated by the ringing of a bell. The students
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would thus throng the outer premises till the bell rang.”

N.N.Moza, Koshur Samachar, February 2001.

Batta Angreez

In most communities in India with a distinct linguistic identity, people from those areas
talk in their mother tongue or dialect when meeting and talking with others from their
own group. Originally, before the onset of the English language, most Indians spoke their
mother tongue but whenever a foreign tongue was imposed on us especially after a
particular foreign rule got stabilized speaking the foreigners’ tongue became a matter of
prestige. Learning of Persian and Urdu ensured a job during the Mughal time.

For Kashmiri Pandits learning the language of the rulers was a matter of survival. With
innate intelligence and habitual hard work, Kashmiri Pandits became quite adept at
getting jobs. After the demise of the Mughal Empire, Urdu was still used as Court
language even during Maharaja Ranjit Singh’s time. When Kashmir became a part of the
Sikh Empire Urdu was still used.

It was in 1846 that unknown to many including the Kashmiri Pandits that a new era
started with the Dogra Raj being set up in a composite new entity called Jammu and
Kashmir. While the correspondence and transactions were still carried out in Urdu, the
higher levels of Administration gradually switched to English.

Kashmiri Pandits discovered that British Rule albeit indirect had come to stay and
therefore Urdu and Persian were not so important although most people retained Urdu
and switched over to English with a vengeance.

This coincided with the arrival of missionaries in the valley and the efforts of the princely
Government to introduce the English language in both the school and the college
level. Teachers were brought from outside Kashmir and within one generation the valley
had a fairly large number of Kashmiri Pandit teachers.

Within the social milieu and the pecking order, now learning of English became a
prestigious undertaking. A 16 year old boy’s worth was assessed by

a) by his handwriting, b) spellings, c) comprehension, d) ability to speak English
grammatically. Quite often boys preparing for interview would be tested by family
friends, relatives and elders already working for the Government on the above parameters
to determine their chances of getting a job. Quite often the area of employment was only
clerical and more and more the correspondence was in English and hence the stress on
the language.

Added to this was the new machine called typewriter and the contribution of Mr. Pitman
known as Shorthand. Many rushed to a newly started institute by a Kashmiri Pandit to
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learn typing and shorthand. Many more, prior, to this went to far away places as Calcultta,
Allahabad, Lucknow but most of them rushed to Lahore to learn the new skill.

A curious feature of this development was that Kashmirl Pandits began using English
words at home so that after just one generation even their illiterate mothers knew a few
words of English. If it had stopped at that, it would have been normal, but what happened
and can even now be seen in action is as follows:

When two of them meet it begins something like this

“Namaskar Mahara. Warei Aswaye.

“Namaskar Mahara Aahan Mahara Orzoo

“Makhan lalin Kaem Mahara Karim. I have done Makhanlal’s work.

“Sahibus Wonum ki bi hackene karit. I have told the Sahib that

I can’t do it.

Once Srinagar experienced its regular bout of floods and the low-lying areas inundated.
Water had started seeping into the courtyards of houses in Sathu Barbar Shah Area. The
menfolk were awake at night watching anxiously the water level.

“Hey water level Mahara che khasan

“Ye Mahara wate jald danger mark

“Acha Teli we shall abandon the house “

This habit of interspersing English sentences, words, and phrases, into the conversations
has now become an accepted mode of dialogue more so after many Kashmiri Pandits

migrated to the plains from 1947 onwards. They either speak in Hindi or English
now with broken words, phrases of Kashmiri.

Battangreez “ Ye Machra Che Penin Penin Poyshan Asan”

This sentence explains how desperately semi literates in the community tried to speak

English. What he meant was that it was an individual position which mattered.

“ Give me some peoples and I will arrest him himself “ This was a mixture of bravado and
a desperate attempt to show familiarity with the English language. What he meant
was that given a few people under his command he could effect the arrest of the guilty

party.”

*hhhhkhkhkhkhkkhkhhkihhhkhhkkhkhhiiiiix
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“Have Cup Tea Mahara”

The man was a highly experienced Electrical Engineer and one day he wanted to buy and
present his boss a Kashmiri teacozy. It was too far to go to the shop. So he decided to
take a short cut and telephoned the Manager of the shop enquiring whether they stocked
teacozies.

Yes, the manager said we have teacozies in stock. So the engineer said why don’t you
have a cup of tea with me, meaning thereby that the manager should come to his house
along with teacozy and delivery it him. For this, he would get a cup of tea.

One can see how English has got ingrained into Indian languages and despite all the
noise made by language fanatics it will remain so. Language is a live entity and it
continuously gives and takes words from other languages.

So our hero said these immortal words to convey his request. “Have cup tea mahara”.
One will see that the first three words are English and only the last word is Kashmiri
indicating respect.

“Angrezi Bachao”. (Save English) Otherwise, what would we do?

*hhkkhkkkkhkhkhkiihikikikkk

Gold from the dust

There was this prosperous businessman, one of the few Pandits to be in business. He
decided to send his son to one of the best engineering colleges in the country.
Unfortunately he did not get admission as his marks were not upto the mark.

He came back disappointed. His father was furious and determined that his son would
get his engineering degree whatever it cost him. The son applied and got admission in
USA and went there, completed his degree and eventually returned home after a number
of years.

After the initial welcome, the son found it difficult to adjust and was complaining always
about the dust and dirt of India and comparing it with the cleanliness of USA. The rest of
the family heard this in silence but after sometime they could not bear it any more.

One day one of them hit back at him, (the USA returned man) and said these priceless
words:

“Out of this dust came the money that paid for your education in USA”
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Pandits & The Steel Frame

Despite their habit of understatement, the British were proud of their Civil Service
in India, which they called the Indian Civil Service. The objectives of the service
were two-fold, one to maintain Law and Order and the other collection of land
revenue, the main source of income. They called it the steel frame, in the firm grip
of which they held the Indian Empire.

During British rule all over India, most of the Brahmins and Kayasths made a change
over from Urdu and Persian, which werer in use during the Mughal rule, to English.
Roughly from 1757 the English language began to spread initially in Bengal and Madras
Presidencies followed by Bombay. The three Presidencies were in fact the foundation of
British trade and rule in India.

The Kashmiri Pandit community fleeing from persecution in their native land also
switched over from Persian to English. The time gap between introduction of English in
places like Delhi and Lahore as also Lucknow and Allahabad and the Kashmir Valley
was roughly about 50 years. While the first Kashmiri Pandit graduate of Delhi College
passed out in the mid 19™ century, the first graduates passed out of the S.P.College
Srinagar (Affiliated to the Punjab University) in 1911.

Consequently, the Pandits who had migrated from the Valley due to persecution learnt
English first. In fact, the Purana Kashmiri as they were nicknamed as compared to the
Taza (The Valley Kashmiri Pandits), had the opportunity to try for the Civil Services
both at the lower and the middle level. Although the ICS was opened to Indians from
1865 when Rabindra Nath Tagore’s brother became the first Indian ICS Officer, very few
Indians qualified for the service. For Kashmiri Pandits also, the service was open and if
one compares the numbers one is astounded.

Most of the areas for which Pandits qualified themselves were education, teaching, law,
administration, revenue, literature etc., but most of them were traditionally inclined to
Government Service. Even the few who became doctors and engineers joined
government service. A very small number were into business that remains so even today.

Geography has a vital role to play in the lives of people. The two roads, which gave
access to the valley, were the B.C.Road and J.V.Road. While the B.C.Road was snow
bound for almost six months in a year, the J.V.Road was fortunately kept open for almost
the whole year. It connected Srinagar with Rawalpindi via the Kohala Bridge, while the
B.C.Road connected to Jammu. To provide more access to the rest of India from
Kashmir, the Maharaja of Kashmir financed the extension of a rail link from Sialkot in
Punjab to Jammu, which enabled people both for business and travel to reach places in
Punjab and beyond.
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Rail to Srinagar

Although imperial Britain always used the time honoured pretense of having the welfare
of people at heart (as do our present day politicians), they did not want the rail link to
Srinagar from Jammu via the Banihal route to be constructed. What they wanted was
that the rail line should be via Kohala practically parallel to the Jhelam Valley Road.
Maharaja Pratap Singh wanted to link the two important parts of his state for better
interaction. But the British would not have it, as it did not come within the orbit of
defence of the Northwest, which bordered Russia. At that time “The great game” was in
full swing.This happened 115 years ago. We are still waiting for the rail. What the British
did not let us have, even our own people have not given. The following narrative will
illstruate.

“Not many people in the country know that 100 years ago during the reign of Maharaja
Ranbir Singh a scheme was prepared by the Jammu and Kashmir Government to link
Jammu and Srinagar by rail. But the scheme had to be given up when the British
Government, owing to strategic reasons, insisted on an alternative proposal whch was not
acceptable to the Maharaja.

“Mr.Mansa Ram Chanchal, a Dogri researcher, has disclosed that four surveys were
under taken in this connection by Maj-Gen D.E.Bourbel in 1883-86. A railway engineer,
Mr.J.A. Anderson, gave the final touches to the surveys and presented his reports
which proposed four routes via Banihal, Poonch, Pir Panial and Abbotabad.

The Banihal route envisaged the railway line to begin from Jammu Tawi, which was
linked with Sialkot before the partition of the country.This railway was to go via the
Chenab Valley to Srinagar. The proposed stations were Akhnoor. Reasi, Ramban,
Banihal, Anantnag,Beejbehara and Srinagar.

An eight-mile tunnel through the Pir Panjal range was to protect the railway line from
snowfall. As the tunneling involved heavy expenditure, it was alternatively proposed to
cover the track with sheds. An expenditure of Rs.3.71 crore was estimated.

The Poonch route was to begin from Gujrat in West Punjab and go to Srinagar via
Mirpur, Chaumukh, Kotli and Baramula. This route also involved the construction of a
42.240-foot tunnel. The 284-mile line was to be completed in 18 years.

The third route was from the north-western station of Madura via Muzaffarabad. Its
length was 210 miles (78 miles in British India and 132 miles in Jammu and Kashmir ).
The estimated expenditure was Rs.2.21 crore.

Starting from Kalka Sarai station, the fourth route was to reach Srinagar via the upper
Jhelum valley. This was envisaged to be completed in 13 years at an estimated cost of
Rs.2.30 crore.
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General Bourbel also suggested the fares to be charged from the passengers traveling by
different classes. The fare for Class 111 was 5 paise per mile. It was 15 paise per mile for
Class Il and 33 paise per mile for Class .

The Maharaja preferred the Banihal route because it would have linked the two State
capitals, benefited a large population and would have made the State’s produce to reach
the markets outside Jammu and Kashmir easily.

But the British Government insisted that the route via Mozaffarabad should be
constructed to provide strategic advantage for the security of the North Western Frontier
Province. The transportation of troops and arms and ammunition would also become
easier.

Several rounds of talks between the two Governments could not make headway and the
proposal was finally given up.

Indian Express, D.N.Chaturvedi, 08.10.78

“A railroad is contemplated into the valley and is to be completed in five years according
to good authority, but one is disposed to be skeptical of this unless the Government of
India has determined to make the line in order to obtain the control of affairs on the
frontier of Cashmere, a very difficult matter now.

“ The opening of a railroad into the vale of Cashmere would certainly facilitate the
movement of troops from India, but for a time might cause some mischief, for the people
here depend entirely on the crops they can produce, but owing to the lax system of
government which has so long prevailed, they have no resources of their own so that
export of their rice and other grains might at first be a very serious loss to them, though if
famine recurs, food from Punjab would be easily brought.”

The Times of India, 6, 1886.

When the first forced migration from Kashmir took place, most Pandits came to Lahore
and from here gradually spread out to places like Lucknow, Agra, Faizabad, Allahabad,
Aligarh, Meerut in the old United Provinces. As can be seen from an old map of British
India, there were many Princely states in North India. In the Rajputana area, there were
Princely states like Jaipur, Jodhpur, Udaipur, Bikaner ect., Quite a few Kashmiri Pandits
went into the service of these Princes and some of them rose to high positions of power
and standing.

The pinnacle of ambition was to join ICS, but everybody could not make it as for a long
time one had to go to England to take the examination. Even after the examinations were
held in India, the number overall from all over India, including the Princely states, was a
fraction of the number of British candidates selected. The group that scored the highest
among the Indians were the Bengalees followed by Kashmiri Pandits and Tamils.
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The provincial civil services in U.P and Punjab as also Rajputana were the areas where
the Pandits were mostly employed. Quite a few adventurous ones ventured as far away as
Calcutta and Hyderabad. In Calcutta, the first Indian to become a High Court Judge was
Justice Shambu Nath Pandit who a Kashmiri Pandit.

Before 1947, seven Kashmiri Pandits qualified for the ICS, which after 1947 became
IAS, two for the Indian Police (which later became Imperial Police Service) In addition
to the ICS, the Pandits also qualified for other allied services. Three qualified for Indian
Railways, several for the Finance Department and the Law Department in the non-ICS
category. It is interesting that only 30 years after the first batch of graduates came out of
S.P.College, Srinagar, the first Pandit from the Valley qualified for the IFS.

He was Pandit Trilokinath Kaul who distinguished himself as a diplomat being
ambassador to United States and Russia. R.N.Kao proved himself a capable brilliant
Police Officer who was the founder director of RAW (Research and Analysis Wing)
India’s first external intelligence agency. Senior to him in the same service was
G.K.Handoo who was Pandit Nehru’s first and only security officer when personal
security of important leaders had started becoming important.

Although the number of distinguished civil servants from the community is very long,
one can mention B.K.Nehru also ambassador to U.S.A, P.N.Haksar, Principal Secretary
to the Prime Minister, P.N.Dhar well known economist, R.K.Nehru, Secretary General,
External Affairs Minister and many others. (The last three were not from the ICS).

For the small number of Pandits, in all about twenty thousand in the rest of India, the
number who qualified and served in Government services was indeed quite high, a matter
of pride for the community. There were other distinguished sons and daughters of the
community who achieved fame and recognition in diverse fields as law (the community
has produced a number of high court and supreme court judges including one chief
justice of the Supreme Court of India) medicine, engineering, agriculture, applied
science, industries etc.,

*hkkkkhkhkkkikkhkkkhkhkkkhkkhkkkhkikkikikk

DR. S.S. Nehru

“Great interest is being taken in the visit of Dr. S.S. Nehru, who is to expound in his
theory of converting a human, animal or plant body into an accumulator of curative
energy. Three outstanding advantages are claimed for the method — that it is extremely
simple, that is the results are very speedy and that the cost is negligible.

Dr. Nehru is to demonstrate to the British farmer ways of improving his stock and
doubling or trebling the quantity and quality of his crops for a purely nominal cost
and at a minimum of trouble. He has already been to Japan and to America,
expounding his theories of electro-culture.
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Here is Dr. Nehru’s own story of how he came to start his research work and achieve
discoveries.

“In 1919 I was Under Secretary of Agriculture, United Provinces and that responsibility
brought me face to face with the Indian farmer’s sorrowful plight. Take, now, the case of
sugar. Our people were absolutely lost in the open market because they could not raise
sugar at a price. For hope, | turned to research in the science of physics, which | had
studied in some of the world most famous institutions.

“By encircling an ordinary strawberry plant with a single mesh of wire netting, I got the
effect of encircling it with a horseshoe magnet. Within a short time this plant was
activated into a brighter appearance, a more vigorous growth. Next, | repeated the same
experiment substituting a radio aerial for the magnet. The result was identical providing
that electricity could affect plant development. TREATMENT OF PLANTS.

As a result of this discovery Dr. Nehru worked out exact methods for treating plants
through electro-culture.

The first is the radio-magnetic system. This involves nothing more than burying a piece
of half inch mesh wire netting in the seed bed for plants and trees A sleeve is formed
from such netting and slipped over the trunk or the branches.

The second method involves electrifying the seed before sowing either spreading it out in
a thin layer on an insulated metal plate and giving it a charge of say 2,000 volts for one
minute, or by soaking the seed in ionized water in an insulated vessel for from one to two
hours.

The third method is by irrigating the plant with ionized water. Another is intercultural of
the growing plant with other suitable plant rich in ultra-violet rays, like onions and other
root crops. And the last is by a combination of these methods. Thousands of gallons of
water can be electrified in a few moments by the ignition circuit of a motorcar.

The Pioneer, August 8, 1936

( Dr. Nehru was the first Kashmiri Pandit to qualify for the ICS).

*hhkkhkkkkhkhik

List of ICS, IP, other Civil Service Departments of the Government of India.

Atal, Jai Kumar, ICS, (asst.Commr., C.P.) (B19th Jan. 1914) — Educ. At Clayesmore
Sch., Winchester and Balliol Coll., Oxford; joined the service, 16™ Sept., 1937; arrived in
India , Nov., 1937, and served in the C.P as asst.commr.; under sec., Jan.1942.

Dar, Shyam Sunder Lal, Member Board of Revenue, U.P
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Handoo, Gopi Krishna, M.B.E.,Indian Police (supt. United Provs.) (b.24"™ Mar. 1905) —
joined the service as dep. Supt. Of police , 29" Dec., 1927; confd., Apl.1933; supt. Of
police (confd.) Feb.,1944. Security Officer to Prime Minister Jawaharlal Nehru.

Kaul, Diwan Bahadur Sir Daya Kishan, K.B.E., Dec.30, 1919; C.L.E, June 26,
1908.(Served as Prime Minister of Patiala State, among others)

Kaul, Rai Bahadur, Hari Kishan, Divisonal Commissinor, Prime Minister of
J &K, 1931-32.

Kaula, Sir Gangaram, Kt.,C.l.E.,B.A., late India Finance Dept. (b May 9, 1877) — Retd.,
Oct., 1932.

Kaul, Brahma Kumar, ICS, (asst.mag.and collr.) (b.Nov.11,1917)-educ. At Allahabad
Univ.; apptd.on probn. After exam of 1940 and served in United Provs.as asst.mag.and
collr.

Kaul,K.N.,Income-tax dept. — Apptd. Under sec.,govt.of India, fin.dept., Feb.,1945;
dep.sec., ditto,Nov.1945.

Kaul,Madan Gopal, ICS, (b.Jan 16, 1921) — Educ. At Allahabad Univ.; apptd.on
probn.after exam. Of 1943, and served in Bengal.

Kaul, M.K.,Indian State rlys., (b.May 12, 1905) — Dep.contr. of stores, B.B. & C.Lrly.,
Aug. 1945. Kaul, Maheshwar Nath, = M.A. (Cantab.), Barr (b.Sept. 16, 1901) —
Apptd.dep.secty., Legisl.assembly dept., Sept.1937.

Kaul, Parduman Kishan, B.A., LL.B., Rai Bahadur, (b.Jan, 23, 1890) —joined the serv.as
Munsif, May 24, 1919 confd., May, 1921; civil and sess. Judge, (confd.) Jul., 1935; dist.
And sess. Judge (confd.) Jan., 1943; addl.judge, Oudh ch.court, Dec., 1944; judge, ch.ct.,
June, 1946.

Kaul, Pradyuma Krashna, B.A. Indian C.S. (addtl.judge, ch.ct., Oudh) (b.Jan.14, 1900)
Educ.at Punjab Univ. and Queen’s Coll., Cambridge; joined the service, Oct.15, 1923;
arrived, Dec. 10, 1923 and served in the Punjab as asst.commr; dep.commr. (subs.provl),
Apr.1931; confd., March, 1935.

Kaul, Triloki Nath, B.A.,LL.B.,Indian C.S. (asst.mag.and collr.,U.P) (B Dec.27, 1912) —
Educ. At S.P.High School, Srinagar, Kashmir, Punjab Univ., Allahabad Univ., and
King’s College, London; joined the service, Sept. 15, 1937; arrived in India, Nov.,1937,
and served in U.P as asst.mag. and collr.; group testing offcr.,civil select.bd., govt. of
India , Oct., 1945. Joined Indian Foreign Service, served as Indian ambassador to
U.S.S.R and U.S.A, retired as Foreign Secretary, Government of India.
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Kao, Rameshwar Nath, Indian Police (United Provs.) (b.May 10, 1918) — Apptd.
Asst.supt.,on probn.,March,1940. After independence, headed foreign operations of
Intelligence Bureau. Founded the Research & Analysis Wing (RAW), India’s first
external Intelligence Agency, retired 1977, Security Adviser to Prime Minister till
1984.

Nehru,S.S, Dr, ICS retired as Member, Board of Revenue, U.P

Nehru, R.K, ICS, Secretary General, Ministry of External Affairs, Government of
India.

Nehru, B.K., ICS, Jan 1, 1945, Indian amabassador to U.S.A.

Sapru, Anand Narayan, ICS. (educn.Sec. to Govt.,United Provs) (b.March 31, 1901) —
Educ at Allahabad Univ. and Balliol coll., Oxford; joined the service, Oct.24, 1924;
arrived, 23 Dec., 1924 and served in the United Provs, senior member Board of
Revenue, U.P.

Sapru, Sir Tej., Bahadur, P.C.,K.C.S.I.,,LL.D. Law Member of Governor General’s
Executive Council, 1920

Wattal, Pyare Kishan, C.I.E, M.A,Indian Finance Dept. (b.10™ May 1890) — Joined the
service, 9" May, 1912; asst.acctnt-genl., Nov.1912; dep.ditto.,Apr.,1924; examr., ouside
audit, Bombay, Nov., 1924; services placed at disposal of Kashmir durbar, June 11, 1926;
dep.acctnt.genl.  (civil), Punjab, Nov., 1932; ditto (works), Oct.,1933;
offg.acct.genl.,Central Provs., Apr., 1935; ditto, Madras, March, 1936; confd.as
acct.genl., Punjab, Sept., 1939; confd.,acct.genl. (cl.l), Nov., 1941; C.L.E., June, 1944,

Wanchoo, Kailash Nath, ICS, retired as Chief Justice of India.
Wanchoo,N.N, ICS,

(From Civil List of the Government of India, 1946).

*khkkkkhkhkkkhkkhkkkhkhkkhhikkikikikk

Judges, Lawyers and Dewans

With a favourable opinion formed by the British about the Kashmiri Pandits, it was but
natural that the former should have extended their unstinted support to them. The Pandits’
knowledge of Persian and Urdu was of a very high order and they had taken to the study
of English language much earlier than many others. With the reorganization of courts,
they came to be appointed in subordinate Judiciary and many amongst them entered the
legal profession, from its very start and were among the first Indians to be appointed to
the highest posts in the judiciary.
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Mr. Justice Shambu Nath whose father Sada Sheo had migrated from Kashmir in the
closing years of the 18™ century was born in Calcutta in the year 1820 A.D. and was
appointed as a Judge of the High Court of Calcutta in 1862 A.D. He was the first Indian
to be appointed Judge of a High Court. So also was another Kashmiri Pandit Mr. Justice
Ram Narain Dar who was the first Indian to be appointed a Judge of the Punjab Chief
Court. In United Provinces, where the Kashmiri Pandits had settled in large numbers, the
leadership at the Bar was for years held by them.

To name just a few, we might refer to the Honorable Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru, Pandit
Kailas Nath Katju, Pandit Janki Nath Chak and lastly the great Pandit Moti Lal Nehru.
All these gentleman were great nation-builders and took a very prominent part in building
the National movement. In the Punjab, Pandit Sheonarayan Shamim retained the
leadership of the Bar for a number of decades. He was a great poet, a great social
reformer, a great student of music and a great Buddhist scholar to which faith he held
allegiance. Even in recent times, there has been a galaxy of eminent Kashmiri Pandit
Judges such as Mr. Justice K.N. Wanchoo, Mr.Justice S.K.Dar, Mr.Justice Kichlu, Mr.
Justice P.N. Sapru, Mr.Justice T.N.Mulla, Mr.Justice A.N.Mulla Mr. Justice P.K.Kaul
Mr.Justice R.K.Kaul etc.,

A Record Breaking Run

He started out as a junior lawyer at the district court in Faizabad. It was hard work, but
he did it cheerfully and over the next twenty years built up a roaring practice. Many a
time, he was persuaded by his friends and relatives to move over his practice from a
district town to the city of Allahabad where the High Court was located which is
today the largest high court in the whole world. But Pandit Manohar Nath Sapru, the
lawyer in question, declined. Eventually, he completed fifty years of non stop practice at
the Faizabad District Court at which point the honourable judges of the High Court at
Allahabad decided along with the members of the
Faizabad Bar to honour Sapru and honour him, they did. This was a record at that
time (1927). He was also a member of the U.P Provincial assembly.

It would not serve any useful purpose to multiply names excepting for the purpose of
showing the extent of official rise of this community. In the Punjab, Raja Narendra Nath
and Raja Hari Kishen Kaul retired as commissioners. Raja Narendra Nath was a great
landowner and a grandson of Adjutant General Diwan Ajudhia Prashad. He took part in
politics after his retirement and was elected to the Punjab Legislative Assembly and was
appointed as a Minister. Raja Hari Kishen Kaul was appointed as Chief Minister of the
Jammu and Kashmir state at a very troublesome period of its history.

Sir Ganga Ram Kaula, Pandit Brij Lal Nehru, rose very high in the Audit and Accounts
Departments. Sir Ganga Ram is a direct descendant of Prabha Kaul who was wrapped in
a mat and thrown into the Dal Lake to be drowned there along with a number of Pandits
under orders of Mir Hazar Khan, the Afghan Subedar in 1792 A.D but he was saved and
fled to India. After having reached the highest rung in the official ladder Sir Ganga
retired, and was afterwards appointed the Chief Minister of Jind State where he served as
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such for about eleven years. Pandit Manmohan Nath Kaul whose services were lent to
Kashmir Durbar was appointed Governor of Kashmir. Apart from the settlement work,

How a PM escaped Maharaja Bhupendra Singh of Patiala was known for his
intelligence, statesmanship, diplomacy and political wisdom. But Raja Sir Daya Kishen
Kaul, his Prime Minister proved to be so much more clever that the ruler danced to his
tune. During British rule in India, rulers of major states had magisterial powers, and
those with whom the ruler was annoyed were arrested and sent to jail without trial. A day
came when the Maharaja was so much annoyed with the Prime Minister that he said
openly in the presence of his ADCs and some other top officers that the Premier should
be arrested the next day. Sardar Sahib Deohri Mualla, officer in charge of the royal
household, was also present. As soon as an officer, Kishen Singh, could get away from
the palace, he reached the Prime Minister’s house and told him what had transpired at
the palace. The Premier kept his cool. “Don’t worry, Sardar Sahib. Go home and sleep
peacefully”, he said.

After Kishen Singh had gone, he sent a man to the railway station to reserve a first class
coupe in the mail train, which arrived from Bathinda around midnight. He then rang up
the station master and told him that he was going to Lahore on a secret mission and did
not want anyone to see him at the railway station. He asked the railway official to see to
it that the train stopped at level-crossing number 21, just two minutes drive from his
house. That was easily arranged. After the Prime Minister entered his compartment, he
bolted it from inside and was safe, as the state police could not arrest anyone from a train
or a railway station even in state territory. When policemen went to his house the next
day to arrest him, they could not find him there. He had reached Lahore by that time

His Highness knew that Kishen Singh was a bosom friend of the Prime Minister and he
must have informed him about his impending arrest. The Maharaja asked Kishen Singh
but he denied even when the ruler threatened that he would be arrested and sent to jail.
Kishen Singh was arrested and sent to prison, where he passed 13 or 14 years of his life
and was released only after the death of the Maharaja. Raja Daya Kishen had good
contacts with the Political Department; so it was not easy to get him extradited from what
was known as Angrezi lllaga. The Maharaja also knew that even if he had the Prime
Minister arrested, the Political Department was sure to intervene to set him free. At the
most, his arrest would have disparaged his image, and his remaining in jail for a few days
or weeks would have caused him great inconvenience. The quick wit of the Kashmiri
Pandit saved him from all that. In fact, it proved a blessing in disguise for the Maharaja
as the future events showed. Not long after the escape of the Prime Minister and his
dismissal from state service, the Government of India, which had been receiving
complaints against the ruler — some of which were of a very serious nature — decided
to have an enquiry by the then Agent to the Governor-General for the Punjab States, Sir
Wilberforce Bell.

The enquiry was held at Dalhousie and came to be known as the Dalhousie Enquiry. The
Maharaja badly needed the help of his former Prime Minister, as most of the charges
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related to the period when Raja Daya Kishen Kaul was the Prime Minister. Emissaries
were at once sent to Lahore to bring the former Premier to Patiala.

It was said that the Maharaja placed his turban at the feet of the man whom he was going
to arrest and beseeched that it lay in his hands either to see him on the throne or be
ruined. The Raja Daya Kishen Kaul took responsibility for several serious charges, for a
consideration. In consequence, he was debarred from holding any office in any state in
the future and the Maharaja was exonerated.

R.S. Dutta.

which was achieved under his supervision in 1901 A.D. He was a great social reformer. It
was he who introduced modern ways of living in the local Pandit population.

There is hardly a state in India where at one time or the other a Kashmiri Pandit was not
appointed as a Dewan. For instance, Sir Daya Kishen Kaul was the Chief Minister of
Patiala State, Sir Sukhdev Prashad Kak, Dewan of Jodhpur, Dharam Narayan Haksar,
Diwan of Sailana State, Pandit Ram Chandra Kak Chief Minister fo Jammu and Kashmir
State, Pandit Brij Mohan Nath Zutshi Dewan of Ratlam State, Pandit Maharaja Narain
Sheopuri, Dewan of Datia State etc. there were other Pandits who were appointed as
Ministers in many states, such as, Pandits Col.Sir Kailas Narayan Haksar (Gwalior ),
P.K.Wattal, (Kashmir ), Radha Krishen Kaul (Kashmir ), Diwan Gyan Nath
administrator at Nabha, Tribhuwan Nath Sopori (Udaipur), Amar Nath Atal (Jaipur),
Narendra Nath Kaul (Kashmir ) etc.

History of Kashmiri Pandits, Jia Lal Kilam, 1955

T ——

Firstin .........

Dr.S.S.Nehru : First Pandit to qualify and join the ICS, 1913
T.N.Kaul . Last one to join ICS, 1937

K.P.Kichlu : First Indian Director of Public Instruction, U.P.

B.N.Dar . First Pandit to go to England for higher studies, (Bar at Law). Elected as
a President of the Indian National Congress at Calcutta session in 1911

M.L.Munshi : Makhan Lal Munshi was the first Pandit to become a Paratrooper in the
army in the fifties. Joined the army in Nov.1953 in the ranks and retired after completing
his colour service.

Pt.Parmanand : First Pandit to become the Accounted General of J & K from 1944 to
48 during Maharaja Hari Singh’s rule.
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F/O. K.N.Kak : First to bag the Distinguished Flying Cross (DFC) as a combat pilot in
the Indian Air Force during World War I1.

Major P.L.Atal : First to join the army as an officer during World War I. Killed in
action in Nov.1914 in France. Belonged to Army Medical Corps.

Gen.T.N.Raina : First to bag the Maha Vir Chakra (MVC) during the War with China in
1962 in Ladakh when he was a Brigadier.First Pandit to become Chief of Army Staff.

Capt.M.N.Mulla : First Pandit in the Indian Navy to be awarded Mahavir
Chakara posthumously in the 1971 War with Pakistan.

A.C.M S.K.KAUL.: First to be awarded Maha Vir Chakra (MVC) in the Bangladesh war
in 1971. He was then a Wing Commander of a combat Air Squadron.First Pandit to
become Chief of Air Staff.

Mirza Mohan Lal Zutshi (Kashmiri) : First Pandit to learn English at Delhi college,
which he joined in 1829, and left in 1831.

Raja Dina Nath : Dewan Raja Dina Nath Finance Minister of Maharaja Ranjit Singh,
invested with title of Raja, Nov.26,1846

Radha Kishen Sapru : one of the first batch of English educated Pandits of the Delhi
college and Deputy Collector in 1857.

Dr.Bhushan Lal Kaul : First Pandit to be awarded D.Litt by Kashmir University, 2002.
Justice Shambu Nath Pandit : First Indian and first Kashmiri Pandit appointed as a
Judge of the Calcutta High Court in 1861. In Nov.2002, The Government of West Bengal
unveiled his statue in front of the Shambu Nath Hospital which was built in his memory
after his death.

Rama Narain Dar : First Indian appointed as Judge of Punjab Chief Court, 1885.

Tara Chand Wazir : First to take a ride in an aeroplane in 1925. He was then Director of
Sericulture J & K Government.

Sukh Devo Prasad Kak : Prime Minister Jodhpur State.

Kishen Lal Atal : Minister Jaipur State.

Ajudhia Nath Kunzru : He was the first to be associated with the freedom movement
and was largely responsible for organizing and holding the fourth session of Indian

National Congress at Allahabad on Dec.26, 1888 , despite strong opposition from the
British.
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Bishan Narain Dar: Bar at Law, first Pandit to become President of the Indian
National Congress, at Calcutta , 1911.

Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru : First Indian to become Law Minister of Government of India,
1920, first Indian to get D.C.L (Doctor of Civil Laws)

Gilgit Agency : Started in July 1877.

C.M.S : First team came to Kashmir 1866-67

Postal Service : via Banihall ( B.C.Road) & Murree (J.V.Road) set up in 1866.
Kohala Bridge over Jhelum built in 1870, connecting Murree with Srinagar.

Telegraph line connecting Murree Military Head Quarters( Northern Command) with
Srinagar extended to Gilgit.

Post and Telegraph, Offices in entire J & K state taken over by British Indian
Government in 1894 and 1896.

Six sessions of the Indian National Congress were held under the President ships of
Kashmiri Pandits. Namely 27" 35", 44™ 45" 50" 51 They were Pandits B.N.Dar,
M.L.Nehru & J.L.Nehru.

Widow Marriage : First Widow marriage in 1927.

First School to have trained five thousand boys to swim under the guidance of Tyndale
Biscoe at C.M.S.School , Fateh Kadal.

Dr. Elizabeth Newmen — she was the first lady doctor to come to Kashmir.

Oasis of Peace and Progress

From 1338, when Islam made its entry into Kashmir to 1846 when Dogra rule was
established, unrest, disorder and chaos were the order of the day with just one silver
lining and that was the 50 year rule of Sultan Zain-ul-Abidin who was a tolerant and
wise ruler. Rulers, Governors and Subedars came and went, many killing, betraying and
usurping each other’s seat of power. But in one area of activity they were one, and
steadfast in their persecution and forcible conversion of Hindus to Islam.It may seem
strange, but till 1858, it was only a private company, namely, the East India that ruled
India. The official rule of the British Government in India started in 1858 and ended
in 1947 a period of 89 years, whereas the Dogra dynasty lasted from 1846 to 1947 a
period of 101 years.
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The 101 years comprised 11 years of the founder Gulab Singh followed by his son Ranbir
Singh for 28 years.He was succeeded by Pratap Singh who ruled for 40 years and Hari
Singh who ruled for 22 years. Maharaja Gulab Singh spent the early part his life in Ranjit
Singh’s army. After he took over the state, he consolidated the boundaries of his kingdom
, his priority being to secure the borders and ensure that peace prevailed. He ruled for 11
years.He was succeeded by Ranbir Singh during whose 28 years rule new measures and
reforms were introduced such as the Ranbir Penal Code and Ranbir Polytechnic. His
work was carried forward after his death by his son Pratap Singh.

During his 40 years long rule, Kashmir actually came out of the medieval backward,
ignorant stage into 20 the century. In fact, his rule straddled the 19" and the 20™ century.
Education, public health, medical facilities, conservancy, town planning, road building,
transport, communications such as telegraph, telephone and postal services were
introduced and run efficiently. Maharaja Harii Singh who followed him, continued the
process until 1947 when Jammu & Kashmir acceded to the Indian Union.

101 years of Dogra rule

Gulab Singh, 1846-1857 ......... 11 years
Ranbir Singh, 1857-1885 .......... 28 years
Pratap Singh, 1885-1925 ............ 40 years
Hari Singh 1925-1947............... 22 years
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11
Limb Of Law

Lawther Shahi

In July 1931, there were communal riots in Kashmir. Maharaja Hari Singh had ascended
the gaddi in 1925. So, only after six years of ruling the state, he faced the most severe test
to his rule. He was an extremely progressive ruler to whom history has been very unkind.
The twenties were a period, when modernization of administration had started making
great strides in the valley. This was the next stage to build up from the valuable
contribution made by British missionaries both education wise and public health wise. No
one can forget the Neve brothers and Biscoe Sahib. He gave the community the tools
with which to face the modern age; along with him were Hadow and earlier to him was
Sir.Auriel Stein, the famous explorer. In the second and third decade, we had Sir Peter
Clutterbuck who was the Chief Conservator of Forest. Maharaja Hari Singh inherited the
state from his uncle Pratap Singh. He had to move carefully keeping in view the problems
faced by Pratap Singh who had to undergo severe persecution by the British who needed
it as a pretext to annexe the state to British India.

It is well known that in 1931, the small feudatories of Poonch, Mirpur, Rajauri and Riasi
were already getting ready to revolt, egged on by the Punjab Muslim League directly and
the British indirectly. It was at this point that Hari Singh’s mother went to Lahore and
met Raja Hari Krishen Kaul and requested him to come to Kashmir as Prime Minister
and restore order and save her son. Hari Kishen Kaul agreed and arrived in Jammu from
Sialkot along with a very capable police officer Jeevan Lal Muttoo who became his
personal aide.

Until 1931, the Police in the state was headed by nominated people chosen by the
palace/durbar. It was Hari Kishen Kaul who insisted on bringing an officer of his choice
to handle the insurrection. The man whom he chose was B.C.A. Lawther who belonged
to the Indian Police, NWFP cadre He was a unique officer who believed in having proper
appreciation of the natives. He hated the imperial haughtiness of the British Officer who
took the White Man’s burden too seriously. His work in NWFP was superb and mainly
dealt with intelligence and he retired as DIG, CID of the province. He could speak Urdu
and Pushtu fluently like a native.

On sensitive assignments, he would dress like a Pathan with a suitable haircut and
would easily mingle with the natives to pursue his investigation. He was responsible for
rescuing the wife of a British Deputy Commissioner of Peshawar district who had been
kidnapped by hostile tribesmen. By a strange quirk of fate, Lawther was at this time on
leave in England. It was extremely embarrassing to the British Government to have the
wife of the district chief kidnapped in the district itself. After many discussions, it was
felt that only an officer who had earlier dealt with tribesmen could rescue her. At that
time travel between India and UK was only by ship, but fortunately for the British
Government, the Imperial Airways had started an England-Australia service via Karachi.
A telegram was sent to Lawther to return immediately. He was ordered to come by the
Imperial Airways flight to Karachi which he did, the only luggage he had with him was a
hold- all, his dog and his crate of whisky.
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The story ended happily as Lawther on returning to Peshawar donned his Pathan dress
and ventured deep into the tribal territory where he located the kidnapped lady, paid a
ransom for her and brought her back home.

In June 1931, Lawther retired from service as DIG and was packing his bags to go back
to England. It was at this time that Hari Kishen Kaul invited him to become the IGP of
Kashmir State, which he accepted. Lawther was a no nonsense man, who was not afraid
of anyone in the British establishment. He had contempt for the ordinary British Officer
and would refer to Col. E.J.D.Colvin who later became the Prime Minister of Kashmir as
“Son of a tongawala”

It was the combination of Kaul and Lawther aided by Muttoo that helped to put the
insurrection down. Lawther was a bachelor, the only relative he had was an elder sister
who tried and tried to get him to marry.

After he took over as IGP, he re-organized the department and got rid of many corrupt
and inefficient officers. At that time apart from the IGP, the State of Jammu and Kashmir
had only three DIGs, one for Kashmir, one for Jammu and one for the CID.

Within three months, he had pinpointed two DIGs who were thoroughly corrupt. His
daily routine was such that nobody could predict where he would go for inspection.
Within the first few days, after taking over when curfew was in force in Srinagar, his
department needed money urgently for expenses. No banks were open and the State
Treasury had been locked up with all the officials running away. He strode with his staff
to the gate of the treasury, had it opened and went inside himself, took out rupees one
lakh. When the frightened official, who had been summoned from home, timidly asked
Lawther as to how he should describe the withdrawal in the Treasury records, Lawther
replied “Write, Bahukme, Lawther Shahi” by the royal order of Lawther. It was translated
into English and this piece of paper is still in the archives of the Jammu and Kashmir
state. He had only one relaxation- he would sit at home with a glass of whisky in his
hand, his dog near his foot and his orderly in attendance.

Lawther belonged to the British working class, his family had worked in India for
generations and he had a great sympathy for the lowest strata of society. One day he had
a conversation with his orderly, which revealed this.

“Sher Afghan, how many constables have I dismissed?

“None Sir”’, came the reply of the loyal orderly.

How many DIGs have | dismissed?

“Two Sir”

Lawther wanted the approval of the small man with whom he sympathized. After
conditions had returned to normal in 1931, he fell into the routine of going for lunch and
despite the fact he had an official driver (Pandit Shyamlal, one of the few Kashmiri
Pandits who took to driving a vehicle), he would drive himself. He had a fabulous car, a
1921 Mercedes Benz convertible which had once belonged to King Ammanullah Khan of
Afghanistan.

During this period when Indian revolutionaries like Madan Lal and other contemporaries
of Bhagat Singh had started using guns and bombs, Lawther had been put on what
the British had called “Anti-terrorist operation”. He arrested Madan Lal who was a
comrade of Bhagat Singh. After that, the terrorists had targeted him and one of the
reasons for getting a convertible was that he could see in all directions, which was not
possible in a closed car.
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He was feared as a very strict officer, but it was known that he was fair and just. One day,
he left for lunch without his driver and on reaching Lal Chowk (in these days it was
called Amira Kadal Chowk and later Palladium Chowk and finally after 1947 Lal
Chowk) in Srinagar, he found the traffic constable who should have been on duty at the
traffic island, missing. In those days, the numbers of cars on that road were few and the
IGP’s car with the magic number JKP-1 was known to all. With a screech the car braked
to a halt in the middle of the road. He parked on the side and came out, climbed the steps
and started directing the traffic in the place of the constable.

The unfortunate constable was across the road smoking a cigarette. The cigarette fell
from his hand and he knew that not only would his job go, he might even be jailed for
dereliction of duty. The pawnshop wala looked at him and he looked at the IGP standing
directing traffic. With a sigh of resignation, he loosened his belt and crossed the road and
stood in front of Lawther at attention and held out his belt to the IGP.

Lawther understood and since the entire Chowk population was watching, he stepped
down and in his best parade ground voice told him to put his belt on and get back to his
duty. He got into his car and drove away. Within minutes everybody in town came to
know about it.

Many people at that time were curious to know how an Englishman had agreed to serve
under an Indian and that too, a Kashmiri Pandit.

The story goes back to the time when Lawther had just become a DIG and the incident of
the kidnapping of the DC’s wife had taken place. After the lady was restored to her
husband, the Governor of the province felt that the respect of this officer had been
irretrievably damaged. Hence, he was immediately transferred to a district in UP. Now
the question of a replacement arose. The kidnapping incident had emboldened the hostile
tribesmen who were making boasts in the bazaar that they would kidnap the wife of the
next officer also who came to Peshawar.

A great deal of soul searching within the establishment took place. It was felt that even if
an unsuccessful attempt was made on the wife of the new Deputy Commissioner, it
would be bad for the morale. Hence a search was launched for a result oriented
successful Indian officer to replace the Englishman and take over as DC Peshawar. The
man who was selected was Raja Hari Kishen Kaul who years later became the Prime
Minister of Jammu and Kashmir. When rumours started that a retired Indian
Commissioner from Punjab was coming and that too, a turbaned Brahmin from Kashmir,
the tribals enjoyed a good laugh. Where the British had failed, how could the Indian
succeed?

Hari Kishen Kaul is part of the tribal folklore. He was strict, ruled with an iron hand and
the crime rate practically fell to zero. It was a part of Lawther’s duty to meet the Deputy
Commissioner for maintaining law and order in the district. And that’s how Hari Kishen
Kaul and Lawther knew each other.

Speaking of Kaul, Lather declared that:

“I am not afraid of the Viceroy or the Governor, but | am afraid of that man. You know
he can get my pension stopped”

And thus ends the Lawther Shahi period in the history of Kashmir. After he left, all the
IGPs of Kashmir till 1947 were British.

After Law and Order had been restored, summer gave way to autumn and already there
was a nip in the air and one fine day it was the last week of October 1931 — time for the
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Durbar move when the Government moved from the Srinagar to Jammu. While certain
offices of the Police Department moved to Jammu, the IGP was the last to go. His famous
convertible Mercedes Benz was going to cross the Banihall to Jammu and he had with
him his driver and his PA. It was a very powerful car with a left wheel drive and Lawther
chose to drive himself. His driver who accompanied him sat in the back seat along with
P.A Sapru.

It was intensely cold as they started to climb the Pir Panjal Mountain.The winding road
was negotiated with ease by Lawther. Soon it began to snow. The two passengers at the
back were shivering but they dared not ask Lawther to pull down the hood. Now snow
began to accumulate on the front and the back seat of the car.

The only defence that Sapru had against the intense biting, freezing cold was his packet
of cigarettes, an expensive brand called Gold Flake. He kept on chain smoking to keep
out the cold and thankfully he had enough stock.. Eventually, the next day they reached
Jammu.

Several days later, once the office started functioning in the first week of November at
Jammu, Lawther called Sapru to his room and after discussing certain official matters
with him casually asked.

“How many children have you got?”

Sapru was totally surprised at this question and blurted out, “One, Sir”.

“Can you afford Gold Flake Cigarettes on your salary?”

Total Silence. Suddenly Sapru realized that during the car drive, Lawther had been
watching him through the side rear view mirror of the car and therefore knew during the
journey he had smoked the entire packet of cigarettes.

That evening was the last day when he smoked a cigarette. He gave up smoking when he
was 28 yrs old and did not touch a cigarette until he passed away at the ripe old age of 90
years

*hkkkhkhkkkikkhkkkhkhkkhkikkhkiikkiik

Whisky Hospitality

When the 1931 riots broke out they were largely engineered from Punjab by the pre-
partition Muslim League. Small Rajas and Chiefs of Principalities like Poonch Rajauri
and Mirpur revolted and a great many Killings took place before Raja Hari Krishen Kaul
and B.C.A Lawther were called in to control the situation and put down violence.
Overall, there was not that much of violence in the valley itself as there was in
these places especially in Mirpur and a small place there called Samnani.

Since this area in the Jammu province was the bigger trouble spot and there was danger
of it spreading to Jammu District, Lawther took the decision to go there and control the
situation. The Prime Minister ordered a unit of Dogra Cavalry to accompany the 1.G.P.
Law and order had broken down and on the way Lawther’s party saw the results of the
handiwork of the anti social elements.

Men had been murdered, women kidnapped and houses burnt to the ground. Most
Government officials had run away. The Police was totally conspicuous by their absence.
On arrival at Mirpur, he found out that those who were responsible for the violence were
still in town and pretending to be on the side of the forces of Law and Order.

Calling his assistant, Lawther ordered messages to be sent to these Petty Chieftains to
come and meet him. Chairs were spread out under a huge tree and they arrived in a
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delegation, were asked to sit and explain their version of the recent events in Mirpur. As
expected, they lied and lied and lied. As each one was explaining his fanciful position,
Lawther was getting impatient and angrier by the minute.

Earlier, to show his friendship and hospitality, he offered from his private stock, which
he carried with him, whisky to the petty chieftains. With each one lying, he soon reached
a stage where he decided to take matters in hand. According to the plan prepared earlier,
he signalled the commander of the cavalry unit to surround the group and ordered his
immediate staff to handcuff them.

The guests were shocked as they were led away by the police. The whole place emptied
as evening was falling and Lawther’s classic comment was, "The damned fellows, they
drink my whisky and yet they tell me lies”.

A minute later he shouted “Sher Afghan, Humara whisky le ao”. By this time, his
Alsatian dog sauntered out and Lawther was at peace with the world although the nearest
part to him was in flames.

By August / September when peace had been restored in the valley, calm and quiet
prevailed in Srinagar and autumn came and soon it was time for the Durbar to Jammu. It
was during British rule and Christmas was an important festival for the British Officer.
As usual, Lawther had purchased about 200 Christmas cards, which in those days had to
be hand written and signed with individual messages. Even the outside cover of the card
had to be written by hand.

As usual, part of this work was done in the office and Lawther handed over these 200
Christmas cards to a clerk in his department where my father was also working. The clerk
in question took custody of the cards and promised to go the Post office and find out how
much stamp each one should have, buy the stamps, paste them and post them.

Just ten days before Christmas, Lawther asked my father whether the clerk in question
had posted the Christmas cards. My father asked the person concerned and found out
from his nervous behaviour that something was wrong. Eventually, he got it out of him
that he had lost all the 200 Christmas cards and was afraid to face the 1G, BCA Lawther .
But he had no alternative except to confess to his crime.

A first, the singsong type of English that the clerk spoke did not make any sense to
Lawther, but when he understood he hit the roof. He started screaming and shouting at
the clerk and threatened him with dire consequences, but being a balanced person he
understood what had happened and nothing he would do could bring his Christmas cards
back. He took my father aside, gave him money told him to buy fresh cards and sent him
away from the room.

Now the clerk was standing like a condemned wretch in front of the IGP. Lawther looked
around trying to think of some punishment for the clerk. But he could not think of
anything that would punish him but spare his family. In sheer frustration, he looked
around the room and saw a Remington typewriter in the corner and suddenly an idea
came to him.

“Go pick up that typewriter”. The clerk was mystified but rushed forward to obey. “Now
put it on your head”. In the thirties of the twentieth century, Kashmiri Pandit clerks and
others all wore turbans. Thus the typewriter gently rested on the turban perched on top of
the clerk’s head. It was a ludicrous sight for my father to see when he returned from the
market with fresh Christmas cards that the guilty clerk had already begun his punishment.
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On enquiry he found, that Lawther had ordered the clerk to go up and down the length of
the room with the typewriter on his head one hundred times. This was his punishment.
After about half an hour, Lawther called Sapru and told him in a very quiet subdued,
controlled voice.

“Go and tell him to stop”. By this time the clerk had only done 20 laps across the room.
So much for Lawther Shahi.

Lawther, B.C.A was awarded C.l.E on June 3, 1931.

*khhkhhkkkhkhkhkhiihhkikhkhkhkhihiiiix

Heroic Cop

The Dal Lake perhaps is as famous as the name of Kashmir itself. It was during the time
of Maharaja Pratap Singh that Srinagar got its first paved roads. As was the normal
practice, the first automobile to come to the Kashmir Valley and owned by one living in
the valley was the Rolls Royce of the Maharaja.

As in every other city in British India, the princely states also emulated them. The
cantonment area began to make its appearance in almost all the princely states and
Kashmir got its share of it. The only difference was that in the beginning, it was called
the Civil Lines area beginning with Residency Road, Dal Gate and the adjoining road to
the lake itself which was given the high sounding name “Boulevard”. Of course, the
cantonment had already made its presence felt in the early twenties and was known as
“Badami Bagh”.

These areas were more or less out of bounds for the local population. Only the British
and other European visitors would be seen motoring down the Boulevard or taking an
evening stroll on the road adjoining the lake.

Our story begins at the time of dusk during the early autumn when there is a nip in the air
announcing the arrival of winter. A well-dressed English gentleman, obviously an official
of the State Government accompanied by his Mem Sahib, was walking on the footpath
near the bend where the road in the shade of the Shankaracharya Hill bends to the right.
There is a small hollow in the hillock where in 1920, a police outpost was set up for
security because there had been reports of thefts in the area.

In this police outpost, there was a constable who was keen and enthusiastic about his
work. He took the warning given by the Sub-inspector about thieves very seriously. In a
house, a little away from the police outpost, a thief was trying to escape because the
owner on seeing him raised a hue and cry.

Our heroic policemen heard it and reacted with speed and efficiency. He gave chase and
was steadily gaining on the thief. Unfortunately, he came out of the lane and started
running on the footpath where the English couples were strolling. The thief passed them
and so did the constable in hot pursuit. Just at the bend, the constable caught the thief and
was grappling with him.

By this time, the shadows had come and darkness had fallen. The Englishman officer saw
two natives fighting and decided to take action. After all they had disturbed his evening
walk.

He strode forward and shouted, “What is going on here”. Both the constable and the thief
were busy trying to subdue each other and did not hear his voice. The sahib was now
furious and decided to take a hand in the matter. Leaving his wife a few feet away, he
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strode forward and aimed a strong kick with his boot on one of them. Unknown to him,
the Kkick fell on the constable and he turned round and when he saw an English Sahib, he
immediately stood up and saluted him and explained that he was a policeman chasing a
thief.

Mollified a bit, the Englishman said “Carry on”, but in the meanwhile, the thief seeing
that the attention of the limb of law was diverted momentarily, ran away and now the
poor constable stood helplessly, while the Englishman wanted to know why he had let go
of the thief when he turned round to talk to him.

Within minutes, everyone in Srinagar knew about it. All that can be said in the defence of
the constable was that he was in awe of the white man. He was terrified after he saw that
the thief had fled. Just goes to show what people thought of the All Mighty British even
in a princely state.

P.S: This constable it may be noted was promoted later and retired honourably as Sub-
Inspector.

*khkkkhkkkkhkkhkkkikikkikikk

Hari Singh Ka Raj Hai

It was late October almost 10 years after Maharaja Hari Singh ascended the gaddi of
Jammu and Kashmir state. Hectic preparations were on for the Durbar move to Jammu in
the first week of November. On the spur of the moment, the Maharaja decided to drive to
Jammu. The decision was taken at 4 p.m. and just two cars started off from Srinagar
towards Qazigund en-route to Banihall.

Prior to this, there had been reported a number of cases where wild animals had come
down to the road and attacked travellers in buses, cars and trucks. So the Government,
under instruction from the Maharaja, had passed an order that between sunset and
sunrise, no vehicular traffic would be permitted on the Banihall Cart Road (B.C.Road).
But such a rule would not be applicable to the Maharaja and his retinue. By the time, he
would reach Qazigund, it would be dark. The IG was informed and promptly messages
were flashed all along the route. The Maharaja was accompanied by only his driver and
his pilot car (open car) Dinshaw Patel was the pilot.

Now the Maharaja had a strange fascination for speed. The pilot car was a Chevrolet and
the Maharaja’s car was a Rolls Royce.

The two cars were proceeding smoothly when the Maharaja asked his driver to speed up
and overtake the pilot car, which was leading the way. As the Maharaja’s car crept closer
to the pilot car, the pilot desperately urged his driver to go faster, but the Rolls Royce
overtook him. The pilot kept on shouting at his driver to go faster. Fortunately, they were
driving on a straight flat road between Khanabal and Qazigund. The driver of the pilot car
became increasingly nervous as the VVIP car had overtaken them and was almost a mile
ahead.

The driver did not notice a small depression on the road and the convertible that he was
driving went over it with a thud. The pilot sitting in the back seat was thrown out and
landed in a nearby ditch. The driver did not even know that pilot was no longer in the car.
He kept on driving and was relieved to see in the distance that the Maharaja’s car had
stopped. The Maharaja came out and was laughing. The driver turned around to talk to
the pilot, but found the back seat empty. Nervously, he looked back and saw Patel
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running towards the car. Huffing and puffing with exertion Patel ran towards the
Maharaja saluted and profusely apologized. The Maharaja enquired whether he had been
hurt. Patel looked at his king and said:

“No, Sarkar. Only my dignity is hurt. I should have been ahead of you”, Patel said
looking at his mud-splattered uniform.

“Let us proceed further”, said Hari Singh. So off they went at a much-reduced speed. By
this time, it was nearing 6 O’clock and darkness had almost set. Both the cars had their
headlights on and the beam of the Rolls Royce headlights could stretch for more than a
mile. As the shadows increased and it became fully dark, the pilot car suddenly slowed
down when the driver saw about a 100 sheep under the control of a shepherd (Bakrawal).
The sheep bawled out and began to run helter skelter. The Bakrawal was shouting and
trying to control his flock.

Meanwhile, the two cars slowly reached close enough to the milling sheep and the
Bakrawal. The driver shouted and Patel shouted more, but to no avail. Finally, the
Mabharaja’s driver also joined in the shouting. The Bakrawal was getting increasingly
frustrated and angry.

The following conversation ensued.

“Hurry up and push your sheep out of the way. Do you know who are delaying, you
stupid Bewaquf?

“What do you mean? I have as much right as you have on this road. Do you know, this is
Hari Singh’s Raj and I will complain to him and get justice from him”, the Bakrawal
shouted back.

In the Rolls Royce, the Maharaja heard the dialogue, smiled to himself and got out of the
car. The headlights lighted his face and the Bakrawal’s face was a study in shock. He
went down on his knees and stuttered “Sarkar....” Hari Singh ordered him to get up and
told him to take his time in collecting the sheep and crossing the road. The Bakrawal
rushed to do his bidding with the two drivers, the king and his pilot watching the scene.
The episode closed with the Maharaja presenting Rs.100 to the Bakrawal (This was a
princely sum in those days)

And so, the Maharaja went to Qazigund, the sheep went across the road and the Bakrawal
could not believe his good fortune.

*hhhhkhkhkkkkhkhkhkihhhkhkhkkkhhikiirikx

Peel

E.G.B. Peel, who succeeded Lawther as the IGP, was considered a misfit in the Police
force because he held a Master’s degree in Literature from the Oxford University and was
proud of his scholarship. He joined the Indian Police and served for most of his career in
UP. He was a DIG when he was offered the IGP’s post in Kashmir. He had a violent
temper and since he had served in U.P he knew all the profane curses in Urdu. As UP was
known for its culture and polite language he would sometimes flare up in anger and shout
at someone in front of him “bahanchod ji”, the “ji” at the end was perhaps a concession to
the culture of U.P. His wife used to say that it was his temper that came in the way of his
promotion to the IG rank in UP. She was as sober as he was temperamental.

When Peel came to Kashmir he brought an official P.A. with him. In those days P.A. to
the IGP was a gazetted rank and generally an ASP or an SP would fill the post. The man
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who came along with Peel was W.H. Archbold, a handsome man, a bachelor and an
efficient police officer. Both of them, Peel and Archbold, having served in British India,
had enough experience of internal and external intrigues. Since Archbold was younger
and single, he was out practically every night dancing and partying. He was the most
sought after dance partner at the Residency dances.

An interesting incident concerns him. He had a Alsatian dog. In the evenings, Archbold
used to change into civilian clothes and leave his service revolver in the drawer in his
bedroom.

There was at that time a Sub-Inspector who wanted desperately to become an Inspector.
He thought of a plan. He arranged for one of the domestic staff of Archbold to go into his
bedroom and steal his service revolver. The deed was done on a night when Archbold
was out dancing and the only occupant of the house was his Alsatian. The next morning,
the theft was discovered and Archbold was mortally afraid of his boss Peel’s anger. He
kicked the poor dog taking out his anger on him with the words “ what the hell were you
doing when the thief came”.

After a while, better sense prevailed and the IGP’s Office Superintendent who heard
about the theft, made discreet enquiries, told Archbold that it was an inside job because
the dog would have certainly barked if the thief was a stranger. Well, the revolver was
found by the man who had arranged the theft without Archbold knowing about his
scheme. With the revolver back, the Sub-Inspector was transferred to police lines.

After several years in Kashmir Peel left Kashmir and Archbold succeeded him as the
IGP in 1939.Peel went to Mysore and stayed there till 1943, when he finally retired.
Peel’s wife was a very sweet natured motherly type of woman. Once she and her husband
were driving from Khanabal to Srinagar when they stopped at the roadside to cool the
engine of the brand new Morris car which Peel had purchased recently. The car being
new, the hand brake when applied would give out a screeching sound. The driver Sham
Lal was always afraid whenever he had to apply the brake because Peel Sahib would
invariably shout “Bahanchod, Ji, are you trying to ruin my new car”.

The driver used to be petrified since it was the IGP shouting at him and one day he turned
up at our house and fell at my father’s feet begging him to save him from the wrath of the
Sahib. So one day, choosing the right moment, he told Peel “Sir, please don’t shout at
Sham Lal. In a new car, this always happens”. This was the 1936 of Morris model just
then imported into India.

At Khanabal, a small incident took place when their pet dog wandered from the car and a
curious villager looked at it. The dog barked, the villager got scared, picked up a stone
and threw it at the dog. It got hurt and ran back to Mrs. Peel who was sitting in the car.
Instead of saying anything to the villager for having thrown a stone at the dog, Mrs. Peel
shouted at her own dog and said the following immortal words. “Why did you bark at
him. Serves you right” .

It has been stressed earlier in this narrative that Peel was very proud of his penmanship
especially in the English language. After coming to India, he also studied Urdu and could
speak, write and read the language like a native.

One day, as usual, he had dictated a certain memorandum in which he had used a slightly
lesser known word, which my father could not understand. However he took it down as
Peel spelt it out for him and after he left the room, consulted the Oxford English
Dictionary, where he discovered that Peel had given him the wrong spelling.
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As soon as the typed memorandum was placed before him, he began to read with his pen
in his hand. He came to the offending word and began to shout:

“I gave you the spelling of the word and you still make a mistake, you put in the wrong
spelling”.

“But Sir that was the wrong spelling “.

“Are you trying to teach me English?”

“No Sir, but the Oxford Dictionary says so”.

“I don’t believe it, let me see it”.

The dictionary was brought and it was seen and proved conclusively that the Oxford
educated English Inspector General of Police of Jammu and Kashmir State was wrong
and the humble Kashmiri Pandit clerk was right.

“His face was a curious mixture of puzzlement and confusion”, said Mahadeo Sapru
years later while recalling this incident.

Peel looked up at his assistant and said these famous last words.

“I have been damned all my life. I thought these were the spellings, but they are not.
THANK YOU SAPRU FOR CORRECTING ME. I AM GRATEFUL.”

When Peel’s term of office came to an end, he was invited by the Maharaja of Mysore to
become the IGP of Mysore, which eventually he became and finally retired in 1943.

But when his term was ending, the Kashmir government was looking for a successor to
him. And in Princely States, seniority was not strictly adhered to as in British India.
Most requests from Indian States for posting a British Officer to them were processed by
the Political Department in New Delhi and it was suggested that since an British Officer
was already in Kashmir, he could be offered the post of IGP and could succeed Peel. The
Political Department was referring of course to Archbold who was a senior SP.

The suggestion was accepted and Archbold was appointed IGP.

This was a bitter pill for Peel to swallow, being succeeded by his own official PA.

Peel, Eardley Garforth Bryan, C.L.LE, Indian Police, born March 12™ 1888, United
Provinces cadre, retired as I.G.P, Jammu & Kashmir after serving the state for eight
years, in April 1939 after which appointed as 1.G.P, Mysore State. which he served till
1943 when he finally retired. He was awarded C.1.E on June 2™ 1923 when he was in the
U.P. Police.

Archbold, William Hugh, Indian Police (Supt., United Provs) (b. Jan 5, 1904) — joined
the service as asst.supt., United Provs., Nov.1923; offg.supt., Jan.1927; and again,
Nov.1932; confd., Oct.1936; inspr.genl., Kashmir , Aug. 1935. Served J.&.K.State from
1935 -39 as P.A to I.G.P which in those days was a gazetted rank usually that of S.P.
from that he was directly taken as I1.G.P on the retirement of E.G.B. Peel in 1939.

*hkkkkhkhkkkhkhkkkhkkhkkkhkhkkhkikkhkikkiiikkik

Bell, Ronald. S

By the time RS Bell took over as IGP in the mid forties, Mahadeo Sapru had thoroughly
stabilized himself in his position as a key person in the IGP’s Office. He was also
promoted as the Office Superintendent of the CID and would advise the Police Chief
about the politics of the department as also the integrity and efficiency of the officers.
One such case comes to mind where he tried his best to mete out justice to a poor humble
constable who was victimized by a high ranking officer who was a DIG. This officer had
suspended the constable who hailed from the Jammu region and prior to this had forcibly
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transferred him to Kashmir Province. When he put in a representation, he was told by
someone close to the DIG, that he would have to pay a certain sum if he wanted his
suspension revoked and he transferred back to Jammu Province.

On a constable’s pay, he could not meet the demand and was forced to sell his wife’s
gold jewellery after which he paid the money. Despite this, the suspension continued and
since in those days no subsistence allowance during the period of suspension, he had
come practically to starvation level.

He knocked at many doors, but nobody could buck the DIG. At last, someone suggested
to him that he should approach the right hand man of the IGP who they assured him was
totally honest. So one day, this half starved constable appeared at our house and
requested to see Mahadeo Sapru who already knew about this case.

Looking at the man in this pitiable condition, Sapru decided to do something about it.
Bell, his boss, was a very reasonable and even-tempered man. So a few days later, he
approached Bell after lunch when he was in a good, expansive mood and related the
entire background of the case to him.

“Since it comes within the DIG’s powers, I don’t think I can do anything about it”, said
Bell.

“But Sir, you are the Chief of the Police Force and the lower ranks look upon you as their
God and father. Justice demands that something should be done to put this man out of his
misery. After all, the Police Force has more constables in it than DIGs”

For a few minute there was pin drop silence and then Bell looked up and said

“Do you have a solution?”

“Yes Sir. You have overriding powers under the Police Act and you can overrule
anyone’s decision. If you approve, we can from the Central Office issue an order
reinstating the constable and cancelling the suspension period by treating him as on duty
for it. Apart from it, we can also issue a transfer order transferring him back to Jammu.
That way he will have some money with which to live on and will be able to go back to
where he came from.”

“All right, do 1t”.

Within minutes, the two orders were ready and signed but not released. A trusted
subordinate was sent to search for the constable who was sent under escort to the
Accountant General’s office to identify him so that he could draw his TA and his back
pay. Without an order in writing, he would not get anything.

So, Sapru went personally to the AG’s Office and handed over the order to Pandit
Premanand who was then the Accountant General of the State. The money was delivered
to the constable and he was not allowed to roam around lest he be identified and the DIG
informed about his reinstatement. At night, he was accommodated in a trusted person’s
house and early next morning, he was sent in a goods truck to Jammu and told to report
to a Police Officer there to whom Sapru had already given detailed instructions.

For the constable, it seemed like a dream. That he was grateful was expected but his
greatest fear was that he would be caught before he was out of the reach of the DIG. But
he managed it and when Bell asked Sapru about it, he said that Justice had been done.
Many years later in 1965 when this writer and his father Mahadeo Sapru were at the
Tourist Reception Centre trying to book a seat to Pathankot, a man suddenly came from
behind and saluted my father, who just stared at the man. By this time, my father had
long since left the Police Department and asked the man as to he was.
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“Sir I am the same constable whose life you saved during Bell Sahib’s time”

Suddenly, the light dawned and my father smiled and asked him, “So how are you, where
are you posted now?”’

“Sir I am now SP, Ladakh. Sir is there anything I can to do for you now. Have you come
to buy a ticket?”

“No thank you, we just bought a ticket”.

And that is where it ended, but one does remember an Englishman’s sense of justice and
an Indian’s determination to see that it is done.

P.S. Till the late fifties, Bell kept in touch with M.Sapru through letters.

*khkhkhkhkkkkhkhkhkiihhikhkhkkhiikx

Powell, Richard, late Indian Police (United Provs) (b.Apr. 4, 1889) — Joined the service
as asst.Supt., Dec.5, 1908; in military employ from April 19, 1915, to June 4, 1916; asst.
to 1.G., C.I.D, Aug., 1918; supt., May 1922; Princpal., P.T.Sch., Moradabad, Dec., 1925;
asst. to 1.G., Jan.,1937; D.1.G, Apl., 1939; retd., Apr.4, 1944 and re-empld. In dept. of
war transport , April , 1944 to Feb.,1946. Subsequently appointed I.G.P of Jammu &
Kashmir on contractual basis for two years.

Just before the Kabaili invasion from Pakistan, his services were terminated and he
crossed over to Muzaffarabad and Rawalpindi and joined the Pakistan Forces in an
Advisory Capacity.

*hkkkkhkhkkkikkhkkkhkhkkikikkhhikkiikikk

Across Pir Panjal

Soon after the Pakistan aggression on various fronts in J & K in October 1947,
the golden autumn paled down and the valley fell in the grip of snowy winter. The native,
though used to such snows and frosts from early years, suffered a feeling of insecurity.
All the same, the highest mountain peaks with their stature and dense forests around,
stood like trusted sentinels. The people and the stranded visitors, prayed to God on
bended knees for his mercy. Kashmir had never been such a trouble spot in the recent
history. The Indian Air Force, however, proved a providential helped in the Indian Army
in chasing the aggressors and restoring a sense of security throughout the valley.The
writer was then employed in one of the direction offices of the Maharaja’s Government,
which used to move to Jammu annually by the end of autumn. The Banihal Cart Road
which connects Jammu with Srinagar climbs up a height of 9000 feet, and provides a
tunnel at the top. The journey though not as comparable as at present, used to be a
fascinating drive of 200 miles usually when covered within two days, over the circuitous
cart road.We had orders to move to Jammu as before and the year had rolled down to its
last month i.e. December when the road was closed to wheeled traffic. Under thick clouds
and falling snow we packed up and motored up to Qazigund, a township 40 miles away
from Srinagar. The gentle rising gradients of the “Pir Panjal” start from here. It’s
surroundings and the housetop were also snow clad. It was a striking and superb scene,
the like of which was not seen before. We had now to try our strength against the
precipitous heights at its base standing in front of us. Fir and Devdar forests looked
happy. We walked up to the Verinag spring close by, where the river Jhelum takes its
source. The springs and the environs took us back to the Moghul times, when its
Emperors Shah Jahan & Jehangir use3d to spend nights at the spot during their sojourn to
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Kashmir.Looking around we found grey patches of the foot-path which we had to depend
on. Much against our expectations, we found quite a good number of locals (actively
buzzing about and booking various parties for helping them to cross over to the other side
of the mountain). We hired a party of 5 with sturdy cooks and spent the night mostly
talking about the next day of adventure. Next morning they woke us up at early dawn,
and provided us with grass shoes when fitted with our shoes and wooden staffs to support
us while climbing.We equipped ourselves as best as we could, and off we went. The
untrodden snow on the ground and over the mountain tops and the steep ridges was a
relief to the eyes. Soon after the glittering rays of the sun in our eyes fell over the
standing peaks and the deep lying slopes, and we felt greatly comforted. Step by step, we
negotiated the uphill climb. It was a long line of pedestrians, each quick breathing and
often looking behind to know how much he had gained. A similar chain of loaded
pedestrians were descending the slopes from the opposite direction. They mostly carried
petrol cans, and some essentials commaodities of life. Our guides went ahead of us with a
promise to meet us at the low level on the other side of the tunnel, and cautioned us to
move in quick and not be late.

The Army was not much to be seen at this spot, as they were reportedly pre-occupied at
other vital fronts-building roads and searching for the marauders. The sky was still clear
until after mid-day and the sun quite bright and warm. The wind was whistling and grew
fiercer from hour to hour. During our brief halts en route, we helped ourselves to brave
dry fruit and milk. The cold wind came to be a regular battle with us, and we braved it
helping ourselves with doses of brandy. Luckily, we felt | enough to face against the
Mighty Wind (locally “War Mal” i.e. unbreaking and non-stop wind).

We were worried against getting lazy and losing our nerve. We heard talking in low voice
about certain casualties caused by this mountain scourge. Reaching the top of “Pir
Panjal” from Kashmir side and entering the tunnel was a thrilling experience, and we
halted at the other end for short-while. Resuming our journey soon because of the
pinching cold and strong wind, we felt like being to hit by the piercing cold wind. The
top provided a grand view of the valley as one side and the sloping hills on in the Jammu
side. The weather took a sudden rough turn, and our guide from below shouted at us to
come down by crawling, skating and whatever device we found but to come out of the
danger zone. We took great risk as there was no other go, and reached the curve of a road
at a low level where safety welcomed us. All was not, however, well. Reaching the
Banilal township after it was dark, we reached to the Rest House. Exhausted as we were,
we snatched the hot meals and soon after took to sleep.

Rising late next morning, we felt as if newly born. But the cause showed its effect, and
two of us had an attack of dysentry perhaps because of brandy.

We however, wanted moving ahead with the life, and doasded a but to Jammu. It landed
us at the destination safely after dark, and back to the rut of life again.

Mahadeo Sapru, March 1, 1978.

Note : Jawahar Lal Sopory, the author’s companion on his journey across Pir Panjal was
a colleague in the Police Department, Traffic Section. An M.A, from Allahabad
University, he had a good command of English and after 1947 became Assistant
Transport Controller of Jammu and Kashmir Government. He died suddenly in

1 9 5 3 *khkhkkkhkhkkkhkhkkkhkhkhkkhkikhkikikikk
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Nerves Of Inspection

All over India the ordinary Indian was terrified of the white man, always preferring to
stay at a safe distance from him. This was more so in princely states like Mysore,
Kashmir, Baroda, Indore, Hyderabad, Gwalior etc. Most Indian princes got departmental
heads from British India. This was especially so in Mysore and Kashmir from 1931 to
1947. All the IGPs of Kashmir State have been Englishmen.

Our story concerns the fear that the average junior officer had of the mighty Englishman
and how nervous and terrified they became in their presence. The story concerns an
English IGP who conducted a surprise inspection of a police station in the rural areas of
the Kashmir valley. However the English Sahib with his local clerk displayed the
courtesy of stopping his car in front of the Sub Inspector’s residence and sending
his Pandit emissary to inform him that he had come to inspect his police station.

When the emissary entered the house, the Sub Inspector was highly pleased to see him
and invited him to have tea. But when he learnt that the big White Chief was outside in
his car, he lost his colour. The emissary told him to get dressed in his uniform quickly
and come out. Our hero got so nervous that he put on his pants backwards and shouted at
his poor wife to tie the belt at the back. In his hurry to reach to the presence of his IG, he
forgot that this anamoly would be visible to the white man. The Englishman in question
was a very sober individual (R.S. Bell) who told his clerk and simultaneously informed
the Sub Inspector to go and get dressed properly while he would await him at the police
station.

So much for nervousness.

Needless to say, despite this embarrassment, the sub inspector in question got a very
good report from the IG who did not take seriously the Faux paus committed by our
hero.
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12
The Maker Of Shali Store

Today in independent India, we take the idea of buffer stock foodgrains held by the State
Governments and the Centre for granted, but hardly anybody in India knows who
pioneered the system of buying grain for an emergency like drought, flood or any other
calamity.

The system of buying grains by the State Government and stabilizing its price even
during normal times and ensuring equitable supply through fair price shops was
pioneered in Kashmir in the early 20s by an astute administrator named Raja Narendra
Nath Koul, belonging to the family of Raja Hari Kishen Koul and the Daya Kishen
Koul. He had to face many odds but he was fortunate to get help from Tyndale Biscoe
and perhaps the only record of his achievement has been penned down by this great
educationist of Kashmir in his autobiography published after his death.

After his magnificent performance, he was appointed the Revenue Minister by the
Maharaja. Unfortunately, he died soon after.

This is the account of his struggle and the help given to him by Biscoe Sahib and Major
C. Haddow:

Innovative Administrator

After the Great war, the galladars i.e., sellers of grain, fuel contractors, butchers and
bakers backed up by certain high officials of the state, combined to prevent food and fuel
from entering the city and they thereby succeeded in raising the price of necessities.

“Narendra Nath Koul , who was then Governor, had been disappointed at having been
ploughed in the 1.C.S. examination in London and hence became disgruntled against the
British. He hated the Mission School and all its works.

“As the city people were half starved, Shanker Koul and | visited him to offer the help of
the school staff and boys to fight the famine. The Governor received us very coldly, but
our answers to his questions changed his manner, and he accepted our offered help.

“I went to our friend and adviser Mr. Cecil Haddow, telling him of the Governor’s altered
attitude and he came with me to the Governor and the latter accepted Haddow’s offer of
twenty five men from his carpet factory, who were Mohammedans, as well as fifty of our
school teachers who were Hindus.

“The Governor sent members of our staff together with two of his government servants
(to watch our men, lest they accepted bribes) for thirty miles up and down the river to
bring loaded boats containing rice, grain, “shali” and firewood into the city.
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“Many boats arrived. When the salesmen in the city realized that food was in the city,
they closed all the food shops. The Governor then opened state shops and put our men in
charge. These shops were besieged and the male bipeds prevented the women from
obtaining the food. Our men then provided themselves with single sticks, and by using
them freely they kept a path open for the women to approach the shops. The women then
began fighting one another for the shali.

“What were our men to do? They were given orders to serve first all women with babies.
The salesmen reported the next day that every woman had a baby and were still fighting
one another, so they were ordered to supply those women with twins first, and the those
with one baby only.

“Next day, the salesman reported that every woman had two babies, S0, not wishing to
encourage triplets, the shali was placed in boats, which were moored to the bank of the
river. A plank connected each boat with the bank of the river. A plank connected each
boat with the bank and our boys were placed at the plank, armed with single sticks, to
prevent bipeds pushing on board before the women. This worked well for two days, until
the bipeds, being angry shoved the women into the river and one or two were drowned.
The boats were then anchored out in the river and shali sold only to those who arrived in
the authorized tender, and so at last all went well.

“The Governor summoned to his court all the city fathers, head butchers, bakers
galladars and fuel contractors, and fixed a “nirek” i.e., the price of food. Against this
order all the butchers, bakers, & C., protested loudly, but the city cheerd and praised the
Governor. The Governor then ordered our men to apprehend all those who were breaking
the “nerik” law.

“The scoundrels objected strongly and as our men went around the city they
shouted: “There go the friends of hell let loose upon our city by Padre Biscoe.” But
the Tehsildar (magistrate) , who happened to be an old Mission School boy, seized
the culprits and called for barbers and donkeys. These lawbreakers had their faces
shaved on one side only, and placed upon donkeys with their faces towards the tails
and marched through the city with the town crier shouting in front of the
procession: “These are the men who are cheating the people.”

“Mr. Hadow and the Governor called the city fathers together, and a co-operative society
was started, which took over all food and saw to its proper distribution. We closed our
schools for three months, so that our staff could act as clerks for this co-operative society.

“The butchers and bakers rushed off by car to Jammu, two hundred miles frm Srinagar, to
tell the Maharajah that the Governor, aided by Haddow and Biscoe, was persecuting the
city. They also persuaded the Maulvis to preach in their mosques against the Governor,
so that when his Highness arrived in Srinagar and proceeded in his state barge up the
river, the whole Mohammedan population were to crowd the three miles of river bank to
curse the Governor. They were to take with them long punting poles on the top of which
empty gunny bags would be tied, and as High Highness passed they would cry:
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“Starving, starving,” at the same time pointing to the empty sacks and patting themselves
to show that their stomach were as empty as the sacks, and shouting : “The Governor is
the cause”.

Governor’s plea

“On the morning of His Highness’ entry into Srinagar, I received an urgent letter from the
Governor saying that the Maharajah was coming to Srinagar with the intention of turning
him out of his post, and that the Maulvis had incited the populace to shout against him
and ask for his dismissal. He ended by asking my help in preventing this river
demonstration.

“A somewhat tall order for what could the school staff and boys do to counter this huge
demonstration? However, | had a brainwave. | gave orders at once for the school boats to
be brought from the Dal lake boathouse, to the school, and explained my plans to the
staff. They were to take the school fleet to meet His Highness where he could enter his
barge with all his state officials, both British and Indian, and to take position behind the
barge to be in readiness to rush to either side of the river where they could act as a screen
between Maharajah and the Governor’s enemies on the banks, As we were discussing this
matter, a police notice was handed to me to the effect that no boats were to come within
two hundred yards of his Highness’s barge. That a police boat screen would be in
position to prevent all boats approaching His Highness. This snag required quick action,
so | ordered the boat captains to obey my orders and ignore the police orders.

“It was 3.30 P.M. The guns at Hari Parbat fort fired twenty-one salutes and the State
barge moved upstream with its sixty-eight boatmen and a steam tug pulling in front. The
police boats took up their position in th rear, then our fleet formed up, the twelve oared
cutter with the school band in the bows, led the ten school shikaras, two abreast,
containing thirteen to fifteen boys each as crew.

“I was in command in my launch with field glasses and megaphone. After the procession
had proceeded half a mile, | spotted a large party of empty sack wavers on the left bank
of the river, so I shouted out through my megaphone: “Fleet to the left bank of the river,
sharp.” Immediately, the fleet put on speed, through the police screen they went and
right up to the right side fo the barge. When in position, I shouted: “Salute his Highness
the Maharajah of Jammu and Kashmir.” The crews immediately stood with 150 oars and
paddles at the salute, and the band struck up “For he ‘s a jolly good fellow”. The result
was that H.H. saw no poles or bags and heard nothing but “He’s a jolly good fellow”.

When this danger point was passed, | ordered “Fleet to the rear”, which they obeyed
promptly. About another half-mile on the right bank of the river, | saw a similar hurdle
and sack crowd, so I ordered “Fleet to the right bank of the river”. Up went the fleet, and
when in position I shouted: “Salute His Highness the Maharajah of Jammu and Kashmir.”
The crew’s rose to attention with oars and paddles aloft and the band struck up “The
Cock of the North”. The pole and sack wavers cursed our boys and ordered them out of
the way, but in vain, as there was a gulf of deep water between. Again the Maharajah
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heard and saw nothing but the loyal Mission School boys saluting him. Thus we went
three miles up the river to his palace; and the Governor was saved.

Food shortage
“The trouble in Srinagar continued, as the food shortage had not ended. Lord Chelmsford,
the Viceroy, visited Kashmir to see what he could do. As he came up the river with His
Highness in the state barge the officials had prepared excellent eyewash.

“Along both banks of the river for the three miles were barges full of rice and others
loaded with fuel, with notices in English in letters large enough for him to see from his
barge, “Shali for sale”, “Price cheap”, “firewood for sale”, “Price cheap”, so that he
might see for himself that the city was not short of food but bursting with it. But what he
did not see was that, as soon as his barge had passed, all these boats were taken out of the
city and hidden in nullahs.

“As the next day was Sunday, I had to preach before the Viceroy in his suite and was able
to let him know something of the sorrows of the citizens of Srinagar. Certain members of
the congregation expressed their views on my bad taste for having spoken the truth at that
occasion.

“The following evening, at a dinner party at the Residency, the Viceroy sent for me to sit
by him and | had the opportunity of telling him the truth regarding the sufferings of the
people. How the Kashmir State officials had tried to hoodwink him by bringing scores of
barges full of grain all along his route through the city.

“Three days later, when I was holding my staff class in my garden, an old student rushed
up to me breathless, and said: “Please hide me. Two other old students and I have been
seized by the police for having sent a telegram to the Viceroy, but I have escaped, hide
me, Sahib.” I asked: “What did you wire?” and he answered: “The city is starving.”
Before I could act a policeman entered, dragging the two old students with him, so | was
unable to prevent his being seized. | told the policeman, of course, what I thought of this
injustice and then mounted my cycle and made my way to the house of the Indian chief
judge, a Hindu. | offered to go to the prison myself, saying that | deserved it far more
than my three old students who had just been taken to prison. Whereas they had only told
the truth to the Viceroy by wire, | told him in his ear what these boys had wired and a
good deal more. Therefore he must send me to the jail for mine was the greater crime.
The upshot of it was that he promised to free the three boys the first thing next morning.
The three were brought in chains to my house next day by a policeman. As soon as they
were set free they ran to me and grasped my ankles in their joy.

“But the fight was by no means over, although Mr. Haddow had been giving an immense
amount of time and energy to the running of the co-operative shali stores, for several of
the senior State officials were on the side of the profiteers, who were pulling strings. So
Lord Reading, who had succeeded Lord Chelmsford as Viceroy came to Kashmir to try
and clear up the situation. He started his enquiry by calling Mr. Haddow and me to see
him at the Residency. With him as legal adviser was Sir Grimwood Woodmears (Chief
Justice of Allahabad)

123



Cashmere: Kashir That Was Yarbal

“After thanking us for coming, he said: “ I have called you two gentlemen, as I know
that you will tell me the real cause fo this profiteering.” We told him that was due to
cetain highly placed officials. He answered: ““ I guessed as much. What is needed here is
alaw.”

“ Having asked Sir Grimwood to draft a law to make profiteering an offence, punishable
by a heavy fine and imprisonment with hard labour, the Viceroy dismissed us with thanks
for our help, and expressed the hope that we would join the Council of State officials
which was to meet that evening. He made a strong speech at this meeting, asking the
officials to consider how they would feel if they themselves had empty stomachs. He
reminded them there could never be peace and contentment among starving people, and
that it was he as Viceroy who had to see that India was a peaceful and happy country. In
plain English, that humbug must cease.

Viceroy’s message

“The Viceroy spoke again at the banquet at the palace. The gist of his speech was as
follows:

“Ladies and Gentlemen, you will, I know, have very great pleasure in drinking the health
to our kind host, His Highness, when you hear that there is to be an end of the troubles of
the people of this city due to the shortage of food, for his Highness has made a law which
will stop people hereafter from making profit out of the sufferings of his subjects.”

Narendra Nath Koul, the Governor of Kashmir, whom his enemies the profiteers hoped to
discomfort, was raised to the rank of Revenue Minister, but he enjoyed his new powers
only for a short period. He fell ill and passed from us, to our great sorrow. Thousands of
his admirers followed his body to the burning ghat bar-footed.

Later, the state took over the food control from the Co-operative Society, built uptodate
granaries and to our relief, put Captain Wreford in charge. We knew that as long as he

was in control there would be no devilry or monkey tricks.
From: Autobiography of Tyndale — Biscoe, 1950
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13
The Long And The Short Of The Story
Is That Family Saga-I

Towards Excellence with Austerity

Lakshman Joo Sapru was a valley Kashmiri Pandit. Not much is known about him. He
had two sons whose names were Baghwan Das Sapru and Sridhar Joo Sapru. Baghwan
Das Sapru had two sons Raghu Nath Sapru and Mahadeo Sapru. Sridhar Sapru had four
sons and two daughters Our story concerns Baghawan Das Sapru’s two sons..
Unfortunately, Bagawan Das Sapru died in his twenties leaving behind a widow Sonamal
with two children and no means of support.

It is a miracle how she survived and brought up her two sons, educated them, got them
married, saw her sons building a new house and had the pleasure of playing with eight
grand children of whom my cousin sister (Kanta) is the youngest among the girls and
yours truly is the youngest among the boys.

She was a determined woman who fought doggedly against all odds. Though she was
illiterate, her fund of commonsense would put to shame any statesman or diplomat. Being
a widow, Grandfather’s cousin did not look on her with favour but while keeping all the
customary behavior pattern going, she saw to it that her two young ones would be taken
care of and survive to grow into manhood.

In this, she was greatly helped by her elder son who had inherited most of her sterling
qualities. Raghu Nath Sapru had a one point programme in his life since he was acutely
conscious of the poverty of the family and that was to achieve excellence at all costs and
as far as possible not be too much of a burden on his poor widowed mother. He was a
student of the state high school to which he used to walk every morning. He had no time
piece at home to know the time when he should leave home for school.

One day, he was late for school and was admonished by the teacher. He was in a
dilemma. How to tell the teacher that he did not have a timepiece. But he was a great
innovator and had loads of commonsense. He went home and woke up the next morning
bright and early and watched the sun’s rays falling on the wall of the house. He brought a
piece of chalk and marked it because the suns rays had reached that particular spot on the
wall at exactly 8 clock and that would give him a guide for reaching school on time.

Unfortunately, though the new system worked well, he did not take into consideration the
change in seasons when the sun’s rays would fall at a different place at the same time.
However, he managed it eventually. He was a brilliant student and even before his
matriculation, he was a scholarship student and right through he was an extremely
hardworking student. He had no interest in games or sports but was waiting impatiently
to get into a profession.

125



Cashmere: Kashir That Was Yarbal

Soon, he completed his high school and again won his scholarship to go to the
engineering school where they trained Civil Engineers. It was not a an Engineering
College as we think of today, but where the nuts and bolts of the profession were
adequately taught leaving improvement and advancement to the ability of the individual
student.

Contrary to what is being propagated today about the Dogra rulers of Kashmir, they were
in fact extremely progressive and brought modern education to the valley along with the
new Lingua Franca, the English language. It was during Maharaja Ranbir Singh’s reign
that the need was felt for having trained staff to man civil engineering projects and
irrigitation works. For this, the Maharaja started a polytechnic, which was appropriately
named Ranbir Polytechnic. It was here that he got trained and passed out with flying
colours as a scholarship student. In later years, people would point to him and say
that “Without crossing the Banihall, he became an engineer.”

In those days, the initial appointment was as a Sub Overseer. This was the initial job
given to train people who did not have a degree from an Engineering College, but were
otherwise adequately tecnically trained. The next post was Overseer. Today, this
corresponds to what is called a Junior Engineer.

The day he passed out, Grandma (we grand children called her Kakni) heaved a sigh of
relief. She was sure now that her son would soon be employed. From our grandmother’s
side we were related to the family of Raja Hari Krishen Kaul and with a qualified
candidate it was easy to put in a word and get the job.

Raghu Nath Sapru was a dedicated man who took life very seriously as all the children in
the joint family realized. He had no use for entertainment and leisure activities. He was a
true karmayogi who did his duty sincerely towards his family including half-baked
products like his and his brother’s children.

After his appointment, his mother made plans to get him married and selected a girl from
the Kaul (Bagh) family of Rainawari. She was Raj Rani Sapru and she presided over the
joint family for many years after her marriage. Meanwhile, her mother-in-law had one
more hurdle to cross and that was her younger son who was a total contrast to his elder
brother.

Mahadeo Sapru was a peculiar combination of the middle class and an ambitious young
man who wanted to get ahead in life. However, he was susceptible to distractions like any
other young man of his generation could be. He had a colourful personality and would
easily impress people by his command of the language, both Urdu and English. He had a
taste in fine arts such as Music, Poetry and even games. He played hockey, broke his arm
once and was, in short an exuberant young man.

Once when he was studying for his second year in college he made a spelling mistake in
an essay, which was otherwise excellent. The lecturer to express his extreme annoyance
gave him zero out of ten and that incensed this student of FA (in those days the first two
years of college were called FA for Arts and FSc for Science) . He soon made up his
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mind that continuing his education was no good and would not help him. He decided to
qualify himself as an engineer and set about searching for a subject and an institution.

Money was, of course, a problem but by then his elder brother was the confirmed bread
winner of the family and the family decided that he should go to Calcutta to study
Wireless Engineering. This was in 1929. Prior to this in 1926 after he finished his FA he
was married to Padmavati Kaul of Ali Kadal, daughter of Pandit Raghu Nath Kaul , a
retired Customs official.

On arrival in Calcutta, he discovered the unpleasant fact that he had no interest in
Wireless Engineering and promptly switched to learning shorthand and typing which was
a short duration course compared to Engineering and returned home in time to witness
the 1931 riots in the Kashmir Valley. At that time, he was given an opportunity of service
and was employed in the Prime Minister’ s office for a while and subsequently in the
Police Department, which he served till 1947.

Many years later, when he was enjoying his retirement, he once told me about how
disciplined and strict Kakni Sonamal (Grandma) was towards him, her younger son
although in her heart of hearts she had a soft corner for him. As explained earlier, by
temperament Mahadeo Sapru was an individual with fine tastes and interested in music,
drama, arts, games and other finer things of life.

“Once there was a music performance in Srinagar that we call ‘Gyaivun’ and I had gone
to see this performance. Mind you, | was already married by this time and could be
considered a full fledged adult. | had mentally promised myself to go home by 9.00 p.m
but soon forgot the promise and finally woke up when the performance was over at 10.30
p.m. In those days, there were very few street lights though | knew my way. | finally
reached home at 10.45 p.m.

“At that time, my brother was posted at Handwara and there was no other male member
in the house. As soon | knocked the door, | expected my wife to open the door. It was my
mother who did and as soon as | stepped in the house, she slapped me hard on the cheek.
I was shocked beyond words but what she said was still worse. “

“If something happens to you, who will go out to look for you? Do you expect me to do
that ”. And with that, she marched to her room and I was left, a highly chastened man
who had learnt his lesson the hard way.”

The two brothers were a contrast in temperament and taste and the eight children in the
joint family instinctively were afraid of “Babatathu”, the elder and would prefer to
approach “Toth”, the younger. In summer, quite often Uncle used to get up early in the
morning and bang at all the doors waking everybody up with the words “

“Get going and do your morning ablutions®.

Very often my father in whose room | used to sleep would shake me awake with the
words “Get up Quick Babatatha is calling you™.
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As we children grew up and were able to discuss and mildly criticize some of the sayings
of our parents, the one thing that has remained over the years in our minds is that “He
would talk about what Chief Engineer Khan said, this and that and he would talk about
what Peel Sahib and Bell Sahib said “ On rare occasions, when everybody would sit
together for the evening meal the two would talk and we children would simply be seen
and not heard.

All through our childhood, the children were made conscious of the fact that the Sapru
family name was famous and noble and we were expected to live up to the standards of
our forefathers. In this connection, very often we heard a name — Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru
and we had a vague idea that we were somehow related to him. Whether we are or not,
the fact remains that a Sapru anywhere in the world shares the same Gotra with every
other Sapru.

Years later, when | was an experienced field correspondent, many in Delhi would ask me
whether | was related to the Saprus of Allahabad. My answer would be “ No, but we are
country cousins”.

*hhkkkhkhkkkhkkhkkkikhkkhhikkikikikk

Discipline at home
Learning to tell the truth is a part of any child’s education. What he or she learns at home
becomes his equipment to face the rigours of life.

Two small events come to my mind. After | recovered from an illness, my father
purchased a bottle of horlicks out of which | would get one spoon mixed with milk every
morning. After a few days my brain began to scheme as to how | could reach the sweet
powder and eat it. The tin was placed on top of a high cupboard, which with my three feet
height | could not reach. But being resourceful, | dragged the stool and managed to grab
the tin and swallow the few spoons of powdered horlicks before putting it back.

| thought | was safe. But next morning | was caught. | knew that | was going to get a
beating but surprisingly my father suddenly gave me an option,” Tell the truth, admit
your mistake and then I will not beat you.” I did it and escaped the beating but in the
process learnt a lesson for a life.

On another occasion, my father had purchased a thermometer, which was at that time a
rarity in our home. It was always opened by him, used for any member of the family who
was sick and put back. | was always curious about it and wanted desperately to handle it.
The opportunity came and | did it ,but fear of discovery made me nervous and | took the
thermometer in my hand to the bathroom where it slipped out of my nervous fingers and
broke. | was in jitters, put the broken thermometer into its case and put it back and
waited for the punishment. Here too justice was merciful and | escaped punishment and
remembered the earlier occasion. Needless to say, these were my only forays into petty
crime and lying.

kkhkhkhhhkhkhkkkkhkhikiiiikixx
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Life In Winter — Snow And Sleet

Life in winter in the Kashmir Valley was indeed difficult and misery was the watchword.

The three parts of winter namely Chellay Kalaan, Chellay Khord and Chellay Bache
together formed the most severe period of the rigours of winter. Today, most housewives
even in the Kashmir valley would be horrified if they were to be asked to do without
cooking gas, kerosene stove, heaters and pressure cookers. But women in those days had
to bear the brunt of shortages which were treated as something which one had to live
with.

One has to remember that the concept of the bukhari (it is a big metal pot in which wood
or coal is burnt and it generates heat for the entire room) was not prevalent or known in
the Kashmir valley. One could see bukharis only in Government offices and other
prominent places. The only means of heating was and is the Kangri. This is a native fool
proof method of personal comfort.

A Kangri is by definition a mobile personal heater for a person. It has a cane handle and
the outer body is made of cane to ensure that the user did not burn his hand. The inside
portion is an earthern bowl in which usuclly coal is burnt and it produces enough heat to
keep the man in less discomfort. Often, one can see on the roads people wearing long
loose gowns called pheran with a slight bulge which signified that he is carrying a Kangri
under the cover of his pheran.

In the last hundred years, the climate has changed very much in the valley. Earlier, the
winter used to be very severe. Very often, six feet of snow would fall not only in the
village but also in the city of Srinagar. The snow would block the door of the house and
the fear of being locked up inside kept people awake at night. In fact, for many years one
member of the family would remain awake and keep a spade handy so that if too much of
snow fell, he would shovel and clear the path from the door to the lane or the road.

The worst part of living in such conditions was that the housewives had to, in freezing
cold, fetch water from the tap sometimes quite near and sometimes far from the house.
Those living near the rivers and the streams would also have to trudge in mud, sleet and
very often over ice to fetch a not (a traditional round shaped pot for water) .It was worse
for Pandit women in villages.

Once the snow starts falling, it is easy to walk on it. Once it stops snowing, the snow on
the ground gets hard and turns into ice and God help you if you are careless in walking
over it. It has no shape, it has all kinds of shapes and which is the best and the easiest way
to get a broken ankle. Added to this problem is that of movement through lanes and by
lanes where the traffic is less unlike on the road where constant march of feet would
flatten the road, and make things easier for the pedestrian.

The next danger was from Shisharghant (icicles). They are of two types. One where
snow forms into ice and due to forces of gravity perhaps points from the edge of the roof
towards the ground. In fact, it is shaped with a broad base and keeps narrowing as it
comes down. There was always danger of it falling on an unsuspecting person walking on
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the road or in the lane or under the roof of the house. There is another type of
Shisharghant which develops in the opposite direction and the narrow point is pointed
upwards. These are usually found in caves and mainly outside cities. Scientifically
speaking, the one that points from up to down is called Stalagcites and the one that
points from bottom to top is called Stalagmites.

*hkhkkhkhkkkhkhkkkhkhkkkhkhkhihkiiikikx

When Grandma passed away
“ She was my grandma and her name was Sonamal but we children called her Kakni”

The winter of 1951 was really severe and we were enjoying our winter vacation. In the
rest of India, the longest vacation that the students enjoy is the summer vacation, but in
Kashmir students need the longer vacation in winter.

Grandma was sick and fortunately her elder son, my uncle, was in Srinagar but her
younger son, my father was away in Amritsar working as Food Procurement Officer of
the Jammu and Kashmir Government in Punjab. Grandma was under the treatment of a
good doctor but even we children could sense that her end was near.

The doctor came at 6.00 p.m. it was already dark. He examined her, gave her medicine
and left without a word. She went into a coma and started addressing her elder son as her
younger son. Disjointed words pointed to the fact that she wanted both her children by
her side but it was not to be.

She died at midnight and by morning a telegram had been sent to my father. But try as he
might he could not come since the road route was blocked by snow and there was no air
service due to bad weather. He wired back that he could not come.

Many years later he told me how he felt at the death of the only parent he knew and had.
“ The only thing I could do was to fast for the day but carry on working. I calculated
when the 10th day would be and the 13" day would come and on those days would go the
temple. This I did.”

But to get back to the morning of the funeral Myself and my cousin both 11 years of age
were given the task of informing our relatives about Grandma’s death. The farthest point
we had to go to was on one side Ali Kadal and on the other side Sathu Bar Bar Shah and
Rainawari. We too had to go with our clogs and wearing our pherans, we started out on to
the lane, which led to the main road.

Between our house and the main road a distance of about 300 yards we slipped on the ice
at least three four times and once the Kangri which both of us carried practically
overturned on our thighs and would have burnt us had we not been quick enough to get

up.
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On and on we went to reach our destination, delivered the message and were back at
home in three hours. Just goes to show you how difficult transport was in those days and
without two legs one could never survive especially in the hellish winter of Kashmir.

*hhhhkhkkkkhkhkhkhiihikihkikk

Strangers To Luxury

While radio was admittedly a luxury which made its appearance in Srinagar in limited
quantities around the year 1946, luxuries in our locality were few and far between. The
only sample of modern technology in our house was this cycle which in those days was
not only considered a luxury and an asset to have, but it was also not called cycle. It was
called “BICYCLE” and on a rough estimate of over seventy five thousand Pandits in
Srinagar hardly 15 or 20 had this new method of locomotion.

As a child grows beyond ten years of age, especially a boy, galloping towards teenage, he
starts dressing himself and generally becomes conscious of his appearance. In those days,
barbers used to go to the houses of the rich. But the poor had to sit in his open shop on
the ground for him to cut their hair. At that time, the current fashion was to cut the hair
all-round short with a little bit left longer in the front. We called it “Bichur” and every
boy of that age would insist on having a hair cut of that nature.

| remember crying my eyes out when | was not given the Bichur haircut while my elder
Hreday got it. But after the deed was done, nothing could be done, but I resented it for a
long time.

As we grew older, we became conscious of a new thing called filim and a new place
called talkie. The name has come from when cinema made its apperance all over the
world. The original name was Bioscope. Later on, it continued since it was only visual.
And later on that period was called the silent films era. When sound was added to the
visual, the place of exhibition was called talkie because one could hear sounds.
Subsequently, it was named cinema.

The first cinema in Srinagar was the Palladium Talkies. In fact, the word talkies were
written along with its name for a long time on its frontage. Among the younger
generation the word cinema was whispered because in our value system then, going to
the cinema was an evil thing to do. We heard elders discussing among themselves Mr.X
whose son was seen going into or coming out of Palladium Talkies.

As time passed, gradually attitudes changed and we used to discuss new filims without
having seen them. If one of our friends saw it, the whole group would know the story line
and by then radio had started becoming fairly common. In the early 50s Radio Ceylon’s
commercial service broadcast songs from latest Hindi films. Thus, we would hear the
songs either from the neighbours house or from the paan shop on the road which would
be blaring out the songs especially at the time when we would be returning from the
school.
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In the absence of pocket money, many of the boys would skimp, beg, borrow and steal
coins and when he reached the magic figure of seven and a half annas which was the
lowest ticket available to enter the Palladium Talkies., he would be in the seventh
heaven. Those who managed to collect the money, would always go for the 3.30 show
because they had be home before dark. However in our family, there was no question of
going to cinema as there was no money. We only listened to other boys with our mouth
open as they recounted the adventure of getting the ticket, going into the darkened hall
and sitting on wooden benches and guarding your seat so that some Hanji boy (boat
man’s son) who were sturdy and stronger than Pandit boys,would not occupy the bench
seat.

Apart from this, one instance will illustrate the security phobia of the Pandit. Earlier it
was mentioned about how my mother as a bride had to wear a burga to hide her face
when coming for the first time to her husband’s house. As late as 1946, physical security
of the women folk was a primary concern for the family. And growing up girls were not
allowed go out of the house.They had to be protected at all costs.

Once we were playing and this must have been in our psyche. Hreday,Jagan, myself
were playing. Our youngest sister, who must have been barely three or four years old,
insisted on playing with us. We were playing our own version of cops and robbers. And
we had a big bed sheet over our heads and we were trying to protect our house against
attack.

But overriding factor seemed to have been to protect Kanta first the youngest baby sister.
And the cry was “Hey, we should hide Kantinath”. The Nath attached to her name by us
was to bring in line with our three names which all had the word Nath as our middle
names.

The only piece of luxury that I can remember from my childhood is a gramaphone with a
manual charger. | was told that when my father had purchased it, none of us children
were allowed to touch it. It was a great novelty and all the eight children except the
eldest daughter who was by then already married, would have our mouths open looking
at this marvel which produced beautiful music and songs.

In the early and middle 20" century, a wall clock had become a normal fixture in middle
class homes but, we were more or less strangers to the wall clock. It was only when my
uncle bought an alarm clock to wake us up early and get ready in time for school, that we
became familiar with the time proclaiming itself from the shelf on the wall where it was
perched. When uncle bought his first wrist watch and the first one in the family,
| stared at it and wanted desperately to touch it.

Reverting to the cycle and its impact on our life, it was the sole conveyance of the family.
It must be said here that until the late seventies, most people in Srinagar walked. After
all, most distances either to the school or to the office or to the hospital or the main
market were on an average not more than five kilometers away. Only the few affluent
could afford to move around in tongas. All five of us children learnt how to ride a cycle
on that good old British made Hercules. Being the two youngest ones, | and my cousin
Jagan used to sneak out of the back garden gate along with cycle on Sundays when this
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two wheeler had a holiday. In front of our house , two hundred yard away was a
newly laid road appropriately named Nai Sarak . On this road, | must have fallen at least
more than a dozen times. But the amazing part of that is that | never suffered an injury
which would be visible at home for which | would receive a beating. On one occasion, |
fell into the big open drain which even today is opposite to the Kotru and Pandita houses
located there and hopefully now also on the Nai Sarak.

On the subject of my family, | have referred earlier in this narrative to my father and my
uncle. They were two brothers each with his distinct personality perhaps influenced by
their respective but totally different jobs. .

While the elder one was very serious in his approach to work and life,one suspects
through great many hardships and privations in his effort to come up, the younger
one was playful,and tended to be at times mischievous. He played football and hockey
and in one altercation with a member of the opposite team broke his left arm.

When he was in college, he got the urge to play badminton. This was around the year
1920-21 .and to prove it we have an old photograph which he must have taken in the first
commercial studio in Srinagar. Pandit Vishwanath of the company of the same name was
in fact the pioneer of commercial photography in the Kashmir Valley. He was a student
of the Mission School and greatly influenced by Biscoe Sahib.Years later, my father
‘s interest moved to music and for a period of nearly 10 years he played the sitar, which
he carried with him to Amirtsar when he was posted as Assistant Trade Agent of the
Jammu and Kashmir Government in Punjab.

One can only sum up. While poverty is our constant companion, it has its moments of
glory when ordinary things become sought he totally forgot the class and became
completely absorbed in the antics of the snake and of its master.

Radio Dialogue

On the day Mahatma Gandhi was assassinated in 1948, the news was broadcast by All
India Radio and most adults in the neighbourhood of the Darbari clan house went to the
good professor’s room to hear the details. We, kids, did not understand except that
Mahatma Gandhi had been killed. We trailed behind the adults and stood in the doorway
as the sober, somber voice of Melville D’mello came over the Radio announcing that the
funeral of the Mahatma would take place the next day and that AIR would broadcast a
running commentary.

As the radio went silent our Professor suddenly shouted at it “Kar?” What he meant was
at what time the next day which the announcer had not given. There was pindrop silence,
some giggles and a few snickers.

For years after this incident, people would say “Kar?”” and smile at each other.

*hkhkkkhkhkkkhkhkkkhkhkkkhhhkhkikhkkikiikk
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Angrees Ball (British Ball)
Vilayati Hoon (English Dog)

For the children of that age and generation entertainment was mostly self made. Most of
them belonged to families where it was always a hand to mouth existence. Yet,
appearanaces had to be maintained. Clothes might be old but they had to be washed and
pressed even though many holes would have been repaired diligently by the housewife.
Quite often, food was kept overnight, since it was precious and eating the previous day’s
food the next day was quite common. One of the most common was “Bathe Thi Kaenz”.

Normal expenses left very little spare cash for buying either toys or sports items for the
children. Cinema was in its infancy all over India and Kashmir. In fact, the valley got its
first cinema in Srinagar in the thirties. It was the Palladium and for a long time this was
the only cinema in the entire city. Subsequently, it was joined by the next one Regal and
immediately there after independence by Amrish. While Palladium was located just on
the Lal Chowk where it is still is but in a ramshackle condition.,practically ready for
demolition.The other two namely Regal and Amrish are located on the Residency Road
and the place is also known as the Regal Chowk.

Social values were such that going to the cinema was considered to be a crime and any
one seen by his relatives or friends coming out of or going into the Palladium Talkies, the
news would spread like wild fire and stories would be spun behind the unfortunate
person’s back. Apart from that, there was the question of money. Pocket money for
children which is taken for granted today was unknown. Once a boy, who heard a
classmate in school mention the words pocket money and saw the boy spending it on
sweets,hesitantly raised the subject at home was given a tongue lashing. “Bathe Yed Chai
Phatan” (Your belly gets filled up).

The obsession was centered around studies. For the children, especially boys, the game
plan was to do well, aim for the best and manage with what he could get. For the girls, till
as late as the fifties, education was a luxury and many of the older sisters in the family
remained illterate while the younger ones were lucky enough to get the benefit of
education. Thus, the moment the father came back from work, if he saw the son idling
away, he would get annoyed with him and in most cases give him a beating. So, there
was hardly any time or opportunity to play.

One of our cousins was the only child of his parents and he had purchased for him a ball.
This he naturally brought down into the Aangan and all the children wanted to play with
it. While we were playing with it, we made sure that it did not go over the wall into our
neighbour’s house, which was at a slightly lower level. As the heat of the game
intensified, one of us kicked the ball and we watched with our hearts in our mouths as the
ball curved gracefully and was about to fall into the neighbour’s garden. At the last
minute, due to some freak alteration of one of Newton’s Laws of Motion, the ball did not
fall on the other side but on our “branda” (porch) We heaved a sigh of relief and that
brought forth famous last words on the subject.

“This is an Angreez ball. That is why it did not fall on the other side. It is a special ball
my father has bought me”’.
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The same boy pestered his father for a dog. His father was posted at a police station in
Rainawari. He tried to divert the boy’s mind, but the child was adamant. So after the
futile effort to dissuade the boy, he asked one of his constables to get a stray dog, tie a
rope around his neck and pretend that it had been purchased from the market.

When the boy saw the dog, he was happy and the dog was put in a boat and brought
home . En route, the canine felt like having a bath and the constable accompanying the
boy allowed it to jump out of the boat and swim along the boat for sometime. The boy
was thrilled that he had a dog who could swim while he himself could not. The father
sitting back in his office was worried sick because he knew that his wife would not
tolerate a dog in the house.

Eventually, the dog and its young master reached home and he lost no time in announcing
it to us children in the Sapru compound. And the piece de resistance of his declaration
was “It is an Angreez Hoon. You know he can swim” Poor boy, he did not know that all
dogs can swim.

Having pets was unknown. Only the rich and the famous could do that and even there
within the seven bridges there was hardly anybody among the Pandits who had a pet dog.
This idea was brought forth by a few Kashmiris whose ancestors had migrated during
Aurangzeb’s rule to other parts of India and whose descendants had distinguished
themselves in Civil Service and been employed by His Highness Government. Animals
were not taken into the house and leather was totally taboo. Shoes had to be left outside
and gradually a passage was designated for leaving the shoes.

Our generation which grew up in the forties of the 20" century played “guli danda”which
was obviously imported from Punjab. In our local dialect, it was called “Lathkinj Loth”.
Usually the big stick bat (danda) and the small “guliu “ were made by carpenters as they
were finishing any work for our parents and we would beg them to make. Usually, they
obliged.

*hhhhkhkhkkkkhkhkhkiihhikikkkk
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“Kaisi Achi Hai”(How nice she is)

It was Mission School at Anantnag and the two brothers were studying there. Their father
was posted at Khanabal in the PWD.

The younger one was a boy of poetic nature with a fine sense of appreciation of the
beautiful things of life and he had been watching for days together a little girl who was
practically of the same age as he perhaps was in the single digit phase.

One day, he was standing in the school ground as a bunch of girls including the object of
his admiration passed by. He couldnot restrain himself and said these famous last words:
“Kaisi Achi Hai”

This was heard by someone who carried the tale and spread the news. It became big
news and reached the teacher who immediately ordered the culprit to be produced before
him for punishment and advised others to beware.

Similarly, as often happens, there are all kinds of catty comments about teachers behind
their backs. In this case, the children had also made up a profane couplet which they kept
on chanting before the teacher came.

“This plus this is Jagirkakin ---------- “

While chanting it in a class with the teacher absent, it was just nice amusement and our
artistic hero’s elder brother also in his enthusiasm started chanting this chant.

The leader of the choir was a mischief-maker and stood directly in line with the door to
the classroom. He could see the teacher coming and promptly sat down while the other
did not notice and was caught red handed while shouting the profane poem..

Of course he was punished, while the instigator escaped.

Just at the time when the boy was supposed to accompany him, the father could not find
him. Looking all over the place, he finally traced him to the toilet. Patiently, he waited
and once the boy was ready father and son went out together.

On the way, the father smothering his annoyance, explained the paradox of time and
place, opportune and inopportune to his young son thus:

Once upon a time there lived a hunter. One day, he was searching for prey. Whole day he
searched he could not find anything. He was getting hungry and his dog accompanying
him was also feeling listless. Just as dusk was falling and he had given up getting any
animal to fall to his bow and arrow, he saw a deer in the distance.
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Instantly, he whistled for his dog but there were not response and by the time the dog
trotted upto his master, the deer had vanished and the hunter was angry. The dog had let
him down at the right time. *

“Out of this has come the proverb, ¢ Kute nu shikar vale hagnu aya’ (At the time of the
hunt the dog was otherwise occupied with ...................oooiiin.n. )’

That is the moral of this story.

*hkhkhkhkkkkhkhkhkirhhkhkhkhkhkhihiiiix

A Ruse To Save The Logs

What do you do, when you know that without help you cannot save your property and
will surely lose it. All the hard earned money going down the Vitasta. And that is
precisely what nearly happened many years ago to these two brothers Raghu Nath and
Mahadeo Sapru. After both the brothers had got married and had jobs, their mother felt
they needed a bigger house and for that land was first to be purchased.

In front of our old ancestral house, was the land of our cousins who had built their house
at Safa Kadal. Though physically they had shifted from Narpirastan, their land was still
next door to us and it made sense for us to buy it from them. They were also two brothers
Pandit Arjun Nath Sapru and Pandit Radha Krishen Sapru. After the usual negotiations,
the land was brought and gradually building materials was acquired and construction
started in the late thirties and continued into early forties.

Our story takes us to the time when my uncle purchased wood for the woodwork to be
done for making doors and windows in the house. For this massive logs purchased in
Baramulla were floated down the Jhelum to be taken out at Razdan Yarbal.

On the day the logs arrived at Razdan yaar-bal, the boatmen tied them together with ropes
and left for their homes. Unfortunately, the river was in spate and the pressure of water
broke the tightly knit grouping of logs. A man came running to the house and Mahadeo
Sapru rushed to the river bank and began shouting at the top of his voice:

“ Razdan Sahib’s logs are being washed away. Somebody come and help Somebody
come and help “

Hearing the name of the celebrity of the locality, all the boatmen who were sitting and
eating the dinner in their dhoongas, came rushing and within minutes the logs were
securely tied.

The crisis over, the ruse worked and the logs were saved. But next morning the boatmen
found out who the real owners of the logs were.

*khkhhhkkkkkhkhkhikiihikkx
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14

Family Saga-2: The Romance Of Durbar Move

It was during the rule of Maharaja Pratap Singh that the Durbar Move became a regular
Government activity and not just an annual move by the ruler of the State to escape the
cold harsh ~ winter  of  the Kashmir ~ Valley  for six  months.
Geographically, Kashmir valley is in the middle of a range of the Himalayas and Jammu
is in the plains.After,it became one entity, a state in 1846, the Jammu and Kashmir state,
it was necessary to pay equal attention to both regions. Durbar move, was a device to
keep people of both regions happy.

Practically half of the Pandits employed in the various departments of the State
Government used to move in November from Srinagar to Jammu and the Secretariat
would function from there, leaving a skeleton administrative staff in Srinagar. Because of
the valley being snow bound during six months of the winter, hardly any activity took
place there. So practically every Pandit family had one member at least going to Jammu
for the winter and the refrain among the housewives was that the "Durbar Move is
coming and we are going to Jammu".

It was a romantic adventure, a change and a new experience for the housewives. They
would meet different people and pick up a few words of Dogri and Punjabi. They would
also get a chance to study the eating habits of the people of Jammu and I suspect that the
first Pandit valley housewife who saw a chapathi must have seen it and tasted it in Jammu
along with Dal both of which were practically unknown as the staple food was rice and
hak in the valley. However, the number of wives going to Jammu was very small.

For the children, it was a series of daily doses of excitement just to get ready for the
Durbar Move which in the early days was a two and half day journey by a bus over
nearly two hundred miles of a road hewn out of the sides of a mountain in the Pir Panjal
range.

A word about transport. After 1892, when the arch at the highest point on the Pir Panjal
was built by a British Engineer and mistakenly called the Banihall Tunnel, roads began to
be laid down to cater to the needs of people using that newly developed magic vehicle
called the automobile. Initially,the only automobiles seen were those either owned by the
Maharaja or by the few Englishmen serving in his Government or a visitor coming in
from British India especially the province of Punjab.

Emulating other princely states like Mysore, Travancore, Hyderabad, Baroda, the
Kashmir Maharaja also ordered the laying of roads especially on the trunk routes over
which horses and tongas used to ply. By the early twenties, an urgent need was felt to
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have a regular transport service during summer months from Srinagar to Jammu and
other important towns of the state.

There was at that time all over India a gradual expansion of modern transport and a new
business was developing in terms of providing point-to-point bus service over fairly long
distances. Initially, as in civil aviation, so in surface transport, the first move towards
commercialization was carrying of mails from point to point. In the case of Kashmir, it
was Messrs N.D.Radhakrishan & Company that were the first mail carriers and pioneered
transport in the valley. They carried mail to various points in British India like
Rawalpindi and later on Jammu. The first one was on the Jhelum valley route which was
an all weather road that was cut off in 1947. The other route across the Banihall was
usually open for six months.

Initially, the only access to the rest of India from the Kashmir Valley was through the
Jhelum Valley Road (J.V.Road) ,where the last point to cross was the Kohala Bridge
across the Kishenganga River.From there a road to Rawalpindi was open along with the
Rail Link. In the Jammu region, from which Kashmir Valley was cut of during the winter
months, a new link was established to the railhead at Sialkot in Punjab. This line was
subsequently extended up to Jammu.

Thus the British and the state administration largely depended on these two routes for to
and fro movement with British India. One suspects that had the Dogra rulers not held
Jammu, the Banihall Cart Road (B.C.Road) would have remained a dream. While trade
and industry utilized the Jhelum Valley Road, there was initially hardly any traffic on the
B.C.Road. However even the J.V.Road would get blocked by snow whenever there was
heavy snowfall on the Murree Hills.

The B.C.Road now called the Srinagar — Jammu National Highway was originally built
as a private Cart Road for the Maharaja of Kashmir in 1913 and was completed by 1915.
Since it was only meant for and utilized by the Maharaja and his retinue, it would by
sheer lack of use fall into disuse. At the urging of his advisers, Maharaja Pratap Singh
threw open the road to the public in 1922 and it was only this which encouraged the
passenger and goods traffic to expand and use this road.

It was indirectly and directly the result of the Pakistani invasion of Kashmir that spurred
the Central and the State Governments to improve, this road widen it, and construct a
proper tunnel at the top of the Pir Panjal Mountain, leaving the old arch (Mistakenly
called tunnel) as a spare standby tunnel for an emergency. The construction of the new
tunnel was started 2000 feet below the old arch.

Construction was entrusted to a Swiss Consortium Messrs Karl Kunz and Company,
which started its work in 1953 and the tunnel with two lanes for to and fro traffic was
inaugurated by the then Vice President of India Dr.S.Radha Krishanan in 1956.

In a short span of 25 years (1922-1947), the traffic rose from a few hundred tongas and
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other horse-drawn vehicles to 3,000 trucks annually. Today, more than 2,000 vehicles a
day in summer and 1,500 a day in winter ply on this road

During the pre 47 era, the most prominent bus transporters were Messrs Allied Charag
Din & Sons who pioneered the Jammu Srinagar bus service. At the time of partition, they
decided to migrate to Pakistan and thereafter others came into the fray.

It is reported that it was Sardar Attar Singh who started one of the first passenger bus
transport companies. One thing definitely known is that Sardar Attar Singh had been the
"Governor of Kashmir Valley". This designation was actually that of the Deputy
Commissioner or the Collector, as he was known in British India then.

So Sardar Attar Singh and Sons started the Bus Service and later on another company by
the name Amijit Limited was also floated. In the forties, another company called the Suraj
Bus Service was also in operation. Subsequently another private company floated on or
about 1947 called the Kashmir Tourist Bus Service Ltd., Simultaneously, after
Independence, the State Government also started a Bus Service.

One more family business belonging to the Nandas (today associated with the Escorts
Group) also started a service in the fifties to and from Jammu & Kashmir, which was,
knows as "Nanda Bus Service". Prior to that, Haji Charag Din & Sons operated their bus
services for both passenger and freight in the state connecting Jammu with Srinagar and
other places like Anant Nag, Phalgam, Baramulla, Sopore etc.,

Most of the buses were twenty to twenty-five seaters and powered by Bedford Engines.
Most of the pioneer drivers were Sardars and to tell the truth it was not just a journey but
an adventure when anything could happen.

In practically every family, there would be two brothers a married sister and the children.
One brother and his wife and children would move to Jammu leaving the other brother
and his family and grandparents in Kashmir. It was among the children that envy and
jealousy surfaced because one group was going somewhere nice and interesting, while
the other would be left in the miserable cold and "Khatkosh".

And thus came the great day, when on a cold drizzling November morning, I,
accompanied by my father walked all the way from Narpirastan to the old Bus stand
where our luggage and the womenfolk had already reached courtesy my father's friends.
Actually, Shri Gopinath Kadalbijju and his wonderful intelligent and generous wife
Danavati used to accompany my mother on such trips. Her husband used to work in the
Central office along with my father.

It was a sight to see, to cherish and to remember with that "inward eye which is the bliss
of solitude". My father walking wearing winter clothes and with a Police overcoat slung
over his arm and me hanging on for dear life to his hand since the traffic on the road was
increasingly thick with tongas practically scraping my side. The road was narrow in the
forties. It still is.
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And so we reached the bus stand. The ladies were seated first. The luggage was loaded.
The ropes were tied and the driver arrived. He had obviously been briefed as to who his
passenger was. So, more care and consideration. From the Bus stand as the engine note
increased, we children were excited at the prospect and looked in wonder at the scenery
unfolding. Of course, the children had monopolized the window seats.

Before we could practically settle down, we reached Khanabal and there on the road |
saw my uncle. From a distance, | recognized him by his turban and his tall stature. The
bus stopped and my father got down from the bus and had a brief chat with his brother.
My Uncle "Babatatha™ came and hugged me and off we went towards Qazigund. Just
before entering the little town, we passed Pampore, Brijabhara and stopped at Qazigund.

Here the driver took the vehicle to the petrol station for filling up petrol. In those days,
roughly fourteen gallons were needed to complete the journey to Jammu. It was
fascinating for us children to see how petrol was filled into the tank of the bus. Two huge
hefty men used to hold the handle sticking out of the pump and move it in a lateral
direction to pump the oil into the petrol tank. The reason was that on the highway there
was no light available to power the pump electrically.

We reached the base of the Pir Pinjal and began our laborious climb on the winding
hairpin bends. From a distance, it looked like a number of snakes lying in a circular
position with a sheen of snow white on top. At each hairpin bend, the driver would
change gears and the engine note would alter into a high pitch as the bus would crawl its
way up in second gear.

After a couple of hours of this torture, we children lost interest in the scenery and most of
us fell asleep. Soon the bus crawled to a stop and opening our eyes we saw a long line of
buses and trucks waiting to cross the tunnel. And that brings us to the profane language
used by drivers and cleaners in their wordy duels and dialogues. Often, we heard the
bigger boys shout "Handle Maro Sala, tunnel Jane ka hai Khyala". This was in the days
of the yore when very little of new ideas and practices were imported.

One of the things that tested the mettle of the drivers and the cleaners was the problem of
starting the engine in the absence of a self-starter, which came to India many years after it
was developed and used in commercial vehicles in the West. The car engine used to be
started with the help of the metal handle which when turned with sufficient force would
in turn provide the movement for the fan belt to revolve and start the engine. It was for
this reason that the majority of the cleaners had to be physically fit and strong to keep
turning the starting handle.

We were told that it was a very long tunnel and it would be very dark inside and scary.
As we went in, the driver wisely switched on his headlights, which lit the road ahead, the
rocks on either side were irregular in shape and to my eyes it looked as if they were
devils waiting to catch me. | was frightened but the warmth from my father's proximity
helped to reassure me that no monsters would get me at least not in the bus. Finally a
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long pencil of light pierced the darkness and we knew that we were coming into the
bright light, which we did.

Soon we reached Udhampur and from there to Nandini where a shorter tunnel has to be
crossed but without any fear of monsters and devils. We were now rolling towards the
plains of Jammu and finally reached our destination, safe and sound but tired and hungry.

*khhkhkhkkkkhkhkhkiihkikikikikk

Geography & Education

On the way to Qazigund, on one of our six monthly journeys between Jammu and
Srinagar, | was sitting on the left window seat in the second row from the driver. Childish
curiosity and a rumbling stomach made me ask my father as to how far the next station or
stop was.

He pointed out of the window and said:"Check the milestone™ he then leaned over me
and pointed to a whitewashed stone on the side of the road on which the number had been
written. Father explained that this indicated the number of miles (in those days we had
not converted to the metric system),. we had travelled since we began our journey from
Srinagar.

"We have to travel two hundred miles from Srinagar to Jammu and we have only five
miles more to reach Qazigund. There we shall have something nice to eat", he smilingly
promised.

Thus it was that | had a practical demonstration of distance calculation and a dose of
arithmetic.

Today, what was known for almost a century as the Banihall Cart Road during the Dogra
rule, eventually became vital link between Kashmir and the rest of India and Project
Beacon of the Border Roads Organization (BRO) of the Army looks after the
maintenance of this road which now has the impressive prefix of National Highway.

*hkkkkhkhkkkhkhkkkhkkhkkkhkhkkhkikkhkikkiiikkik

Life in Jammu

There was a qualitative difference in the life that Pandits led in Srinagar or some other
places in the valley and the life that they led in Jammu. By virtue of geography, Jammu
being in the plains had more interaction with Punjab than the people of the valley. Also
the Dogri language is somewhat similar to Punjabi.
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The winds of change that swept over British India, which included Punjab, brought about
a certain kind of openness and freedom of movement among the people beginning with
the thirties and the forties. Whereas in Srinagar the social interaction between Pandits and
Muslims was restricted to a minimum (there was no interdining), in Jammu things were
far more free.

Some of the customs and practices followed by the Pandits kept them in some ways
totally insular. For instance, our eating vessels were totally separate. We drank tea out of
copper cups called "Khos", a round shaped cup with a base at the bottom. We also ate on
thalis and the cooking pots were also distinct. The only common thing we had with the
Muslims of Kashmir was the Samavar, which was a pot for making tea self-contained
with an in- built stove.

Another important factor was that there were no hotels and restaurants in the old parts of
Srinagar in what is called today the down town area of Srinagar. Amira Kadal, the first
bridge, was the area which could be considered posh and the Residency Road beginning
from Lal Chowk was the area that had fairly expensive restaurants meant to cater to the
tourist community, before 47 mostly Europeans and after 47 a mixed crowd of both
foreigners as well as Indians who could afford the holiday.

It may however be noted that there were teashops catering to the Muslims. The nearest
equivalent to this among the Pandits would be the Halwai shop where one could get milk
and milk products as also fried pakoras etc. One important distinction has to be kept in
mind and that is that the Muslims used Chinaware for drinking tea especially.

One more distinction has to be clarified and that is the issue of tea and tea drinking. In the
Kashmir valley it is even today green tea that is drunk by most people at home. Due to
severe winter and some other factors perhaps the tea was never mixed with milk. It was
drunk with sugar alone. Today, the five star hotels of India are offering this and it is
called, as it has been for centuries in the valley, the "Kahwa".

The peculiar thing about Kahwa is that it was considered to be the poor man's tea and
none of the hotels and restaurants on the Residency Road would serve it in their dining
rooms. The tea that was served was mainly made of leaves collected and processed by
British companies like Brooke Bond and Lipton. In the public mind, this was promptly
labelled "Lipton Chai". After independence, within the valley, the housewives began to
store Lipton Tea in addition to the Green Tea.

This is in the nature of an aside to explain the sudden conferment as it were of freedom to
the Pandits in Jammu to visit a Restaurant. Apart from the question of a Hindu Restaurant
or a Muslim Restaurant in Jammu, there was a comparative freedom of choice. After the
day's work, unlike in Srinagar, most Pandits used to stroll down the road from the
Secretariat to the Raghu Nath Bazar and whenever they could afford would go into a
teashop and have some "mathis" and some tea. Some of the more adventurous ones
would go in for butter toast and tea (not available at home). Incidentally, the tea available
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was only Lipton. Some of the religiously inclined would also go to the Raghu Nath
Mandir and pay their obeisance to the god Lord Rama.

*khkhkkkkkkkhkhikx

Poetic Justice

When making arrangements for going to Jammu at the time of the Durbar Move, every
Pandit would have to think of reserving a place in Jammu where he would live either
alone or with his family for six months. For those who would be taking their families, it
was a more elaborate and difficult assignment. But for those who would not be taking
their families, it was easy to join a few colleagues and hire a complete house instead of a
few rooms.

In 1946, my father decided to take me with him to Jammu (my mother had died in 1945)
and so three other colleagues of various other government departments joined together
and decided to hire a cook so that there would be no problem of food. The other three
were the usual run of the mill clerks but one of them was a singularly peculiar character.

This gentleman was a Maha Kanjus (terrible miser). As soon as we reached Jammu and
the daily routine started, |1 was admitted to a school and had to get ready in the morning
almost at the same time as the four adults. In the very first week, | noticed that this
gentleman would wait for another member of the team to go for his bath and would rush
to his bed, search under it, take out his small tin of polish and furiously use it to polish his
own shoes. For a while it did not occur to me as to why he was doing it until | discovered
that he did not own either the polish or the brush, which he could use to polish his own
shoes.

There were other small incidents, which pointed to his being a miser. His roommate
discovered that his polish was disappearing faster and whenever they went down to
Raghu Nath Bazaar he would never pay the bill or offer to pay part of it. The result was
that usually one of the other three would have to pay his share also.

There were murmuring about this and | heard the three adults sometime speaking against
him. My father counselled patience and said that they would get their opportunity to
teach him a lesson. One day, they went to a restaurant and while going, this gentleman
swore that he did not have a pie on him, but unknown to the other three, he had a ten
rupee note in his top pocket where he usually kept his glasses.

As they sat down and ordered, he expressed a desire to check the menu and
ordered something different. The waiter bought the menu and to read it he put his right
hand into the pocket to bring out the pair of glasses. As he did so, the ten-rupee note got
struck to the arm of the glasses and fell out by the side under the table.

This was noticed by my father and a second person who tried to open his mouth and
inform the owner. But my father was too quick and he stamped his foot under the table
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and said, "What is the matter with you, keep quiet”. So the other man kept quiet while my
father stretched out his foot and carefully dragged the note towards him, bent down,
picked it up folded it into a ball and put it in his pocket.

Now the other three saw it and everyone had a smile on his face. All this while the miser
was selecting some choice items to eat for which he knew the others would be paying. At
this point suddenly, my father became very generous and displaying unusual hospitality,
persuaded the gentleman to order many more dishes.

The long and the short of it was when the entire feast was over and the bill came my
father generously took out the ten rupee note and paid the bill which amounted to Rs. 9 —
12 annas. That left four annas, which was given as a tip to the waiter. When he saw the
ten-rupee note, he realized that it was his note, but he could not say a word since he had
earlier sworn that he had no money with him. A case of poetic justice.

"He Is A Communist'

| was too young to understand what Communism was, but our two eldest brothers already
knew enough about Marx, Lenin, Stalin etc., and there would be discussions which went
over the heads of we three younger ones but what brought the subject straight before us
was an incident.

Our neighbour whose garden and house faced our front door was Pandit Narain Saraf a
former Retired Customs official. It was a beautiful house and we would see the old
gentleman daily moving about in his drawing room on the first floor. He had a son named
Niranjan Nath Raina. (The difference in the two surnames can be explained as quite a few
families even today sport two surnames).For instance, Raina and Razdan are supposed to
be similar and there are other instances also of this duality.

One day in early November 1946, we suddenly saw police descending on the house and
going in for what apparently seemed like a search. After sometime, there was total silence
and later on we came to know that it had something to do with the activities of his son
Niranjan who was locally known as "Nyari Saraf".

Apparently since communism was banned in the state, the police must have got
instructions to arrest him, but he escaped. This happened in 1946 and after independence,
he left Kashmir went to UK, did his doctorate in Physics, returned to Kashmir, worked as
Professor of Physics in Kashmir University and retired as the Head of the Department
and he is now living in Delhi.

But the effect of it on us children was profound. We thought, at least | thought, that
Communism was some kind of an infectious disease.
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Security Priority

Apart from the normal Muslim rule where each King or Sultan would get toppled by the
other, they all had one point programme and that was to convert the entire population of
the valley to Islam. In this they were successful. The only period when there was
comparative peace and no forcible conversions was that of Sultan Zaina-Ul-Abadin also
known as Badshah. However, the worst period was the seventy years of Afghan rule
which commenced in 1753 during which Pandits were physically pushed into gunny bags
alive, tied up and thrown into the Dal Lake because they refused to convert to Islam.

It was the darkest period for the Pandit community during which the numbers fell to just
eleven families of survivors who hung on to their faith and ethos stubbornly. The only
parallel instance that one can think of is the systematic ouster in modern times, is the
murder, abduction, and rape of 1989-90. Although peace came during the Dogra rule, the
Pandit psyche was never free from fear of physical harm. This was especially so with
regard to womenfolk. In the early part of the century, you would hardly find any young
girls or women walking on the roads. It was only after the Dogra rule got stabilized that
there was law and order to the extent that women could move around safely.
Batta Gajan

In the 14th century, Zulgadr Khan alias Dulch, a descendent of Changez Khan- his very
name, like the sound of a hurricane, fills one with dread—with a force of 70,000 cavalry
came from Trukistan and invaded Kashmir. During his depredations, which lasted eight
months, he converted the people forcibly to Islam. Thereafter, he left for his native land
via Khuri, taking 50,000 Brahmins as slaves. While crossing the Devasar Pass, a snow-
storm occurred in which he, together with his own troops and the Brahmin
slaves,perished. This place is since called Batta Gajan, meaning the Kashmiri Pandits'
death-oven. (In Kashmiri, Batta means Kashmiri Pandit).

Even today, the older generation refers to Batta Gajan as one of the worst tragedies to hit
the community. Imagine, if those 50,000 Pandits had not perished in that snow storm,
today they would have been much more than 5,00,000 and the community would have
been one million strong. This expression was used extensively in the 19th and the 20th
centuries to signify any comparable tragedy. It got into the idiom and became a part of
the language.

*hhkkkkkkhkhik

In the twenties, the Pandits had a peculiar custom, which died out immediately after the
thirties. Brides when going to their in-laws for the first time in the company of their
husbands had to have their faces covered especially if they were coming from an area in
Srinagar city, which was suspect with regard to safety of women.

My father who got married in 1926 had a similar experience, which he narrated to me.
"We had to go in a barat by boat from Razdan Yarbal and go down the Jhelum to Ali
Kadal and go ashore at Rishi Peer waterfront. After the wedding, the same boats carried
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the bride and the bridegroom but with one variation. The bride though dressed in the
current wedding clothing had put on a Burga.

"But why a Burga? What was the point?"

"This was a custom from almost one hundred years earlier when there had been cases of
brides being kidnapped en route to their husband's house."

Security had become such a phobia with Pandits that even a women left alone at home
during her husband's absence would ensure by precautions and even guile to convince the
bad elements that there was a male member in the house. There was a story of a woman
in our Mohalla who used to sit at the window in darkness and put on her husband's turban
and smoke the hookah (Hubble Bubble) to give the impression that a man was in the
house.

*hhhkhkkkkhkhkhkhhhikhkkhkhiikx

Football Saga

Actually, it was a short saga. You could even say it was not even a saga, but it did open a
Pandora's box of memories that shot out of the brain box after a gap of fifty years. It
happened like this.

| (The author), Hreday, and Jagan were desperately in need of a game to play. But we did
not have either hockey sticks or a football. Somewhere along the line, (I do not remember
how) we managed to get a reject from someone.

Yes, the football was our prized possession and our commander Hreday decided that we
should play in the backyard but that was not allowed as my aunt had planted some hakh
there. So we went to the front yard, but as soon as he gave it the first kick the football
gave its last gasp. All the air hissed out of it and it became as limp as a dead cat.

The football was brought examined thoroughly by three experts and prounced dead. Now
arose the question of a reviving it to life. One worthy made the suggestion that since it
had a hole in the neck we should go to the cycle repair shops at Malik Aangan. So off we
trooped to the cycle shop but disappointment awaited us. He had gone home for lunch.

So from Malik Aangan we went to Razdan Kocha but there the shop was closed and
onwards to Bana Mohalla. There too we drew a blank. Finally after Chinkaral Mohalla
we found just after Sham Bhat's a cycle shop with the proprietor sitting idle.

We rushed, we explained, we showed the patient and we requested immediate restoration
of the football to good health. He looked at all three of us and did not think we were
creditworthy and told us in no uncertain terms that it would cost the grand sum of One
Anna to repair the football. We looked at each other and decided to check our treasury.
Low and behold, our fortune amounted to three paise (In those days for the information
of the uninitiated or the young or the ignorant four paise made one anna)
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Shamefacedly, we showed him the extent of our resources and just pleaded with our eyes.
This is all we have, please do it. | suppose he felt sorry for us and agreed. We were very
happy. We stood around. It was the main road leading to Habba Kadal and we were on
the side of the road.

Just then we heard a lady's voice from behind and | saw for the first time in my life a
woman on a cycle stopping in front of the cycle repair shop. | stared at her goggleyed and
then | discovered that this cycle was different from other cycles. It had no handle bar. |
whispered to Hreday. He said with the superior smile "Don't be stupid, that is a lady's
cycle”. My curiosity satisfied, | now watched to see what she wanted.

The cycle repairman had wished her and showed respect and then she was telling him
about the problems of the back wheel of the cycle. She suspected that there might be a
puncture, which the expert confirmed. So, without as much as by your leave, our work
was set aside and the cycle became the priority.

We quietly watched and he sensed that we were impatient but he explained his
philosophy. "For this small job of repairing the puncture, | am getting four annas and for
your tough job | am getting three paise, see the difference” We meekly nodded our heads
and tried to be patient.

Soon, the cycle was ready, the payment was made and the customer departed and our
expert resumed work on our patient. Being highly experienced, he eventually fixed the
defect and cured the malady after which he filled the football with air and to our delight it
gave a very healthy sound of a bounce.

We looked at each other paid the money and did not stop until we reached home. And
then we rushed into the yard and started playing but all the gods were against us. The
moment the second kick of the ball materialized, it started raining. Frustrated we had to
come with our precious ball and sit glumly on the verandah and watch and curse the rain.

But who was that lady, you forgot to ask? She was Ms. Lakhmi (Lakshmi) Rambal one of
the first ladies in the valley to take up teaching.

*khkkkkhkkkkikkikik

Tiger, Tiger Burning Bright

The road was in an appalling condition. The vibration was shaking the bones of the lone
passenger in the bus meant to seat 40 passengers but now completely empty.

It was the sweltering June heat of Punjab, the bus was going from Jammu to Pathankot.
The driver was feeling the heat and had parted company with his shirt. The passenger
promptly emulated him.
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The passenger was the Assistant Trade Agent of the Jammu & Kashmir Government
based at Amritsar and recalled to temporary duty at Pathankot. This was just the year
after the Pakistani Invasion of Kashmir and there was a terrible foodgrains shortage in the
valley. While the State Government did its best to mitigate the sufferings of the people,
food relief came from other states and was stacked bag on bag at the railway station
waiting to be loaded on trucks for transport to Srinagar.

And that is where the passenger of the bus was going — to Pathankot. Just a few miles
after passing the border at Madhopur, the bus was going at a steady 30 KMPH and the
passenger was dozing. Suddenly the driver saw lights, twinlights in the distance. All
round the countryside it was pitch dark on both sides of the road.

He shook his passenger awake and said:

"Panditji, we are in trouble. Those twin lights are the two eyes of a tiger rushing towards
us."

"Really, then what shall we do? Shall we stop, Shall we turn back".
"No Panditji, we shall fight him and we shall kill him."

"But with what? Have you got a gun?

"No, I don't have a gun but | have this bus".

"I guarantee you Sir, that when he comes under the front wheel I shall twist the back
wheel so that his neck comes under two tyres at the same time. That will finish him off".

"But how can you be sure of going over him. Suppose he turns away and comes at us
from the window", his passenger voiced his fears and  doubts.

"Don't worry, trust me, you will see".

All talk ceased, the driver concentrated on driving. The tiger was coming nearer and
nearer with two pinpoints of his eyes lighting up like laser beams. Knowing that he would
require every light in the dark, the driver put on his headlights at maximum beam and as
they came closer to collision, the driver switched on additional lights, which blinded and
dazzled the tiger.

At the first collision, the tiger was thrown back on his side and the front wheel went over
his throat. While this was happening the passenger was holding on to the safety rods in
front of his seat and the driver was wrestling with the wheel. Suddenly both of them had a
crack. The tiger's neck was broken.

After he straightened the bus out on all four wheels and restored the balance of the
vehicle, the driver laughed out loud and told his passenger.
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"Panditji, we have killed us a tiger".
"But how can you be sure that tiger is dead. Let us stop and check™.

There were about a hundred yards from the dark shape visible even at that distance. They
took a few pebbles and threw them at the tiger. There was no reaction. The tiger was
dead. Just at that moment, from the opposite side they could hear a tonga, they shouted at
the tonga driver to stop and the driver went straight to look at the tiger asked the shocked
passengers of the tonga to help him shift the carcass of the tiger from the middle of the
road. This was duly done.

The driver reached Pathankot and parked his bus. The passenger took leave of him. End
of adventure. End of Story. Not quite.

A year after this incident, the author then a wise young man of nine years was leaving a
dhaba in the Shariekhpura locality of Amritsar. As we were leaving, two new customers
arrived and one of them wished my father who instantly recognized him as the driver
who had killed the tiger. A short conversation followed and we parted company.

"Did he really kill the Tiger?"

"Yes, he did "

"But how? Did he have a gun with him?

IINOII

"Were you with him"

"Yes"

"Were you scared?"

"Yes"

Total silence. We walked home and | thought of the tiger and for some reason |
sympathized with the tiger. Why, I do not know.

*hhhhkhkhkkkkhkhkhkihhhkhkhkkkhhhkiirikx

Boot Polish, The Cure All

It was a cold November day and snowflakes were hitting the window panes as | sat with a
Kangri under my pheran. It was a gloomy day. | could not play and there was nothing
else to do. | hated the books and the homework. | was miserable, in short.

Suddenly, a ray of sunshine came into my life. My uncle barged into the room and told
me to arise, awake and get ready to go out with him to the market. | was excited and |
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fumbled with the buttons of my coat. Finally, we set out and the farthest we went to was
Habba Kadal. On the way, the snow changed to sleet. Anyway, my uncle stopped at a
shoe shop and announced to me his intention of buying me a new pair of shoes. Oh Boy,
was | excited and thrilled. | tried several pairs and found one that fitted me. The usual
bargaining began and after an interval of half an hour of intense bargaining the deal was
struck, the money was paid and | became suddenly the affluent, proud owner of a new
pair of shoes.

| clutched the box to my chest and followed my uncle back home. I didn't show the shoes
to anybody, but rushed upstairs to try them on. | put them on and stared at the shining
black topside where | could see my reflection in the shine of the leather. | could not go
out to try it out, so | walked up and down in the corridor in the front of the room.

After sometime, | decided that | should not dirty the soles anymore and took off the shoes
to examine whether | had dirtied them. | had. There were marks of dirt on what had been
two shining soles. This was not good. | wanted my shoes to remain as good as new
forever, but how to do it. | stared at the sole, | stared at the wall, and | stared at the door.
No inspiration.

Finally, I looked into the shoebox where | found a new shoe brush and shoe polish. Idea.
I would polish the shoes, | mean, the soles, and so | did and got caught. My uncle caught
me polishing the soles of the shoes. My uncle who rarely would laugh especially with us
children suddenly burst out laughing.

"Sooma, we don't polish soles of shoes. Soles are meant to become dirty. We walk with

on them. We polish the top of the shoes. You can't keep your shoes new this way. Now
be a good boy and put your shoes into the box.

Close to tears, | was hurt, puzzled and angry at this world. Why can't | keep the shoes
new all the time. It's so unfair.

"Hey, Sooma, want to see Bansi's new ball. It's an English ball.................

| rushed out forgetting all the gloom of a few minutes earlier. Understandable. | was nine
years old.

*khhhhkhkkkkhkhkhkhhhhhkhkkhkhkhiiiiikx

Monsoon Deadline

In 1948 — 49, the shortage of food and other essentials in the Kashmir valley was acutely
felt. It was actually started by Pakistan before the October 47 attack when they stopped
supplies coming through the Jhelum Valley Road.
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Mahadeo Sapru had taken a year's furlough and was on his way to Singapore to take up a
job, which had been offered to him by Sardar J. J. Singh who was then, the President of
India America League based in the United States of America.

En route to Amritsar, he met Bakshi Gulam Mohammed, then Deputy Prime Minister of
Kashmir who persuaded him at the Airport itself and actually forced him to cancel his
trip to Singapore. Eventually, he was posted to Amritsar as the Assistant Trade Agent of
the J & K Government in Punjab.

It was after some time, that he was designated at the height of the food shortage crisis as
the Food Procurement Officer in which capacity he brought about the dispatch of
foodgrains to the valley first by train up to Pathankot and from there by trucks to
Srinagar.

Initially, his job was to ensure dispatch of good quality of grains from the various
mandis(markets) of Punjab. As the dispatches increased, so did the big piles on the
platform at Pathankot Railway Station. The local staff of the Trade Agency were trying
their best but lack of organization and other shortages did not result in sending more than
half a dozen trucks carrying grains to Srinagar daily.

At this point, Bakshi Gulam Mohammed turned up in Amritsar one day and gave an
emergency order to my father to immediately go to Pathankot and clear all the grains
lying there. At this time, he was accompanied by another Minister of the National
Conference Government namely D.P. Dhar.

The reason for this was that it was already May and in just four weeks time, the monsoon
would start and thousands of tonnes of foodgrains were lying out in the open and one
shower of rain would render them unfit for human consumption.
When he reached Pathankot, he found that the staff was totally inadequate and not equal
to the job. Since he had been given financial powers as well, he took the bold decision of
hiring thirty weighing centers and temporary staff to man them and keep accounts.

On a Monday morning, the work started from 6.00 a.m to 12.00 noon and from 4.00 p.m.
to 7.00 p.m. Compared with the earlier dispatch of six to seven trucks per day, he was
able to send on the very first day 42 trucks. On the second, third, fourth and subsequent
days he averaged seventy trucks. A stage reached when he had to call the Minister and
tell him to send more trucks to carry the grain as he was facing a shortage of vehicles.
It was tiring and exhausting work. Yet everyday,he could see the huge mountain of grains
getting smaller and smaller. On June 8, several railway wagons arrived from Faridkot in
Punjab, which were unloaded and added to the quantity to be sent to Srinagar.

On June 12, there were just about 30 truckloads left. He was taking a breather in the form
of a cup of tea while every one was sipping cold soda and smoking beedies and
cigarettes. He looked up at the sky. Dark clouds were gathering across the Northern sky
and his assistants expressed fear that it might rain that night.
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It did not and the work continued at a furious pace until June 15 when there was not a
single bag of grain left on the Pathankot Railway Station Platform. He went to the Hotel
had his dinner and went to sleep.

Thunder and lighting woke him up at midnight and the rain came down heavily as the
heavens opened up. The rains had come but they had beaten the deadline. All the grain
had reached the valley.A job well done.

*hhkkkhkkhkkkhkkhkkkhkkhkkhkkikkhkkikkiikkikk

Free Discipline Day

There was excitement in the air and we three talked about it at home. But the eldest
among us did not condescend to join our conversation because the next day he, a student
of class X, would become a teacher for a day.

So the next day dawned bright and clear, with the boys filling the school ground as usual.
Soon after attendance, the "Free Discipline Day" began.

A word aside. This was the Central High School also called Mission School also called
CMS School. It was also called Biscoe School. This was the name sometime used by the
educated lot but the illiterate lot used to call it "Biscoot Sahib's School”. The virtual
distortion of his name however did not worry or bother the founder Rev. Canon Biscoe.

He was responsible in a very large measure for introducing English language teaching in
the valley and brought in many innovative practices into the school system. He
introduced games and swimming as parts of the character-building programme, which
produced some of the best from the valley.

In the mission school, he introduced a system whereby the older boys would learn how to
lead and how to teach by giving them an opportunity to become adults for a day. And
very rightly he named it the "Free Discipline Day".

Immediately after the bell rang, all the teachers disappeared from the scene and handed
over the classes to students of the senior classes who had been selected earlier for this
assignment. | and my cousin, were in the sixth class and it fell to our lot to have Hreday
as our teacher for the day for that period.

What a contrast it was. It would seem as if Hreday was suddenly transformed from a
youngster who played with us into a serious strict adult. To reinforce the image, he
carried a scale with him and started lecturing without a preamble. There was a din, but he
suddenly shouted and caned a few ringleaders in the front rows and soon a hush and then
peace descended on the class and he seriously began teaching us some subject, which |
have to my regret forgotten.
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The transformation was complete. To my eyes, it seemed as if he had been a teacher for
ever and with his eyes darting everywhere looking for mischief mongers, he looked every
inch the epitome of perhaps Oliver Goldsmith's village school master or perhaps
Mr.Chipps of James Hillton or a combination of both.

Soon the bell rang and the class was over and the teacher left. And some one else came in
for the next class. The rest of the day is a blur in my memory, but that day | found out
how an opportunity can change a personality.

Hreday is today holder of two Doctorates and a Professor of Neuro Medicine in New
Jersey, U.S.A.

*khkhkhkhkkkkhkhkhkiihhikhkhkkhiikx

"Marm Time" (Morning Time)

In the whole of India, being a tropical country, summer holidays are the longest for the
children. But in Kashmir, Himachal, Uttaranchal and the hill districts of West Bengal
such as Darjeeling, it is not the summer holidays, which are the longest, but the winter
holidays. In the Kashmir valley, the winter vacation would begin in late November or
early December and end in mid February.

Many years ago, the people in the valley felt that the summer heat was intolerable of
course, by valley standards. What the Kashmiris called hot was cool and pleasant in the
rest of India. Somehow, the authorities decided that children should not be made to go to
school during the hot summer days. Therefore, they introduced what was called Morning
time.

Of course, the children called it Marm time and so did the housewives. It was a welcome
change for the children to have to get up early and go to school at seven a.m. whereas
they were used to going school normally at 10.00 a.m. But for them it was fun and there
were other advantages. The school would close at 12.00 and they had plenty of time to

play.

It is not quite clear whether the morning school timings were introduced in all schools in
the valley, but I distinctly remember that they were indeed enforced in the Mission school
at Fatehkadal.

As communication and information expanded, children gradually started becoming bold
compared to their earlier shy and generally obedient nature. Generally most of them
would listen as the teacher droned on whatever he was teaching. Questions were hardly
asked, doubts were mostly unheard of and school was do as the teacher says. But there
were certain boys who were exceptions to the rule. For instance, there was this bold
young fellow from an affluent family who was caught by the teacher for not paying
attention.
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When asked what he was doing he replied that he was looking out of the window. The
teacher out of sheer curiosity made the mistake of asking him as to what he saw that was
very interesting. His reply has gone into the annals, but here it is for what it is worth. "Sir
| just saw a beautiful woman, | was hoping | would get a wife like her" In Kashmiri, the
nuances are far sharper. "Puraat hish zanane geshim -Would love to have such a robust,
plump woman"

*khhkhhkkkhkhkhkhiihhkikhkhkhkhihiiiix

The Astrologer Was Right

Once upon a time, there lived a man who after 18 years of service decided to take one-
year furlough. As he was leaving for his one-year vacation, he was stopped a little
distance away from the place from where he had started. He was told that he had been
recalled to duty. His leave was cancelled.

He worked in a far off place for years and then suddenly the Government decided that the
post he held had become redundant. The post was abolished and our man was without a
job but he had his right over his original job and it was expected that he would go back to
it. Meanwhile, his daughter was getting married. He celebrated his daughter's marriage
and was going to take a decision on his future.

On a sunny day, he started walking towards the office where he had worked earlier
having now decided that he would go back to his original job. As he was passing through
a locality(Zaindar Mohalla) where his family astrologer lived, he decided to pay him a
visit. In traditional Hindu families in Kashmir, the family priest is also the astrologer and
he casts the horoscopes of all those born in the families whom he serves. Normally, all
horoscopes cast by him had duplicates, one copy for the person concerned and one for
record kept by the astrologer in his own house.

After the initial greeting, our man asked the astrologer to have a look at his horoscope.
The astrologer took a few minutes to glance through it and said:

"Everything is fine for the time being, there will be no change”

"But that is impossible. | have been relieved of my job. So, where is the question of my
going back to the same job in the same place. There must be some mistake Jyotshiji™.

"There is no mistake, you are going back to the same place to the same table to the same
office. May be, you will be given the job of lifting stones like a coolie, but in terms of
respect, prestige and salary you will be facing no change. You will be respected again as
you were earlier. That is my final prediction. Please tell me when it happens".

There was no arguing with such a flat, determined, assertion. The man nodded paid him a
little money and left his house. He started walking on the main road and a few minutes
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later a car came fast from the opposite direction, almost passed him and suddenly
screeched to a halt. The driver backed until it came abreast with the man.

Out stepped a senior civil servant who told him that the Chief Minister wanted to see him
very urgently. He was bundled into the car and taken to the CM's Office.

"We have taken a decision to open a new trade organization and we have already set up
showrooms in major cities and your city from where you have recently come is on the
list. I want you to go forthwith back to Amritsar where you will use not only your former
staff members but also the premises of your earlier office. | want you to leave tomorrow.
There will be no change in your salary and entitlements. It will be as though you never
left your previous job in the same place".

Our man was dazed. What the astrologer had said an hour back had come so accurately
true that it was frightening. Needless to say, our man went and shocked his previous
office staff who had just two weeks earlier given him a farewell party, by occupying the
same seat that he had vacated two weeks earlier.

*khhkkhkkkkhkhkhkhhhikikikkk

Island In The Sun

How accurate is astrology? Many have asked this question but few have answered it
satisfactorily. Let us give you another instance.

There was this young man in his thirties working in an organisation. Ambitious yes, but
he did not find an opportunity to fulfil his desire to go abroad. One fine day, he decided
to apply for a scholarship or fellowship in America. Nothing happened, not even a
rejection slip, then he gradually gave up dreaming of going up abroad and concentrated
on improving his position in the company he worked.

Three years passed and one fine day a senior colleague persuaded him to come with him
to a friend of his who was an astrologer. After the initial greetings, he asked for his
particulars.

"What particulars”

"Your name, date and time of birth, place of birth"

He obliged and the astrologer asked him to come the following week on Sunday to hear
about his future.

"By April 14, 1979, you will not be in India. You will live abroad for almost a year"

"But where will 1 go, can't you tell me". "I can't tell you the place but I can tell you what
it will be like. You will be in a place which will be surrounded by water on all sides".
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"Perhaps | will be marooned like Robinson Crusoe on an island”, our young man said
trying to be funny.

Of course, he thought it was a ploy by the astrologer to extract some money from him.
Then he looked at the calendar it was December 1978. He thought to himself that it was
only a few months away. He could check out the prediction. In any case, he did not
believe what the astrologer said. He paid the customary fee and went away.

Several months passed, he forgot all about it. Then one fine day in February 1979 he
received a letter from America selecting him for a fellowship in communication studies.
At first, he couldn't believe it, and then he looked at the place from where the letter had
come. It was the Honolulu Island in the Hawaiian Archipelago, so the second part of the
prediction also seemed to have come true.

Once he was over the shock, he set about making preparations for going to America. His
prepaid Air ticket arrived, but while he looked at the route and the places, he didn't notice
the dates.

Came the great day when he flew from Bangalore to Madras, Singapore, Hong Kong,
Tokyo and finally landed at Honolulu International Airport in the United States. He was a
little dazed as he collected his luggage and suddenly his eye fell on the calendar hanging
on the wall.

It was April 14, 1979 correct to the day, the date that the astrologer had predicted.

*hhhhkhkhkkkkhkhkhkiihhikikikkk

Against The Tide

| was fourteen and had just learned to swim in a safe swimming pool in far away Madras.
I was back home for vacation. It was summer and all the children were frolicking around
on the riverbanks all along the two sides of the Jhelum River. And | was also tempted to
swim and show off my knowledge of swimming. It was at Razdan Yarbal.

| waded into the river and could even near the bank feel the pressure of the waves. Close
by there was a dhoonga and adjacent to it there was an eddy a whirlpool which could
suck anything or person down. As I neared it, the owner of the dhoonga shouted at me to
keep away. It was dangerous, he cautioned me.

| was scared and started swimming in the opposite direction blindly without realizing that
| was swimming towards the middle of the river. Soon, I got caught in the flow of the
river, which was practically in spate. | was swept down and very soon could see the third
bridge (Fateh Kadal).

| realized after the first fright that 1 would have to use all my strength against the current
to get out of its clutches to reach the opposite bank. It seemed to me there was a slight lull
in the pressure of the current. | immediately struck out towards the opposite bank and
continued beating the water with my thin arms. To my relief, | discovered that | was just
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ten feet away from the bank. One more effort and | reached the bank, touched the mud
and crawled up with my chest heaving.

| stood there and wondered as to how | could get back to Razdan Yarbal, which was
quite a distance upstream and on the opposite bank. I decided to sit down and think the
problem over while walking up on the bank along the river. | was walking towards the
second bridge (Habba Kadal) and discovered that the river was flowing from the second
bridge to the third bridge and if I got into the flow of the current I could go with it up to
or just a little before where | wanted to climb ashore at Razdan yaar-bal.

No sooner had the thought crossed my mind, than | decided to implement it. | reached
the temple just below the second bridge and waded into the water. With a few powerful
strokes, | reached the middle of the river and the flow of the current carried me down. |
kept a watch at which place | had to make a maximum effort to cross over to the other
side.

My arms were feeling like sticks but | had to keep fighting. Inch-by-Inch | reached
across two thirds of the width of the river and was so exhausted that once my feet
touched firm ground below the water, | did not have the energy to climb the first step of
the bathing ghat. | lay there panting for quite sometime until my breathing became
normal and | looked around for my clothes. My cousins were there and | made a joke
out of the experience.

Even after all these years, | can never forget the terror and the fear that | experienced. It
was an experience. Yes, an experience to last a lifetime.

*hkhkkkhkhkkkhkkhkkkhkkhkkkhkhkkhhikkikiikkik

The Sound Of Music

Grandfather Baghwan Das Sapru’s brother had four sons. Out of these four, he gave away
one son in adoption to his relatives who lived close by practically next to Razdan Kocha.

His name was Niranjan Nath Trisal and he used to stay at his adopted parents’ house and
would frequently come to the Sapru house and also stay there. From the beginning, he
had an ear for music but given our economic state (both in the adopted family and his
original family) he could not be sent to a music school. Normal schooling was started
which after some time petered out. The most remarkable thing that one can remember
about this diamond of a man was that he learnt his music from the most primitive
instruments. And thereby hangs a tale.

On the ground floor in most of the houses at ground level inside the rooms was such that
a man could sit on the floor next to the window and watch the scene outside. The wooden
plank out of which the lower portion of the window was made was thin and if you
thumped it with your hand it would produce a sound and become a kind of primitive
substitute tabla, especially if you used both your hands, one on the outside and the other
on the inside.In Kashmiri, this part of the window is called “Damdhar”. This was his first
musical instrument. But whenever he thumped the dhamdhar, , he would incur the
displeasure of all the elders and often get chased out of the house. Most growing boys
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especially adolescents always explore the kitchen so that they can find something to eat at
odd times. Once, Niranjan or Nera as his contemporaries called him, sauntered into the
kitchen ,suddenly his eyes lit up with pleasure. What he saw was a strainer made of thin
leather, which would produce a lovely musical sound in his expert hands.

Poor man, he had to go through all kinds of hell to get himself a job and that too, job that
his family and the community and the relatives considered respectable. It is very strange,
looking back that while teaching as a profession was lauded, that of a drawing master and
a band master were looked down upon. And so poor Nera Trisal had to struggle outside
the home, learn the job of playing all the instruments in the orchestra and conducting it as
a team and eventually he landed a job as a band master in a school and that gave him a
regular income, made him respectable enough. He got married and raised a family.

The best part of his life to my mind and that of hundreds of his admirers was the public
adulation that he received and revelled in. By the time, our generation was growing up,
he was in his prime and the memorable occasions were when he could show his prowess
during a parade and would lead the band that would lead the school team in a procession
through the main streets of Srinagar especially the main road from which leads the lane to
his house.

In 1951, Pandit Nehru came to Srinagar and there was a procession of schoolboys and
other contingents, which went through the main road. It was a lovely summer afternoon,
with a pleasant breeze and thousand of people looking out of the windows of the houses,
which lined two the sides of the road. And of course, our hero Niranjan Nath was leading
with that long magical stick which he kept throwing into the air and catching it without
faltering in keeping up with the tempo and speed of movement.

I was in one of the houses glued to the window watching the parade and looking out for
him because | suddenly discovered that his wife, children, relatives both from the Trisal
and Sapru families had gathered to watch him march past. As the procession reached
Razdan Kocha, everyone suddenly pointed towards his impressive figure resplendent in
uniform with the tora of his turban flying majestically in the air and right at that spot he
simple looked up smiling probably for the benefit of his wife who was watching from the
window. To make it a memorable occasion, he held the stick and threw it up, caught it
expertly and having done that, without batting an eye marched on smartly.

He used to come quite regularly to see my father. And on various occasions | noticed and
heard that he had a lifelong fascination for the humble potato. Among the Kashmiris,
there is a dish known as “Dum Aloo” which is potato cooked in chilli based red masala
with thick gravy, normally an essential ingredient on special guest dinners or weddings.
Today,. anywhere in India or even abroad, the Dum Aloo is a five star hotel dish which
can only be ordered and consumed by the rich and the famous.

But my favourite Niranajan Nath of the band master fame loved it and would eat it as
often as possible. He was a versatile man. You don’t find many like him anymore.

khkhkhhhhkhkhkkkkhiikiiiikixkx
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Run Up To Shankarcharya Hill

| studied in Biscoe Mission High School from 1949 to 1951, admittedly a fairly short
period to claim to be an alumni of the school. However what needs to be stressed is that
even in the early fifties after Biscoe had left India and passed away in Rhodesia, his
teachings had not been forgotten.

One of the requirements was physical training for boys that is swimming, football,
hockey, drilling and distance running. For some inexplicable reason, they divided the
boys not by classes but by age. There were two groups one was called the Under 10 boys
of age and the other was 10 to 12. It so happened that my cousin, who was nine months
older than me was put in under 10 and | who was nine months younger was put in 10 to
12.

The reason for this classification was that the distance to be run by the younger boys was
less and for the older boys more. It was a tradition of the school to have an annual run up
to the Shankaracharya hill and | faced the daunting task of having to run up to the top of
the hill, bring a chit back which would indicate that | had completed the run.

As | struggled up along with bigger boys, | felt that | would collapse and die on the way.
But | did not want to be left behind and struggled. At long last huffing and puffing, |
reached the top and practically collapsed but took my chit and | was one of the last ones
to arrive and fell into the arms of the veteran teacher Isher Kaul and teacher Janakinath. |
was revived, given a glass of water and subsequently a hot glass of milk with horlicks.

That ended my career as a track star.

As an aside one might mention that our school had a drilling squad and | used to envy the
boys who were selected for it. One of them was Chamanlal Nehru who also lived in our
neighbourhood. He was my classmate and later on he completed his higher education. He
holds a doctorate and later on became a professor of Mathematics.

*hkkkkhkkhkkkhkkhkkkhkhkkhkhkkkikkikkik

The Lighter Side

His haste, their Patience

You must have heard the saying “the wealth of a nation for an inch of time”. In
the Kashmir valley, during the early part of the last century, time did indeed go and move
very slowly since, speed was something unheard of. People walked to work at a slow
pace on foot and there were no speed limits. Only when a thief was running away, did
people shout and then also not run.
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Practically everything about birth, marriage, life and death were entwined in their
little world within the seven bridges. A small nugget of news directly concerning the
valley was discussed for weeks on end and gossip was the staple diet for the housewives
and a higher version of it called local news was that of the males who went out of the
house to earn their living in the service of the Governor.

In this idyllic world, there lived a man in a joint family who discovered early in
life that it would be impossible for him to develop even a nodding acquaintance with
education and ultimately employment. In fact, as he grew older, he and work became
total strangers. His parents tried their best to get him to work but he refused to budge.

The net result was that living in a joint family, he was supported by all for his
food and clothing and nothing much more. During the daytime, when the menfolk went
to work, he was utilized for running errands and doing small jobs for the family like
going out to the nearby baker or grocer or tailor or cobbler etc.,

It so happened once that our hero clad as he was in his pheran was sitting outside
watching small children play when he was called inside by the grandmother. There was at
this time in the family one of the ladies who was shortly expecting a baby. In those days,
there were hardly any telephones, any taxis, any ambulances to take an expectant lady to
the hospital. In fact, in those days very few births took place in hospitals.

The normal course used to be to call the midwife who would assist in the delivery
of the child and oversee the post delivery treatment of the mother and that of the newborn
child. Thus, the grandmother told our hero to go and call the midwife of the mohalla as
her daughter in law was already in labour and the baby was due any minute. She
impressed upon him that he should hurry up and fetch the midwife immediately.

Suitably impressed by the urgency of the situation, out hero pulled the right hand
noru (sleeve) of his pheran over his shoulder and started walking out of the house with
great quick strides. The last that the children who were playing saw of him was when he
turned the corner at the end of the lane where they lived.

Grandma was waiting impatiently and the other ladies of the house joined
together and when the labour pains had become acute, the ladies of the house decided that
they would have to help with the delivery without the presence of the midwife. The baby
arrived, everyone heaved a sigh of relief and there was joy and happiness around as the
mother and the child were both healthy.
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After a couple of hours, grandma asked whether anybody had seen the messenger
she had sent to fetch the midwife. None had. Anyway nobody worried too much about
our hero’s absence. The man never came in the evening, was missing for the night and
missing for the week and the month. Several months passed and the baby grew rapidly.

Soon he began to speak and started playing with the older children in the
courtyard nearly a year old now. Meanwhile, the family had practically forgotten our
hero who had totally disappeared. One day the baby, for whose birth our hero had been
sent to fetch the midwife, suddenly shouted for his mother and said in his lisping voice
‘Amma Amma ------------- “ and pointed towards a woebegone figure and before anyone
could say anything the figure marched towards the door.

In most traditional houses in Kashmir, the main door to the house had a strong
bottom base where the bolt used to be fixed. In the open position, one had to be careful
when crossing or stepping over the threshold of the house. This our hero forgot and his
big toe hit the threshold and he fell flat on his face. The sound of his fall brought the rest
of the members of the family including the baby and everyone looked at him.

Of course, it was our hero returning from his trip to fetch the midwife. With
everyone looking at him, our hero felt that he owed the people around including the baby
for whom he had originally gone an explanation.

“Wyeh balye myni ichi jaldi”

“Damn me for unnecessarily hurrying up.” Yes, hurrying up. He was only one year

late.
*hkhkkkhkkhkkhkhkkhkkhkkkhkkhkkkhkhikkikik
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LADISHAH

“A typical character, “Ladishah”, imbibed with strange features represents Kashmiri (Koshur)
queer way of commenting critics, especially of a person with a political career, who has had failures
only as his stock of activities. It is a poetic satire sung in a rhythmic tone. The man who characterizes
as “Ladishah” dons a bafoon’s attire of a long gown with a turban and a big iron fork (chimta) in his
hands to play upon.

“Thus while playing on tune with the fork, Ladishah comments critique on someone, a major|
portion of it being hypocritical truths and white lies. The lies overshadow the truths and the listeners
relish to make a fun out of it. While it would be a satirical way of conveying for the sake of fun, we
have entered into a real era of Ladishah in our community after the migration. In the post-migration
period, the real Ladishahs have emerged who play this critical role in this distressful and painful state
of migration, instead of extending a helpful attitude towards the affected and as well make efforts at
uniting the community firm like a rock.

“These post — migration “Ladishahs” never look back to their own failures but are bent upon to
bring discredtit to the community. They simply feel jealous and prejudicial of the successes of others.
In any sort of welfare measure at any level or gathering, they prove fatal to the community’s interests.

“Whatever nice and humane behaviour we were exhibiting while in the Valley, we have over 4
passage of one decade lost those values. The fund of humane behaviour is drifting away, instead of]
integrating it, in one wholeness of sympathetic and helpful attitude.

This wave of unhelpfulness has to be shunned and we all must rise to the occasion to save the
community from further losses of good values which at one time we imbibed, apart from exhibiting it
as well. We wish that the microscopic community, endowed as it is with total literacy both in Indig
and abroad, turns into one full eternal force one day, resulting in rejuvenating the ties of bondage.

“Come all and kick off the bad genetic behaviour of selfishness and learn from around as we have had|
a total exposure over this decade now. We didn’t remain a frog in a well but a frog in a well but a frog|
in ocean.”

Koshur Samachar , Sept 2000.

The world of ‘Nasha’

In practically every Indian village, there used to be certain members of the
fraternity who were important members according to their profession. Each village had
its own barber, butcher, teacher, postman and even a wrestler. While all this can be
checked out from history books, there was one more member who was not officially
mentioned but who was always physically present.
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We are referring here to their village ‘Charsi’ who apart from his other normal
occupation was also an opium addict who indulged in this rather undercover activity but
after a while everybody in the village knew. There was hardly any marriage when the
Charsi would not be included in the barat that left the village to get the bride.

So it was in Kashmir too. There were places where opium used to be smoked. In
the urban and semi urban areas when men collected, it became like an informal club and
one of the facilities offered were communal baths. In Srinagar City, there were a few
quite a few places, which were known as “takias”.

Now this story does not have anything to do with takias by themselves, but with
the concept of the glorious laziness that opium addiction brought about in people. Once
upon a time, there were three addicts. Incidentally in Kashmiri addicts of that kind are
called “Shodas”. All three Shodas were once sitting during winter under one blanket after
having imbibed the contents of the opium pipe.

Suddenly one of them smelt smoke. It needs to be mentioned that most of the
houses in Kashmir used to have a great deal of wood used in making them. So fires were
quite common in winter.

Said the first shoda “Hayo, naar, ha” (Hey, fire)
Said the second shoda “Sakhias” (Bless you)

Said the third shoda “Bakawas” (Nonsense)

That about sums it up. Even the risk of a fire engulfing him didn’t deter the shoda
from enjoying his opium-induced heaven. Ah, those were the days.

*hkkkhkkkkikkkkihkkkihkikik

Win, lose or draw — you still lose

Sooma, Bansi and Ratna were contemporaries, classmates and friends also. Apart
from that, all three of them lived in the same locality of Bana Mohalla. Their houses were
practically on the main road or what could pass for a main road. In fact, it was a bazaar a
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slightly respectable lane with shops on either side and the only traffic was tongas, cycles
and people.

All three were in school, the Mission High School at Fateh, Kadal. Their parents
were all poor lower middle class people. Their fathers were holding clerical jobs in
Srinagar. One was in the Municipality, the other in the AG’s Office and the third was in
the Shali Store.

They had a common routine after school. Homework over, their mothers used to
send them to buy sundry items from the shops near their house. By about six, they would
have collected either at the barber shop or the medical shop or the radio repair shop.

Days, weeks, months, years passed. They reached the college stage and completed
their degree and started looking for jobs. Their mothers, proud of their achievements (all
three passed in third class) were already searching for suitable brides for them.

Every morning and evening, they would scan the papers for any kind of a job.
This went for some time and suddenly one day Sooma and Bansi discovered that Ratna
was missing. They went to his house where his mother told them that he had gone to
Jammu to meet her brother.

Satisfied with the explanation, the other two continued with their daily routine.
Soon one day one of them managed to get a job and a few months later the other one also
got a job. But whenever they met, they always wondered what happened to Ratna. It was
a mystery.

One day suddenly a bombshell fell. In the paper, it was announced that Ratna had
been given a gold medal for a specific act about which there were no details. He was
honoured at a special function by a Minister in Delhi. Even his photograph was there in
the paper.

“I say, look at him, all that double breast suit and all. Who does he think he is?”

“Well, he got the prize and he is in the picture not we”. For a while, there was
silence with each of them busy with his thoughts. After a while, one of them muttered;
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‘YOU KNOW, HE WAS NOT SUCH AN INTELLIGENT FELLOW. IN THE
SCHOOL IN OUR CLASS, I GOT BETTER MARKS THAN HIM,” SAID BANSI

“Ha, Me too. It was just pure bloody luck for him”.

With that they dismissed the man who had been their partner for such a long time.
Soon Ratna was forgotten and Bansi and Sooma continued with their lives but kept in
touch with each other since they lived in the same locality. By now both of them were
married.

One Sunday, Bansi rushed to Sooma’s house in great glee and shouted, “Did you
see the newspaper? You heard the news?”

“What news, what news?”

“Ratna has been arrested and sent to jail”.

For a while, neither of them spoke. Suddenly, both of them said the same thing “I
always knew he was a shikastlad. I knew he would not amount to anything. Serves him
right. I would not shed any tears over him”.

Observing the scene, the bard said, “How difficult it is to please them. When
you win, they are not pleased, when you lose, they are pleased. But win lose or draw,
you still lose. You can never win them “,

*kkhkhkhkhhhhkkkkk

ALIGEBRA NE JABAR KIYA

He was a hard working boy of average intelligence. He was struggling to pass his
examination. While in most of his subjects he was fairly all right above the 35% marks,
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in Algebra, he was at a total loss. He just couldn’t understand the equations and found
that they just fogged his brain.

He was terrified of the coming examination and dare not confess to his father that
he was going to definitely fail in Algebra and even if he passed in all other subjects, he
would still fail the examination. But like a lamb being led to slaughter, he went through
all other papers and did fairly well. Algebra was the last paper.

He was desperate. He thought of running away and joining the army. After an
hour of daydreaming, he came down to the earth and knew that he would have to go to
the examination hall and appear for the examination in this paper of Algebra.

Came the day and the time and our hero was walking slowly to his doom. He sat
on his table, answer sheets were distributed, and then the question papers and the
examination began. He went through the question paper ten times and found that he could
not solve a single question.

Tears came to his eyes and the only sound he heard was the invigilators’ footsteps
going up and down the line. A few of his tears fell on the answer paper, which got wet.

At last, there was only ten minutes grace period left with the invigilator
announcing the time. In sheer desperation, he thought of appealing to the good nature of
the examiner who would be correcting the paper. The heart-rending appeal read as
follows:

“ALIGEBRA NE JABAR KIYA (Algebra has been cruel)
WAKAT KI RAHI TANGI (There was shortage of time)

KALAM BICHARA KIYA LIKHE (What will the poor pen write)
KAKAZ RAHI NANGTI “ (Answer paper has remained blank)

Below this was written an appeal “Have mercy”.

He handed in his paper and left the examination hall, sure that he had failed the
examination. While all other friends of his were celebrating the end of the examination,
our hero was totally depressed so much so that even his mother noticed.
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But time does not wait for anybody. Soon on the other side of the curtain, the
examiner saw his paper and read his heart-rending appeal. He kept his answer paper aside
to take a decision about it later. Eventually, being in a good mood, he decided to exercise
his prerogative of awarding him thirty-five marks, which would help him, pass the
examination.

But our hero didn’t know this. On the day the results were to be announced, he
was waiting for the axe to fall. All other classmates of his rushed out to buy the
newspaper, but he stayed at home. (In those days high school examination results used to
be published in local newspapers)

For a while there was no sound coming from the street and then suddenly five
classmates rushed to him in his house and announced, “We have all passed” our hero
stared at them and one of them said “Hey, you too have passed “. Dazed, he grabbed the
newspaper and saw with his own eyes his register number among the successful
candidates.

Said the bard: “Miracles will never cease to happen”

Amen to that.

*hkkkhkkhkhkkhkkhkkkihkikkiik

Sudharshan’s Gift

He was in his late thirties, a happy contented man, always laughing, smiling and
ready to lend a helping hand to his fellow human beings. He did many good deeds the
details about which have unfortunately been lost to posterity. However, from the dark
recesses of antiquity, we have unearthed a historic instance of his generosity of spirit.

In 1946, there was no indication that the princely rule would end within a year. It
was the 16" birthday of the Crown Prince Yuvaraj Karan Singh. In keeping with the
traditional practices, on such occasions, the Maharaja Hari Singh would hold a durbar
where prominent people would come dressed in traditional finery to convey their good
wishes for the Yuvaraj’s birthday and give a Nazarana (present) to His Highness.

The news of the occasion had already swept the seven bridges of Srinagar and
most Kashmiri Pandits had naturally heard about it. Of course, only a handful of the rich,
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the influential and high officials would be going to the palace. The date was declared a
holiday, but essential services like transport, communications, postal and telegraphs
services, hospitals were open and running.

On this morning, Sudharshan Kaul found himself in a pensive mood so much so
that his son who had just turned 16 asked him as to what the matter was. He muttered
some excuse and got up to get dressed to go out. His son Natha was puzzled and followed
his father surreptitiously as he started walking towards Amira Kadal and he crossed the
road at Lal Chowk and went towards a lane that linked it to the Bund.

Soon, Sudharshan reached the Head Post office at the Bund with his son
following who found his father filling up a telegraphic money order form and paying
rupees five to the counter clerk for sending the money. The clerk gave him the receipt
and Sudarshan left the post office.

Curious as to the contents and the beneficiary of the TMO, Natha the son went to
the clerk and requested him to show him the TMO form and the message. The following
is that what he read;

“To

His Highness

Maharaja Hari Singh of Jammu and Kashmir,
The Palace,

Gupkar,

Srinagar,

Kashmir.

WHAT HARI SINGH FATHER, WHAT SUDARSHAN FATHER

WHAT NATHA SON, WHAT KARAN SINGH SON. HEREWITH RUPEES FIVE
FOR MILK ON HIS BIRTHDAY

SENDER’S NAME: SUDARSHAN

*kkhkhkkhkkhhhhkhkkkkhkhiikx
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Khorak Cure

Life went on as usual in our little world within the seven bridges in Srinagar. In
Kashmir, majority of the medical shops were manned by Kashmiri Pandits. Most of the
medical shops had either Doctors coming in for examining patients or practicing closed
by so that their prescription could be filled up at the medical shops. Most of the shops
were dispensing chemists.

Today dispensing chemists have practically become extinct. To explain to the
modern generation:

Most of the prescriptions were either in tablet form or in syrup form. There was
some kind of a taboo about the tablet, so sometimes two or three different tablets were
made into powder by the chemist with few liquid medicines to form what became later
known as mixture. The bottles in which this mixture was sold had the doses marked
outside and in Kashmiri they are still called Khorak. Thus a dose is a Khorak.

So it was, as our story begins, one evening that the father came out of the house to
buy a bottle of mixture from the nearby medical shop. There was no need to waste money
on consulting a doctor as he had himself seen and checked that his son was suffering
from cold, cough and headache. So off he went to the shop and got a bottle of what was
popularly then known as Katarrh mixture.

As the buyer and the seller were known to each other, the seller didn’t press for
cash payment and the father took the bottle home. It had the doses marked on the bottle.
In all there were five doses of mixture in the bottle.

He reached home and decided to inaugurate the cure for the family by taking the
first dose himself. There were three of them, himself his wife and his darling son. For the
second dose, he called his wife. She was in the kitchen and as she came, her foot got
entangled in the grass mat (wagvou) and this created a movement, which eventually
reached the bottle just a foot away where her husband had forgotten to put the cork back
on the bottle.

The bottle began to dance and was about to fall with the medicine going to spill
out of the bottle. But her husband, ever alert although he had forgotten to cork the bottle,
grabbed the bottle in acrobatic style. The bottle was saved, but at this moment, the
neighborhood cat, the scourge of the mohalla rats, decided to pay the family a visit. The
wife, on seeing the cat, forgot the medicine and rushed back into the kitchen to protect
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her milk and the fish she had cooked for dinner. She looked at the cat, made threatening
movements, but the canine hero sat on the shelf unperturbed and gazed about him.

Seeing that her threatening posture had no effect on the cat, the wife appealed to
the husband for help who got up and began chasing the cat. The cat jumped over his bald
head and landed just on the spot where he was sitting practically next to the bottle of
mixture. As it was passing the bottle, the cat swished its tail which finally threw the bottle
to the ground.

As it hit the ground, the mixture began to leak since the cork had not been placed
tightly at the mouth of the bottle. Eventually, the cat decided to leave the unfriendly
house and the master of the house retrieved the bottle. Looking closely at the doses he
discovered that two doses had irrigated the rug also known as wogvou to the locals.

So out of five doses, three doses were used. Just then, the apple of his eye, his
son arrived with his latest pet puppy, a mongrel of uncertain origin, a veritable flea
factory.

“Tathaji, Jimmy, my dog is sick, he has got a bad throat. Give him some
medicine”. And then seeing the bottle of mixture he grabbed it before papa could protest.
So, the next dose went to the dog and that brought the level of medicine in the bottle to
one dose.

He persuaded his son to leave the dog on the ground floor and come up since he
had a severe cough. The son was finally cajoled to drink the last dose.

All very well. Days passed and one fine day the chemist accosted him on the
street and asked for the payment for the bottle of mixture.

“What mixture?”
“The one I sold to you. *

“Oh that”. But how can I pay you for that? You see, I took one dose, did not help
me, two doses fell on the wagvou and was drunk by the cat. That is three doses. The
fourth doses were given to the dog which died the next day and the fifth my son took and
he is still coughing. So, where is the question of paying you. | took the medicine so that it
could cure. It hasn’t. So don’t expect any money from me”.
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Needless to say, the matter ended there for the time being, but created a long-term
situation against which the Indo-Pakistan problems pale into insignificance.

*hkhkkkhkkhkkkikkhkkkhkkikkikkikkiik

King of Thieves

Among the Pandits, it is generally believed that most are white collar workers,
completely law abiding and peaceful. While this is true in a majority of the cases, we did
produce within the little world of ours of seven bridges, a few who were on the wrong
side of the law. Now whether this story is true or not, it is what | have heard in
Narpirastan, Srinagar, Kashmir.

His name was Mahadev and nobody seemed to know his surname. He was
reputed to be very light fingered and fleet footed. Apparently, he was not just a thief, but
he certainly was an innovative artiste even in his thievery. Over a period of time, he was
given a kind of title and was often referred to as Mahadev Bishte. The last word would
indicate the words used by a Pandit housewife to drive away a marauding cat.

Now the greatest exploit of the man was related and heard over and over again. |
would like to record here for the younger generation of Pandits who may not have either
been born in Kashmir or even visited Kashmir not to talk of having heard of Mahadev
Bishte.

Hear goes the story. Once upon a time, there lived a rich man. He was the
rais(aristocrat) of the locality. One day, at a marriage function, Mahadev Bishte saw him
and having had his dinner he was hurrying away but the rais shouted for him to come and
meet him, which he did.

After that, Mahadev Bishte used to visit the rich man occasionally and one day
with a number of his guests in attendance he asked Mahadev a question

“ I hear that you are a successful thief although you have not been caught red
handed and convicted?”

“Mahara, that is an exaggeration. | am an artiste. Anybody can steal, but doing it with a
finesse is what I am good at *.

“Oh is that so, alright, can you steal anything from this room without my
knowledge.”

“Mahara, that is like taking sweets from a baby’s hand”

172



Cashmere: Kashir That Was Yarbal

“Oh, well then” the rais looked around and suddenly a mischievous glint came in his
eyes.

“Can you steal my pyjamas from me which I am wearing now without my knowledge. If
you can do that, | shall proclaim you as the King of Thieves”.

Mahadev Bishte listened to this challenge and very quietly said.

“I accept your challenge. And I shall do it within this month”.

The whole story spread like wild fire within the seven bridges and everybody was
speculating as to how the star thief would become the king thief.

A month passed and on the very last day Mahadev Bishte sent word to the rich
man that he was ready to prove his ability. The rais had almost forgotten the challenge
that he had thrown but suddenly remembered it. His entire retinue was present in the
same room where the challenge had been thrown at Mahadev Bishte.

With a dramatic flourish, Mahadev produced the Pyjama. There was a gasp of
surprise from the audience and the rais gaped.

“I now remember that I had lost this pyjama and I never thought that you had taken it.
Did you enter this room to take my pyjama?”

“Na Mahara. I did not enter your house, but | did steal your pyjama when you were
sleeping. Now do you acknowledge that I have some skill”.

“Yes, Yes, | agree, | agree. But how did you do it. «
“That Huzoor will remain a secret. It is my trade secret. “

With that Mahadev Bishte walked out of the room. And left his audience totally non-
plussed. Months later, he told a friend about it.

After he received the challenge, he scouted around the house of the rais and found
that the room in which he slept had a small sink on the floor with a pipe leading out into
the drain. He checked it during the day in light and later on during the night in darkness.
On one particular night. he got a bamboo pole poured honey on it and coated the entire
pole with it. At the top of the pole he put a hook tied to it. And he pushed the pole
through the pipe into the room of the victim. Soon ants came and he pushed the pole
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slowly towards his victim’s legs as he was sleeping. After some time, the ants laden with
honey started exploring the rest of the rais’s anatomy.

The rais woke up irritated that his sleep was disturbed, did not notice in the
darkness the offending honey —covered pole and irritated, removed the pyjama which
promptly fell on the pole which was very slowly withdrawn by Mahadev along with the
Pyjama.

How do | know this? Mahadev Bishte, remember, told a friend, who told a friend,
who told a friend, who told a friend, who told a friend, WHO TOLD ME.

He was truly the King of Thieves.

*hkkkhkkhkkkhkhkkkikikkikikk

FEUDAL LOGIC

“What are you doing?” roared the feudal lord from the balcony to the servant in
the garden.

“Have you watered the plants?
“Yes master, I have finished all the work “
“All right, see that pillar. Go and press it”

Shocked, the servant looked at the pillar and at his two hands and was about to
object but then better sense prevailed and he found himself pressing the pillar as he was
used to pressing the master’s legs.

Fortunately for the servant, the master fell asleep on the sofa on the balcony. So
he gave rest to his hands and thanked Almighty for small mercies.

The very next day, he had to face a bigger ordeal. He had just started watering the
plants when God smiled at him and it started raining. He was happy that he did not have
to water the plants. But his Lord and master thundered from above.
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“Where are you, you lazy scoundrel? Why have you not finished watering the
plants?

“Huzoor, It is raining”

“So what. start watering the plants”.

NECTAR & WATER

Soon the weather changed from clear blue skies of summer to glorious golden
leaves of autumn. And it was time to go for a picnic. And the Feudal Lord also wanted to
have a change. So the entire household retinue threw itself into a frenzy of work to
arrange for the picnic. A dhoonga (Houseboat) was organized for the occasion and the
entire party set out traversing the Dal Lake towards Nishat, Shalimar and their destination
Harwan.

Harwan, as we all know, is famous for its water. It used to be said that if you
drank Harwan water, no disease could afflict you. That was the reason why our favourite
Lord decided to go to Harwan. The entire party comprised the Lord’s family, the
servants, the relatives and a few friends. After reaching Harwan, carpets were rolled out
on the green grass and the master sat with a pillow behind him relaxed enjoying the
scenic beauty around him.

Soon, a cup of Kahwa arrived along with the hookah (water pipe) and interesting
conversation ensued. It was a glorious day and everybody felt happy including the
master’s servant who had been ordered to water the plants while it was raining. He was
hoping that the master would not call him because he knew that the master was angry
with him but soon lunchtime came and as soon as master had finished eating he shouted
for his gardener.

“Go to the stream and get me fresh water to drink”. The servant ran to do his
master’s bidding. He returned with the vessel full of water. As he was drinking this pure
God given water, a thought suddenly struck him”.

“Hey, Khambakht (idiot) come here. Tell me, did you also drink this water?”

The servant, who had years of experience, folded his hands and said the following
immortal words:
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“Nahi, Huzoor. I brought water in an empty bottle from the mar (the water way
with dirty water) to drink here.*

Satisfied, the master drank some more Harwan water and viewed the world
Kindly.

k,kkkhkkkkikkkkhkhkkhkkihkkikkikkikkik

BARTANIA KE LIYAE JANG KARNA HAI

Fighting for the British Empire

“Bartania Ki Faujain Bahut Bahaduri Ke Saath Ladte Ladte Peechey Hut Gayeen”
(Armies of Britain, fighting bravely, retreated)

- Urdu Bulletin, All India Radio, 1942 (During World War I1).

In the early 20" century, the British Empire was at its zenith in the first part and
in the second part of the century, the empire broke up. At the time of World War I, the
Indian Princes had an arrangement with the British Crown for supplying troops during
war to the British Army for deployment in various theatres of war. During that period,
they were called Imperial Service Troops.

In the First World War, the princely state of Kashmir also provided troops for
service in the Middle East and in France as well. When Second World War came around,
the princes again sent troops and even helped the war effort financially.

During World War 11, so the story goes, there was a shortage of troops and
recruiting parties were going around enlisting men to train them as soldiers for the war.
Kashmir had a small but efficient army. The J & K infantry had made a name for itself.
But most of its recruits came either from the Muzaffarabad or Jammu districts like
Poonch, Rajauri, Mirpur and several districts of Himachal such as Kangra, Mandi,
Palampur etc.,

That makes it clear that there were very few recruits volunteering from the
Kashmir valley. It is interesting that out of the small Kashmiri Pandit community outside
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Kashmir quite a few volunteered during the war. It is only after Independence, that some
Pandits from the valley volunteered to join the armed forces.

But to get back to our story. A recruiting party arrived in Kashmir valley and
began interviewing candidates. In the cities ,they have got very little response and then
went to the rural areas. There too the response was poor. However, they were able to get
a few recruits and this is the story of Kashmiri recruits’ encounter with army discipline.

It was explained to this groups of recruits that training would begin the next day.
At the sound of the first bugle, they had to get up and have a wash. At the sound of the
second bugle, they had to have their breakfast. And at the sound of the third bugle, they
had to present themselves on the parade ground.

The recruits slept in the barracks. At 6.00 A.M., when the first bugle sounded,
nobody heard it and they went on sleeping. When the second bugle blew, some of them
woke up and tried to wake up others. A few got up, some scratched their stomachs,
having completely forgotten the instructions given to them in the previous day.

When the final bugle call came, one of the youngsters in the group woke up the
oldest among them and asked him as to what they should do.

The wise man muttered something and then clearly declared in no uncertain
terms:

“Yemen how Jungus asi gachon, themen hov gache adam (Aaram)
asun”(Those who have to go to war must get rest first) and promptly went back to sleep.

*khhkkkhkkhkkkhkhkkhkkikkkhkkikkikk

Tell-tail number plate
When God created the horse, this world had not been contaminated by either
roads or driving licenses or vehicles or number plates. In fact, the horse ruled the roost.

But also today, only those, who want to make a fast buck, are the ones who think
of the horse. For the rest, he is forgotten even as the dinosaurs.

With mechanical monsters stalking the roads, even the traffic manuals do not
recognize the quadrupeds. Otherwise, how can one explain the report that a man riding
admittedly in a “spirited” state”, a horse at night on a road in Belgium was fined by the
Magistrate for having no white light in front and no red light at the back of the HORSE.

God must chuckle to himself, were he to deign to read the report, but his
Secretariat no doubt having taken note of it, would have had another look at the horse’s
anatomy. Now I ask of you, can the horse’s posterior or anterior take a light?
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It is not the Belgian horse’s fault, but our horses are no different even in this
country. But the report from Belgium leads one to believe that some people are starting to
delve into the realm of the ridiculous. Here is the story of an Indian horse, who, legend
has it, had many accomplishments to its credit.

Far away and long ago, a venerable gentleman living 32 miles away from
Srinagar (Kashmir) at a place called Khanabal, had invited the State’s I-GP, who was an
Englishman to tea, (Or so he said while narrating his tall story). And since the tea was to
be given at Anantnag, he had to rush to Srinagar. Let the narrator relate his own horsey
adventure.

“As I was galloping past the trees and the people and thinking of what I had to
order for the Sahib’s tea especially the English sweetmeats, cakes and pastries from
Ahdoo’s, I beheld in my rearview mirror (the horse’s that is) the face of that scourge of
the road, Rigzon, the Traffic Inspector on our route.

“My horse (may God bless him for being an intelligent soul) drew my attention to
the menace behind us by a gentle nudge on my posterior. Knowing that the speed limit on
this highway was 30 miles an hour and my horse (he claims Arabian ancestry), was doing
50 miles, he realized that it would bring us into trouble.”

“Behind, Rigzon was gaining on us, horning to find our identity, but this
wonderful creature, my companion who was bearing me ever so swiftly to Srinagar in a
flash realized all this. Lo and behold as the Traffic Inspector passed us on his motorcycle,
my horse lifted its tail and covered the number plate on its rump.

“The result, you can imagine. Rigzon was furious. But he could not prove any
case against me because he did not get my horse’s number from the securely hair-hidden
plate.”

This breathless, tall, horsy tale, he told his wide-eyed, adoring audience none of
whom wanted to know the horse’s registered number.

The exploit became a legend. If the Belgian horse is required to have a white and
a red light, can the Indian horse be far behind?
Deccan Herald, 4-10-1977

*khkhkkkhkkhkkkhkkhkkhkkhkkhhikkikikikk

Chel Chegh

Once upon a time, there lived in Srinagar a family with a son who had some very
peculiar habits. He was a very well behaved hard working person who would be the envy
of any parent.

The habit that his parents dreaded was his practice of going to weddings without
being invited. In the neighborhood, almost everybody knew about this failing of his.
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Without an invitation, he would go and sit along with other guests for lunch or dinner. He
was known as a duda in the locality.

One day, it so happened, that the every next house was celebrating a wedding and
our man was watching the preparations from the window adjacent to the courtyard of the
next house. His mother noted this and tried desperately to think of some way of
dissuading her son from going uninvited to the function.

Suddenly, she got an inspiration. She faced her son

“My son do not go there. | will cook all the dishes that they will serve there, you
can eat here sitting near the window and watch while you eat. That way you will not go
there and yet you will be able to enjoy looking at others eating and nobody can call you
duda.

“ Yes mother I would like to do. Honestly I very much would like to do that but
there is one big problem, which you have not thought about. I may be able to eat
everything that they serve there, but what about the Chel Chegh. Can you provide that?”

“No my son I cannot provide that. I concede defeat”.

Chel Chegh: A word that is very difficult to translate into English but what it conveys is
that atmosphere that is created during a wedding feast where it is a combination of
smells, conversations, humming noises, vessels banging, children shouting and adults
yelling, pulling and pushing for service and the physical proximities of one with the other
sitting there waiting to be fed.
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15

Surnames And Nicknames

What is in a name?

Kalhana and Charaka, Lalithaditya and Avantivarman are names of Kashmiri Pandits that
conjure up images of grandeur and achievement, glory and bravery, intelligence and
brilliance. But if you ask anyone of the present generation, he will say Charaka who,
Kalhana who?

Names have changed over the centuries, styles have changed, people have changed but
the psyche has not changed. Though you and | are centuries apart from Lalithaditya and
Avantivarman, we still have the same blood and ethos.

Hannibal the great military genius had no surname; neither did Ashoka nor King Richard

or Alfred nor Vishwamitra nor Rama or Laxmana and many in those times managed with
one name and sometimes with titles, but over a period of time surnames began to emerge.
English surnames for our purpose illustrate this point. Mr. John Green does not have
green skin and Robert Winter has nothing do with the making of seasons which is in the
realm of nature. Mason has nothing to do with stones, bricks and mortar. Carpenter is not
a skilled worker always. Mr. White might be a black man meaning not a European and
Smith might not wield a hammer and Mr. Stone might be an artist with no relation to
stone working.

There is an interesting historic instance of names being taken by the Catholic Community
of Great Britain on the orders of their Protestant King. He ordered that the Irish should
take only the names of towns, cities, and seasons and not similar names to that of the
English.

Let Louis L’amour, the distinguished Western writer, give Us a glimpse of names of the

Irish both on their home ground and in the colonies from his book “Over on the dry
side”.

“What’s your name, boy?”

“Doban Kernohan. They call me Doby.”

“Irish...Well, we come of the same stock, Doby. I’'m Irish, too...Mostly Irish. My family
left the old country a long time ago, and an ancestor of mine went to Newfoundland, then
to the Gaspe Peninsula. From there to here, it’s a long story”.

“You got a first name, mister?”

“Owen. A name that is sometimes Irish, and sometimes Welsh, they tell me. Well, there’s
been a sight of changing of names, Doby, especially among the Irish.
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“There was a time long ago when Irishmen were ordered by law to take an English name,
and around about fourteen sixty-five, a time later, all those in four counties were to take
the name of a town, a color, or a skill. Such as Sutton, Chester, Cork, or Kinsale for the
town. Or the colors —any one they’d happen to choose. Or a trade, such as
carpenter, smith, cook, or butler, to name just a few.

“And some of the Irish changed their names because there was a move against us. Many
in my family were killed, and when my great-grandfather escaped to England he was
advised never to tell his true name, but to take another....or he’d be hunted down. So he
took the name Chantry, although how he came by it I do not know, unless he happened to
see and like the name, invented it, or took it from some man he admired. In any event, the
name has served us well, and we, I trust, have brought it no dishonor.”

“The thing to remember is that this is your country now. It’s well to know about the land
from which you came. There’s pride in a heritage, but it’s here you live. This is the land
that gives you bread.

“I know little Irish history”, I said.

“That’s likely, Doby, but the thing to remember is that this is your country now. It’s well
to know abut the and from which you came. There’s pride in a heritage, but it’s here you
live. This is the land that gives you bread.

“Yet it’s a good thing to know the ways of the old countries, too, and there’s no shame in
remembering. There’s some as would have it a disgrace to be Irish. You’ll find places in
eastern cities where they’ll hire no man with an Irish look or and an Irish name. A good
many of those who come here are poor when they land, and nobody knows what lies
behind them.

“Some are from families among the noblest on earth, and there’s many another who’s put
a “Mac’ or an ‘O’ to his name to which he’s not entitled. But a man is what he makes
himself, no matter what the blood or barony that lays behind him.

Such are names and such are surnames. Even first names sometimes are puzzling.

When Bulganin visited India, the day he landed in Delhi, a son was born to a Sardarji.
He promptly named his son Bulganin Singh.An Air Force Officer, Wing Commander
Dutta went to see the famous movie “Dr.Zhivago”. His wife was expecting a baby and
soon he was blessed with a daughter. He named her Lara Dultta.

When M.Karunanidhi joined politics, among other things, he admired Joseph Stalin and
when his son was born he promptly named him M.K.Stalin.The famous Tamil poet
Kannadasan was a great admirer of Gandhiji. So he named his son Gandhi Kannadasan.

In India, the present trend in names has emerged from the onset of the Sikh rule in the
19™ century. The addition of a surname to the given name has a striking similarity with
the European system, which came into the country in a large way from the 18" century.
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Among European and American names you generally have what they call the Christian
name, the middle name and the surname.

For instance, Winston Spencer Churchill, William Jefferson Clinton are two instances of
the European names where by and large the middle name remains an initial and is rarely
used. In most states of Northern India, this system is followed and the Kashmiri Pandits
system has a combination of both the European and the Indian.

You will notice that majority of the names among the Kashmiri Pandits have ‘Nath’ as
the middle name. For instance Som Nath , Hreday Nath, Janki Nath. This is followed by
the surname. The next most popular middle name is ‘Lal’ for instance Makhan Lal,
Girdhari Lal followed by the surname. The name Krishen has also been used as a middle
name such as Prediman Krishen Mattoo.

As the generations roll, so do the fashions in use of first names. For instance, old names
like Sarwanand, Mahadev, Maheshwar, Govind, Jia Lal, Nand Lal, Kashi Nath, Prem
Nath, Ratan Lal are just a few sample names that have gradually gone out of style among
the male names. There are similar examples from female names for instance Rupawati,
Kamalawati, Pushakuj, Arundati, Danawati, etc., along with many more have gone out of
style. At one time, among the males between the first name and the surname the word
‘Joo” would be inserted. For instance Mahadev Joo Sapru, Govind Joo Kaul etc., this too
have gone out of style. Today our names have become more and more cosmopolitan in
the sense that a number of North Indian names have crept in. This is the phenomenon,
which can be seen clearly in Southern India where North Indian names have crept in as
first name with many people. For instance names like Ashok, Ramesh, Rakesh, Asish
etc., are being attached to their family names.

Despite being a small miniscule community, Kashmiri Pandits have quite a few divisions,
which can drive any one up the wall. In this, history has also played a role. From 14"
century to the 19" century a period of 500 years has seen many ups and downs, but
mostly downs in the fortunes of the community. It was primarily a question of survival,
mostly physical and at all costs retaining the identity of the community.

Today, it seems unbelievable for a community of half a million people to believe that we
were reduced to just eleven families and today’s Kashmiri Pandit is the progeny and
descendant of those dauntless and brave eleven families. The last bout of persecution
took place during Aurangzeb’s time, when a large number of Kashmiri Pandits fled to
Lahore and then spread out to Delhi, Lucknow, Kanpur, Allahabhad , Jodhpur, Jaipur and
bigger places like Calcutta.

It is from this happening that produced after generations people who became world
famous like Moti Lal Nehru, Jawarhlal Nehru, Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru, Kailas Nath Katju,
Hreday Nath Kunzru. These are famous names but along with them also went ordinary
people who are pursuing their lives even today in these places.
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When an event takes place, it first produces unconnected information, followed by gossip
and after some time, labels are attached to events and people. The Kashmiri Pandits who
migrated and settled down in the plains of Northern India called themselves ‘Purana
Kashur’ and to differentiate from those who still stayed on in the Kashmir Valley who
were given the rather lower status of ‘Tazu Kashur’. Even today, this differentiation
crops up in conversations.

A word about the migrants. When they settled down in the plains they had to adjust to
local conditions and adopt certain local customs. Since the priorities were earning a
living and getting ahead, somewhere along the line, they lost their link with the Kashmiri
language. They cannot speak Kashmiri and therefore they are treated separately, which is
patently unfair.

A by-product of this is linked to our main theme here — that of the middle names. While
quite a few middle names have been retained a few new ones have been added. They are
Narain, Bahadur and Kumar. For instance Pramod Narain Haksar, Tej Bahadur Sapru and
Sudhir Kumar Dar.

Now comes the question of surnames, which requires an explanation that is based on
history and circumstances. The evolution of surnames began in right earnest in the 17"
century when the migration began and individual family identification became necessary
both inside the valley and outside. If one looks at the old, medieval and ancient Kashmiri
Pandit names, one will find that there were none. Take a man like Kalhana. What was his
Surname? Take Avantivaraman, Lalithadithya. Though they were royalty, there is no
mention of a surname. So was the case with Rani Didi and Kota Rani. Surnames
developed over two centuries and by the 19™ century the list began to expand.

Initially we are told, as the legend goes, majority of the Kashmiri Pandits were Kauls or
Kouls. The difference is only in English as the names were written originally in Sanskrit.
As the numbers grew, Dhars were added to it. And then came the period of expansion.
All of us know that Parsis also have surnames but look a little deeper and you will see
that many of their surnames were linked to the work they did. For instance Batliwalla
might have been in the business of Bottles and Daruwalla might have been in the
business of selling alcohol.

With regard to Dhar, some controversial explanations have emerged. Apparently, the
surname was spelt as Dar, which as Prof.Somnath Dhar stated that the Dhars of the
Kashmiri Pandits community have originally come from Bengal/ Bihar. In Kashmir, Dar
is a surname that is shared both by Hindus and Muslims. The Dhars are supposed to have
migrated from Bihar to Kashmir to serve the rulers who were looking for
“trustworthy Peshkars (revenue collectors) as they didn’t trust the local Hindus who
were hand in glove with the local farmers, dilly dallying in the payment of the yearly
revenue. Local folklore reflects social realities. As the Dhars spread-eagled into several
clans, vying with one another in affluence, Kashmiris came out with a saying: “Dhar
baja, mulk beja; mulk baja, Dhar beja” (“when the Dhars are prosperous, the country is
starving — but when the country is prosperous, the Dhars are starving.”) That is / was the
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Dhar syndrome. The adage persists among the older folks. It is they who preserve the
folklore everywhere. (KS, Nov.1996)

Dr.B.N.Sharga adds “Prior to the Muslim invasion in the Valley, many Kashmiri Pandits
were writing ‘Dar’ like other Kashmiri Pandits who were forcibly converted to Islam
under threat and coercion from Muslim rulers, but a good majority of them retained their
original Kashmiri Pandit surnames to show their past Hindu Pandit lineage like Ghulam
Rasool Dar, Saifuddin Kitchlu, Mohammad Rasool Butt, Ghulam Kadir Muttoo, Ahmed
Shah Jalalli etc..

“It was because of these changed circumstances in the valley under the Muslim rule that
Kashmiri Pandits, who were writing ‘Dar’ earlier as their surname, changed it to ‘Dhar’
by adding an English letter ‘H’ to it to signify that they are Hindus and not Muslims and
to keep their separate distinct identity intact.” (KS, Jan.1997)

In the same way, quite a few of the surnames among the Kashmiri Pandits have come out
of either usage or the profession they were in. For instance, there goes the story of a man
who had a tree in his backyard. The tree gave him trouble so he cut the branch. And it
gave more trouble and he cut it at the stem, exposing the root. So, to reach his house one
had to say “Go to the house where there is a ‘Teng’. The word Teng in Kashmiri means
the root or the high ground. So the family living in that house became Tengs and to this
day their descendants are so called.

There used to be in the 17" and 18" century or even earlier professional travellers who
did the travelling as a part of their profession. They were pointed in the bazaar as “The
Safar man”. Safar meant travel. And gradually the man who did this was called “Safaru”
This was later corrupted to Sapru.

There was a man living in our neighbourhood who started working for a living in the
Water Works Department. In popular parlance, his job involved fixing water pipes and
taps and most of the housewives referred to him as the “Nalka Man”. This word Nalka
means water tap” And so the family was known as the Nalkas. Take the Surname
Darbari. One of their ancestors was a courtier in the court of a King and this name was
bestowed on him for identification and because of its royal association was immediately
adopted. Names like Nagash, Kotru and Pahalwan or some of the examples of either
professions or even other nouns becoming proper nouns by sheer passage of time.

*khkkkkikkhkkkhkhkkhhikkikkikikk

Pandit Names Inc

Humour among the Kashmiri Pandits as its own subtle way of conveying the message.
We know how to laugh and how to laugh at ourselves. Most surnames have a
background and one of our most astute an intelligent scholars as put it in running
message that one can call the saga of names. Thanks to the author M.K.Kaw, we know
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now what most of the surnames meant then and how they have become a part of us as the
following that he has penned down tells us.

Not very long ago, the Kashmiri Pandit possessed a robust sense of humour. If one of his
ancestors had a large bottom, he hadd no compunction in being called a Mandal or if he
had snatched something in scuffle, he basked merrily in the surname Thaploo. Today, it
seems everyone wants to be called a Kaul, and a Dattatreya Kaul at that. Consequently,
social introductions become tedious, with K.N.Kaul merting T.N.Kaul, through the
medium of H.N.Kaul, with no one getting wiser as to who is meeting whom.

Time was when immediately you met someone, you placed him in the social hierarchy.
Mind you, all (I mean, 99% of ) our ancestors in recent Dogra times were clerks. All that
differed was the department they were in or the kind of people or animals they dealt with,
or the person they reported to. Let us face it. The Sultans were not like Sultan Yusuf Shah
Chak; they were clerks to some Sultan. At the other end of the spectrum, the Oonts were
not camel drivers; they merely collected taxes from them.

But one got a fair idea of the variety of departments our forbears were engaged in. if the
Mirakhurs looked after the royal horses, the Hastwaloos were in command of the
elephants and the Tufchis were gunners (or, more probably, clerks in the gunnery
department). While the Langars managed the kitchen, there were some of them who
watered down the rice till it became a vagra and consequently they earned the sobriquet
Ogra.

Contrary to popular belief, some of us were enterprising enough to branch off into trade.
The Karwanis sold peanuts, the Kalpashoos the ladies’ head-dress, the Badams dealt in
almonds, the Bazazs traded in cloth, the Bhans sold utensils and the Drals were honest
brokers. There were other occupations too. The Mattus managed maths, the Haks grew
the famous vegetable and the Hashias were specialists in the art of drawing margins on
paper. The Zutshis were astrologers and the Sadhus were probably what their name
signifies.

But, if the chief aim of a surname or nickname was to distinguish one Niranjan Nath from
another, mere occupation would not do. An unsavoury episode of the past, however
remote, was a juicier way of according distinction to a family. If an ancestor fond of
attending wedding receptions uninvited, he and his progeny became Dudas for eternity. If
he went a step further and stealthily took away a rice plate for the family back home, they
became Thalchoor. If someone fell from grace and became brashtha, what better
nickname than Braythh. If there was a gambler, the family earned the epithet Zaroo.

Another very endearing trait in the Kashmiri character is to lampoon a person by making
fun of his personal appearance. If he is tall, he is Daraz, if short, Chhattoo. If fat, Mota;
if thin, Naroo. If black, Kaw; if brown, Kachroo, if yellow, Gurtoo. If blue — eyed, he
became a Braroo. If lame, Langoo; if hunchbacked, Kaboo; if six — fingered, Shangloo. If
he looked like a parrot, Sharga, if like a sheep, Handu. If he was left-handed, Khashoo; if
bald, Ganjoo; if with a crooked neck, Kariholu.
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A person’s nature also determined his nickname. If he poked his nose into the affairs of
others, he became known as a Mam. If his temper was hot and fiery, he was called a
Marchawangnoo. If he was tough, he became a Trakroo, if he always passed sour
comments, he was Chaku and if he had a dry sense of humour he was Hakhoo.

My favourite surnames are Gamkhwar and Razdan. | know that learned commentators
have written fat tomes on each of these. But | would like to believe that all our ancestors
were not as ill omened as they have been portrayed.

| think of the Gamkhwar as a man with broad shoulders, which were always available to
those in distress, so that they could weep while he wiped their tears away and whispered
kind words into their ears to boost up their sagging morale.

And I don’t care much for the laboured drivation of Razdan from Rajanaka. To my non
scholarly mind Razdan does not seem to have descened from the Hindu period of our
history. I wish to believe that a few at least o f our ancestors would have been intelligent
enough to be close to the royalty. Thus | would like Razdan to be what it literally means
— the Keeper of the Secrets. That would make them something like the present day
Directors of the Intelligence Bureau.

Why not?

Koshur Samachar, M.K.Kaw, October - 2002

*hhhkkkkkhkhkhihhhkhkkkhiikx

What is in a name?

M.Bird was a cricketer, but he could not fly.

Birdwood was General, but not a woodcutter

His name is Archer, but he doesn’t shoot arrows

Doolittle was a Pilot, but he did a lot

Goodman was a man, but we don’t know whether he was good
Black was a man, but his skin was white

Lodge was a Rich Man, but his house was a mansion

He is called Horseman, but he drives a car.

John Major didn’t wear a uniform, for he was a P.M
Shamsher Singh had no sword, he used a rifle.

Saudagar Singh was no shopkeeper but a farmer.

Shaitan Singh was no devil but a soldier.

Ajaiyab Singh was plain and not strange.

Pritam Singh was no love icon, but an ordinary man

Sher Singh was brave, but no lion.

Jai Sukh Lal Hathi was a man and not an elephant

Tara Chand is his name, but he is neither a star(Tara) nor the moon(Chand)
Khazan Chand is his name, but he has no treasure (Khazana)
Haldi Ram is his name, but he is not Haldi (Turmeric)

He is named Maska Lal, but he is no flatterer

Sandra Bullock is a girl with no link to the quadruped
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Andy Flower is a cricketer but he doesn’t spout fragrance
Vedi was a man, a learned man.

He was a scholar, well versed in Vedas

People called him Vedi.

Came his brother from Varanasi, he had read two Vedas
Thus people called him Dwivedi

Along came a cousin from Prayag, he had read three Vedas
Promptly people called him Trivedi

And then came the fourth scholar, he had read all the four Vedas
What to call him, wondered and asked the villagers

Call him Chaturvedi said the village Wise man.

And so we have these surnames.
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16

Our lcons

Every community, ethnic or linguistic group of people have their own traditions and
cultural histories. Their past comes to them in the form of the sayings and utterances
of people past and present. So is it with Kashmiri Pandits. What follows are the names
of those who even today and tomorrow can inspires us and those who beckon to us to
emulate their examples.

Achievements of a persecuted people

“Kashmiri Pandits are mostly Saraswat Brahmins of ancient Aryan stock. They
were custodians of one of the greatest heritages of mankind —Rigveda, Sanskrit, grammar
and Shaivism. Hieun tsang (631 AD) and Alberuni (1021 AD) testify in their memoirs
that Kashmir was a great centre of Sanskrit, knowledge and arts. Lovers of Sanskrit and
knowledge flocked to the Valley to quench their thirst. Kashmir had everything of its own
— philosophy, philology, cosmology, astrology, music and architecture. Utpaldeva didn’t
know that his sharp intellect couldn’t stand before the proselytizing sword of Islam,
which would flatten every ancient heritage in Kashmir to mix with dust. Sikander the
Iconoclast masterminded a sustained campaign not only to kill the Brahmins who offered
resistance to conversion but also destroyed temples, ashrams, libraries and great
monuments. A huge mass of books was dumped into the Dal Lake during his reign. There
were programs and ignominious persecutions. A large number of Brahmins fled and a
sprinkling passed days in hiding.

“However, Zain Alabudin Badshah (1421-1471) felt extremely beholden to that
great physician Shree Bhat who cured him of a dreaded disease and made him to
recover from a moribund stage. When asked for rewards, Shree Bhat only desired
rehabilitation of his devastated compatriots. He begged the king to allow Hindus to
follow their religion without hiderance.

“Zain Alabudin did everything to rehabilitate the community. A large number of
Kashmiri Pandits was absorbed in government jobs. With the passage of time, they
adopted government service as a profession. They displayed extraordinary talent in
mastering Persian, the official language. The class of Pandits employed in government
jobs was called Karkuns. They did not like to renounce their religious duties and rites.
They entrusted this task to a son-in-law or his descendants. Thus a denomination came
into existence who became the custodians of Karmakanda (and gyanakanda). They were
called Bhasha Bhat and later on Gore.

“The Karkuns acquired mastery of Persian and later of Urdu. There is enormous
mass of poetry in Persian and Urdu, some servile in content. They developed a taste for
Arabic and Persian idiom and imagery. To be the most obedient servant of the regime in
power was an article of faith with a Karkun. They rose to the highest positions during the
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Mughal rule, the Afghan occupation and the Sikh reign. They also rose to high positions
during the Dogra rule.

“When English acquired ascendancy in official correspondence, Pandits excelled
in mastering the language. Possessing a smattering of English was a symbol of
knowledge and status. While each and every Muslim child was bound by an unalterable
tradition to study Quran from the age of five or six, a Pandit child remained weaned
away from his Sanskritic soil. Having been rooted out of sanskritic soil, the Pandit
society drifted in relation to their responsibility in ensuring the sanctity and integrity of
their shrines, which are unique and the oldest in the world. They considered Bhasha
Bhatas inferior and pushed them into limbo. They sold the most sacred land of 3,000-year
—old shrines to Muslims.

“During the first 55 years of the life of the Indian National Congress, for seven years,
Kashmiri Pandits had been President — a remarkable record for a handful of people
who migrated from Kashmir to the plains below “ — Jawaharlal Nehru addressing
Kashmiri Pandits in September 1940 during his visit to Srinagar — Courtesy Naad 1995
and Vitasta 1981.

“The Pandits, who fled away from Kashmir in the 17" and 18" centuries, attained
unimaginable heights in law, administration and politics. They acquired the mastery of
Persian, Urdu and English. However, getting dazed by their glory, they completely forgot
their miserable brothers in blood living in Kashmir. they discarded Kashmiri, Sanskrit,
Vedas, Shaivism and the enchanting and most ancient shrines in the valley, which were
facing despoliation and desecration. The first Prime Minister of India was a Pandit who
contributed in a good measure to make Kashmir a cancerous issue.

“And the Pandits, who fled from the Valley in the 18" and 19" centuries, have
been exulting at their achievements. Thus sings Shri P.N.Haksar, whose direct ancestor,
Shrit Sita Ram, had fled from the Valley in the 19" century: “Our minds opened up. And
our hearts too. Our vision got enlarged. India began taking shape. | came out of cocoon,
took wings and fluttered in the fresh winds which were blowing about me ....I could see
and feel the restlessness of the waves of the Indian Ocean pining to meet the waves of the
Arabian Sea....” He couldn’t see the molten lava of intolerance flowing in waves from
the north — west over the plains of Hindustan, reducing everything to dust and rubble.

“The achievements of Kashmir Pandits may be great but a people who
contributed to the destruction of their roots culture and their are not worthy of
emulation. ”

Triloki Nath Dhar, Tonca, Goa, Koshur Samachar Sept. 29,2000.

*khhhhkkkkkhkhkikihhhhkkkkkiikx
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Leaders

Kailas Dar

Pandit Kailas Dar was a product of the turbulent times that Kashmir went through
especially during the second half of the 18" century. He was a leader at that time of the
community, which rarely has supported a single leader. His statesmanship and skill for
organization was of a very high order and he made the Pandits a force to a reckon with.
When Blandkhan Sadozai was appointed Subedar of Kashmir in 1762 ,it was due to the
efforts of Pandit Kailas Dar.

In those days, the tenure of the Subedar was always uncertain. Therefore, whoever came,
Kailas Dar was there to support him. At that time, Ahmed Shah Abdali was ruling at
Lahore and he went to meet him and to apprise him of the conditions in Kashmir. From
Lahore, Kailas Dar marched with an army to conquer Kashmir from the clutches of a
usurper named Nuruddin who fled and Kailas Dar marched into Srinagar in triumph. This
was in the year 1770 and Kailas Dar was now at the height of his glory.

As was usual in those days, court intrigues were rampant and one day a disgruntled
person by the name of Mir Fazal Kanth stabbed Kailas Dar in the open durbar hall. And
so ended his career and his life which was immediately followed by another exodus of
Pandits from the Valley as conditions worsened especially after the death of Ahmed Shah
Abdali in 1772.

*khhkkhkkkkhkhkhkhhhikikikkk

Dila Ram

Pandit Dila Ram was a man of high calibre and a giant among men, who combined in
himself all the qualities, which go to make up successful statesmen. Firm, resolute, calm,
with an abundant store of wit and humour, he held his own for a number of years against
a number of unholy cliques that naturally grow wherever combat is fought on the plane of
selfishness and against superior mettle.

Dila Ram held the post of Sahibkar (Senior official holding a key post) during the tenure
of Haji Karim Dad Khan. About his calibre British traveller, adventurer and explorer,
Forster, has written in 1780.

“This person of the Hindu sect possessed a more liberal disposition than is usually found
in an Indian though perhaps | am so much biased by his indulgent treatment that my
opinion may be thought partial. But his deportment seemed uniformly benevolent to all
classes of people. With his companions, he was affable and good-humoured. He was
humane to his domestics and he exercised with a reasonable temperance the duties of his
office.”

Soon during the rule of Azad Khan, a new Subedar of Kashmir, Dila Ram, became the
Prime Minister. An astute administrator, he revived the shawl trade and introduced what
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was then seen as a novel method of affixing a dag (a stamp mark) on each shawl for
which tax was paid. This was to prevent any malpractices by officials. Dag is also a word
in Kashmiri and Urdu, which literally means stain- for example the stain of ink on a
boy’s white shirt is called a dag. Even today, the word is attached to the shawl industries
and dag shawl pioneered by Dila Ram provided a fair deal to the shawl makers.

By 1785, Kashmir was again in turmoil and another tyrant Madad Khan assumed
power. For some time, things went on smoothly but intrigues reduced the villain of the
piece and an attack was made on Dila Ram, which he fortunately survived. In those days,
Kashmir being under Afghan control, revenue accounts were submitted to Kabul and he
took the opportunity to go there and was received very well by Tiamur Shah, the Kabul
king.

Of course, Dila Ram was already known in Kabul and the King took him into confidence
and one day asked why he had put tilak mark on his forehead. Quick came the reply that
the mark resembling Alif was an indication of the fact that the God was one without a
second. And why had he anointed his ear tips also with the same stain. Dila Ram
replayed that the two marks were in token of two witnesses to prove a fact, according to
Muslim law. Why a mark on his throat as well. Dila Ram replied that the mark signified
that the person who denies the truth of his statement is to be hanged.

The following couplet was recited by Dila Ram to sum it up “Cast a glance over my face
and look to my forehead, there you will find a mark which singles me out as slave of the
Lord™.

Dila Ram went back to Kashmir with honours heaped on him. The next Subedar of
Kashmir was Mir Hazar Khan who created a record by his brutal and merciless treatment
of Pandits. A reign of terror prevailed and his first victim was Pandit Dila Ram who was
murdered at Kahnayar in 1793.

So ended the life and times of another Pandit, murdered because of his merit and honesty.

*hkkkkhkkhkkkhkkhkkkhkhkkhkhkkkikkikkik

Nand Ram Tiku

Today and yesterday Afghanistan has been in the news. That being so could Kabul be for
behind? Whether it was against Imperial Britain or Soviet Union or the Taliban, Afghans
have rarely allowed any foreigner to wield power in their country.

Yet, there was one daring adventurous Kashmiri Pandit who went to Afghanistan and (
today hardly anybody will believe this, but it is true) became the Diwan of Kabul. He
was, history has recorded, Pandit Nand Ram Tiku. In today’s parlance, that would mean
Governor of Kabul.
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He was an unusual man, combining in himself qualities of a soldier and statesmen,
adviser and an administrator, dispenser of Justice and a farsighted man. It was unusual in
those times for a Kashmiri Pandit to settle down in unstable Afghanistan where
persecution of non-Muslims took violent forms.

So great was Nand Ram Tiku’s influence and power that he struck a coin in his own
name with the inscription “Sim az mabud wa zarb az Nand Ram”.

This was a rupee coin known as Nand Ram Rupee and was in circulation in the tribal area
of North Western Frontier Province (NWFP) apart from Afghanistan proper till 1905.

He was joined by others Pandits who also lived in Kabul. Among them was Pandit
Daya Ram Kachru “Khushdil” father of Birbar Kachru, the historian.

*hhhhkhkhkkkhkhkhkhkihhikiikkk

Bala Kak Dhar

One of the most outstanding prominent leaders of the community, he was the Wazir-I-
Wazarat of Kashmir. A famous landlord, whose ancestors were governors of Kashmir
and had played a prominent role in the removal of the cruel Afghan rule in Kashmir.
Mr.D.P.Dhar the prominent political leader, minister at both State and Central level, and
diplomat extraordinary also belonged to this family.

So great was the influence of Bal Kak Dhar on the community psyche that often one
would say “He thinks that he is a Bal Kak Dhar”.

This is the same family to which belonged Pandit Bishen Narain Dhar who was the
Congress President in 1911 and whose family had to leave Kashmir due to
persecution. Despite that the Dhar family produced many Chief Ministers during the
Mughal, Afghan and Sikh rule in Kashmir. Some of them were Kailas Dhar, Sahaj Ram
Dhar and his son Ganesh Pandit Dhar, the latest and youngest in fifties and sixties of 20"
century was D.P.Dhar., one time Home Minister of J&K State and Indian Ambassador to
the Soviet Union.

*hhhkhkkkkhkhkhkihhhkhkkkhkiikx

Sahaj Ram

Amongst all the Kashmiri Pandits who rose to prominence during the Afghan period of
Kashmir history, there is the personality of Sahaj Ram Dar who by dint of his
farsightedness, sagacity and political wisdom, continued at the helm of affairs for a very
long time. Kingships rose and fell in Kabul, Subedars were appointed and dismissed in
Kashmir, rebellions occurred one after the other in Kashmir, but Sahaj Ram Dar
continued in his office with his power and prestige undiminished.
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And this went on for a number of years and during the reigns of many Subedars. In this,
he can be compared to a statesman. Sahaj Ram was neither faithless nor an opportunist.
He never turned traitor to his masters, but served them, honestly and loyally as long as
circumstances permitted him to do so, but after their fall, he never betrayed them.

The relations of Kashmir with Kabul those days was that of a crown appendage and
periodical accounts had to submitted to the Afghan King, in addition to the annual tribute.
Pandit Sahaj Ram as Diwan was in charge of the accounts also. We, therefore, find
Pandit Sahaj Ram Dar next going to Kabul with the accounts of the country, which were
to be presented to the King there.

But while crossing Indus in a ferry the pony, which carried the accounts, took fright and
jumped into the river and got drowned along with the accounts. But unmindful of the loss
of the accounts, Sahaj Ram Dar pursued his journey and on reaching Kabul sought
audience with the King and related to him the mishap, but he undertook to prepare a
duplicate from his memory within a short period of only four days.

This was done and the accounts were found to tally in every detail with the copy of the
accounts, which was lying in Kashmir and later sent for from there. This pleased the King
beyond measure. He bestowed a Khillat and the hereditary title of Diwan upon him.
Besides this the villages of Dachhan Para and Marhama were bestowed upon him as Jagir
in perpetuity. In addition to this, Pandit Sahaj Ram secured the Governorship of Kamraj
for his brother Mirza Pandit, and the Illaga of Deosar for Pandit Birbar. The latter, after
making his appearance on the political scene, as we shall soon see, played a decisive part
in the history of Kashmir.

Atta Mohammad Khan started his career as the Subedar with very great promise. Himself
a man of simple habits, and deep religious convictions, he bestowed his earnest attention
upon raising the material prosperity of the people of Kashmir. In this, he largely drew
upon the administrative skill of his Diwan Pandit Sahaj Ram. Under the guidance and
supervision of the Pandit, agriculture was improved, and during his regime bumper
harvests came to be reaped after a period of decay and despair. Trade was revived as a
result of administrative stability, which was established in a short period.

History of Kashmiri Pandits, Justice Jia Lal Kilam, 1955.

*khhhhkhkhkkkkhkhkhkiihhhkhhkkkhiikx

Raja Dina Nath

In 19™ century many Kashmiri Pandits took up service in the administration of Maharaja
Ranjit Singh and one of them Raja Dina Nath rose to become the Finance Minister of
Punjab and survived trough thick and thin, wars and upheavals to become an institution
in his lifetime.

The ability to survive was personified by Raja Dina Nath whom an English officer called
the “Talleyrand of the Punjab”.
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“Revolutions, in which Raja Dina Nath’s friends and patrons perished, passed him by;
dynasties rose and fell, but never involved him in their ruin; in the midst of bloodshed
and assassination, his life was never endangered; while confiscation and judicial robbery
were the rule of the state, his wealth and power continually increased. His sagacity and
farsightedness were such, he could perceive the signs of a coming storm, which warned
him to desert a losing party or a falling friend.”

The Kashmiri Pandit Story of a Community in Exile by Kusum Pant.1987.

*khhkkkhkhkkkhkkhkkhkkikkikiikk

Pandit Birbal Dar.

(He freed the Valley free from Afghan oppression)

He was a pioneer of undaunted perseverance. P. Birbal Dar, was inducing Maharaja
Ranjit Singh to take Kashmir, and the people in Kashmir had their wistful eyes turned
towards the Sikhs that they might come and liberate them from the tyrannies of the
Afghans. Deva yiyih Sikga raj tarit Kyag — (Would, that the rule of the Sikhs would cross
over to us) — was then the popular lullaby of the mother to put her child to sleep.

When it became known that Sirdar Azim Khan had left Kashmir, P. Birbal Dar undertook
the responsibility of paying any amount of loss incurred to the Maharaja if his troops
failed in the invasion of Kashmir, keeping his son, P. Raja Kak Dar, as a hostage for the
security of the performance of his engagement.

The Maharaja then sent over 30,000 troops in the charge of P. Birbal Dar to invade
Kashmir. The troops were commanded by Raja Gulab Singh, Diwan Mirs Chand, Sirdar
Hari Singh, Jwala Singh Padania, Hukum Singh and others. Sirdar Jubbar Khan arrayed
his army against the Sikhs. A fierce battle ensued at the top of the Pir Panjal in which the
Afghan were defeated. Another battle was fought on the plateau of Shopyan and in this
Jubbar Khan was wounded and his troops were routed. Jubbar Khan then fled away and
Kashmir fell into the hands of the Sikhs. On receipt of the report of victory of his troops
in Kashmir, Maharaja Ranjit Singh bestowed robes of honour and other favours on P.
Raja Kak Dar and sent him in a most dignified manner to Kashmir. The following couplet
gives the chronology of this victory:

Birbal Pandit az sar-e-Kashmir
Kard ta dur in balai A’zim

Hatfi guft az pae tarikh

Chi baja kard Singh, fateh A’zim.

“Birbal from the head of Kashmir;

Removed away this A’zim (huge) calamity;

The angel said about the date —

How well the Sikhs accomplished victory over A’zim
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Thus Kashmir, after a long period of 496 years, passed again from the Muhammadans to
Hindus. The first Sikh governor was Diwan Moti Ram in 1819 A.D. and P. Birbal Dar
was appointed as his chief adviser.

After one year, Maharaja Ranjit Singh invited the raises (aristocrats) of Kashmir. P.
Birbal Dar, Mirza Pandit Dar and P. Sahaj Ram Dhar went to attend his Durbar. When
they reached Daulatnagar, Mirza Pandit got an attack of cholera to which he succumbed.
He was the brother of P. Sahaj Ram Dar and the latter felt the bereavement so deeply that
he retired from the world and became a recluse. P. Birbal Dar alone went to Maharaja
Ranjjt Singh and presented before him the accounts of the revenue collected.

The Maharaja was pleased with him and granted him a Khilat and sent him to Kashmir
with high honour on an elephant, P. Sahaj Ram Dar, went forth to receive him at the
Kralapora Villages in his charge as Mustajiri and these were taken away from him by P.
Birbal Dhar. Thereupon P. Ram Dar came and told Sirdar Hari Singh, who was then the
governor of Kashmir that P. Birbal Dar had become very proud and did not care even for
him. In course of time, enmity developed between the governor and P. Birbal Dar. The
former falsely reported to Maharaja Ranjit Singh that P. Birbal Dar was intriguing with
the Rajas of Muzaffarabad and other hilly tracts to rebel against the Sikhs.

Thereupon, P. Birbal Dar was dismissed from his post. P. Ganesh Dar, brother of P. Ram
Dar, now became the Peshkar of Kashmir. He went at the head of troops to Skardu and
subjugated the Raja there. He also succeeded in exploring the mines of jade and crystal at
Astore. Consequently, Maharaja Ranjit Singh was pleased with him and granted him the
village of Sir as Jagir. Afterwards, when he went to Lahore and presented the accounts of
revenue realized during the three previous years to Maharaja Ranjit Singh, he was
granted two other villages, Ramuh and Kachhipura, as Jagir.

*hkkkkhkhkkkhkkhkkkhkhkkhhkkhkiikkikk

Razdan Sahib

He was given a jagir by Maharaja Ranjit Singh during the Sikh rule. The story
goes that for a certain ritual an eclipse was essential and Razdan Sahib who was a
renowned holy man of Srinagar was approached by the emissaries of the Maharaja.
Legend has it that he threw a silver thali into the sky, which blocked the sun and caused
an eclipse thus paving the way for conducting the ritual.

The Jagir given by Maharaja Ranjit Singh to Razdan Sahib was developed and the
garden on his land became a local landmark. He was essentially a saint and not much into
worldly matters. It was a colonial style house set amidst a sea of greenery. His fame
grew and the lane leading from the main road to his garden and house was aptly named as
Razdan Kocha (Lane). Since we (Saprus) lived very close to his house we, the children,
used to go past his house to go to the bazaar.

*hkhkkkhkhkkkhkhkkkhkhkkkhhkhkhiikkiik
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16
Our Icons In The Modern Period

Kashyap Bandhu
(Pandit Tara Chand Koul)
March 24, 1899-Dec.18 ,1985.

He was born in a small village called Geeru, which is 40 km from Srinagar. He was
named Tara Chand by his parents and also acquired the nickname Bulbul. As an youth of
20, he left Kashmir to seek employment and started editing the Arya Gazette in Lahore
from 1929. He was a Journalist, versatile teacher, writer, social reformer and perhaps the
only leader of the Kashmiri Pandit community who was such a many faceted personality.

During his childhood, in addition to learning and lessons in the village school he would
tend sheep and cattle of the house. His extraordinary intelligence was recognized soon
and he would surely be consulted on the matters of importance. But soon he was to go to
Srinagar for post-primary education. He would live with an uncle in Sheshyar
Habbakadal — the Safayas. While being taken to Srinagar on foot his father while resting
at Letpora took out his knife from the pocket and showed the sharpened edges to the
young lad telling him that he would slit the throat of the lad if we came back home
without completing his education. The lad remembered the scene vividly in his eighties
as well.

After passing Middle Level examinations, he started job hunting while still studying. On
being informed that the Revenue Minister was coming back from Gulmurg, he along with
a few of his friends managed to appear before the Englishman at Narbal while he was
resting. The young man was enrolled as a Shajrakash in the Revenue Department and
sent to Kolgam Tehsil. For sometime, he was at Danow Kandi-Marg. along with the hope
of getting another job under Maharaja’s rule.

He later went to Lahore and came under the influence of the Arya Samaj Movement.
Worked as a volunteer in Quetta and started using his pen against the establishment and
in favour of the downtrodden. The power of his pen was soon recognized and he rose to
become the Editor of the “Arya Gazette”. Here he was renamed Kashyap Bandhu and he
married Vimla. His rebellious nature made him land in the prison for the first time when
he was arrested among others in Saunder’s case, having come under Bhagat Singh’s
influence.

In 1931, he returned to Kashmir and took upon himself the task of rebelling against
established customs, dress code, and political thinking of his brethren—the Kashmiri
Pandits. This was the only brief period in the recent past history of Pandits when they
remained united under one banner of Sanatan Dharm Yuvak Sabha. He held sway over
the masses through his bold pen writing the sarcastic “Challant” and “Pagal ki Diary”.
The Pheran Pooch and Zooj gave way, so did the age-old custom of nor marrying
widows. Girls’ education gained momentun and the Pandits danced happily to his tune.
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But the rebel in him would not die. A brief communal incident at Kanikoot and then the
downtown city impressed upon him the fragility of the KP’s isolated political stand.
Rebelling against the majority belief, he walked out of the Yuvak Sabha as well as the
Martand, joined hands with Sheikh Mohammed Abdullah in 1938 and thus was born the
National Conference. Pt. Jia Lal Kilam remained shoulder to shoulder with him. A fine
bond of friendship grew between Mirza Beg and him probably because both had a rural
background and had the problems of rural Kashmir uppermost in mind. The rebel in him
did not lose any chance.

In the early forties, Sheikh Mohammed Abdullah while speaking to a Friday
congregation at Hazratbal, spoke about the religion in a way so as to denigrate other
religions as compared to Islam. Kashyap Bandhu along with Jia Lal Kilam resigned the
same day from the National Conference. The Muslim friends had to do lot of cajoling and
the tall man had to personally say sorry before the duo went back.

On the political scene, the forties were years of turmoil. Kashyap Bandhu was in and out
of the Jail many a time. This gave him lot of time to use his facile pen. Kesri was first
brought on the scene. The Government banned it. “Desh” followed Kesri. Both were
edited by Kashyap Bandhu. During the post 1947 turmoil Bandhuji’s priority was to
attend to the needs of the migrants coming form areas devastated by tribals. He ensured
that all the Pandits who had been forced to tear their sacred threads got it back through
proper Yagnas at Maidan Chogol in in Handwara. He ensured the safety of Sh.Keshav
Nath Khaibri and family. This gentleman had married a Muslim lass of village Manzhar
in Kopwara and lived there only. This incidentally was the only Pandit family in the
whole of Manzhar / Halmatpora Nalla even up to the nineties.

Different people have given different reasons for his not being included in the first ever
Cabinet headed by the Sheikh. As far as | know, the reason was the rebel in him. He
would not succumb to pressure of influence and would follow his one-track mind
decisions, which Sheikh thought was not good enough for his cabinet colleagues. Having
been given the charge of Director General Dehat Sudhar and rehabilitation, he would
always take his own decisions, although he was under the charge of Revenue Minister
Mirza Afzal Beg.

Post 1953 scene, Kashyap Bandhu was incarcerated along with Sheikh and Beg. He
refused to be influenced by G.M. Bakshi and although repeatedly cajoled by him,
remained steadfast in his loyalty to the tall man. But lo and behold-when Sheikh took
over the reins of power in 1975, he refused to join his cabinet because his one track mind
believed Sheikh had taken a wrong decision.

Even between 1947 and 1953, the great man lived with Warikoo family only (with whom
he lived right from early thirties) and drew a token salary of Rupees one hundred only
and refused government accommodation or normal salary. Upon my enquiry, he told me
that all National Conference bigwigs had once decided that they should live simply,
preferably in two room cottages, around Polo ground and draw salary only as was
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required and should avoid ostentation. This one-track mind gentleman was the only
person to stick to the vow taken.

Upon being entrusted the job of development of Sonawari in 1964, he believed he had
done his job by the end of 1967. Any amount of persuasion by Sadiq Sahib did not make
him change his mind.

Dr.Rajiv Kumar, Vitasta, Calcutta, (1999-2000).

*khhkkkhkhkkkhkkhkkkikkikkikiikk

Pt. Shiv Narain Fotedar

A great politcal leader of modern Kashmir. Tall and imposing personality with a faultless
diction in spoken English, Chairman, Legislative Council J & K, President J & K, K.P.
Yuvak Sabha, Founder of “Martand”. A great fighter for the cause of Kashmiri Pandit
Community; Chairman, Gandhi Memorial College, Managing Committee. All his life he
struggled to represent the cause of Pandits. Towards the end of his life, he felt that his
political role suffered by confining himself to community politics only. He toured the
whole world as India’s Parliamentarian with ability and aplomb. A great memorable
personality who was above all very human.

*khkhhhkkkkkkhkhkhkiiikikkx

Pt. R.C. Kak

Mr. Ramchander Kak was the son of Pandit Keshav Nath Kak. He joined the civil
service during the reign of Maharaja Hari Singh and by dint of his merit, intelligence and
hard work, he rose to the rank of Inspector General, Customs, Minister in waiting and
finally the Prime Minister of the state of Jammu and Kashmir. Unfortunately for him, he
became P.M just before the partition of India in 1947 A.D. It is said that as P.M of the
state, he advised the Maharaja not to join either India or the newly created country of
Pakistan, but to have a standstill agreement with both.

However, when the tribal hordes were unleashed by Pakistan, the Maharaja had to flee
and his government collapsed. Sheikh Abdullah’s National Conference took up the reins
of government and Mr.R.C.Kak was arrested and prosecuted. However, the charges of
corruption, and nepotism could not be proved against him and he had to be acquitted.
When .Kak was produced in the court of law, he was humiliated by people, mostly
Muslims of Srinagar, who thronged the court. They spat on him and called him Rama
Hoon (Ram the dog or the the wolf). Later on, he was retired from Government service
and was drawing pension from the state. Mr.R.C. Kak had married a European girl who
adapted herself very well in the K.P family. She wore a saree & put on dejihuroo. She is
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said to have followed all the rituals of a K.P family both social as well as religious in
letter and spirit.
By N.N.Moza

*khkhkhkhkhkhkhkhkkkkhkhkhkiiikhkhhhhhiiikx

*

Bazaz, Prem Nath

Born on July 13, 1905 Srinagar ed. BA 1927 m. Sona Batni; started as journalist by
contributing to Lahore papers ‘Aam’ Paisa’; as Kashmiri Pandit leader was member
Glancy Commission 1931; started ‘Vitasta’ 1932, Hamdard 1935, close associate of
Sheikh Abdullah in 30’s but parted company early 40’s; set up Socialist League 1940,
Kisan Mazdoor Conference 1944; editor ‘Hamdard’; opposed Kashmir’s accession to
India; interned Oct.1947; extended Aug 50, settled in Delhi, also interned
there: managing director ‘Eastern Pharmacist’ English monthly Delhi; member Steering
Committee Sheikh Abdullah’s people Convention; publications; “Freedom Struggle in

Kashmir”, “Daughters of Vitasta” etc.
*kkhkkhkkkhkkhkkikkkhkkhkkkhkkhkhkkikkhkikkiikhkkikkk

The first Sher-e-Kashmir

To those of our contemporaries who are above fifty years age, the title Sher-e-
Kashmir referred to Shekih Mohammed Abdullah the first Prime Minister of Kashmir.
They may have also heard the story about the dialogue between the Sheikh and
M.Gopalaswamy lyengar who was the Prime Minister of Kashmir between 1937 and 43.
Iyengar is supposed to have asked him whether as a “Sher” which means Lion, he would
prefer either to stay in the jungle or to stay in a cage as in a zoo, because these are the
only two places where a lion can go.

However it needs to be recorded that the epithet Sher-e Kashmir was first
assigned to the late Pandit Hargopal Koul in the late twenties, says Pandit R.K.Sher. This
was for his undoubting nature and fearless temperanment who had the temerity to defied
the Muslim aggressiveness when and where he stood like a rock without the least fear of
getting killed. Pandit Hargopal was the maternal grandfather of late Pt.Shiv Narain
Fotedar, the venerable leader of Kashmiri Pandits.

“Alas! The Pandit community could not produce a leader of the stature of
Hargopal and Shiv Narain after they attained Nirvana. We thus reach the conclusion that
the epithet “Sher-1-Kashmir” was borrowed by the Muslim Conference was for Late
Sheikh Mohammad Abdullah from late Hargopal Kaul”. (KS, June 1998)

Says Justice Jia Lal Kilam in his book “A History of Kashmiri Pandits” :

“In 1876,there was the terrible famine in Kashmir. Once a number of famine
stricken people were being carried across the Wular Lake to adjoining villages. The boat
capsized and some mischief mongers spread the rumour that the Government had
purposely drowned the people, as it couldn’t feed them. Someone complained to the
Viceroy of India and suspicion turned on an influential Pandit named Hargopal Kaul. He
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was a Pandit who had migrated to Lahore because of religious persecution and had
recently returned to the Valley. The British Government sent an officer to hold an enquiry
into Hargopal Kaul’s role into the alleged drowning of local people. The Maharaja also
suspected Hargopal Kaul to be an agent of the British Government, which was trying to
annex his state to British India.

During the enquiry in the open durbar, Hargopal Kaul asked the British Enquiry Officer
as to who his prosecutor was and who the Judge. On being informed that the State was
the prosecutor and Judge, Hargopal Kaul said that it was queer justice that the same
person should act both as the Judge and the prosecutor.

This retort angered the Maharaja so much that he wanted to assault Hargopal Kaul, but
was persuaded by his courtiers from doing so. The British officer exonerated him, but the
Maharaja (Ranbir Singh) sent him to jail along with his brother Pandit Saligram Kaul.
They were interned in the Bahu fort in Jammu but managed to escape.

They went to Sialkot where they started a newspaper, which took a strong line of
criticism against the Kashmir Durbar. The criticism stung and the Maharaja was advised
to persuade the two brothers to come back, which they did.

It was not easy in those days to defy the power of the State, but Hargopal Kaul did it
and he was the original, real Sher-e-Kashmir.

Kaul Brothers of Lahore.

Raja Daya Krishen Kaul

Pandit Lal Kishen Kaul was forced by religious persecution to leave the Kashmir Valley
and migrate to Punjab in the early 19" century. He later Joined Maharaja Ranjit Singh’s
army and commanded one of his crack regiments known as Pindiwala Brigade which
won laurels in the Battle of Sirhind. Before his death, he adopted Pt.Suraj Kaul who later
rose to the position of Revenue Minister of the Imperial Indian Council. His youngest
son, Pt. Daya Krishan Kaul, worked as his Secretary till his death in 1901.

In 1902, Pt .Daya Krishan Kaul became the Private Secretary to the Maharaja of Jammu
and Kashmir. Thereafter, from 1910 to 1916, he worked as the Dewan of Alwar State,
from 1916 to 1925, he guided the destinies of the Patiala State. He had tremendous ability
as a statesman and was the main architect in the settlement of the dispute between the
Patiala and Nabha Sates of Punjab.

Pt. Daya Krishan Kaul earned the titles of Dewan Bahadur, Raja K.B.E & C.I.E at the
time when the British ruled our motherland. He showed tremendous enterprise and
acumen as an industrialist in Punjab and executed various timber extraction contracts
successfully. He set up the Jallo subsidiary industry and a match factory at Shahdara near
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Lahore and at Baramulla in Kashmir. He also had a large agricultural property in Punjab
and was very helpful to the poor farmers.

During Maharaja Pratap Singh’s forty year-long reign, many modern reforms were
introduced in the state. In 1902, Raja Daya Kishen Koul became the Raja’s Private
Secretary and took keen interest in starting a college in Srinagar with private effort and
initiative.

Raja Hari Krishen Kaul (Prime Minister, J & K State, 1931-32)

He was the second son of Raja Suraj Kaul. He remained in Government service
throughout after joining the statutory civil service in 1911. His compilation of the Census
Report of 1911 was considered a piece of literature. He organized the Badshahi Mela in
1911 when the King Emperor visited India during the Delhi Darbar. He earned the titles
of Raja, Rai Bahadur, C.S.I and C.1.E. from the British. He retired from service in 1924
as the first Indian Commissioner of Jallandhar Division in Punjab. In 1926, he was
appointed member of the Economic Inquiry Committee of the Government.

Later in 1928, he was sent as Dewan to Bharatpur State. He went to Kashmir as Prime
Minister in 1931-32. Subsequently, he was appointed Revenue Minister for some time. In
1939, he was selected as the Indian Representative to the League of Nations but, due to
the outbreak of World War Il in September 1939, the League was dissolved. He retired
from active service in 1941.

Justice P.N.Bakshi, Koshur Samachar, September 98.

*hhhhkhkkkkhkhkhkhrrhkhkhkhkkhhkhiirhiiiikd

Journalism
Rameshwar Nath Zutshi : Crusader extraordinary

Today, journalism has become a profession. It was not always so.lt started as a vocation
and later turned into a crusade. Much later, it became a profession. The development of
the press in India is closely related to the spread of English language from Calcutta, then
capital of India in the late 19" century to the rest of India.

English language journalism developed initially as a method by which the British could
keep themselves informed about the happenings within India. But once the technology of
Gutenberg arrived, the language press also began to develop. The English press was
initially British owned, but as the years passed from 1875 to 1945, Indians also began to
launch newspapers in English which became the conduit and instrument for the
dissemination of the Indian viewpoint during the freedom struggle.

Thus it was, that Moti Lal Nehru,a rising star of the freedom movement, in association
with other leaders, decided to launch a newspaper at Allahabad in the second decade of
the 20" century. The name of the newspaper was "Leader". To head this newspaper, they
selected a brilliant proven journalist namely Dr. C.Y.Chintamani. Once launched, the
paper became the voice of the Congress in U.P and Northern India.
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Since newspaper or the press was not an industry at that time, but part of a crusade for
freedom, there were no attractive scales of remuneration to induct intelligent young
journalists to man the organization. However, there were others who did not look at the
remuneration part of it, but as an opportunity to participate in the freedom movement.
Several young men, fired by the zeal to serve the country through the pen, came forward
despite lack of prospects in this new profession.

One of them was Rameshwar Nath Zutshi, a real low profile journalist of astounding
calibre who served the paper under the guidance of the brilliant and fiery Chintamani. In
fact, Zutshi was the brightest boy when he joined the paper in 1923. For 44 years non-
stop, he worked for the paper without taking a single days’ leave even when he was sick.
Zutshi was born on Dec.24, 1896 and passed his M.A from the Allahabad University in
1919. For a short while, he worked as a lecturer in St.John’s college Agra. Thereafter, he
joined the Tribune at Lahore, worked for some time there and eventually went back to his
own city Allahabad and joined the Leader.

After Chintamani retired from the paper, Mr Krishna Ram Mehta took over as the Editor.
It was after Mehta that Zutshi took over as the editor. One of his greatest qualities was his
patience and understanding especially with younger reporters and sub-editors. He would
listen to their problems, give them advice and himself set an example which they could
emulate. Many times, he got the best out of them by appealing to their sense of honour, to
their pride and their professionlism. He was not just a boss, but also a friend, philosopher
and guide.

Zutshi devoted his whole life to journalism. A life long bachelor, he was in love with life
and his calling — journalism. The pen was his weapon both for offence and defence. For
him work was worship. He died at the ripe old age of 84 on March 25, 1980, mourned by
thousands who knew him and by colleagues who worked with him. His death was a loss
to the profession. Many came before and many after him, but he shone like a star in the
firmament and faded away like the good soldier that he was.

*hkhkkkhkhkkkhkkhkkkhkkhkkkhkhkkhhikkikiikkik

Wattal, Nandlal :

"In mass media," writes V.N.Narayanan, columnist and editor of repute, "learning is not a
problem but ignorance is becoming a qualification."

"Humility and journalism,” he says, "are a contradiction in terms. Next to judges, editors
are perhaps the most arrogant and ivory-tower tribals in the modern world. What spurs
them is power and quest for fame."”

Nandal Wattal was an editor too, of genuine distinction, for five decades, but, during his
times, ignorance certainly was not a qualification among journalists. So far as humility is
concerned, it was his forte and it never got into any contradiction with his profession. All
along his life, he was known for maintaining a low profile.
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In the words of G.M.Sofi, Editor, Srinagar Times, "if one were to compare the calibre of
Mr.Wattal with that of the present day journalists, one would be disappointed. Today
there is glamour, allurement and much more. But journalism today is bereft of the soul,
from which the society and social environment derived lif." "By his manner and style of
functioning, Mr.Wattal set an example for others to emulate,"” writes Sofi.

N.L.Wattal was one among those veterans who built the edifice of modern journalism in
Kashmir in the footsteps of such pathfinders and old campaigners as Mulk Raj Saraf,
P.N.Bazaz, Kashyap Bandhu, Gashlal Kaul, J.N.Zuthsi, B.P.Sharma and Maulana
Masoodi. In those days of autocratic rule terms like freedom of press and right of free
expression were not in vogue. To the princely rulers everywhere in the country,
newspapers were like a red rag to the bull. Due to stiff controls, harsh censorship rules,
and fines and other punitive measures for violation of rules, not many ventured into the
hazardous field of newspapers, still in the nascent stage. Those who did, were the trail-
blazers, who suffered many trials and tribulations to lay the sound foundations of news-
paper culture in Jammu & Kashmir.

It was during those days that Mr.Wattal and many other enterprising and educated young
men made their appearance on the scene of journalism. They included veterans like
R.K.Kak, J.N.Sathu, Mir Abdul Aziz, G.A.Kashfi, P.N.Kanna, S.P.Sahni, Ved Bhasin,
Om Saraf and others. As the years rolled by, many others joined the ranks. Each one of
them left hisown imprint on the path of journalism.

Mr.Wattal stated his career with the daily Hamdard, a prestigious publication of the
decade before independence, owned and edited by P.N.Bazaz Hamdard was a tough
training school for the upcoming journalists which is amply borne out by the fact that
many a later veterans came out from the paper edited by P.N.Bazaz. Hamdard was a
tough training school for the upcoming journalists, which is amply borne out by the fact
that many a later veterans came out from the editorial desk of this newspaper. Later
Mr.Wattal took over the editorship of daily Khidmat, official organ of the National
Conference, and stayed with the newspaper till the last days of his life. Mr.Wattal moved
over to Jammu in early 1990 and Khidmat was closed down after terrorism struck
Kashmir .

Khidmat was a party organ, first of the National Conference and then Congress, which
made its debut in Jammu & Kashmir in the early sixties when G.M.Sadiq took over the
reins of the Government. Being a party paper, the scope of Khidmat was limited and it
had to exercise certain restraints, yet Mr.Wattal gave it a distinct character, making it the
most prestigious daily of its era in the State.

Writes G.M.Sofi, "Even though working for a party newspaper, Mr.Wattal built up an
individuality of his own. Whenever he picked up his pen to write on political, economic
and social issues, he did it with such finesse that while he kept in mind the party’s
viewpoint, he also made objective and correct assessment of the issues involved." "The
editorial department of Khidmat", says Sofi, "became a training school for young
journalists, some of whom later made a name for themselves."
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Mr.G.M.Sofi was himself is a product of Khidmat, having been groomed by Mr.Wattal.
So also were many others, including some, like Ghulam Nabi Turi and Mohammed Amin
Pandit, who rose to higher positions in the Government media organizations.

R.K.Kak once told me that the first thing he read in the morning was the editorial of
Khidmat. | have known many others doing it too. Mr.Wattal usually wrote long
editorials, but they were highly absorbing, elaborate, educative and informative. When he
handled a subject, he did it with in depth analysis and derived conclusions which were
always apt to the subject and situation.

J.N.Sathu, a close friend and colleague of Mr.Wattal from Hamdard days, spoke of the
"analytical mind" of Mr.Wattal and his “"deep understanding™ of the topics he took up for
writing.

Avid Reader
"He was an avid reader of books and newspapers and kept himself abreast of latest
developments. This helped him a great deal in his work," said Mr.Sathu.

"Some of his editorials,” said Sathu, "may not have been palatable for the party whose
paper he worked for, but this never deterred him from dissecting situations and issues to
the best of his knowledge and arriving at unbiased and objective conclusions."

Said Mr.Sathu, "None of Wattal’s contemporaries could deal with a topic as skillfully and
as knowledgeably as he did. In fact as far as leader writing in the dailies was concerned,
Wattal was undoubtedly the facile princeps."

Since Khidmat was always a party paper, many people disagreed with its views, but there
was hardly a serious newspaper reader who could ignore the views editorially expressed
by the daily.

Said Sati Sahini, "it is tribute to the professional competence and integrity of Mr.Wattal,
that even though Khidmat changed hands from one party to another and from one party
chief to another, he was always entrusted with the editorship of the paper.”

Unmatched Respect
At one stage, Mr.Wattal had even offered to quit but he was dissuaded from doing so by
the then Chief Minister, late G.M.Sadiq.

Mr.Sahini said party papers usually did not and could not build much credibility and
Khidmat was no exception. But the respect that Mr.Wattal commanded among his fellow
journalists, politicians and readers was unmatched. He said Mr.Wattal always edited a
newspaper which belonged to the ruling party but no one could ever blame him of
throwing about his weight, nor did he dance attendance on ministers or curry favours. In
fact when a politician or aminister wanted to meet Mr.Wattal, he would go to the office
of the newspaper. He would meet the party president or the Chief Minister only when
asked to do so.
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On the professional level, Mr.Wattal enjoyed cordial relations with every member of the
press fraternity, young or old. He never got into professional rivalries or controversies
and never sought any office in the professional organizations of editors and other
journalists.

Describing him as a "gentleman journalist”, Ved Bhasin said that "Mr Wattal never made
compromises on professional integrity and honesty. He was a striking example of clean
journalism.”

He said Mr.Wattal upheld the tradition of "qualitative journalism” so assiduously
established by his forerunners. Besides, in spite of being associated with the mouthpiece
of the establishment, he never hesitated to put down his considered and mature views
frankly, freely and honestly on important issues from time to time, Mr.Bhasin said.

After independence when Jammu & Kashmir came on the broadcasting network of India,
N.L.Wattal’s voice was often heard broadcasting "halat-e-hazira peh tabsurra”
(commentary on current affairs) from Srinagar station of Radio Kashmir, which had a
very wide listenership all over the State and in Pak-occupied Kashmir. his eloquence and
his diagnosis of burning issues of the day, inspired his diagnosis of burning issues of the
day, inspired many aspiring youths who dreamt of careers in journalism. | was one of
them. But it was many years later that | had the privilege of personal acquaintance with
Mr.Wattal. during the years immediately preceding eruption of terrorism, | would spend
quite some hours with him in his office, especially after the daily Qaumi Awaz
established its office in Khidmat House.

To me Mr. Wattal appeared to be a very humble and simple man, with the simplest of
habits and least of needs. He had no pretensions whatsoever, and talked less and listened
more. He was always eager to learn, and preferred to ask question rather than answer
ones. By nature he was not gregarious, spent almost his entire time in his office and
interacted with his professional colleagues only occasionally. But he would spend a lot of
time reading serious books. Sitting and conversing with him across his table in his office,
was a pleasant experience, and, when he opened up, he had a lot to say on the
developments and events of the past six decades.

Many years back, during a radio interview broadcast from Srinagar, Mr.Wattal said that
journalism was essentially an “intellectual pursuit”, and in order to maintain its quality
and class, it should not be allowed to degenerate into a purely commercial exercise. He
was highly optimistic about the future of journalism in Kashmir, saying that the Valley’s
soil was "very fertile" for the growth of a "healthy, free and forward-looking press".
Wattal Saheb died a peaceful death in September 1997 during the eighth year of his exile
from Kashmir, but he died an unhappy man. As is the case with all other displaced
Kashmiris, life of homelessness had diminished and depleted his entire being. He talked
still less, mingled and interacted with lesser number of people and spent his time mostly
indoors. He pined for Kashmir and longed to go back to his home which he had built out
of a lifetime’s earnings, but in which he was not destined to live.
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Education

What Tyndale — Biscoe was to modern school education in the Kashmir Valley, Raja
Daya Krishen Koul was to collegiate education. He opened the doors to higher
education for Kashmiri Pandit boys and later girls by helping to start a degree college.
Hitherto, Pandit boys would complete their matriculation and get clerical jobs. Now
after 1907, the way was cleared for higher education.

At that time,to keep up with British India, English was slowly but steadily introduced in
the all the central offices of the State Government. Maharaja Pratap Singh had not been
for some time in the good books of the British Government and his direct powers had
been entrusted to council headed by his brother Raja Amar Singh. This council had
members from the Punjab Provinces and one of them had made the astounding
suggestion that no college should ever be opened in Kashmir as it would be unwise to
impart higher education to the people of a frontier state.

But, another member council, Pandit Raja Suraj Koul opposed it and it was his son
Pandit Daya Krishen Koul who spearheaded the effort to set up a college. It was 1906 —
07 that the Sri Pratap Hindu College was opened in Srinagar and the first batch of Pandit
boys graduated in 1911. While this was a big step forward, degrees were awarded only in
Aurts subjects. There was no science faculty available in S.P.College as it becomes known
later (the word Hindu was dropped and the college was eventually taken over by the
Government). It was only in 1934-35 that efforts were successful and in 1938 the first
batch of science graduates came out of S.P.College.

Master Samsar Chand Kaul: Great Ornithologist Of Kashmir

MASTER Samsar Chand Kaul (1883-1977) was a renowned educationist, ornithologist
and environmentalist of his time, when subjects like bird watching and study of natural
history was unknown in Kashmir. By profession, he was a teacher in then C.M.S. School,
Fateh Kadal, later Central High School, Srinagar, continuously for 65 years and
developed interest among the students in the natural history around; besides teaching of
his usual academic subjects.

His keenness in inculcating aptitude among the students towards glorious and everlasting
surroundings of mountains, birds, flowers and forests was appreciated by the then British
Principal of the School, Mr. C.E. Tyndale Biscoe, who, while writing a foreword to
Master Samsar Chand’s book “Beautiful Valley of Kashmir & Ladakh”, wrote as under:

“I am most grateful to Samsar Chand for having taught his boys to love birds through his
teaching of natural history”.

Ilustrious Teaching Career

His teaching career in the C.M.S School, was of highest educational order. During his
long span of teaching career, he traveled to every nook and corner of the Valley along
with the students, both native as well as foreign, and his colleagues. He scaled several
mountain peaks of Pir Panjal range like Mahadev, Harmokh and Kolahoi and undertook
trekking high-altitude lakes like Tarsar, Marsar, Gangabal, Kolsar, Vishnu Sar, Kausar
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Nag, Sheeshram Nag, Har Nag Valley and Kolahoi glacier and Harmokh glacier,
meadows like Toseh Maidan, Bungus, Allpathar, Jamia Galli, Beasam Galli, Gureiz
Valley, stepped over boulders and rocks with the students.

This close and practical encounter with nature, in calm and tranquil atmosphere, provided
him with ample opportunities to study, to know and to probe into the history of nature
and its geographical transformation, which he happily shared with the students
accompanying him in these adventures. As a teacher, he had developed his own methods
of imparting education. Even on mountains, hills and meadows, he would explain to his
students on the spot the forms of fossils and their formation, he would show them various
types of rocks which he came across during trekking or at camping sites. In forest areas,
he helped the students to identify various kinds of trees by the shape of their leaves and
taught them how to calculate the age of the trees by the number of annual tissue rings in
the trunks.

Bird Watching as Hobby

His principal area of interest was ornithology, which needed immense patience and
perseverance. While on a picnic or in a summer camp among the pine and fir trees in the
Valley, he would devote most of his time in watching birds, their little ones, their art of
making nests and their melodious notes. He had acquired, with the passage of time,
experience to imitate their chirping. For bird watching, he had selected a few places in
the Valley where he invariably preferred to go in seasons.

These places were Hokursar, Anchar Lake, Feroze Nalla (Tangmarg), vegetative strip
willows and poplar trees — where birds of all varieties, migratory and local, were
conspicuous by their presence. He would spend hours there with a binocular to take close
views of birds in their nests or on branches of trees and would immediately jot down his
observations in a notebook. Many bird watchers of world fame, like late Saleem Ali from
Bombay, joined him in such experimentation in Anchar Lake as well as in Dal Lake.

Bird watching became his regular activity and he kept his eyes open for birds in high-
altitude meadows and mountains during trekking. In mountains ranges, he came across
Himalayan black bulbul, Himalayan whistling thrust, Woodpecker, hoopoes, Kingfisher,
jungle crow, sandpiper, turtle doves, red-bowed finch, Himalayan brown dipper, Indian
bush chat, blue headed rock thrush, Stoics mountain finch and mountain pigeons.

Master Samsar Chand had a flair for studying wild flowers, plants and mountain herbs
which he found during his trekking in meadows and pastures in the mountainous ranges
of Kashmir. He made it a point to collect samples of these wild flowers, herbs and plants,
and would carefully preserve them in between the leaves of his diary in a scientific
manner till his return to his residence. These plants were later studied with the help of
expert professors of Botany. This way he was able to identify many plants, flowers and
herbs during his trekking and would inspire his students to explore and admire the floral
beauty.
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His collections included flowers like Marino Longifolo, Morino Couterians, Dotentillo,
Anemone Tetrascaple Jueunda, Carydalis Cahsemirians, Astra Falconeri and herbs like
Indigoffera Lereantha, Sassurealappa, Artemisia. Salviashien, which were located in
clusters on the high mountain ridges. These herbal plants were preserved by him in grass-
made baskets at his home and were gradually used for curing of joint pains, skin disease,
cold and cough, etc.

Development of Kobutar Khana

With the passage of time, he developed acute interest for the collection of so-called
natural treasures and made numberless visits to the remotest and inaccessible areas of the
Valley and collected a huge quantity of flowers, herbs, fossil rocks, lime stone, drift
roots, plant leaves, hydro plants of lakes, bird nests, egg shells of birds and feathers
which were preserved in a systematic manner in cupboards in the school museum called
Kobutar Khana. It was the room where he taught geography. The room had been
converted into a full-fledged natural history room. The ceiling of Kobutar Khana was
covered with large-sized paper with stars, galaxies, planets, moon and constellations
printed on its sky-blue black-ground, which gave the impression of a starry sky. Models
of British ships like Drudkot and Titanic were also kept in the museum.

A part of his collection was meticulously maintained by him in large-sized albums at his
residence in Motiyar, Rainawari. Their characteristics, date and place of procurement
were skill fully and neatly written below each sample. While skipping over the pages of
these albums, one would get so captivated, as if one was actually loitering in the high
mountains of Kashmir. He would often take foreign friends and his acquaintances around
the school to show them the museum developed and maintained by him.

Many foreign guests were deeply impressed by his work and honored him by nominating
him as a member of National Geographical Society, Washington, Royal Geographical
Society, Canada, and Society of World Watchers, England, in late 1950s. His dedication
and sincerity towards his school and its students was so much that he would pass on gift
cheques, whenever received from foreigners, to the school account for the welfare and
upkeep of the School.

As an Author

With such rich experience of natural history and sound background of the areas he
traveled and trekked with students and foreign nationals, he presented an extensive vivid
narration in lucid and facile language in his most delightful books; “Beautiful Valley of
Kashmir & Ladakh”, “Birds of Kashmir” and “Srinagar & Its Environs in 1940s.

He became an authority on birds of the Valley and was often called for programmes on
birds by Radio Kashmir, when Mr. P.C. Chatterjee was the Station Director, AIR
Kashmir, from 1955 onwards. He delivered many talks on birds to foreign tourist groups.
His contribution in cultivating a habit among boys for natural history and to develop a
sense of appreciation for beauty around them, earned him a foreign travel across the Bay
of Bengal to Burma in 1935 at the school expenses. His students understood the pains and
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feelings of caged birds and dressed the wounds and treated the wounds of the birds and
animals found on the wayside.

Another glorious aspect of his personality was his deep involvement in spiritual pursuits.
Compassion and humanism were his hallmarks. He had imbibed the traits of the
missionary zeal by emulating with British people like late Mr. Tyndala Biscoe, pioneer of
education in Kashmir, his son, Mr. Eric Biscoe; the late Col. A.E. Ward, the late Jacob
Sahib, Rev. R.D. Thompson; Dr. Smyth Morris; Mr. B.D. Coventry, them Chief
Conservator of Forests and many others who visited Kashmir in the pre-independence
period. He taught innumerable poor boys and educated them without any kind of
remuneration in return and took to such selfless path to satisfy his own inner conscience.

Besides being a scholar of Kashmir Shaivism. Master Samsar Chand was a noble soul
totally devoted to God. Parikrama of Hariparbat, followed by prayer and meditation, were
regular features of his daily life till his last breath. In the family, he guided his
grandchildren in learning Sanskrit mantras from his scriptures before going to bed and
entertained them with stories from Bible, Hindu religious scriptures and some interesting
gleanings from Rajtarangini or from Kashmir history particularly of Pathan rule which
was dotted with clumsy whims and fancies of Pathan Governors in the Valley.

Love for Outdoor Life

He had wonderful aesthetic tastes to enjoy life. In summer vacation, when his school was
closed, he would plan programmes for outings along with his wife and grandson. Visiting
Khirbhawani was generally preferred because of its being a secluded area with spiritual
grace and cool atmosphere of Chinar trees. Here he found harmony and peace for his
spiritual exercises. Sometimes he also visited health resorts like Achabal, Anantnag,
Gautam Nag, Nag dandi and areas of old monument sites like Kothyar Won, Parihaspore
and Martand. He believed that God was within one’s self and did not feel the need to
roam about on pilgrimages in search of God.

In 1965, he went to Rishikesh, where he attended the discourse mf Swami Mahesh Yogi
on Vedanta. While listening to the discourse, he stood up and sought Swamji’s
permission to recite a ‘shloka” from Utpalastutraveli, a book on Kashmir Shaivism.
Hailing Masterji’s knowledge of Shaivism, Swami Mahesh elucidated the aspect of
Kashmir Shaivism in detail to the gathering of Indian and foreigners there. Though being
a student with Persian —Urdu background in his graduation, yet Masterji had developed
great acumen for scientific knowledge and natural history. He was also well versed in
religious philosophies and an exponent of Kashmir Shaivism. His urge to learn Sanskrit
made him a disciple of learned Sanskrit teacher, late Shri Govind Joo Bhatt of Rainawari,
and enthusiastically joined Gita classes on every Sunday at Vital Bhairav Temple.
Practical astronomy was his other field of study and observation.

An Ardent Star-Gazer

Kashmir is endowed with lush green mountains, snow-capped peaks, grating rivulets,
gushing streams, dense forests, cool breeze and a beautiful canopy of crystal blue sky.
The sky during the cover of darkness appears like a sat umbrella studded with countless
glittering diamonds. On such starry nights, Masterji used to point out various stars like
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Great Bear, Polar Star, Milky Way and other galaxies to his students while camping at
Gangabal, Sonamarg or Gulmarg and would narrate details about these planets to
students.

Despite having attained expertise and excellence in ornithology, Master Samsar Chand
could not get due recognition either from J & K Government or from the Centre. Leading
political men and personalities of the state, like late Bakshi Ghulam Mohd. G.M. Sadiq,
Agha Ashraf, P.N. Jalali, Bashir Bakshi, Dr., Nassir Shah, Late Prof. M.S. Want and
Prof. Ansari were some of his distinguished students in C.M.S School.

However, the British Government favored him with the honour of a small war pension;
but in the state where he gave wider dimensions to the education of the students, he
passed away in oblivion.

Surender Kaul, Koshur Samachar, April,1999) (The author is Master Samsar
Chand’s grandson)

*khkhkkkkkkhkik

Shanker Kaul

While Tyndale Biscoe may be regarded by history as the torchbearer of knowledge and
opening a window for Kashmiris to the world outside through the English language, his
many disciples were Kashmiri Pandits who carried forword the torch to spread
knowledge and communication to the community.

Among those in whom he had utmost confidence,were two members of the community
namely Pandit Shanker Koul (CMS, Fateh Kadal) and Sridhar Bhat (CMS Anant Nag).

Shanker Koul came to the Mission School, Fateh Kadal as a student along with two other
boys from the State School in 1892. And learnt on the very first day, the real meaning of
education at the hands of Biscoe Sahib.

........ Their first morning’s work was finished when the bell rang for them to go to the
playground for the twenty minutes’ exercise, drill, boxing and gymnastics.

When | ordered my class to shut their books and to go the playground, these three new
boys said that they had come to school to learn and not to play. So I told them that this
school was not a lunatic asylum and that, if they did not wish to have their bodies trained,
they had better return at once to the state school. I then forced them downstairs to the
playground and put them in line with the squad fronting the parallel bars and, when their
turn came to perform, they refused to mount the parallel bars. So I took out my watch and
told them that 1 would give them five minutes to think the matter over and then
something would happen. Something did happen. Shanker Koul was on the parallel bars
but his arms were too weak to hold himself there, so two boys were called to support him
on each side.
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When this first exercise was finished, we dealt with the other two newcomers in the same
way. All three boys accepted this treatment with good grace, and, later on, all three
became gymnastic instructors and thankful that they had come to the school.

To speak of Shanker Koul’s life at the C.M.S schools and the enormous amount of useful
work and brave deeds that he has performed would fill volumes. He was the leader of the
boys at fires in the city, at epidemics of cholera, and when the Jhelum river overflowed
its banks, causing destruction and distress all around. He was in the van too in preventing
cruelty to animals, and in rescuing women and girls from impure devils. He also did
useful work in standing up to the state officials when they tried to harm our schools and
was always ready to join battle with anyone who decried the school.

He along with Sridhar Bhat spearheaded social reform education for widow marriage and
unreasonable tenets of orthodoxy. When the first widow marriage of two widows was
celebrated, it was Shanker Koul and Sridhar Bhat who led the procession in the face of
stiff opposition from the orthodox section of the community in 1928. Subsequently, a
great leader appeared on the scene in the form of Kashyap Bandhu who rendered yeoman
service in the field of social reform.

Shanker Koul had also the distinction of being elected as a member of the Municipal
council in 1916.

*khhkkkhkhkkkhkhkkkikhkkhhikkikikikk

Sridhar Bhat

He was a contemporary of Shanker Koul, but belonged to Anantnag. He came to the
Mission School there as a student and imbibed the qualities that Biscoe Sahib had
prescribed to make a real man. He was one of the shining examples of students from rural
background who believed with all his heart in the school motto “in all things be men”.

After having been a student of the school, he became a teacher in same school. Biscoe
who had never regretted his decision of appointing Shanker Koul as the Headmaster of
the Mission School at Fateh Kadal applied the same formula when the time came for the
appointment of Headmaster at Mission School, Anantnag. He selected Sridhar Bhat for
the post. Why? Let Biscoe Sahib himself answer.

“He (Sridhar Bhat) possessed outstanding character for courage, kindness and
determination and his great joy in life was that of up lifting the Kashmiris.”

*khkkkkhkhkkkhkkhkkkhkhkhkkhkikikkikk
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Guru — Shishya

Teaching, the wise say, is a noble profession. While the first teacher is the mother, those
who come later mould the child into a man or a woman. In a miniscule community, the
one profession which has attracted the genius of the

Pandits, is the teaching profession. While there were thousands in the ranks, we give
below the names of a few. There were many more and their selfless service has to be
counted when assessing the worth of the community.
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17
Martial Pandit

A Kashmiri Pandit is generally identified with learning, reading, writing, languages,
scholarship, diplomacy, law and all those skills that signify the need for intelligence and
peaceful environment. For the present generation, this impression has gained ground
perhaps because of the 101 years of peace, tranquility during the rule of the Dogra
dynasty.

It might surprise the present generation to know that Pandits also joined the military
service as a means of earning a living. In the last 200 years, the Afghan rule, the rise of
Maharaja Ranjit Singh and the Sikh rule over Kashmir has dominated our thinking about
military service.

Says Justice Jia Lal Kilam in his pioneering work entitled “A History Of Kashmiri
Pandits”:

“Kashmiri Pandits in those days (during 17" 18™ .and 19™ centuries) freely entered
military service. They found their way into Mohamedan,Marhatta,Sikh and English
armies. For instance in various writings we find:

a)Bandai Dargah Rupchand Parimoo Sakini Kani Kadal dar Amli Nawabi Zain Khan
Bahadur 2)Anand Ram Valoo hamrahi Lashkari Zain Khan Bahadur dar Risalai Qassim
Khan 3) Mehar Chand Kaul Sakini Bagdaji Minmahlati Rainawari hamrahi Lashkari Zain
Khan Bahadur.

b)Banda Rupchand 2) Bhawani Das 3) Heeraman Pasndit 4) Sada Kaul hamrahi Lashkari
Mohammad Said Khan

Bahadur Rustam Jang Bahadur.

¢) Narain Pandit Sapru 2)Vishinath Pandit Sapru 3)Zind Ram Kaul,Hamrahi Lashkari
Sidique Beg Khan Bahadur.

d)Thakur Das Pandit Sapru 2)Fateh Chand Kaul 3)Sobha Shanker 4)Gopinath
Chhachabali 5)Pandit Daya Ram Walad Zind Ram.

This gentleman bore the title of a Raja.

e)Raja Sahib Ram Kaul 2)Banda Bishnath and 3)Bhawani Shanker hamrahi Lashkari
Murshid Zada Ifag Nawab Momamaduddoullah.

f)Pandit Gangaram Bath hamrahi Lashkari Ambajee.

g)Bandai Dargah Ram Narain Kaul uruf Kharu hamrahi Babujee Scindhia Bahadur.
h)Heera Lal Zutshi hamrahi Buhl Sahib Kidar Agbi fauji Lake Sahib rawana shuda bud.
i)Kishen Chand Kaul hamrahi Lashkari Fraser Sahib.

J)Ajudhianath hamrahi Thomas Metecalfe Sahib

Note: The writings referred to here are to be found in an old Bahi of the Panda of
Kashmiri Pandits at Kurukshetra. It is customary for a pilgrim to write about his arrival in
the book maintained by the Panda.

1.Kashmiri Pandits in the 18™ and 19" centuries byJ.L.Kilam.
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Maharaja Ranjit Singh was a very progressive ruler who realized that the Europeans,
especially the English and the French were far more advanced than the Indians
specifically in the art of war.

He had modelled his army on European lines. There were many French Generals serving
in his army, chief amongst whom being Ventura and Allard. Ventura was in charge of the
Mabharaja’s Fauji-Khas, which was considered to be the flower of the Sikh army (Today,
they would be called Special Forces, or Commandos, or SAS or Green Berets). He was
assisted by a Kashmiri Pandit, the son of Pandit Ganga Ram, Adjutant General Diwan
Ajudhya Prashad who had shown considerable skill in handling military matters.

During Ventura’s absence on leave,Ajudhya Prashad was placed in full command, led
successful military expeditions against hill chieftains. After his return from France,
Ventura paid glowing tributes to the military genius of the Pandit, and remarked that he
had found the troops in a better spirit than when he had left them in charge of the Pandit.
After Ventura’s final exit, Pandit Ajudhya Prashad was placed in independent command
of these troops.

There is no use in multiplying names of the persons who were prominent at the Sikh
court. But even then, there is one person whose mention would not be out of place here.
We mean Col. Badri Nath. He migrated from Kashmir during the Afghan rule, and got
enlisted as a sepoy in the Sikh army. He gradually rose to the rank of a colonel. He was
second in command to general Hari Singh Nalwa when the latter wrested Peshawar from
the Barakzais.

The founder of the Dogra dynasty Maharaja Gulab Singh, died in 1857 and was
succeeded by his son Maharaja Ranbir Singh. While Gulab Singh concentrated on
consolidating his new kingdom, his son after peace had been completely restored, set
about implementing much needed reforms. Since security was of paramount importance,
he also concentrated on modernizing his army.

The army was about forty five thousand strong and was very ably led by Dogra and
Gurkha officers. This army proved its mettle in the Gilgit and Ladakh campaigns. The
terms of command were all in Sanskrit . A Research Department was also started. In all
this, he was very ably assisted by his Prime Minister, Diwan Kripa Ram, who was a son
of Diwan Jwala Sahi, has produced a report on the Kashmir valley in 1870 A.D., which
can even now be read with great benefit. The report contains a well- ordered treatment of
all the subjects which concern the valley. In producing this report, he was assisted by a
number of Kashmiri Pandits.

1.Mashahiri Kahsmir by Faug. See also Punjab Chiefs by Griffin.
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Pen Warriors

Maharaja Gulab Singh once reproachfully remarked — “The Pandits are cowards
and lack martial spirit, hence they shirk taking to the Military service.” A Pandit being
present at once replied — “Pray, thank Heaven, the Pandits do not take to military service,
for do you not remember what one single Brahmin (Paras Ram) did in ancient times after
he wore his belt and sword”? The Pandit’s tenacity, adaptability and elasticity as regards
his political environment have been construed to mean cowardice. He has survived the
most ruthless, barbarous and savage rule, which he was subjected to in the past. Given the
same destructive and fatal circumstances to live and work under, can there be found a
people, other than the Kashmiri Pandit, who could endure this inhuman rule for six odd
centuries and survive it?

In the last quarter of the 19" century and the first half of the 20™ century, contrary to
popular belief, many Pandits joined the British Indian Army. One of the first was
admittedly not a combatant but a doctor. His name was Piaray Lal Atal. At the time,
when he was killed, he held the rank of Major. He was a member of the Indian Medical
Service (IMS), which the British had constituted in India. As soon as World War | began
and the Indian Expedionary Force was sent to France in 1914, many from the IMS were
drafted into Military Service.

During the initial period of the fighting, Major Atal was killed in action in November
1914. It needs to be mentioned here that the Atal family has contributed quite a lot to the
nation in terms of both Civil and Military Service. His younger son Brig. Hira Lal Atal
commanded the 77 Para BRIGADE IN Zo Jila campaign in Oct-Nov 1948. His elder son
was K L Atal who retired as a Lt. General.

Overall, the Kashmiri Pandit community has produced two Service chiefs, namely,
General T.N.Raina, Chief of Army Staff and Air Chief Marshal S.K.Kaul, Chief of Air
Staff. Lt.General Moti Dar also retired as the Vice Chief of Army Staff. For a small
community of less than half a million it is quite a creditable achievement and
performance. In addition to these, the community has produced its fair share of heroes
whose gallantry awards and self-sacrifice testify to their valour.

Lt. Gens---A K HANDU, Hreday Kaul, Madan, Hazare,Atal, B M KAUL, Moti Dar.
Major. Gens. Vijay Aga, Bharat Kaul, AVSM, VSM.

Brigadiers Tej Kaul, VSM, Bushan Sapru

Colonel Kuldeep Kumar Tiku, SM

AF---Air Comm. Ganju, AVM Challu., Air Commodore M.N. Kaul, and many others.
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Flying Officer Khemendra Nath Kak (K.N.Kak)
Indian Air Force
Distinguished Flying Cross (D.F.C)

Pandit Ramchandra Kak (R.C.Kak) was a product of the late 19" and early 20" century
transition of Kashmir Valley into the modern age. He was one of the earliest graduates of
S.P.College, his degree being awarded by The Punjab University. In those days, Kashmir
had no university of its own and of sheer necessity colleges and high schools were
affiliated to the Punjab University.

He started his career as a Librarian and soon blossomed into an archaeologist. For some
time, he was also the Inspector General of Customs for the state. Later in his career he
became the Minister in Waiting to the Maharaja and later he crowned his career by
becoming the Prime Minister of Jammu and Kashmir.

He was the second Kashmiri Pandit to become the Prime Minister of the state in the first
half of the 20" century, the first one being Raja Hari Kishen Kaul in 1931.

In the words of Justice Jia Lal Kilam, Kak’s fame rests most on his contribution to
archaeology. “ He is a great research scholar and is responsible for bringing Kashmir on
the archaeological map of India. He has, besides editing many ancient Sanskrit texts,
written a monumental book namely “Ancient Monuments in Kashmir.” *

Pandit Kak had three sons of whom one Khemendra Nath Kak was keen on flying. The
Second World War was on and he joined the Indian Air Force. He already had military
training and discipline when he was admitted into the Prince of Wales Military College,
Dehra Dun in 1936. He joined the IAF and was posted to the elite and famous
No.1.Squadron .

The Squadron had already covered itself with glory under the leadership of Squadron
Leader K.K.Majumdar during its first tour of operation in Burma in the early months
1942. Flying Officer K.N.Kak joined the Squadron in August 1943 when it was posted to
Burma for its second tour of operations under the command of Squadron Leader Arjan
Singh.( (2003) Marshal of the IAF, a rank equal to that of the Field Marshal in the Army)

This Squadron spent a record 14 months in operation and bagged seven DFCs and many
more mentioned in dispatches. Kak completed 206 operational sorties within a period of
eight and half months. He was awarded the DFC. After the war was over, this Squadron
was sent to North Western Frontier Province (NWFP) and Kak was killed instantaneously
as a result of a flying accident while carrying out practice aerobatics at Miram Shah on
June 4™ 1945 at 2.00pm. The accident took place near the aerodrome.

The funeral took place at Kohat on June 5" 1945 at 6.00,p.m. according to Hindu rites
and he was accorded a ceremonial service honour with the coffin being carried by
officers and men of his squadron. A firing party was also provided by the personnel of
the Station.
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So here was a Pandit Warrior who fought in the war—torn skies of Burma against the
formidable Japanese Air Force. No mean achievement this. He came through the havoc
unscathed and was destined to die in a flying accident. The Gods must have decided this.
Remember what happened to General George S. Patton, commander of U.S Il Army in
Europe. He fought the war, defeated the Germans and came out unscathed, only to die in
a road accident when his Cadillac was hit by a car. Nearer home, Wing Commander
K.K.Majumdar, who fought in Burma in 1942 and in the invasion of Europe in 1944,
came home unscathed with a DFC & Bar, also died in an air accident in Lahore in 1945.

*hkkkhkhkkkhkkhkkkhkkhkkkikkhkkhkkikkhkikkiiikkik

Flying Officer Khemendra Nath Kak (2004), Pilot no.1 (RIAF) Squadron

Citation

(This Officer displays high degree of skill, courage and determination. His ability as a
technical reconnaissance pilot is outstanding and on most occasions he has brought back
valuable information. During the monsoon, he completed many sorties in a very foul
weather with great coolness and devotion to duty. The excellent oblique photographs
taken by him have been most useful. On this front, F/O Kak has completed 206 sorties
within 8 2 months.” Copy of letter dated 6™ June 1945 from Wing Commander A.M.
Engineer, Royal Air Force Station, Kohat, to R.C.Kak.)

Letter to R.C. Kak

“Before you received this letter, you will have received my telegram informing you of the
very sad death of your son flying officer Khemendra Nath Kak, D.F.C. He was killed
instantaneously as the result of a flying accident while carrying out practice aerobatics at
Miran Shah on 4" June, 1945, at 1400 hours. The accident happened near the aerodrome.

“The funeral took place at Kohat on the 5" June 1945 at 1800 hours, the service being
conducted by local Brahmins at the cremation found, after which his body was cremated
in accordance with Hindu rites. Full service honours were awarded to him, the coffin
being carried by Officers and men of his squadron, a firing part was also provided by the
of this station (Miran Shah, NWFP). I am enclosing a photograph of the funeral.

“Your son Khema joined his present posting in August 1943. During 1944, when the
squadron was on operations in Burma, he did splendid work and was decidedly
outstanding in every kind of job assigned to him. This courage and initiative during the
operations was exemplary. Well-deserved distinction was granted to him by a mention in
dispatches and the award of the much-coveted Distinguished Flying Cross.

“ Your son had every quality of a leader and an officer. His kindness and sincerity
endeared him to everyone who came in contact with him.. All officers and men of this
station wish me to convey their deepest sympathies on the death of your gallant and
beloved son.

*khkhkhhkkkkkhkhkhkikiikikx
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CHINDITS
Captain Moti Lal Katju, MC
77 Para Brigade

Among all the mythical creatures in Burma (now called Myanmar), there is one mythical
beast called Chinthe. This resembles a Lion. Since the Chindits were to operate as a
Guerilla Force behind the Japanese Lines, they needed to have a name that was both
unusual and unconventional. This name was given to the 77 Para Brigade, which
eventually operated for over a year and had two operations in Burma, one in 1943 and the
other 1944,

The reason for creating an unconventional force was because the Japanese could cut
through the jungle easily. The terrain of the battlefield was full of jungles and mountains
without any proper roads. This made it difficult for a mechanized conventional army to
operate against an unconventional foe.

This is explained by Charles J.Rolo in his book “Wingate’s Raiders: “The
Japanese drove our mechanized army out of Burma in 1942 by using jungle paths to cut
its road communications. It was desperately necessary to find a means of beating the
Japanese at their own game... Wingate was asked to show how jungle trails fighters could
be beaten from the jungle itself. Wingate’s plan was to go back for his transport to
Alexander’s animals for transport (elephants, bullocks, mules) and forward for his supply
and communications to the air and ether...in effect he engaged to train his men to stealth,
evasion, feint and secrecy; to prowl, bluff, steal, bewilder, sting and stab; to endure heat,
hunger, thirst and tension of a bloody blind-man’s-buff; to suffer certainly and if
necessary to die.

“These men marched across Burma from Imphal, crossed the Chindwin and the
Irrawaddy, cut the Mandalay — Myitkyina railway and accomplished their purpose of
drawing off Japanese concentrations from several fronts and disrupting their main lines of
supply. They were a band of gallant fighters who have shown the Jap that he is no longer
the master of the jungle.

“In May 1942, Major Orde Charles Wingate, a 39 — year old officer, was suddenly
promoted Brigadier. He was already something of a legend in the British army. As a man,
he was an eccentric with the zeal of an evangelist and intellectual fervour of an Old
Testament prophet. As a soldier, he was a specialist in the unorthodox, with an
unshakeable preference for the unconventional and a touch of a bandit in his zest for
violent action. At his best against heavy odds, he had acquired the Guerilla’s extreme
faith in courage, bluff, surprise. Burning desert and rugged and chaotic mountains were
his favourite terrain. Night was the time of his greatest achievements. His conception of
strategy and tactics applied on the battlefield produced brilliant results. He won the DSO
in 1938 for clearing Palestine of terrorists and for his guerilla exploits, in Ethiopia.

Before he moved on to the Chindits, Captain Moti Lal Katju had been attached to the
fourth and fifth Indian Divisions in the Middle East along with Captain K.U.Nayar and Lt
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.Col .Desmond Young ( former Editor of The Pioneer, Allahabad & Lucknow) as Indian
Army Observers. After his successful completion of the assignment, he was assigned to
the Chindits where he lost his life at the fag end of the operation.

It was one of the Imperial dogmas that the British treated the British units and the Indian
units separately though they fought battles together. Another aspect of this was the
exclusive existence of the Gurkha regiments. Gurkhas are Hindus, but they had a
separate place in the British scheme of working in India.

It went to such an extent that when Indians began getting the King’s commission, they
were excluded from commanding Gurkha troops. Only British officers could command
them. However, when World War Il commenced and the Japanese onslaught started,
they (the British) had to change to meet the exigencies of wartime conditions.

The entire Chindit Force comprised British and Gurkha troops all volunteers. When the
first Wingate expedition was ready to set out for Burma, they took two Indian officers
with them. One was Captain Moti Lal Katju, who in peacetime had been a journalist and
had volunteered for war service. He had been sent to the Middle East and though he was
officially an ‘Indian Army Observer’, he went into action in Libya where he won the
Military Cross (MC) for gallantry. He was selected to go with the Chindits as an Official
Observer.

The other was Captain B M Rao (later Lt. General) of the Indian Medical Service (later
the Indian Army Medical Corps).

As an Observer, he maintained a diary and showed an entry in it to Major John Jefferies,
a member of the Chindit Force.:

“Behind me there is a never-ending vista of hills, small and tall ones, heavy with their
weight of virgin forests which have scarcely seen a hundred human beings in their
centuries of existence. Further back are still mountains which have left us a sore
remembrance of blistered feet and aching backs. Four miles away, | can see the Chindwin
glistening in the sunlight like a silver streak in a green bowl. Beyond the forest-covered
slopes of a hill is the ’green jungle hell’ through which we must find a way, destroying
the enemy.

“Considering the amount of marching under very difficult conditions already
accomplished, the spirit of ordinary troops would not have been very high; they would
have been completely ‘browned off’. But in this Force, there is no sign of apathy or
tiredness. The men are looking cheerfully to the beginning of the campaign when we
cross the Chindwin.

“The Burmese troops hope soon to be back in familiar surroundings and amongst their
own people; they are only too anxious to go on. The Gurkhas, sturdy hill fighters who
seem incapable of fatigue, are looking forward to the day when they will meet the
Japs. Their compatriots earned a name for themselves during the retreat from Burma, and
these troops, though they have never seen action, hope to do better. “The British troops
are probably the most cheerful of all. They look upon the whole show as a great
adventure. Probably the greatest incentive to good morale is the absolute faith which
every man has in the Commander (Brigadier Orde Wingate).
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“Practically none of us knows where we are going, for how long, or what our specific job
is. Various people have talked of a journey of two months to fifteen months. Others
speak of the Force as a Suicide Column. But one and all say : ‘The Brigadier will pull us
through.” «

When the Chindit Force was returning after months of operations behind the enemy lines,
and were ready ti cross rhe Chindwin River, they needed intelligence about the enemy
presence if any in the neighbourhood. A few days prior to this, when they were still in
the jungle, Captain Katju, who volunteered to venture into a native village to look for
boats, had a premonition that he would not get out alive, and he wanted Major Jefferies
to carry his diary, which contained a day-by-day account of the campaign.

To cheer him up, Jefferies had said ‘Nonsense. We all get to feeling that way.” And had
refused to take the diary. Captain Katju never returned from his last patrol,
narrated Major years later.

Captain Katju’s death was mourned by many including Wing Commander W .W .Russell
who expressed his feeling as under in his interesting book entitled “Forgotten Skies”:
“One of the biggest losses of the campaign had been the death of the young Indian Army
observer, Captain Moti Lal Katju, who was sent by Ivor Jehu as Wingate’s P.R.O He had
won the M.C in the Western desert and was one of the most popular P.R. officers in the
Middle East and in India. Without any hardening or training, he went in with Wingate’s
brigade column and stayed with him until they were almost out of Burma. He was
ambushed and shot in a village just beyond the Chindwin one day before the Brigadier
and John Jefferies swum across to India and safety. His diary went with him, and one the
finest records of the campaign was lost as well as one of India’s best young men”.

-Wingate’s Raiders by Charles J. Rollo, December 1944

*khkhkkhkhkhkhkkkkkhiiikx

Brigadier K.L.Atal, MVC, MC
Commander, 77 Para Brigade
Hero Of Zoji La
(November 1948)

During 1947 — 48, the Kashmir war with Pakistan was on. Her Army had been
threatening to occupy Kargil and Leh in Ladakh. After his war service, Col. K.L.Atal was
promoted and sent to J&K in command of 77 Para Brigade which eventually conquered
the mighty Zoji La which lies in the majestic Himalayas at height 11,000 feet.

Following is an account of the operation named “Operation Bison” which after facing
tremendous odds eventually managed to put tanks for the first time in the history of the
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world at such a great height. This account was written by Major S.K.Sinha, later on
Lt.General S.K.Sinha, Vice Chief of Army Staff in his book “Operation Rescue”

“Beyond the 11,578 feet high Zoji La (La means a pass) lays the semi arctic and barren,
Ladakh district. The average height of this area is over 10,000 feet. Apart from its
geographical and climatic isolation, this region appeared unaffected by the sands of time.
It was as if time had stood still in these parts for many centuries. Ladakh is a land of the
Lama. Politically, it is a part of Jammu and Kashmir State and its administration is
controlled from Srinagar.

“Surrounded by 20,000 feet high mountains, Leh which is itself at a height of 11,500 feet,
is the capital of Ladakh. It is the largest town of the district and for that matter one of the
largest towns in the world at that height. Tucked away in its Himalayan isolation, beyond
high mountain ranges, Leh had not been very accessible to the outside world. It is
approximately 230 miles long mule track across high mountain passes*. The events of
1948 broke the geographical isolation of Leh. With its newly built landing ground, it now
appeared on the air map of India and this fact has since been the principal promoter of
Leh’s closer association with the outside world. However, in May 1948, when the first
Dakota landed at Leh, the locals turned up at the airfield with grass for “the celestial
horse”!

*A motorable road has now been built broadly following this alignment. Thus Leh is now
connected by roads both from the West and the South.

“In late August 1948, when ‘Arjun’ column with reinforcements for Leh had commenced
its long trek from Manali, we had also made out plans for an assault on Zoji La. These
reinforcements were expected in Leh by the middle of September and the period up to
that time was critical for the defence of that remote outpost. It was, therefore, necessary
that we commenced our operations against Zoji La early so as to keep the enemy engaged
in this sector breaking through Zoji La was given to Brigadier K.L.Atal, commanding 77
Para Brigade.

“Atal concentrated his Brigade at Baltal at the foot of Zoji La by the end of August. His
brigade comprised a battalion from 5 Maratha Regiment, 3 Jat Regiment and 1/5 Royal
Gorkha Rifles supported by a battery of 3.7 howitzers. First Patiala Infantry holding
piquets around Baltal, covered the concentration of this force.

“Atal’s plans for this assault, which I am afraid had been named rather ominously
Operation Duck, catered for a wide left hook by the Gorkhas via Botkulganj to Dras and
a frontal assault against Chabutra and Mukand ridges by the Jats and Marathas
respectively. A company of 5/11 Gorkhas Rifles at Khanabal was at the same time to
carry out diversionary operations towards Kargil via Suru.

“Operation Duck commenced at 11.30 a.m. on 3" September, 1948 with the Gorkhas
proceeding on the left hook towards Botkulganj and another company of Gorkhas at
Khanabal advancing towards Suru. The operation progressed satisfactorily till the 6. The
Gorkhas on the left had secured Botkulganj pass and were now advancing to Point 8,093.
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The main column advanced towards Zoji La. The attack failed due to heavy concentrated
fire from the enemy.”

By 18™ October, 77 Para Brigade under Atal was again concentrated at Baltal and poised
for another assault over the now familiar ground to Zoji La. The brigade had been given
additional fire support for this operation. Besides a squadron of light tanks and armoured
cars, we also had two batteries of 25-pounders and one battery of 3.7 howitzers to support
the attack. The three battalions of this brigade now were, 4 Rajput Regiment, commanded
by Lt. Colonel Girdhari Singh, M.C, 1/5 Royal Gorkha Rifles by Lt. Col. A.S. Pathania,
MC* and | Patiala Infantry by Lt, Col. Sukhdev Singh, M.C.These three commanding
officers had ably fought on different fronts in the last war—Africa, Italy, Burma and Java
— but the operation in which they were now about to participate was to be unique from
the point of view of hazards imposed by the elements.

At their head, was their calm, patient and unperturbed brigade commander, Brigadier
Atal, who had for some time been successfully defying both the enemy and the elements
in this theatre.

While troops were being concentrated at Baltal for this operation, the engineers were
feverishly working on a jeep track in full view of the 11,578 feet high pass, and the
enemy’s positions and work in the later stages could only be carried out under cover of
darkness. This track was of great importance to us as our plans for this operation
visualized the tanks crossing the pass to take on enemy positions on the far end, the pass
being about 2 miles long. The tank drivers familiarized themselves with this track by
driving soft vehicles over it and by foot reconnaissance.

“The tanks had completely surprised the enemy and he was reported to be fleeing in
panic. They had got across to Gumri basin by 2.p.m that afternoon and were now
shooting up the enemy from the rear.Maj Gen K.S.Thimayya, the Divisional Commander,
himself came and his at the head of this column must have been a source of great
inspiration to the troops, | am afraid it was a risk which we could ill afford to take.
Divisional commanders are not supposed to expose themselves in battle like a leading
scout. But Thimayya was a very unusual divisional commander. Anyway all’s well that
ends well,”says Maj. Sinha.

“By the 2" November, Atal had captured and cleared the whole of the two-mile long pass
and the dominating heights on either side of the defile. It had meant some hard fighting
and our troops had to brave the winter cold at those forbidding heights with no special
winter clothing. It had been a great test of their endurance and they had come out of it
with flying colours. Never before in_military history, had tanks been used at such
height, nor had a modern battle been fought under such hazardous conditions. The
troops taking part in this operation had every reason to be proud of their achievement but
they had no time to rest on their laurels.

The advance beyond Zoji La had to continue as Kargil, 40 miles east of the pass, was our
objective and the link-up with Leh was our final goal.Lt. General Cariappa sent them a
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signal on this successful breakthrough, which read, “Convey my personal message to all
ranks employed in Operation Bison, my admiration of their splendid work under trying
winter conditions. Tell them that there is nothing impossible for them, our gallant
soldiers. Dras must repeat must be captured with little delay...advance forward to Kargil
with all speed. Give no rest to the enemy until you have joined up with Leh.”

Brigadier Atal belonged to a family of Pandits who had military service in their blood.
His father was a doctor but he donned the uniform and served with the Indian
Expeditionary Force in France where he was killed in action in November 1914.

K.L .Atal was his younger son. His elder son was Hiralal Atal who retired as a Lt.
General.

K.L.Atal was born on December 7" 1913 at Ferozepur. After passing is F.A.
Examination from the Punjab University he joined the Prince of Wales Royal Military
College in 1932. He graduated in 1934 and was commissioned as a second Lieutenant in
the Indian Army. Later, he served in the Hamphshire Regiment in 1935, after that he was
posted to 13" Frontier Force Rifles. His regiment served in Waziristan Operation in
1937. He was promoted Captain and his unit was sent to Middle East for operations in
1940. He took part in operations in Italy and Karen.

For gallantry in action, he was awarded the Military Cross. In 1941, he was sent to
England for three months training. Later, he also fought against the Italians and Germans
at Tobruk. In 1942, his regiment retired to India and he was selected for training at the
Army Staff College, Quetta. In 1945, his unit was sent to the Eastern Theatre of war to
Burma, Siam, and Malaya, Singapore. In October 1945, he along with his regiment,
returned to India. By this time, he was a Major.

He was posted for a short while to the Adjutant General’s Branch after which he was sent
to Dehra Doon. By this time (1946) he was promoted Lt.Col. He was posted to Delhi as
D.A.A.G. at Army Headquarters, New Delhi. After this, he was given the command of
the first Battalion of 9" Gurkha Rifles and he was posted to Jammu. Until then, no Indian
officers were allowed to command Gurkha troops.

On October 22, 1947 Pakistan invaded Kashmir, and Col .Atal was wounded in action in
1948 and was admitted to the command hospital at Delhi. in May. He was promoted
Colonel. He was recalled by Major General K.S .Thimayya to Srinagar and immediately
given command of 77 Para Brigade. In the process of taking over command of an active
Brigade he donned the stars of a Brigadier on promotion.The rest is history.

After the Kashmir war was over, he was posted as Sub Area Commander at Lucknow, In
November, 1949, he went to meet his elder brother who was at that time a Lt. General
posted at New Delhi. They both went hunting for shikar in jungles near Gurgaon in
Rohtak district. On November 25™ 1949, he suddenly suffered a heart attack. Before
medical aid could reach him, he died at the young age of 36. For a strapping 6 foot, 6
inches tall soldier, he just faded away like the soldier in the ballad.

*khkhhhkhkkkkkkhkhikiiiikkx
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Air Chief Marshal Swaroop Krishna Kaul MVC,
Chief of Air Staff (C.A.S)

31.07.93t0 31.12.95

Indian Air Force

(4721) F(P)

Air Chief Marshal ‘Suppi” Kaul was commissioned in the IAF as a Fighter Pilot in July
1954 after training at the National Defence Academy and the Flying Academies. An
outstanding and highly decorated fighter pilot, he has flown over 3700 hours on almost
all types of fighter aircraft held on the inventory of the IAF, including the latest MIG —29
and Mirage —2000.

Air Chief Marshal Kaul has had a distinguished military career and took part in combat
operations in both the Indo-Pak conflicts of 1965 and 1971. During the latter, he
undertook photo reconnaissance and strike missions in the Eastern Sector, and for his
conspicuous gallantry, professional skill and leadership of a very high order throughout
the period of operations, he was awarded the Maha Vir Chakra (MVC), the country’s
second highest gallantry award.

In the Indo-Pakistan war of 1971, Wing Commander Kaul commanding a fighter Bomber
Squadron carried out missions over heavily defended sectors of Comilla, Sylhet, Saidput,
Tejgaon, Kurmitola airfields and strike missions over Dacca which led to the surrender
by the Pakistan troops in Bangladesh.

A graduate of the Defence Services Staff College, Wellington, Air Chief Marshal Kaul
has held a number of important command and staff appointments, including command of
an operational squadron and a fighter base as also Chief Operations Officer of a fighter
wing. From 1982 to 1986, he was the Air Attaché at the Indian Embassy in Moscow
during which period unprecedented procurements and inductions of a wide variety of
aircraft and weapon systems from the erstwhile Soviet Union took place. He was also
instrumental in co-ordinating the first ever-successful Indo-Soviet Joint Space Flight.

The staff appointments held by him include Joint Director, Intelligence and Director
Personnel (Officers) at Air HQ and senior Air Staff Officer, South —Western Air
Command and Central Air Command. Later, he was Air Officer Commanding-in-Chief
of Central Air Command and Western Air Command prior to taking over as Chief of the
Air Staff. For his services of most exceptional order, he was appointed Honorary ADC to
the President of India in August 1991 and awarded Param Vishist Seva Medal in January
1992. He is the commodore Commandant of 17 Squadron “Golden Arrows”.

*hhhhkhkkkkhkhkhkiihhhkhkkkhkiikx
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Captain Mahendra Nath Mulla, MVC, I.N

He sank with his ship to save 66 of his men in less than three minutes; an inspiring story
of Captain Mulla’s supreme sacrifice and devotion during the Indo-Pak War, 1971.

While the Western fleet was creating a glorious chapter in India’s naval history, he was
hunting Pakistani submarines in the Arabian Sea to enable the fleet to carry out its task.
In the process when his ship, INS KHUKRI was attacked and damaged, he went
down with her to live up to the highest traditions of the Navy and became a legend,
saving 66 of his men in less than three minutes.

Sixty-six men clung to buoys in the dark sea. There was no sign of humanity. There was
water, water everywhere. The chill winds blew over the western coast. The winter
darkness made the sea look gloomier. It was just 8.03 p.m. on December 9, 1971. But it
seemed darker than usual and all the men had a queer feeling. They were tense but happy.
Surely, they were searching for something. Was it life or was it death? They didn’t
know; all they knew was that something had gone forever. It was not the loneliness of the
sea but the loneliness within their hearts. And there seemed no end to their struggle for
survival.

Minutes stretched to hours and the night got darker but seemed unending. After what
appeared to them an interminable voyage into darkness, they saw the hues of early
morning. It turned brighter, moment-by-moment. Soon the sun emerged in its full circle.
But its brightness cast no glow on the sixty-six faces. They were still sad, they still
seemed to search for something. It was at 8 a.m. the next morning after a trial of 12 hours
when they saw a ship approaching and, one by one, all of them were pulled up into the
ship. But they were not only in search of their ship., they were also in search of the man
who had had gopne down to live up to the highest traditions of the navy, their heroic
Captain who had literally pushed out his men to save them and perished himself.

What happened

This is what had happened on the western coast. With two major attacks, the Navy had
sunk two Pakistani warships and then closed in on Karachi and bombarded vital
installations. They bombarded from as close as 24 miles from the Karachi harbour.
Pakistani fuel tankers had been hit and it seemed that entire Karachi was on fire. A pilot
later reported that this was the biggest blaze he had ever seen in action.

In retaliation, Pakistan sent its powerful French-built subs on the prowl. The American-
gifted “Ghazi”, caught at the mouth of the Vishakapatnam harbor, had been sunk. But the
Pakistanis had three more Daphne class subs. It also had a fleet of Italian-made midgets,
which could be quite a menace to the Indian ships.

The Indian Navy was on the lookout for enemy vessels, especially those posing an under-
water threat. On December 9, an Indian maritime reconnaissance aircraft spotted enemy
activity in the northern parts of the Arabian Sea and informed the authorities about it. A
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task force of the Western Fleet was at once put out to hunt down Pakistani subs and
destroy them.

Heading the force was Captain Mahendra Nath Mulla in his 1200-ton anti-submarine
frigate, “Khukri,”. The “Khukri” was almost a vintage vessel built in Great Britain in
1958. It had also not been fitted with torpedo tubes. But the pride of the Indian navy, has
never been its equipment but its personnel; the men behind the machines. Even though
Captain Mulla was not in a powerful frigate, he moved undeterred. Life at sea was ever a
great adventure for Capt. Mulla. In fact, he joined Indian Navy because of his love for
life at sea.

Naval Career

Born in a lawyer’s family, he joined the Indian Navy after passing the Intermediate
examination in 1946. After four years of training in the United Kingdom, he returned to
serve as an executive officer on ‘[.N.S. Madras,” a minesweeper. Then followed a three-
year stint on the frigate, “Krishna’. He was transferred to shore duty for one year and
until the end of 1963 he served as staff officer in charge of naval appointments at the
naval headquarters. Soon after, he became the commanding officer of the destroyer
‘Rana.” Between 1965 and 1970, he again held staff jobs, first as Deputy Naval Adviser,
to the Indian High Commissioner in London for three years and then as Executive Officer
at the shore establishment “INS Angre” at Bombay.

He spent a few months again at the Naval Headquarters in the Directorate of Naval Plans
before he joined the “Khukri”. Among other things, he was known as an astute defence
counsel in court-martial trails. Though he enjoyed all kinds of work, life at sea was his
first love. He was very happy when he became the commanding officer of “Khukri’ in
February 1971.

Colourful Personality

He was an extremely popular person. A colourful personality, he was always
participating in amateur plays. At times, he led his men in singing on the ship. He had a
great love for Urdu poetry. His knack for Shairi made him highly popular.

One of his officers narrated that once when they were waiting, suddenly Capt. Mulla got
into a poetic mood and began to recite Urdu couplets. Some Arabs who were also
aboard sat out the entire night with him. The Arabs were fascinated by his personality.
Even at service gatherings, he was the life of the party.

Being a religious person, he carried the pictures and idols of his gods aboard the ship too.
He was very regular in his prayers and on December 9 he had said the day’s prayers. He
had lit his cigarette and was strolling alertly on deck. “Kiran” and another ship were away
on some mission. Suddenly, ‘Khukri’ established contact with the enemy and was sunk.

Touching Story
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The story of Captain Mulla’s valour was recounted by the sixty-six survivors. “The
Khukri” was hit by a salvo of three torpedoes in quick succession. With the first two hits,
electricity was cut and there was no communication. The officers and sailors on the
ship’s deck and in the passage ran helter-shelter. The rest had no time, even to know what
had happened. A third torpedo hit the rear of the ship where the ammunition lay. There
was a colossal explosion.

When Capt. Mulla realized the nature of the damage, he lost no time in deciding to
abandon ship. He ordered his second-in-command to cast life boats, buoys and rafts into
the sea. In carrying out this vital task, 33-year-old Joginder Singh also went down. Capt.
Mulla ordered his men to get away. Many of the younger, inexperienced sailors preferred
the false security of the sturdy steel deck below their feet to the unknown dangers of the
sea. They stood looking at him when he asked them to abandon ship. They were reluctant
but there was no time to lose. He pushed them into the stormy but relatively safer waters.
Capt. Mulla wanted to save as many of his men as he could in the little time he had. He
took off his life jacket and gave it to one of the sailors and pushed him away. The sailor
looked back, beckoning the Captain to save himself first. But he retorted, ‘go on, save
yourself. Don’t worry about me.’

Those were to be his last words. He knew he had no more time. He sat on his chair with a
lighted cigarette in his hand. The last sailor took the lifeboat and joined the survivors. He
swam away to avoid being sucked in by the sinking ship. The survivors looked back; the
ship was sinking rapidly and the sea was closing in over the bridge, the highest part of the
frigate. And sitting on the captain’s chair was Capt. Mulla. All the sixty-six men could
see only the forehead of the 6 foot 2 inch tall captain who had stayed to save as many
men as he could — sixty-six in less than three minutes.

If he had wanted, he could have saved himself. The British Admiralty had ordered during
World War II: “While the highest traditions of a captain going down with his ship are
fully appreciated, the Royal Navy cannot afford to lose experienced commanding
officers. They are, therefore, to endeavor to save themselves, so that they may live to
fight another day.” But Capt. Mulla preferred to die as he had decided to be the last one to
take a lifeboat. of the 24 officers and 235 sailors on board the INS KHUKRI, six officers
and 60 sailors are a living tribute to Capt. Mulla’s valour.

The story of Capt. Mulla is one of selfless devotion and sacrifice. The 45-year-old captain
was the most sought after man when he was alive, and by his death, he will be
remembered through the ages.

-Mina Kaur

*hkhkkkhkhkkkhkhkkkhkhkkkhhkkkhhhkkhkikhkhiikkik
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The Soldier’s Soldier
General Tapeshwar Narain Raina,
MVC,PB

October 20, 1962. Chushul. Ladakh: Over the wireless, the operator heard the incredible
words; “We shall take tea in Chushul on October 24”. The voice was unmistakably
Chinese and the Hindi heavily accented.

He rushed with the signal to the Chief Signal Officer of 114 Infantry Brigade, who in turn
gave it to the Brigade major. Finally, it reached the Brigade commander, Brigadier T.N.
Raina.

While the commander did not say anything, the Chinese intention was clear as they
started shelling the Brigade headquarters and the airstrip that if overrun by the Chinese
would be the beginning of the loss of the whole of Ladakh.

Those were critical days for the Indian Army. While the rest of the world knew and was
told about the worst reverse suffered by the Army, the Western and Northern sector
hardly figured in the news. And in charge of the defence of this vital piece of real estate
was a dapper short square jawed and not particularly military bearing individual who
would one-day become the Chief of Army Staff.

The Chinese attacked the approaches to Chushul over the Rizang La and Gurung. A rifle
company of the 13" Kumaon Regiment, Gen. Raina’s and Gen. Thimmayya’s regiment,
held Rizang La, a bleak snow covered feature at a height of 17,000 feet. The Chinese
attacked with a large force, supported by heavy artillery and mortar fire, rockets and
automatic rifles. The Indians had a section of World War Il vintage 3 inch mortars, yet
they doggedly fought wave after wave of Chinese attacks.

The Indian casualties were 105 Killed, five taken prisoner and three wounded. The
Company CO Major Shaitan Singh died with his troops. It was literally the battle of the
last man and the last round. At Gurung, the other feature covering the approach to
Chushul, the battle raged for two days, often confusingly in cold and heavy mist. Gurung
fell to the Chinese. Their causalties were 700, the only sector where the Indian Army was
able to hit back.

Soon after the cease-fire was declared, it snowed and the men who died while fighting
were pulled out three months later frozen as they died with weapons in hand pointing
them at the enemy. The CO was awarded a posthumous PVC, the highest gallantry award
the nation could bestow on him and the Brigade Commander who directed the battle got a
well-deserved Maha Vir Chakra, the second highest.

Gen. Raina has had a colourful career as a soldier. He lacked the dash and the swagger of
Manekshaw, but like Bradley in the US Army in World War 1l (he was called a Gl
General) Gen. Raina was the soldier’s soldier). Quiet, calm, unassuming, he was one with
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the Jawan. “I know where the shoe pinches’, he told this writer in 1976 when he was in
Bangalore.

“Tappy” Raina was meant for a scholastic career, but then World War Il was on. He
wanted to don the uniform and even tried his hand at joining the Air Force. He was
commissioned in 1942 and found himself in the Middle East where in a grenade-throwing
incident, he was badly hurt and suffered injuries in both legs and lost an eye.

The 1% Battalion (of the 19 Hyderabad Regiment as the Kumaon Regiment was called in
those day) returned to India and by 1944 was again in Burma as part of the 26" Indian
Infantry Brigade. Here, he distinguished himself while leading a patrol and spotted the
Japanese whereupon the battalion engaged it in combat. He was mentioned in dispatches.

After the war, for a man who had lost an eye, he joined the paratroopers, and went up
steadily in the hierarchy passing examinations and doing courses etc. After 1962, he went
up the ladder and by 1971 found himself a three-star general commanding a newly
created crops called the Il Corps in the Bangla Desh war.

His corps led the assault on impregnable fortresses like Jessore, Khulha and other towns
west of the Padma. Then a stint as Western Army Commander, and finally on June 1,
1975, he became the Chief of Army Staff.

Speaking to newsmen once, Gen. Raina said; ‘the Army is apolitical’ and that summed

up this professional soldiers’ attitude to politics. And this was tested during the difficult
days of the emergency. When the news about the elections in 1977 started coming in, all
kinds of rumours were afloat in Delhi and some quarters started stories about Gen.
Raina’s alleged intention of involving the army in politics. To his everlasting credit, he
stood fast and to this day, India owes a debt of gratitude to him.

He was awarded the Padma Bhushan in 1971.

“Tappy” Raina was born in Jammu on Jan.24, 1921 and was educated at Arya High
School, Ludhiana from where he passed his matriculation and later graduated from the
famous Foreman Christian College, Lahore.

Married to Marie Antoinette, he had two children, a son and a daughter. The son, Jyoti,
also commissioned into his father’s regiment, the Kumaonis was killed in an unfortunate
motorcycle accident. The daughter is happily married. Gen. Raina like the ballad of the
old soldier has faded away, but he has left a legacy that many a young aspiring soldier
can admire and look forward to ambulation. After serving the army for 37 years he
became a diplomat, Indian High Commissioner, to Canada.

*hkhkkkhkhkkkhkhkkkhkhkkhkhhkkhkikhkkhiikiik
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Lieutenant General (retd) T. K. Sapru

Lt. General T K Sapru, retired as the General Officer Commanding in Chief (GOC-in-C),
of the Western Command of the Indian Army in 20009.

In a career spanning 38 years, General Sapru has held many important and prestigious
command and staff appointments in the Army. In recognition of his services, the
President of India conferred the Param Vishisht Seva Medal (PVSM) on him for
distinguished service of the most exceptional service on Republic Day , 2009.

Gen. Sapru had his early school education at Nabha in the Punjab Public School. He was
commissioned into the Infantry in the Fourth Gorkha Rifles on June 15, 1969. In the
1971 war, the General saw action on both the Western and Eastern Fronts.

He was during his army career Assistant Military Attache in the Indian Embassy at
Khatmandu, Nepal. His other assignments included General Staff Officer (GSO) in the
Directorate of Military Operations (DMO), Colonel, Genera | Staff (GSOI) in an active
division in J & K, Deputy Military Secretary in the Military Secretary Branch and
Additional Director General (Procurement) in the Master General of Ordnance (MGO)
branch.

He is an alumnus of the Defence Services Staff College (DSSC) Wellington and National
Defence College (NDC) New Delhi. He has earlier been awarded the Chief of
Army Staff Commendation in 1985 and the Yudh Seva Medal for distinguished service
active operations in 1999.

The General has a varied command experience at various levels. He commanded an
infantry battalion in intense counter insurgency operations, an infantry brigade in Punjab
and another brigade in J & K during Operation Vijay (1999). He commanded an active
division deployed on the Line of Control in J & K and was General Officer Commanding
(GOC) of the Nagrota based Army Corps before taking over as the GOC-in-C of Western
Command, Chandi Mandir in November 2007.

*hhkkkkkkhkhkhkiiikikkx

Captain (Dr.) Hari Narayan Shivapuri

Late Capt. (Dr.) Hari Narain Shivapuri was born on 24" September 1898; He passed
High School and Intermediate examinations in the year 1915 and 1917 in the first
Division. Then he joined M.B.B.S course at K.G.Medical College, Lucknow and passed
with Certificate of Honours in Anatomy in 1922. Then he joined the Indian Military
Services in 1923-1932 (9 Years). He was M.O.l/c Brigade Laboratory Burma &
Waziristan.

His younger brother late Col.R.N.Shivpuri was in the army on the Assam front during
the Second World War.

*khhhhkkkkkhkhkhkikiikikkx
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Their Contribution

Not everyone who dons the uniform can become a general or get the opportunity of a
lifetime to do a heroic deed. In addition to the heroes mentioned earlier, quite a few have
joined the three services with the army taking the largest number.

The community has produced apart from two service chiefs, one Vice Chief of Army Staff
Lt.General Moti Dar, seven army commanders in the rank of Lt.Generals, three Major
generals, five Brigadiers and over a dozen Colonels. In the Air Force four Air Vice
Marshals, and in the Navy two captains. (A Naval Captain is equivalent to a Brigadier in
the army).

A creditable performance for a small community.

Major Susheel Aima, K.C

The Kirti Chakra awarded to Major Sushil Aima posthumously on the 51% "Republic
Day" January 26,2000, has done it proud not only to his immediate family but the wider
family of Kashmiri Pandits all across the world.

With his singular act of heroism in leading his brave company of commandos from the
front, to clear the Kipra forests of the terrorists in the Poonch sector set on destruction all
round, he blazoned the horizon with his extraordinary bravery.

Sushil Aima was all of 22 years when he passed out of the Indian Military Academy
(IMA). Dehra Dun, and was commissioned in Air Defence Artillery. He was eventually
posted to 17 Rashtriya Rifles on deputation and assigned the anti-terrorist task in the
highly vulnerable Poonch Sector. A youth of deep sense of duty and patriotism, he spared
nothing to accomplish his tasks in the treacherous terrain. To him the challenge was an
opportunity to show his mettle. And all was going well for him. He has now earned a
well-deserved vacation. Just when he was all packed up ready to leave for home, he was
informed of some ferocious terrorists assembling in the hills planning slaughter and
destruction of the villages in the vicinity. This was the fatal midnight call of July 31-
August 1, 1999.

The Major was made of sterner stuff. The gallant soldier in him forgot all about his
vacation. Keeping the call of duty above everything else, he stepped forward to lead his
company in assault, no matter how high the risk involved in the mission.

Leading his small team of commandos, he marched out to track down the terrorists in the
dead of night in the Kopra forests near Mandi. They zeroed in on the enemy. They
plugged his escape routes, and in the morning, they challenged the holed up enemy. A
fierce encounter followed for hours. The terrorists rained grenades. The Major covered
his jawans and shot down the thrower. He proceeded to chase and seek out the others till
he was face to face with three more of the enemy. Charged with grit and zeal he grappled
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with two and brought them down in hand-to-hand fight. He turned to the third just when
three more appeared and shot him from behind.

Major Aima was undeterred. He managed to take out his pistol and finished up the third.
The marauders turned tail and vanished in the jungle. The battle was won. The enemy
was defeated. The valiant Major had done this duty with success and honour. It was now
time for him to go for rest in eternal peace.

*hkkkhkhkhkkhkhkhkikikhiikik

Captain Sameer Bhan of 11 Jat Regiment, assigned to Assam Rifles, attained
martyrdom in a road-mine blast on February 2002 “after successfully accomplishing his
task” somewhere at a terrain in Imphal fighting insurgents. Accompanied by his young
wife and an army major his body was flown to Delhi the next day and after a night’s halt
in Gulmohar Park, new Delhi, at his uncle, Shri D.P.Bhan’s residence, it was given a
befitting funeral due to a war hero. Followed by large number of Biradari members,
residents of the journalist colony and service officers in army vehicles, the decorated
military hearse, piloted by a Signals jeep, was taken to Brar Square, Delhi Cantt., where
the mortal remains of the gallant officer were consigned to flames with the customary
parade, volley of gunfire, salute and placing of wreaths.

*khhhkkkkkhkhkhkiiikikkx

Gallantry Awards For KP Defence Officers

President K.R.Narayanan has commended and decorated many senior defence officers of
our community for gallantry and distinguished services in the Indian armed forces on the
54™ Republic Day this year(2002).

Major General Bharat Kaul has been awarded Ati Vishisht Seva Medal [AVSM] for
his distinguished services of highest order. Major General Kaul joined NDA in 1961 and
was commissioned in 1964. He later joined the Infantry [Parachute Regiment] and
participated in the 1965 and 1971 Wars. He has held prestigious staff and regimental
posts during his 37 years of service. A graduate of Staff College, he commanded a
division in the nineties and also was on the staff at Calcutta.

Brig.Tej Kaul has been awarded the Vishisht Seva Medal for his distinguished services
of high order as Commander of Mumbai Sub Area, Mumbai. Brigadier Kaul was
commissioned in 12 Kumaon Regiment in 1968 and actively participated with his
battalion in Bangladesh War in 1971. A Staff College graduate, he has held prestigious
staff and Command appointments in Tangdhar, Akhnoor, Jammu and Doda. He was
specially selected for Higher Command and later for National Defence College course
last year. He has sterling qualities of head and heart and is a soldier to the boot. He is
destined to do well in the years to come.
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Brigadier Bushan Sapru has been awarded Vishisht Seva Medal for his distinguished
services of high order for his long and distinguished services as Doctor in the Army
Dental Corps. During his commendable service, he has brought many changes in the
dental surgery in the Army, which has been widely acclaimed in the defence and civil
circuits. He was specially selected for the teaching faculty of Armed Forces Medical
College [AFMC] and his contribution to his profession has been widely acclaimed as
such.

These distinguished soldiers join many of our decorated and distinguished community
members in the defence services like Colonel Harsh Kaul (5" Gorkha Rifles FF) (both
Shaurya Chakras), late Lt.Gen.B.M.Kaul and his younger brother Brigadier K.K.Kaul;
Lt.Gen Ashok Handoo (Guards); Lt.Gen Hreday Kaul, (Armoured Corps); Lt.Gen Vijay
Madan PVSM, 4™ Gorkhas, VSM ,College of Combat (illustrious son of Principal
B.K.Madan, Lt.Gen Moti K.Dhar PVSM (Basantar) Armoured Corps, Maj.Gen.Arminder
Kaul (Son of Principal J.N.Kaul), Air Vice Marshals Challu, VSM, Air Vice Marshal
Bhushan Bhan, Air Vice Marshal Kapil Kak {Air Force}, Brigadier R.N.Madan-
Armoured Corps; Late Brigadier 1.M.Dhar, Dogra , Brigadier Rattan Kaul(5thGorkha
Rifles, Bangladesh 71), (Khem Karan 93.94);Lt. General Tej K.Sapru AVSM(1971 War
and Uri Brigade) who retired as GOC-inC, Western Command and many more from
BSF, IPS, CRPF,GREF and other Para Military Forces.

*khhhkkkkkhkhkhkiiikikkx

Colonel Tiku Awarded

Col Kuldeep Kumar Tiku, CWE (Army), Secunderabad, Andhra Pradesh, has
been awarded the “Sena Medal” for devotion to duty while serving the earthquake
victims of Gujarat.

From Koshur Samachar , March 2002.

kkhkhkhkhkhkhkhkkkkkhiikikx

Munshi Makhan Lal

First Kashmiri Pandit to train and become a paratrooper and distinguish himself in
action.

Born on Feb 25, 1936 Srinagar, educated: Matric, Amar Singh College m Krishna July
18, 1963. Journalist, Captain School Sports Eleven, took part in dramas, debates etc;
awarded All-Round Best Boy Certificate 1951, joined Army Nov 1953, distinguished
himself as Paratrooper, did 11 parachute jumps (first Kashmiri Pandit to do so); served in
NEFA 1957, 58 saved lives of two jawans, did mountaineering course 1959, left Army
and returned home , May 1960; joined State Health Deptt as Clerk Nov 1960, became
Accountant, transferred to Field Survey Organization as Supervisor, May 1965; promoted
Editor Feb 1967; edited and produced counter-propaganda material including 13
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pamphlets under guidance of veteran J. N. Zutshi, such as Kashmir is India, Kashmir In
India, Pakistan Scene, Kashmir Fights Back Aggression, Azad Kashmir Ki Badhali
(Urdu) 1966, worked Sub-Editor News Agency 1967, edited an English daily 1967-70;
awarded letter of appreciation by J & K Govt for his dedicated work.

*khkhkkkhkkhkkkikkhkkkhkkikkikkikkikik

Major General S. K. Razdan, KC, VSM

As a Lt. Col S K Razdan was deployed in 1994 with his battalion in the Kashmir Valley
and during anti-insurgency operations, went to rescue 14 women who had been held
captive by militants. Though he managed to evacuate them, he was pounded by bullets at
point blank range that injured his spine. He became a paraplegic, but continued service
in the Army.

On May 7, 2011, General Razdan became the first physically handicapped senior officer
to coordinate an attestation parade of 112 recruits of the Parachute Regiment at
Bangalore on completion of their 34 weeks training.

Maj. General Razdan is a recipient of Kirti Chakra, the second highest award for
gallantry in peacetime and has also been honoured with the Vishisht Sevaa Medal for
meritorious service.

A Gallant Soldier

“Kashmiri Pandits have historically been known to take up quintessential white collar
jobs. Gallantry and military ethos in this community is widely unknown. Time is ripe
hat this notion is dispelled. This small community has produced a number of gallant and
successful military leaders. I in this piece shall make an attempt to throw light upon one
of the brave Kashmiri soldiers, Brigadier Sunil Kumar Razdan, Kirti Chakra (This was
written in 2007---since then, Brig. Razdan has been promoted to the rank of Major
General ---May 2011).

An unknown soldier, |1 came to hear of his gallantry during a casual conversation with an
acquaintance. Impressed and proud of such a military leader from our community, I
informed the president of our Samaj about this great soldier. His chest to swelled with
pride and he readily agreed to my suggestion to meet this gallant soldier to know about
his act of bravery in person. | sought an appointment with this brave officer of the Indian
Army and met him on October 13, 2007.

A second generation soldier, Sunil Kumar Razdan was born to late Shri R C Razdan on
October 8, 1954, in Happy Valley, Shillong Meghalaya. Shri R C Razdan was an officer
in the British Army. Sunil had his initial education in Rockwell Calanay Higher
Secondary School and Government Inter College at Mathura. He obtained his Master’s
degree in mathematics from Agra University.

A fitness freak since childhood, his entry into the Great Indian Army is attributed to a
challenge thrown at him by a friend. One day, while in the library, his friend was filling
up some forms. Sunil asked him about the forms and his friend replied that these
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were for joining the Army. He also added a sarcastic taunt that this was not Sunil’s cup
of tea and being a Kashmiri Pandit, he should take up some bureaucratic or a teaching
job. Sunil immediately took up the challenge, obtained the forms and submitted them.

After going through a rigorous selection procedure, Sunil qualified whereas his friend
could not. Sunil joined the Officers’ Training School at Chennai in 1976. On successful
completion of his training, he obtained the President’s commission and joined the elite
Parachute Regiment in 1977.

With this began an illustrious saga of his military career wherein he held various
Command and Staff assignments. A career punctuated with stories of exceptional
bravery and leadership through personal example, he acquitted himself with élan in all
the tasks of military operations as also awards for distinguished service as given below:

Chief of Army Staff’s (COAS) commendation for gallantry---1980
Chief of Army Staff’s (COAS) commendation for gallantry-1994
Kirti Chakra (Ashok Chakra Class Il) for gallantry-1996
DRDO Outstanding Performance Award-2000
Chief of Army Staff’s Commendation-2003
GOC-in-C Commendation-2006.

I will now attempt to put into words his act of exceptional gallantry for which the
President of India awarded him the Kirti Chakra, which is the second highest peacetime
award for gallantry.

In the year 1994, while posted in J & K, then Lt. Col. Sunil Kumar Razdan was deployed
for counter insurgency operations in the general area south of Kulgam. Having earned
great reputation among the locals of that area, a group of local Muslim villagers
approached him one day with the sad news that 14 of their lady folk including unmarried
girls, had been abducted by a group of terrorists apparently belonging to Lashkar-e-
Toiba.

They informed him that thy had taken these women to higher altitudes in the the forests
for obvious sexual pleasure. They pleded with him for help in the early restoration of
these women. Having listened to their woeful plea, Sunil obtained permission from his
superiors for launching a search-cum- rescue operation.

After going through a cross-country treacherous trail into the mountain forests,
questioning all humanity that came their way , he and his party were able to gain specific
inputs on the exact whereabouts of this group of terrorists in his area of
operation. Having made a quick assessment, he along with his party launched an
operation against the militants in their hideout.
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A 32-hour gun battle ensued after which the hideout was neutralized. The party, with
Sunil in the lead, in absolute disregard to his personal safety, stormed the hideout. The
bullets were still flying as the hideout was being stormed. On entering the hideout, he
saw three terrorists lying in a pool of blood with weapons still in their hands.

On closing in, while he was crossing over one of the bodies, the cowardly terrorist posing
as dead, suddenly turned round and pumped a shower of bullets into Sunil’s abdomen at
point-blank range. He shot the terrorist dead while holding his abdomen with one
hand. He felt excruciating pain and saw the intestinal loop coming out of his abdomen.

He pulled off his parka (a large black cloth worn on the head during operations),
collected his intestines and tied the parka around his abdomen to hold them from falling
out. He also found that he could move no longer (a bullet had pierced through his spine,
thus paralyzing him). He continued to exhort his men , refused to be evacuated a little to
the rear and continued to direct the operation from there itself until all terrorists (totaling
nine from the Mast Gul faction) were killed and all women rescued.

All the 14 Muslim women were then restored to their families. Sunil was carried down
on a stretcher. He had sustained grievous injuries and was evacuated to a military
hospital in a helicopter. Thereafter, for a year or so, he battled with his injuries wiyh
death and a series of surgical procedures.

He once again came out victorious, although paralysed below waist. He continues to
battle his handicap, drives his own modified car and remains selflessly dedicated to
work. His awards for distinguished service after his injury are ample testimony to his
continued zest for living a full life. Sunil is presently posted as Deputy Assistant Chief of
Integrated Defence Staff (Organisation) in the Headquarters of Integrated Defence Staff.

I will be failing in my duty if I do not mention the brave lady who has stood by his side
through thick and thin. Mrs Manju Razdan nee Tiwari is of a great lineage. Grand
daughter of Sri Sri 108 Swarupanand Saraswati of Kashipeeth, the couple is blessed with
two sons, Nishant and Parth.

Our community stands proud to have amongst them a military leader of repute who has
displayed conspicuous bravery while in command of his troops in operations and
rendered distinguished service while on staff assignments. | exhort all my community
members to follow in his footsteps, give everything in the service of the motherland and
dispel the common notion of our cowardice. There are many such other military leaders
in our community whose brave deeds we need to publicise. ---Our tribute to these selfless
soldiers.”

--Dr. M L Hashia, in Koshur Samachar, Nov. 2007

*hkkkhkhkhkkhkhkhkkhkhkhkkiiikk
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Lt.Pushkar Nath Zadu

He was Pandit Vasu Dev Zadu’s son. His father was highly qualified engineer who
served the State P.W.D. until 1928, when he retired as a Superintending Engineer. When
the Kabailie invasion took place in 1947, he played a signifient role in organizing defence
against possible raid on Srinagar, which was until October 26 quite a distinct possibility.

It was natural that his son who was barely 20 volunteered to join the hastily raised Jammu
and Kashmir Militia, which was organized under the leadership of Bakshi Ghulam
Mohammed. Two battalions were raised and Colonel B.M.Kaul (later Lt. General) of the
Indian Army was made its commanding officer.

Before Kaul’s arrival in Srinagar, however, one battalion was hastily sent to Tithwal in
which Vasu Dev Zadu’s son Lt.Pushkar Nath Zadu served. The Kabailies were trying to
sneak through that direction to Srinagar. It was imperative that the invaders should be
somehow stopped until help arrived.

In the severe fighting that ensued, the Kashmir Militia was poorly equipped to tackle the
tribals who were equipped with latest weapons and were led by serving experienced
officers and J.C.Os. Lt.Zadu was hit in a firefight while leading his platoon against the
enemy. He was instantly killed when he was hit by a bullet barrage . He was perhaps the
first officer of the J & K Militia to be killed in action.

| remember the day he was killed. That evening Radio Kashmir announced the
martyrdom of Lt. Zadu in defence of Kashmir. It’s a pity that his services were not
recognized, nor has the Pandit community remembered him anywhere so that posterity
might record his supreme sacrifice in defence of the Motherland.

Lt.General Kaul has in his book “The Untold Story”, 1967 mentioned his taking over of
the J&K Militia:

“When 1 first reached Srinagar (April, 1948), Sheikh Abdullah, arranged for me a huge
rally of the Militia | was taking over. He was there himself and introduced me to this
force, relating how hurriedly it was raised when Pakistan attacked Kashmir and
describing brave deeds by many Kashmiris including Zadu who sacrificed his life near
Tithwal.............. 7

*hhkkkkkkhkhkhkiiikikkx

Captain Dina Nath Zadu

As with the Atal family in the plains, so with the Zadu family. From this family, came
Captain Dina Nath Zadu and his colleague Kanti Chander. Captain Zadu and Kanti
Chander were two Kashmiri Pandits who joined the Indian National Army (INA of
Netaji Subhash Chandar Bose).

On July 5,1943 these two Pandits joined the INA and one of them, Kanti Chander who
was also, apart from being a soldier, private secretary to Netaji. In August 1945, Japan
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had lost the war, and on August 18" 1945, Netaji was killed in a plane crash in Taiwan
and so also his private secretary Kanti Chander.

Captain Zadu joined the Provincial Armed Constabulary (PAC) in U.P at Meerut and
subsequently retired and passed away there.
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19
What Others Say

The qualities ascribed to the Pandits range from clever, intelligent, brilliant, innovative,
adventurous to cunning, deceitful, intriguing and untrustworthy. It is both a combination
of bouquets and brickbats. Whatever it is, let us take a look at what others think of us and
our own estimation of ourselves, given by a Pandit in Lahore in 1894,

“The Kashmiri Pandit”, wrote Aldous Huxley after a visit to Kashmir, in 1926, “has
more than a Spanish objection to manual labour. But unlike the Hidalgo, who thought
himself dishonoured by the exercise of any profession save that of arms, the Pandit is
ambitious of wielding only the pen”

Aldous Huxley in Jesting Pilate, London, 1927,
Quoted by Dr.Kusum Pant in The Kashmiri Pandit 1987.

*hkkkkhkhkkkikkhkkkikkhkkkhkikkikik

Mr.George Campbell, who visited the valley, has this to say:

“The Kashmiri Brahmins are quite high Aryans in the type. Their features are very fair
and handsome, with high chiseled features and no trace of inter-mixture of the blood of
any lower race. It may be partly race and partly occupation but they have certainly a great
refinement and regularity of feature ...they rule by the brain and the pen and not by the
sword. It is this characteristics that has gained them the favour of so many rulers of a
different faith.

Kashmir long belonged to the Kabul Kingdom, but it was never in any degree colonized
by the Afghans...The fact seems to be that the valley never belonged to the Afghan
nation, but was always retained as a crown appendage of the kings who were very jealous
of admitting into it subjects whom they might find it difficult to turn out again and much

2

preferred to govern through the Pandits ...... .

George Campbell in Ethnology of India.

*khkkkkhkkkkikkikkikk

“Kashmiri Brahmans, to which class Pandit Moti Lal Nehru belonged, are well known all
over the north of India both for their intellectual powers and fine appearance. They are by
birth, what may truly be called, an aristocratic race, and easily recognized as such. Moti
Lal was typical of this distinguished class and in his old age he gained the reputation of
being the “Aristocrat of the Assembly”.

His spotless Khaddar dress, with his white hair and his portrait is rightly given the place
of honour in his son’s Autobiography. The fine features, which I have mentioned and the
fair complexion run through the whole family and have descended from father to son”.
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C.F.Andrews,who wrote the above, known all over India as Deenabandhu, was a
member of a small band of Englishmen who strongly supported India’s aspirations and
struggle for complete independence from British rule. Of course, he is talking about
Pandit Moti Lal Nehru father of Pandit Jawahar Lal Nehru, the first Prime Minister of
India.

“The population of the whole Kashmir State is 2,905,578, and that of the Kashmir
Province 1,157,394. of these, 93 per cent of the Kashmir Province and 74 per cent of the
whole state are Mohamedan, and the remainder chiefly Hindu. But the rulers are Hindu,
and consequently the Mohammedans are as much in the shade as Hindus are in states
ruled by Mohammedans. The ruling family is also alien, coming not from the valley
itself, but from Jammu, on the far side of the mountain to the south.

The inhabitants were not, however, always Mohammedans. Originally, they were
Hindus. It was only in the fourteenth century that they were converted—mostly by force
—to become Mohammedans. The present indigenous Hindus of the valley are generally
known as Pundits, and Kashmir Pandits are well known over India for their acuteness and
subtle